EXTRACELLULAR VESICLE-MEDIATED PROCESSES IN CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES

EDITED BY: Rory R. Koenen and Elena Aikawa PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine







Frontiers Copyright Statement

© Copyright 2007-2018 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved. All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, wherever published, as well as the compilation of all other content on this site, is the exclusive property of Frontiers. For the conditions for downloading and copying of e-books from Frontiers' website, please see the Terms for Website Use. If purchasing Frontiers e-books from other websites or sources, the conditions of the website concerned apply.

Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Individual articles may be downloaded and reproduced in accordance with the principles of the CC-BY licence subject to any copyright or other notices. They may not be re-sold as an e-book.

As author or other contributor you grant a CC-BY licence to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use. ISSN 1664-8714

ISBN 978-2-88945-620-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88945-620-8

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

EXTRACELLULAR VESICLE-MEDIATED PROCESSES IN CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES

Topic Editors:

Rory R. Koenen, Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht, Netherlands Elena Aikawa, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, United States



Transmission electron microscopy image of human atherosclerotic plaque shows numerous extracellular vesicles within collagen fibers. Image: Elena Aikawa.

It is long known that many cells can shed extracellular vesicles, small membraneenclosed cell fragments. Although the existence of extracellular vesicles has been recognized for many years, researchers are only beginning to understand their physiologic significance. Several recent studies have demonstrated that extracellular vesicles released from cells serve as a mode of cellular communication. They can carry diverse molecular payload (e.g. nucleic acids, bioactive lipids and proteins) to distal organs and recipient cells. Extracellular vesicles can be classified into three major groups: exosomes, microvesicles, and apoptotic bodies. All these types of extracellular vesicles can be found in a variety of biologic specimen and their numbers, distribution and composition may serve as biomarkers for various disorders, including cardiovascular disease. Although extracellular vesicle-mediated processes are currently best characterized in the fields of cancer biology and neurobiology, evidence is accumulating that extracellular vesicles play a key role in the pathophysiology of diabetes, thrombosis, inflammation and cardiovascular calcification.

In this Research Topic, we invited review and methodological articles that advance our understanding of extracellular vesicle-related processes in vascular biology.

Citation: Koenen, R. R., Aikawa, E., eds. (2018). Extracellular Vesicle-Mediated Processes in Cardiovascular Diseases. Lausanne: Frontiers Media. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88945-620-8

Table of Contents

05 Editorial: Extracellular Vesicle-Mediated Processes in Cardiovascular Diseases

Rory R. Koenen and Elena Aikawa

07 The Mingle-Mangle of Wnt Signaling and Extracellular Vesicles: Functional Implications for Heart Research

Julia Christina Gross and Laura Cecilia Zelarayán

- **15** *Platelet-Derived Microvesicles in Cardiovascular Diseases* Maria T. K. Zaldivia, James D. McFadyen, Bock Lim, Xiaowei Wang and Karlheinz Peter
- 28 Microvesicles in Atherosclerosis and Angiogenesis: From Bench to Bedside and Reverse

Lina Badimon, Rosa Suades, Gemma Arderiu, Esther Peña, Gemma Chiva-Blanch and Teresa Padró

- 48 Message in a Microbottle: Modulation of Vascular Inflammation and Atherosclerosis by Extracellular Vesicles
 Emiel P. C. van der Vorst, Renske J. de Jong and Marjo M. P. C. Donners
- 56 Extracellular Vesicles as Protagonists of Diabetic Cardiovascular Pathology Dakota Gustafson, Shawn Veitch and Jason E. Fish
- 68 Extracellular Vesicles as Mediators of Cardiovascular Calcification Amirala Bakhshian Nik, Joshua D. Hutcheson and Elena Aikawa
- 75 Initiation and Propagation of Vascular Calcification is Regulated by a Concert of Platelet- and Smooth Muscle Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles

Leon J. Schurgers, Asim C. Akbulut, Dawid M. Kaczor, Maurice Halder, Rory R. Koenen and Rafael Kramann

88 Toward Exosome-Based Therapeutics: Isolation, Heterogeneity, and Fit-for-Purpose Potency

Gareth R. Willis, Stella Kourembanas and S. Alex Mitsialis

101 A Protocol for Improved Precision and Increased Confidence in Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis Concentration Measurements Between 50 and 120 nm in Biological Fluids

Martin E. M. Parsons, Damien McParland, Paulina B. Szklanna, Matthew Ho Zhi Guang, Karen O'Connell, Hugh D. O'Connor, Christopher McGuigan, Fionnuala Ní Áinle, Amanda McCann and Patricia B. Maguire

108 Extracellular Vesicles as Biomarkers in Cardiovascular Disease; Chances and Risks

Annemiek Dickhout and Rory R. Koenen





Editorial: Extracellular Vesicle-Mediated Processes in Cardiovascular Diseases

Rory R. Koenen^{1*} and Elena Aikawa^{2*}

¹ Department of Biochemistry, Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht, Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands, ² Cardiovascular Division, Department of Medicine, Center for Excellence in Vascular Biology, Harvard Medical School, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States

Keywords: microparticle, atherosclerosis, vascular calcification, diagnostic, biomarker, heart valve

Editorial on the Research Topic

Extracellular Vesicle-Mediated Processes in Cardiovascular Diseases

The review articles provided in this research topic highlight extracellular vesicles (EV) and the processes that they regulate in cardiovascular diseases. Even if landmark achievements have initially been within the field of cancer biology, the importance of EVs in cardiovascular disease is impossible to overlook. To provide the readers with a state-of-the-art knowledge in the field of EV-mediated processes in cardiovascular diseases, we have composed a broad collection of contributions from experts in the field. In this research topic we cover several aspects of EVs, from their (patho-)physiologic functions in cardiac development and regeneration, their role in angiogenesis and atherosclerosis, their involvement in diabetes-related cardiovascular complications, to the exciting implications in cardiovascular calcification. In addition, the optimization of EV measurement methods and their use as biomarkers and potential therapeutics have been highlighted.

Having been disregarded as mere cellular debris for decades, EVs are increasingly being appreciated as integral mediators of cell-to-cell communication. EVs can be classified into three major groups differentiated by size and origin: exosomes (40-100 nm), consisting of cytoplasmic compartments released by exocytotic processes; microvesicles (100-500 nm), generated by budding of the plasma membrane; and apoptotic bodies (~1,000 nm), that are shed by cells undergoing programmed death. As every cell is able to release EVs, their body-wide physiologic and pathologic relevance is self-evident. The proteins and genetic material of EVs may reflect the conditions of the parental cells. To carry message to distal parts of the body, loaded with concentrated cargo miniscule EVs that able to move easily in extracellular space and circulation are likely intendent for a specific function such as interaction via carrying diverse molecular payload (e.g., nucleic acids, bioactive lipids, and proteins) to distal or neighboring recipient cells. This essential biological function of EVs helps to maintain tissue homeostasis in health or contribute to the disease when vesicles acquire pathological properties.

In the contribution by Gross and Zelarayán, the roles of Wnt signaling in cardiac development and during cardiac stress are discussed. The transmission of Wnt signals between cells has been shown to occur through EV. Given the importance of Wnt signaling for general physiology, this likewise highlights EV's physiological relevance, being integral signaling transporters.

Changes in the EV concentrations during cardiovascular diseases have been observed in many studies. Since platelets are among the most abundant blood cells, they represent a major source of circulating EVs. In the article by Zaldivia et al., the functions of EVs derived from platelets are discussed in the pathogenesis of venous thrombosis, atherosclerosis, and myocardial infarction. Yet

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Hendrik Tevaearai Stahel, Universitätsspital Bern, Switzerland

*Correspondence:

Rory R. Koenen r.koenen@maastrichtuniversity.nl Elena Aikawa eaikawa@bwh.harvard.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Atherosclerosis and Vascular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 16 August 2018 Accepted: 04 September 2018 Published: 19 September 2018

Citation:

Koenen RR and Aikawa E (2018) Editorial: Extracellular Vesicle-Mediated Processes in Cardiovascular Diseases. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:133. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00133

5

EVs from various cellular origins are also recognized as mediators of cellular crosstalk, particularly in atherosclerosis and angiogenesis. This is discussed in the comprehensive reviews by Badimon et al. and van der Vorst et al., together with the possible exploitation of EVs as prognostic or diagnostic biomarkers, or as therapeutics. The overview by Gustafson et al. expands the discussion by focusing on diabetic complications such as cardiomyopathy and atherosclerosis.

A novel role for EVs was identified in the process of cardiovascular calcification, a complication of atherosclerosis, diabetes, chronic kidney disease, and aortic valve stenosis. Calcifying EVs serve as fundamental building blocks of calcification. In vasculature, calcifying EVs aggregate to form microcalcifications contributing to atherosclerosis plaque rupture and subsequent myocardial infarction. In cardiac valves, calcific aggregates result in increased leaflet stiffness causing aortic stenosis, heart failure, and death. As highlighted in the contribution by Bakhshian Nik et al., EVs derived from smooth muscle cells, valvular interstitial cells and macrophages can modulate cardiovascular calcification. Emerging evidence suggests that platelet-derived EVs may also contribute to vascular calcification, ultimately leading to atherothrombotic complications, as outlined by the article from Schurgers et al..

As defined above, exosomes are a subclass of EVs originating from late endosomal compartments. Although initially thought as a mechanism of cellular waste disposal, exosomes are currently well-established mediators of cell-to-cell communication. The exosomes specialized in communication are termed "signalosomes" in the elegant review by Willis et al., harboring molecular cargo capable of influencing the behavior of recipient cells. Such signalosomes act as immunomodulators in models of lung disease, raising an intriguing possibility for use of purified signalosome-type exosomes for a clinical therapeutic application. The hurdles and perspectives for EV therapy are extensively outlined in this review.

Among such hurdles are the proper purification, potency determination and quantification of EVs, which is largely due to their small size. A novel protocol for the size and count measurement of EV between 50 and 120 nm is presented by Parsons et al.. This promising methodology will improve the accuracy of EV characterization in various biologic fluids from both healthy and diseased individuals.

Accurate categorization of EVs is also crucial for their meaningful implementation as biomarkers. The review by Dickhout and Koenen provides an overview of the

prerequisites of the use of EVs as biomarkers, dealing with methods and issues of isolation, determination, and classification. An overview of (pre-)clinical studies using EVs as biomarkers is also provided and the potential of EVs as biomarkers for cardiovascular disease is critically discussed.

With the above reviews, we aim to convince the reader that EVs are integral components of an intricate cellular communication system in health and disease, while simultaneously providing a differentiated overview of the current challenges and obstacles, regarding EV characterization and their implementation as biomarkers or therapeutics. Nevertheless, exciting times are ahead of us as EVs are heading straight to the heart of cardiovascular research.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

EA is supported by National Institutes of Health (NIH) grants R01HL 114805, R01HL 141917, and R01HL 136431. This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No. 722609. RK received funding from the Netherlands Foundation for Scientific Research (ZonMW VIDI 016.126.358), the Landsteiner Foundation for Blood Transfusion Research (LSBR Nr. 1638).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank the authors involved in this exciting research topic for their excellent contributions and Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine for hosting this thematic issue.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Koenen and Aikawa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Mingle-Mangle of Wnt Signaling and Extracellular Vesicles: Functional Implications for Heart Research

Julia Christina Gross 1,2* and Laura Cecilia Zelarayán 3,4*

¹ Hematology and Oncology, University Medical Center Göttingen, Göttingen, Germany, ² Developmental Biochemistry, University Medical Center Göttingen, Göttingen, Germany, ³ Institute of Pharmacology and Toxicology, University Medical Center Göttingen, Göttingen, Germany, ⁴ Partner Site Göttingen, German Centre for Cardiovascular Research (DZHK), Göttingen, Germany

What signaling is an important pathway in health and disease and a key regulator of stem cell maintenance, differentiation, and proliferation. During heart development, What signaling controls specification, proliferation and differentiation of cardiovascular cells. In this regard, the role of activated What signaling in cardiogenesis is well defined. However, the knowledge about signaling transmission has been challenged. Recently, the packaging of hydrophobic What proteins on extracellular vesicles (EVs) has emerged as a mechanism to facilitate their extracellular spreading and their functioning as morphogens. EVs spread systemically and therefore can have pleiotropic effects on very different cell types. They are heavily studied in tumor biology where they affect tumor growth and vascularization and can serve as biomarkers in liquid biopsies. In this review we will highlight recent discoveries of factors involved in the release of What on EVs and its potential implications in the communication between physiological and pathological heart cells.

Keywords: extracellular vesicles, exosomes, Wnt signaling, Wnt secretion, heart remodeling

WNT SIGNALING PATHWAYS OVERVIEW

Whits are evolutionarily conserved, secreted glycosylated growth factors, which in humans are encoded by 19 different Whit genes. There are more than 15 different Whit receptors and co-receptors, including Frizzled (FZD1-10), LRP5 and 6, and ROR1/2 that are best described. Depending on their binding to receptors and downstream components, Whit signaling has been classified into canonical (β -catenindependent) or non-canonical (β -catenin-independent) pathways. The β -catenin-independent pathways include Planar Cell Polarity (PCP) and Whit-Ca²⁺ pathway [reviewed in (1)].

The β -catenin-dependent pathway is activated by binding of Wnts with FZDs and LRP5/6, and subsequent GSK3 β inhibition, leading to stabilization of cytoplasmic β -catenin. Upon accumulation, β -catenin enters the nucleus binds to TCF (T cell factor)/LEF (lymphoid enhancer-binding factor) transcription factors and regulates the transcription of target genes. Additionally, β -catenin-independent Wnt pathways use different downstream signaling modules. The PCP signaling is activated via FZDs receptors with ROR1/2 and PTK7 as co-receptors, through a cascade of small GTPases RAC1, RHOA and JUN-N-terminal kinase (JNK) activation. This pathway leads to changes in cytoskeleton, cell polarity and activation of JNK-dependent transcription factors and their target genes [reviewed in (2)].

A second β -catenin-independent pathway is the Wnt–Ca²⁺pathway. Here, Wnts trigger FZDmediated activation of heterotrimeric G proteins. This activates phospholipase C (PLC), diacyl-glycerol

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Elena Aikawa, Brigham and Women's Hospital, United States

Reviewed by:

Paul B. Yu, Brigham and Women's Hospital, United States Jose Javier Fuster, Boston University, United States

*Correspondence:

Julia Christina Gross julia.gross@med.uni-goettingen.de Laura Cecilia Zelarayán laura.zelarayan@med.uni-goettingen. de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Atherosclerosis and Vascular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 01 September 2017 Accepted: 29 January 2018 Published: 22 February 2018

Citation:

Gross JC and Zelarayán LC (2018) The Mingle-Mangle of Wnt Signaling and Extracellular Vesicles: Functional Implications for Heart Research. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:10. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00010 (DAG) and inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate [Ins(1,4,5)P3] cascade triggering intracellular Ca²⁺-release and activation of effectors such as calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CAMKII), calcineurin and protein kinase C (PKC), which activate the transcriptional regulator nuclear factor associated with T cells (NFAT) (3).

In addition to Wnts, several inhibitors, such as Dickkopfs (DKK1-3), secreted Frizzled related proteins (SFRP1-5) and activators, such as R-Spondins (RSPO1-5) are similarly secreted and can regulate the amplitude and specificity of Wnt signaling at the extracellular level (4). Additionally, intracellular cytosolic and nuclear inhibitors fine-tune Wnt signaling.

WNT COMPONENT MOBILIZATION IN EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES

Currently, increasing evidences show the importance of different Wnt signaling branches and their crosstalk among different cell types. Secreted Wnts are lipidated and this hydrophobic moiety hinders them to freely move in the extracellular space. Different experimental proofs showed how their biochemical properties would fit to the idea of "diffusible" morphogens (5). Lipoprotein particles (6, 7), filopodia-surfing (8, 9) and transport on extracellular vesicles (10) were shown to confer biological Wnt activity in different systems [reviewed (11)]. "Extracellular vesicles (EVs)" is a term used for different sub-populations of membrane particles secreted from a plethora of cells into the extracellular space. Based on size and subcellular origin, they are discriminated into exosomes (50–100 nm), microvesicles (100–500 nm) and apoptotic bodies (>1000 nm) (12). Distinct proteins as well as lipid markers allow characterization of different types of EVs (13). CD9 or EMMPRIN are normally found in larger, plasma membranederived EVs, while components of the endosomal sorting complexes required for transport (ESCRT) machinery, such as Tsg101 and Alix are markers for the endosome-derived exosomes (14, 15). EVs are purified by differential ultracentrifugation, gel filtration or immunoprecipitation, while their size and composition are investigated by nanoparticles tracking, electron microscopy, immunoblotting and mass spectrometry. Standards for their purification and analysis have been defined and can help to increase reproducibility of EV studies (16). Currently, cell type-specific markers for EVs are missing.

Exosomes carrying Wnts were shown to play key roles under physiological conditions in different systems (17) (**Table 1**). The first evidence that Wnts might be released on membrane-bound structures came from studies of *Drosophila* Wnt, Wingless. In *Drosophila*, exosomes, containing the Wnt secretion factor Evi, transport Wnts across the Drosophila neural-muscular junctions (NMJ) and in the wing imaginal disc (10, 31, 32). Recently, a crosstalk was discovered in tooth development, activating Wnt/ β catenin signaling in mesenchymal cells via exosomal miRNA from epithelial cells (33).

As EVs are detectable in the circulation, it was conceived that their activity spreads systemically. Indeed, under pathological conditions, their functionality has long-range activity influencing metastatic niches far away from their source [reviewed in (34)]. Further examples are: (1) Tethering of autocrine Wnt11 to fibroblastderived exosomes to influence the migratory phenotype of breast

 TABLE 1
 Recent studies about mechanisms and effects of Wnt release in mammalian systems

Mechanism of Wnt release	Genes	Cell/Organism	Pathways/Details	References
Paracrine exosomal Wnts	Wnt3a	Diffuse large B-cell lymphoma	Wnt/β-catenin signaling	(18)
Paracrine exosomal Wnts	Wnt2b Possibly also Wnt10a	Epidydemis/mouse	Differentiation/maturation Wnt/STOP	(19)
Paracrine exosomal Wnts	Wnt4	Human umbilical cord MSC in rat skin burn model	Angiogenesis and cell proliferation via Wnt/β-catenin signaling	(20–22)
Paracrine exosomal Wnts	Wnt4	Hypoxic colorectal cancer cells (HCT116, HT29)/endothelial cells (HUVEC)	HIFα-dependent Wnt4 expression Proliferation	(23)
Autocrine exosomal Wnts	Wnt11	Human umbilical cord MSC in vitro	Release stimulated by 3,3'-Diindolylmethane	(24)
Polarized exosomal Wnts	Apical/baso lateral Wnt3a, Apical Wnt11	Dog Kidney cells, MDCK	Basolateral Tsg101+ Apical CD63 + apical Wnt secreted in a lipidation-independent manner	(25)
Paracrine exosomal Wnts	Wnt5b	Colon and pancreatic cancer cells Caco-2, Panc-1	Several Whts found in the supernatant after exosomes purification, such as Wht3a and Wht5a from I -cells	(26)
Paracrine exosomal Writs	Wnt10b	Fibroblasts and breast cancer cells	Proliferation and migration	(27)
Crosstalk of Extravesicular Wnt	Wnt5a	Macrophages and breast cancer cells (SkBr3)	0	(28)
Paracrine exosomes mobilize autocrine Wnts	Wnt11	Breast cancer cells (MDA-MB-231)	Cancer cell migration	(29)
Paracrine Exosome mobilize autocrine Wnts	Wnt10b	Cortical neurons Rat Optic nerve	Regeneration, mTOR	(30)
Neutral sphingomyelinases dependent trafficking of Wnts onto different EVs	Wnt3a and Wnt5a	Breast cancer cells (SkBr3)	Block of exosomes secretion increases microvesicles release	(13)
Paracrine Exosomal activating Wnt canonical	Wnt/β-catenin	Ischemia/reperfusion rat heart	Enhances cardiomyocyte survival and decreased apoptosis	(20)

cancer cells (29); (2) colorectal tumor cells signal to endothelial cells (EC) by HIF α -induced exosomal Wnt4 secretion, activating Wnt/ β -catenin signaling to increase migration and proliferation of ECs (23). Although this work is focused on cancer cells, activation of HIF α upon hypoxia plays a role in cardiac stress (23) and might have similar effects on EC crosstalk in cardiovascular pathologies.

IMPLICATION AND CAVEATS OF THE WNT SIGNALING AND EVS IN THE HEART

Heart function is based on a well-controlled communication system between different cell types. Although, EVs are well appreciated in the process of tumor and infection biology, research on cardiac EVs is increasing. So far no direct evidences for secretion of Wnt components on EVs from heart cells exist. Thus, we will integrate evidences from other fields, which may help to advances the knowledge on EVs/Wnt-mediated mechanisms in heart tissue.

In Heart Development and Tissue Regeneration

Wnt signaling is crucial for embryonic development and tissue regeneration (3, 35). Specifically in cardiogenesis, activation of the Wnt/β-catenin signaling induces mesodermal formation, cardiac progenitor cell specification and maintenance, but inhibits further differentiation towards cardiomyocytes (36). Ectopic inactivation of the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in a tissue other than cardiac mesoderm, such as endoderm, is sufficient to trigger differentiation towards cardiac cells, indicating the central role of Wnt in cardiac cell formation (37). Several Wnt ligands are expressed in the early heart including Wnt2, Wnt2b, Wnt11, and Wnt8a, indicating the participation of canonical and non-canonical branches (38). Indeed, initial activation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling is followed by an activation of the Wnt/ β -catenin-independent pathway, which represses the canonical signaling and regulates cell processes (39). Moreover, Wnt5a and Wnt11 promote cardiac differentiation in embryonic and adult stem cells through non-canonical pathways and may be necessary to balance β -catenin-dependent proliferation in the outflow tract (38, 40, 41). Hence, Wnt signaling is a network of inter-linked branches engaging different cell populations into intercellular crosstalk. Further details of the role of Wnt signals during cardiogenesis are extensively described elsewhere (36).

Notably, heart regeneration mechanisms vary among species. In contrast to the limited injury-induced regeneration in early stages of life in adult mammal hearts, lower vertebrate like amphibian and teleost fish have sufficient regenerative capacity upon injury mainly by dedifferentiation of cardiomyocytes (35). In mouse, Wnt signaling exerts a similar role on adult cardiac progenitor cell (CPC) homoeostasis as observed during embryogenesis. Wnt/ β -catenin activation impairs cardiomyocytes lineage differentiation and enhances endothelial cell (ECs) expansion, whereas its inactivation increases cardiomyocytes and reduced EC lineages (42–44). Accordingly, intra-myocardial injection of Wnt3a post-ischemia reduces CPC differentiation into cardiomyocytes (45). However, the role of Wnt signaling and most importantly the intercellular crosstalk in endogenous regeneration remains unclear.

Interestingly, in the regenerative zebrafish hearts Wnt/ β -catenin pathway is reactivated upon injury (35). In a recent study, oneday postnatal murine cardiomyocytes, with high regenerative potential, showed enriched Wnt signaling gene networks after ischemic injury (46). Since Wnt signaling becomes inactivated in the postnatal heart during later stages, it was speculated that reactivation of the signaling will confer regenerative capacity to the adult heart, however with impaired cardiac performance. This may imply an initial protective mechanism of the stressed heart to preserve cardiomyocytes function, which eventually fails upon sustained activation of the pathway (**Figure 1**), probably due to a low developmentally permissive transcriptional state of the adult cardiomyocytes (46).

The Stressed Heart: Specific Wnt Component Regulation

Lack of robust regenerative response, upon stress/injury in the adult mammalian heart, results in adaptive tissue remodeling to sustain cardiac output. This finally leads to heart failure development characterized by a switch towards fetal metabolism and re-expression/ elevation of developmental genes (60), including genes of the Wnt signaling pathway (13). Therefore, Wnt/ β -catenin signaling has been considered a potentially therapeutic target for heart disease (35, 61–64). In the healthy adult heart, Wnt signaling is quiescent but becomes reactivated in different cell types in the ischemic and hypertrophic heart (**Figure 1**) (62–65). Specifically, Wnt/ β -catenin activation is found in epicardium, fibroblasts, ECs, smooth muscle cells and CPCs (35) and in cardiomyocytes of the human failing heart (47). Conversely, Wnt inhibition appears to protect the heart from pathological ventricular remodeling (61, 63, 66, 67).

Recent studies indicate that the exosomal content is highly regulated in the heart by various stress conditions and that cardiomyocytes and cardiac fibroblasts release exosomes in in vitro studies (56, 68, 69). Moreover, Wnt ligands, FZDs and SFRPs are elevated after ischemic heart injury (48). These observations allow speculating that Wnts traveling on exosomes upon cardiac remodeling may be part of the maladaptive response. After myocardial infarction (MI), cardiac fibroblasts respond to Wnt1 in an autocrine fashion to induce proliferation and fibrogenic genes expression (48). Wnt1, Wnt3a, and Wnt5a regulate proliferation and migration of ECs. Moreover, after MI, β -catenin accumulates in ECs of the rat heart, which suggests activation of canonical Wnt signaling (48). Accordingly, antagonizing Wnt3a/Wnt5a binding to its receptors FZDs prevents heart failure upon ischemia (61). Wnt3a and Wnt5a were already found in exosomes (10, 26, 28). Interestingly, cell-autonomous regulation of Wnt signaling by enhancing β-catenin export on exosomes and reducing its cellular pool was described in tumor cells (70). An exciting idea will be to stimulate exosomal export of β-catenin, thereby reducing signaling activity in heart remodeling and preventing heart failure development.

Upon MI, macrophages are a source of non-canonical Wnts. Genetic ablation of Wnt signaling in mice results in macrophages with anti-inflammatory, reparative, and angiogenic properties and improved left ventricular function and remodeling after MI, possibly by the elimination of non-canonical signaling (51). In the failing myocardium, Wnt5a was most prominently upregulated



FIGURE 1 (**A**) Wnt activity in cardiac tissue and secreted Wnt components described in heart cells. Wnt activity is necessary for heart development and becomes very low in the adult heart. Upon stress, Wnt signaling components are upregulated in different heart cells. Transcriptional dependent-canonical Wnt signaling is known to be activated in CPCs, epicardial-derived cells (EPDCs), fibroblasts (FBs), cardiomyocytes (CMs), endothelial (EC) and smooth muscle cells (35, 47, 48). Non-canonical Wnt components are mainly upregulated in Macrophages (MΦ) and FBs. Wnt1 secretion from EPDCs and FB promotes FB expansion and fibrosis (48); Wnt5a secretion from FB promotes CM-hypertrophy and fibrosis (49, 50); Wnt5a secretion from macrophages (MΦ) induces inflammation and insulin resistance leading to cardiovascular complications (49, 51). Secreted frizzled-related protein 5 (Sfrp5) by healthy adipocytes inhibits Wnt5a function from MΦ. The presence of unhealthy adipocytes with reduced Sfrp5 secretion increased Wnt5a activity (52, 53). Wnt10b from healthy adipocytes balances adipocytes growth (54). CMs-secreted Wnt Inhibitory Factor 1 (WIF1) reduces Wnt5a activity and may affect CPCs proliferation (55). Secreted Wnt1, Wnt3a, Wnt5a as well as activation of Wnt/β-catenin induced by CPCs stimulate angiogenesis (48). **(B)** Potential EVs-mediated signaling crosstalk in heart cells. Exosomes derived from cardiomycytes (CMs) showed ability to reprogram fibroblasts (FBs) *in vitro* (56, 57). MiR-233 upregulates Wnt5a expression and miR-223 can be found in exosomes (58), thus Wnt5a regulation in cardiac failure may involve exosomal trafficking. Exosomes derived from adipocyte-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) was shown to activate Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway, which may affect CM survival and constrains adipogenesis (20). Exosomes derived from umbilical cord MSCs showed a pro-angiogenic effect by delivering Wnt4 and activating Wnt/β-catenin signaling in endothelial cells (ECs) (21). Exosomes secreted from human induced p

in cardiac fibroblasts and elevated circulating Wnt5a levels were associated with adverse outcomes in patients with dilated cardiomyopathies (49). In mouse and human cardiac fibroblasts, recombinant Wnt5a upregulated the release of Interleukine (IL)-6 and Tissue Inhibitor Of Metalloproteinases 1 (TIMP-1). This might promote myocardial inflammation and fibrosis contributing to heart failure progression (50). Moreover, Wnt5a is known to stimulate hypertrophy in cultured cardiomyocytes (49). Increasing evidence suggests that miR-223 upregulates Wnt5a expression (50) and miR-223 can be found in exosomes (58), hence Wnt5a regulation in cardiac failure may involve exosomal trafficking.

Upon MI, Secreted frizzled-related protein 5 (Sfrp5) functions as an extracellular inhibitor of non-canonical Wnt signaling (52) that antagonizes the pro-inflammatory activity of Wnt5a. Sfrp5 is highly expressed by healthy adipocytes, thus may act as a paracrine cardio-protective adipokine. Obese people with "unhealthy adipocytes" with reduced expression of Sfrp5 and high Wnt5a have an associated insulin resistance with a high risk of cardiovascular complications (53). Moreover, Wnt5a overexpression in myeloid cells augments adipose tissue inflammation; promotes proinflammatory cytokines by macrophages and impairs glucose homeostasis (54). Accordingly, Wnt5a ablation in obese mice ameliorates insulin resistance. Thus, Wnt5a crucially mediates cellular crosstalk to finally affect glucose metabolism and cardiac homeostasis. Additionally, Wnt5a induced hypertrophic NFAT activation in cardiomyocytes in vitro (49). Another Wnt, Wnt10b constrains mouse white adipose tissue expansion by inhibiting pre-adipocyte differentiation, modifying adipokine secretion and immune-modulatory roles of fat tissue (54). Of note, adipose tissue is an important source of circulating exosomal miRNAs in mice and humans and may regulate wholebody metabolism (71). Exosomes derived from adipocytederived mesenchymal stem cells (ADMSCs-ex) significantly ameliorated ischemia/reperfusion-induced myocardial necrosis and apoptosis in rat heart (20). The mechanisms underlying the cardioprotective effects of ADMSCs-ex may be associated with activation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling, a critical regulator of survival and apoptosis of cardiomyocytes (Figure 1B).

Hypoxic cardiomyocytes upregulate Wnt Inhibitory Factor 1 (WIF1) (72), which interferes with non-canonical Wnt signaling in monocytes and macrophages and reduces pro-inflammatory activation upon ischemia. In patients with hypoxia-associated disorders such as MI, stroke and pre-eclampsia, an increase of circulating EVs indicates a role of EVs as biomarkers in these pathophysiological states (55). EVs could be regarded as radar signals that confer a population overall fitness and unify their individual regulatory patterns.

Taken together, Wnt signaling activation is key in pathological heart remodeling and EV-mediated signaling may participate in this activation. The contribution of EV-mediated Wnt signaling to block tissue regeneration needs further investigation in order to engineer EV-modifications allowing the recovery of developmental plasticity.

EV-SIGNALING IN CARDIOVASCULAR CELLS

Proper cardiac function relies on communication of cardiomyocytes with other cell types including smooth muscle cells, EC, fibroblasts and immune cells (73). These cells function together by interacting physically or via secreted factors, including lipids, peptide, nucleotides and miRNAs. The adult myocardium secretes exosomes to mediate cell-cell communication (74). Upon cardiac stress, fibroblast-secreted exosomes enriched in miR-21*, which is normally degraded, is taken up by cardiomyocytes to induce cell hypertrophy (69). Moreover, during MI, distinct exosome-contents from border zone and healthy heart cells suggest an adaptive response to injury defined by exosome secretion (75). Primary cardiomyocytes were capable of secreting EVs with the ability to reprogram fibroblasts in vitro (56, 57). Thus, cardiomyocytes are able to transfer signals to direct neighboring cell fate (Figure 1B). Exosomes are not only potential circulating biomarkers (76) but they are also considered for their potential therapeutic anti-fibrotic and angiogenetic effects as antioxidants protecting cardiomyocytes (77).

Exosome-Mediated Signaling in Endogenous Progenitors

Current data indicate a role for Wnt signaling in the homeostasis of CPCs in the adult heart. However, cardiac functionality may not be directly affected by changing the balance of this small pool but by secreted products (78). In line with this, stem cell injections in the adult heart were suggested to mediate a paracrine regeneration through secreted signals (72) and CPCs are a source of exosomes (79). Under hypoxia conditions, these cells secrete "pro-regenerative" exosomes inducing proliferation of ECs (73). Cardiomyocyte progenitor and mesenchymal stem cell-exosomes have powerful pro-angiogenic effects (80) (**Figure 1B**). Given, the above-discussed action of Wnt activation on stimulating ECs fate, it is tempting to speculate that those "endothelial-pro-regenerative" exosomes may signal through the Wnt pathway.

Since exosomes are carriers of both protective and pathological signals, a better understanding of their content and effect on recipient cell will help to define therapeutic utilities of EVs. And will broaden our understanding of how cells and organs communicate among each other (73).

Regenerative Potential of EVs

Tissue repair requires not only the presence of cells capable to restore damage tissue, but more importantly, requires a microenvironment promoting tissue regeneration. A recent study showed that fibroblast-derived exosomes relocalize Wnt10b into lipid rafts, activating mTOR and promoting axonal regeneration in an inhibitory environment after optic nerve injury (30). It seems that Wnts on different EVs have similar signaling capacities and that loading with specific content is more relevant for their functionality than the EVs used to mobilize (28). This is in agreement with biotechnological approaches where liposomal packaging of Wnts confers a longer stability and high signaling capacity in regeneration models (81, 82). This microenvironment can be created by exosomes with defined contents, ideally delivering signals affecting cell recruitment, differentiation and immunomodulation. Given the important role of exosomes in tissue regeneration in pre-clinical models, further studies addressing the EVs-mediated signaling are of high interest. Elucidating these mechanisms will offer a great platform for EVs engineering for personalized medicine.

Human pluripotent stem cells (hPSCs) and induced pluripotent cells (iPSCs) have been widely used in translational medicine for their enormous therapeutic potential in tissue repair and regeneration. Isolated exosomes secreted from iPSCs showed protective effects on ischemic myocardium by transferring the endogenous molecules to salvage the injured neighboring cells (59). In this regard, iPSCs-derived exosomes could be used for clinical application as autologous bioactive, cardio-protective exosomes to treat heart diseases and become a clinical tool for personalized medicine (75). Exosomes derived from umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells showed a pro-angiogenic effect by delivering Wnt4 and activating Wnt/ β -catenin signaling in ECs (21). Since activation of Wnt/ β catenin signaling is also pro-angiogenic in the adult heart, it is tempting to speculate that endogenous CPCs may also use EVs for pro-angiogenic signaling. Activation of canonical Wnt signaling was also reported in osteoblast-derived exosomes carrying miRNA to promote osteogenic differentiation. Thus, not only Wnt components may be carried onto EVs but also miRNA regulating Wnt signaling may be involved in cell-cell communication.

Cell therapies can directly support regenerative processes by forming new functional tissues or supporting tissue generation via paracrine mechanisms. Dissecting the precise role of Wnt signaling in cardiac tissue regeneration and the potential use of synthetic EVs may help tailor therapeutic approaches aiming to restore tissue functionality in a non-regenerative environment such as the heart. Moreover, human PSCs provide an excellent tool to address EV-mediated signaling in the context of early cardiogenesis. Developing protocols for exosomes isolation in their *in vivo* environment will allow cell-type and cargo-specific

REFERENCES

- Niehrs C. The complex world of WNT receptor signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2012) 13(12):767–79. doi: 10.1038/nrm3470
- 2. Simons M, Mlodzik M. Planar cell polarity signaling: from fly development to human disease. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* (2008) 42(1):517–40.
- van Amerongen R, Nusse R. Towards an integrated view of Wnt signaling in development. *Development* (2009) 136(19):3205–14. doi: 10.1242/ dev.033910
- Cruciat CM, Niehrs C. Secreted and transmembrane wnt inhibitors and activators. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2013) 5(3):a015081. doi: 10.1101/ cshperspect.a015081
- Gross JC, Boutros M. Secretion and extracellular space travel of Wnt proteins. Curr Opin Genet Dev (2013) 23(4):385–90. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2013.02.017
- Panáková D, Sprong H, Marois E, Thiele C, Eaton S. Lipoprotein particles are required for Hedgehog and Wingless signalling. *Nature* (2005) 435(7038):58– 65. doi: 10.1038/nature03504

EVs and will enormously advance the field of EV-mediated signaling.

CONCLUSION

Modulation of Wnt signaling is crucial for tissue homeostasis in the developing and postnatal heart. However, the role of Wnt/ β catenin-dependent and -independent pathways in the intercellular crosstalk of heart cells is not fully understood. Activating or inactivating branches of the Wnt-network in specific target cells may be attractive to modulate pathological processes in the cardiovascular system or to enhance regenerative capacities of stem cell therapies. Many of these mechanisms might be mediated by EVs. Hence, understanding Wnt signal transduction via EVs between cell populations and tissues will advance our strategies for therapeutic modulation of these pathways.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Both authors conceived, discussed and wrote the review.

FUNDING

Research in the lab of JCG is supported by the DFG-funded Research Center SFB1324/1 and GR4810/2-1. Research in the lab of LCZ is funded by DFGZE900-3; SFB 1002 Project C07 and the German Center for Cardiovascular Disease (DZHK). We acknowledge support by the Open Access Publication Funds of the Göttingen University.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We specially thank Lavanya M. Iyer for revising the manuscript. We apologize to all those colleagues whose important work is not cited because of space considerations.

- 7. Neumann J, Schaale K, Farhat K, Endermann T, Ulmer AJ, Ehlers S, et al. Frizzled1 is a marker of inflammatory macrophages, and its ligand Wnt3a is involved in reprogramming Mycobacterium tuberculosis-infected macrophages. *Faseb J* (2010) 24(11):4599–612. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-160994
- Huang H, Kornberg TB. Myoblast cytonemes mediate Wg signaling from the wing imaginal disc and Delta-Notch signaling to the air sac primordium. *Elife* (2015) 4:e06114. doi: 10.7554/eLife.06114
- Stanganello E, Hagemann AI, Mattes B, Sinner C, Meyen D, Weber S, et al. Filopodia-based Wnt transport during vertebrate tissue patterning. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:5846. doi: 10.1038/ncomms6846
- Gross JC, Chaudhary V, Bartscherer K, Boutros M. Active Wnt proteins are secreted on exosomes. *Nat Cell Biol* (2012) 14(10):1036–45. doi: 10.1038/ ncb2574
- Mcgough IJ, Vincent JP. Exosomes in developmental signalling. *Development* (2016) 143(14):2482–93. doi: 10.1242/dev.126516
- Yáňez-Mó M, Siljander PR, Andreu Z, Zavec AB, Borràs FE, Buzas EI, et al. Biological properties of extracellular vesicles and their physiological functions. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2015) 4:27066. doi: 10.3402/jev.v4.27066

- Menck K, Sönmezer C, Worst TS, Schulz M, Dihazi GH, Streit F, et al. Neutral sphingomyelinases control extracellular vesicles budding from the plasma membrane. J Extracell Vesicles (2017) 6(1):1378056. doi: 10.1080/20013078.2017.1378056
- Kowal J, Arras G, Colombo M, Jouve M, Morath JP, Primdal-Bengtson B, et al. Proteomic comparison defines novel markers to characterize heterogeneous populations of extracellular vesicle subtypes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2016) 113(8):E968–E977. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1521230113
- Baietti MF, Zhang Z, Mortier E, Melchior A, Degeest G, Geeraerts A, et al. Syndecan-syntenin-ALIX regulates the biogenesis of exosomes. *Nat Cell Biol* (2012) 14(7):677–85. doi: 10.1038/ncb2502
- Coumans FAW, Brisson AR, Buzas EI, Dignat-George F, Drees EEE, El-Andaloussi S, et al. Methodological guidelines to study extracellular vesicles. *Circ Res* (2017) 120(10):1632–48. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.117.309417
- Zhang L, Wrana JL. The emerging role of exosomes in Wnt secretion and transport. *Curr Opin Genet Dev* (2014) 27:14–19. doi: 10.1016/j. gde.2014.03.006
- Koch R, Demant M, Aung T, Diering N, Cicholas A, Chapuy B, et al. Populational equilibrium through exosome-mediated Wnt signaling in tumor progression of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Blood* (2014) 123(14):2189–98. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-08-523886
- Koch S, Acebron SP, Herbst J, Hatiboglu G, Niehrs C. Post-transcriptional Wnt signaling governs epididymal sperm maturation. *Cell* (2015) 163(5):1225–36. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.10.029
- Cui X, He Z, Liang Z, Chen Z, Wang H, Zhang J. Exosomes From Adiposederived Mesenchymal Stem Cells Protect the Myocardium Against Ischemia/ Reperfusion Injury Through Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol (2017) 70(4):225–31. doi: 10.1097/FJC.000000000000507
- Zhang B, Wu X, Zhang X, Sun Y, Yan Y, Shi H, et al. Human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell exosomes enhance angiogenesis through the Wnt4/βcatenin pathway. *Stem Cells Transl Med* (2015) 4(5):513–22. doi: 10.5966/ sctm.2014-0267
- 22. Zhang B, Wang M, Gong A, Zhang X, Wu X, Zhu Y, et al. HucMSC-exosome mediated-Wnt4 signaling is required for cutaneous wound healing. *Stem Cells* (2015) 33(7):2158–68. doi: 10.1002/stem.1771
- Huang Z, Feng Y. Exosomes Derived From Hypoxic Colorectal Cancer Cells Promote Angiogenesis Through Wnt4-Induced β-Catenin Signaling in Endothelial Cells. Oncol. Res. (2017) 25(5):651–61.
- 24. Shi H, Xu X, Zhang B, Xu J, Pan Z, Gong A, et al. 3,3'-Diindolylmethane stimulates exosomal Wnt11 autocrine signaling in human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells to enhance wound healing. *Theranostics* (2017) 7(6):1674–88. doi: 10.7150/thno.18082
- Chen Q, Takada R, Noda C, Kobayashi S, Takada S. Different populations of Wnt-containing vesicles are individually released from polarized epithelial cells. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:35562. doi: 10.1038/srep35562
- Harada T, Yamamoto H, Kishida S, Kishida M, Awada C, Takao T, et al. Wnt5bassociated exosomes promote cancer cell migration and proliferation. *Cancer Sci* (2017) 108(1):42–52. doi: 10.1111/cas.13109
- Chen Y, Zeng C, Zhan Y, Wang H, Jiang X, Li W. Aberrant low expression of p85α in stromal fibroblasts promotes breast cancer cell metastasis through exosome-mediated paracrine Wnt10b. Oncogene (2017) 36(33):4692–705. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.100
- Menck K, Klemm F, Gross JC, Pukrop T, Wenzel D, Binder C. Induction and transport of Wnt 5a during macrophage-induced malignant invasion is mediated by two types of extracellular vesicles. *Oncotarget* (2013) 4(11):2057– 66. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.1336
- 29. Luga V, Zhang L, Viloria-Petit AM, Ogunjimi AA, Inanlou MR, Chiu E, et al. Exosomes mediate stromal mobilization of autocrine Wnt-PCP signaling in breast cancer cell migration. *Cell* (2012) 151(7):1542–56. doi: 10.1016/j. cell.2012.11.024
- 30. Tassew NG, Charish J, Shabanzadeh AP, Luga V, Harada H, Farhani N, et al. Exosomes mediate mobilization of autocrine Wnt10b to promote axonal regeneration in the injured CNS. *Cell Rep* (2017) 20(1):99–111. doi: 10.1016/j. celrep.2017.06.009
- Korkut C, Ataman B, Ramachandran P, Ashley J, Barria R, Gherbesi N, et al. Trans-synaptic transmission of vesicular Wnt signals through Evi/Wntless. *Cell* (2009) 139(2):393–404. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.07.051

- Koles K, Nunnari J, Korkut C, Barria R, Brewer C, Li Y, et al. Mechanism of evenness interrupted (Evi)-exosome release at synaptic boutons. J Biol Chem (2012) 287(20):16820–34. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.342667
- 33. Jiang N, Xiang L, He L, Yang G, Zheng J, Wang C, et al. Exosomes Mediate Epithelium-Mesenchyme Crosstalk in Organ Development. ACS Nano (2017) 11(8):7736–46.
- 34. Luga V, Wrana JL. Tumor-stroma interaction: Revealing fibroblast-secreted exosomes as potent regulators of Wnt-planar cell polarity signaling in cancer metastasis. *Cancer Res* (2013) 73(23):6843–7. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-1791
- Ozhan G, Weidinger G. Wnt/β-catenin signaling in heart regeneration. Cell Regen (2015) 4(1):3. doi: 10.1186/s13619-015-0017-8
- 36. Gessert S, Kühl M. The multiple phases and faces of wnt signaling during cardiac differentiation and development. *Circ Res* (2010) 107(2):186–99. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.221531
- Lickert H, Kutsch S, Kanzler B, Tamai Y, Taketo MM, Kemler R. Formation of multiple hearts in mice following deletion of beta-catenin in the embryonic endoderm. *Dev Cell* (2002) 3(2):171–81. doi: 10.1016/S1534-5807(02)00206-X
- Tian Y, Cohen ED, Morrisey EE. The importance of Wnt signaling in cardiovascular development. *Pediatr Cardiol* (2010) 31(3):342–8. doi: 10.1007/ s00246-009-9606-z
- Cohen ED, Tian Y, Morrisey EE. Wnt signaling: an essential regulator of cardiovascular differentiation, morphogenesis and progenitor self-renewal. *Development* (2008) 135(5):789–98. doi: 10.1242/dev.016865
- 40. Mehta A, Ramachandra CJ, Sequiera GL, Sudibyo Y, Nandihalli M, Yong PJ, et al. Phasic modulation of Wnt signaling enhances cardiac differentiation in human pluripotent stem cells by recapitulating developmental ontogeny. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2014) 20141843(11):2394–402. doi: 10.1016/j. bbamcr.2014.06.011
- Cohen ED, Miller MF, Wang Z, Moon RT, Morrisey EE. Wnt5a and Wnt11 are essential for second heart field progenitor development. *Development* (2012) 139(11):1931–40. doi: 10.1242/dev.069377
- 42. Noack C, Zafiriou MP, Schaeffer HJ, Renger A, Pavlova E, Dietz R, et al. Krueppel-like factor 15 regulates Wnt/β-catenin transcription and controls cardiac progenitor cell fate in the postnatal heart. *EMBO Mol Med* (2012) 4(9):992–1007. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201101043
- Zelarayán LC, Noack C, Sekkali B, Kmecova J, Gehrke C, Renger A, et al. Beta-Catenin downregulation attenuates ischemic cardiac remodeling through enhanced resident precursor cell differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2008) 105(50):19762–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0808393105
- Klaus A, Saga Y, Taketo MM, Tzahor E, Birchmeier W. Distinct roles of Wnt/ beta-catenin and Bmp signaling during early cardiogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2007) 104(47):18531–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0703113104
- 45. Oikonomopoulos A, Sereti KI, Conyers F, Bauer M, Liao A, Guan J, et al. Wnt signaling exerts an antiproliferative effect on adult cardiac progenitor cells through IGFBP3. *Circ Res* (2011) 109(12):1363–74. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.111.250282
- 46. Quaife-Ryan GA, Sim CB, Ziemann M, Kaspi A, Rafehi H, Ramialison M, et al. Multicellular transcriptional analysis of mammalian heart regeneration. *Circulation* (2017) 136(12):1123–39. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.117.028252
- 47. Hou N, Ye B, Li X, Margulies KB, Xu H, Wang X, et al. Transcription Factor 7-like 2 mediates canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling and c-Myc upregulation in heart failure. *Circ Heart Fail* (2016) 9(6):e003010. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCHEARTFAILURE.116.003010
- Deb A. Cell-cell interaction in the heart via Wnt/β-catenin pathway after cardiac injury. Cardiovasc Res (2014) 102(2):214–23. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvu054
- 49. Abraityte A, Lunde IG, Askevold ET, Michelsen AE, Christensen G, Aukrust P, et al. Wnt5a is associated with right ventricular dysfunction and adverse outcome in dilated cardiomyopathy. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):3490. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-017-03625-9
- 50. Abraityte A, Vinge LE, Askevold ET, Lekva T, Michelsen AE, Ranheim T, et al. Wnt5a is elevated in heart failure and affects cardiac fibroblast function. *J Mol Med* (2017) 95(7):767–77. doi: 10.1007/s00109-017-1529-1
- Palevski D, Levin-Kotler LP, Kain D, Naftali-Shani N, Landa N, Ben-Mordechai T, et al. Loss of macrophage Wnt secretion improves remodeling and function after myocardial infarction in mice. J Am Heart Assoc (2017) 6(1):e004387. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116.004387

- Nakamura K, Sano S, Fuster JJ, Kikuchi R, Shimizu I, Ohshima K, et al. Secreted frizzled-related protein 5 diminishes cardiac inflammation and protects the heart from ischemia/reperfusion injury. J Biol Chem (2016) 291(6):2566–75. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.693937
- 53. Fuster JJ, Zuriaga MA, Ngo DT, Farb MG, Aprahamian T, Yamaguchi TP, et al. Noncanonical Wnt signaling promotes obesity-induced adipose tissue inflammation and metabolic dysfunction independent of adipose tissue expansion. *Diabetes* (2015) 64(4):1235–48. doi: 10.2337/db14-1164
- Christodoulides C, Lagathu C, Sethi JK, Vidal-Puig A. Adipogenesis and WNT signalling. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2009) 20(1):16–24. doi: 10.1016/j. tem.2008.09.002
- Belting M, Christianson HC. Role of exosomes and microvesicles in hypoxiaassociated tumour development and cardiovascular disease. J Intern Med (2015) 278(3):251–63. doi: 10.1111/joim.12393
- Waldenström A, Gennebäck N, Hellman U, Ronquist G. Cardiomyocyte microvesicles contain DNA/RNA and convey biological messages to target cells. *PLoS One* (2012) 7(4):e34653. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034653
- Malik ZA, Kott KS, Poe AJ, Kuo T, Chen L, Ferrara KW, et al. Cardiac myocyte exosomes: stability, HSP60, and proteomics. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* (2013) 304(7):H954):H954–65H965. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00835.2012
- 58. Wang X, Gu H, Qin D, Yang L, Huang W, Essandoh K, et al. Exosomal miR-223 contributes to mesenchymal stem cell-elicited cardioprotection in polymicrobial sepsis. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:13721. doi: 10.1038/srep13721
- 59. Wang Y, Zhang L, Li Y, Chen L, Wang X, Guo W, et al. Exosomes/microvesicles from induced pluripotent stem cells deliver cardioprotective miRNAs and prevent cardiomyocyte apoptosis in the ischemic myocardium. *Int J Cardiol* (2015) 192:61–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.05.020
- 60. Frey N, Olson EN. Cardiac hypertrophy: the good, the bad, and the ugly. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* (2003) 65(1):45–79.
- Dawson K, Aflaki M, Nattel S. Role of the Wnt-Frizzled system in cardiac pathophysiology: a rapidly developing, poorly understood area with enormous potential. *J Physiol* (2013) 591(Pt 6):1409–32. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2012.235382
- Hermans KC, Blankesteijn WM. Wnt Signaling in Cardiac Disease. Compr Physiol (2015) 5(3):1183–209. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c140060
- van de Schans VA, Smits JF, Blankesteijn WM. The Wnt/frizzled pathway in cardiovascular development and disease: friend or foe? *Eur J Pharmacol* (2008) 585(2-3):338–45. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2008.02.093
- 64. Nakagawa A, Naito AT, Sumida T, Nomura S, Shibamoto M, Higo T, et al. Activation of endothelial β-catenin signaling induces heart failure. Sci Rep (2016) 6:25009. doi: 10.1038/srep25009
- 65. Iyer LM, Nagarajan S, Woelfer M, Schoger E, Khadjeh S, Zafiriou MP, et al. A context-specific cardiac β-catenin and GATA4 interaction influences TCF7L2 occupancy and remodels chromatin driving disease progression in the adult heart. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2018):gky049. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky049
- 66. Xiang FL, Fang M, Yutzey KE. Loss of β-catenin in resident cardiac fibroblasts attenuates fibrosis induced by pressure overload in mice. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8(1):712. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00840-w
- 67. van de Schans VA, van den Borne SW, Strzelecka AE, Janssen BJ, van der Velden JL, Langen RC, et al. Interruption of Wnt signaling attenuates the onset of pressure overload-induced cardiac hypertrophy. *Hypertension* (2007) 49(3):473–80. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000255946.55091.24
- Ailawadi S, Wang X, Gu H, Fan GC. Pathologic function and therapeutic potential of exosomes in cardiovascular disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2015) 1852(1):1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.10.008
- 69. Bang C, Batkai S, Dangwal S, Gupta SK, Foinquinos A, Holzmann A, et al. Cardiac fibroblast-derived microRNA passenger strand-enriched exosomes mediate cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. J Clin Invest (2014) 124(5):2136–46. doi: 10.1172/JCI70577

- 70. Chairoungdua A, Smith DL, Pochard P, Hull M, Caplan MJ. Exosome release of β -catenin: a novel mechanism that antagonizes Wnt signaling. *J Cell Biol* (2010) 190(6):1079–91. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201002049
- Thomou T, Mori MA, Dreyfuss JM, Konishi M, Sakaguchi M, Wolfrum C, et al. Adipose-derived circulating miRNAs regulate gene expression in other tissues. *Nature* (2017) 542(7642):450–5. doi: 10.1038/nature21365
- 72. Meyer IS, Jungmann A, Dieterich C, Zhang M, Lasitschka F, Werkmeister S, et al. The cardiac microenvironment uses non-canonical WNT signaling to activate monocytes after myocardial infarction. *EMBO Mol Med* (2017) 9(9):1279–93. doi: 10.15252/emmm.201707565
- Ottaviani L, de Windt LJ, da Costa Martins PA. Exosomes: scytales in the damaged heart. Ann Transl Med (2016) 4(11):222. doi: 10.21037/atm.2016.05.17
- 74. Barile L, Gherghiceanu M, Popescu LM, Moccetti T, Vassalli G. Ultrastructural evidence of exosome secretion by progenitor cells in adult mouse myocardium and adult human cardiospheres. *J Biomed Biotechnol* (2012) 2012:354605:1–10. doi: 10.1155/2012/354605
- 75. Barile L, Lionetti V, Cervio E, Matteucci M, Gherghiceanu M, Popescu LM, et al. Extracellular vesicles from human cardiac progenitor cells inhibit cardiomyocyte apoptosis and improve cardiac function after myocardial infarction. *Cardiovasc Res* (2014) 103(4):530–41. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvu167
- 76. Jung JH, Fu X, Yang PC. Exosomes generated from iPSC-Derivatives: new direction for stem cell therapy in human heart diseases. *Circ Res* (2017) 120(2):407–17. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.309307
- 77. Gray WD, French KM, Ghosh-Choudhary S, Maxwell JT, Brown ME, Platt MO, et al. Identification of therapeutic covariant microRNA clusters in hypoxia-treated cardiac progenitor cell exosomes using systems biology. *Circ Res* (2015) 116(2):255–63. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.304360
- 78. de Jong OG, van Balkom BW, Schiffelers RM, Bouten CV, Verhaar MC. Extracellular vesicles: potential roles in regenerative medicine. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:608. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00608
- Chistiakov DA, Orekhov AN, Bobryshev YV. Cardiac extracellular vesicles in normal and infarcted heart. *Int J Mol Sci* (2016) 17(1):63. doi: 10.3390/ ijms17010063
- Vrijsen KR, Maring JA, Chamuleau SA, Verhage V, Mol EA, Deddens JC, et al. Exosomes from cardiomyocyte progenitor cells and mesenchymal stem cells stimulate angiogenesis via EMMPRIN. *Adv Healthc Mater* (2016) 5(19):2555– 65. doi: 10.1002/adhm.201600308
- 81. Tüysüz N, van Bloois L, van den Brink S, Begthel H, Verstegen MM, Cruz LJ, et al. Lipid-mediated Wnt protein stabilization enables serum-free culture of human organ stem cells. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:14578. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms14578
- Dhamdhere GR, Fang MY, Jiang J, Lee K, Cheng D, Olveda RC, et al. Drugging a stem cell compartment using Wnt3a protein as a therapeutic. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(1):e83650. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0083650

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer PY and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2018 Gross and Zelarayán. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Platelet-Derived Microvesicles in Cardiovascular Diseases

Maria T. K. Zaldivia^{1,2}, James D. McFadyen^{1,2,3}, Bock Lim¹, Xiaowei Wang^{1,2} and Karlheinz Peter^{1,2,4*}

¹ Atherothrombosis and Vascular Biology, Baker Heart and Diabetes Institute, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ² Department of Medicine, Monash University, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ³ Department of Haematology, The Alfred Hospital, Melbourne, VIC, Australia, ⁴ Heart Centre, The Alfred Hospital, Melbourne, VIC, Australia

Microvesicles (MVs) circulating in the blood are small vesicles (100–1,000 nm in diameter) derived from membrane blebs of cells such as activated platelets, endothelial cells, and leukocytes. A growing body of evidence now supports the concept that platelet-derived microvesicles (PMVs), the most abundant MVs in the circulation, are important regulators of hemostasis, inflammation, and angiogenesis. Compared with healthy individuals, a large increase of circulating PMVs has been observed, particularly in patients with cardiovascular diseases. As observed in MVs from other parent cells, PMVs exert their biological effects in multiple ways, such as triggering various intercellular signaling cascades and by participating in transcellular communication by the transfer of their "cargo" of cytoplasmic components and surface receptors to other cell types. This review describes our current understanding of the potential role of PMVs in mediating hemostasis, inflammation, and angiogenesis and their consequences on the pathogenesis of cardiovascular diseases, such as atherosclerosis, myocardial infarction, and venous thrombosis. Furthermore, new developments of the therapeutic potential of PMVs for the treatment of cardiovascular diseases will be discussed.

Keywords: microvesicles, platelet-derived microvesicles, cardiovascular disease, therapeutic potential, hemostasis, inflammation, angiogenesis

INTRODUCTION

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) encompass a broad range of vesicles released from cells (1). EVs can be classified into different subsets according to their size, cellular origin, content or the mechanism leading to their formation (**Table 1**). Microvesicles (MVs)—also referred to as microparticles—are vesicles typically around 100–1,000 nm in size. By contrast, smaller vesicles (30–100 nm) are referred to as exosomes, while larger vesicles containing nuclear materials are referred to as apoptotic bodies. Although there is a general consensus in most studies that apoptotic bodies are particles >1 μ m (2, 3), there are several studies that describe apoptotic bodies to have a smaller size range of 0.5 μ m (4, 5).

In the context of platelet biology, the plasma membrane fragments shed from activated platelets initially observed to possess procoagulant function were described as "platelet dust" by Wolf (17). Subsequent studies employing electron microscopy demonstrated the budding of vesicles from the platelet plasma membrane (18) thus confirming the cellular origin of the fragments detected by Wolf (17). In fact, 60–90% of EVs have been shown to be derived from platelets as indicated by positive CD41 staining (19). Since then, the role of EVs in the field of cardiovascular research has garnered a huge amount of interest due to their putative role in various pathological conditions.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rory R. Koenen, Maastricht University, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Adam Bruno Ceroi, Ghent University, Belgium Leonard C. Edelstein, Thomas Jefferson University, United States

*Correspondence:

Karlheinz Peter karlheinz.peter@baker.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Atherosclerosis and Vascular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

Received: 03 August 2017 Accepted: 07 November 2017 Published: 21 November 2017

Citation:

Zaldivia MTK, McFadyen JD, Lim B, Wang X and Peter K (2017) Platelet-Derived Microvesicles in Cardiovascular Diseases. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 4:74. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2017.00074

	Exosome	Microvesicle	Apoptotic body
Size	≈20–100 nm	≈0.1–1 µm	>1 µm
Origin	Multivesicular bodies, internal compartments	Plasma membrane	Cellular fragments
Markers	- Tetraspanins (CD63, CD9, and CD81)	 Phosphatidylserine (PS) 	– Histones
	 ALG-2-interacting protein X 	 Integrins 	 Fragmented DNA
	 Tumor susceptibility gene 101 protein 	- Selectins	- PS
	 Heat shock 70-kDa proteins 	 CD40 ligands 	
	 Major histocompatibility complex class I and class II 	 Other antigens of parental cell 	
Reference	- (6-9)	- (9-14)	- (9, 15, 16)

TABLE 1 | Characteristics of extracellular vesicles

Elevated levels of platelet-derived microvesicles (PMVs) are observed in diabetes mellitus, sepsis, rheumatoid arthritis, vascular inflammation, and cardiovascular diseases (20–31). Indeed, the pathological events associated with these diseases activate platelets (32–35), which have been demonstrated to increase PMV release, while at the same time, a subpopulation of PMVs coming from agonist-activated platelets have been demonstrated to contribute to pathological events (36). Thus, PMVs may well be both, one of the causes and a consequence of the pathophysiology that drives various diseases.

This review will focus on our current understanding of PMVs in mediating hemostasis, inflammation, and angiogenesis, which are all factors contributing to the pathogenesis of cardiovascular diseases. Furthermore, the clinical relevance of PMVs will be discussed in the context of their therapeutic potential in the treatment of cardiovascular diseases.

FORMATION AND CLEARANCE OF PMVs

Platelet-derived microvesicle formation is complex, and the exact mechanisms involved in the generation of PMVs to date remains to be clearly defined. However, it has been demonstrated that the generation of PMVs can be triggered by various mechanisms: (1) via platelet activation by soluble agonists or (2) shear stress or (3) glycoprotein (GP) IIb/IIIa outside-in signaling. In the case of platelet activation in response to soluble agonist stimulation or in response to high shear stress in the vasculature (37-39), sustained elevation of intracellular calcium has been observed, which initiates the loss of lipid asymmetry of the plasma membrane and cytoskeletal reorganization, ultimately leading to PMV generation (Figure 1) (40). The exposure of negatively charged phospholipids, such as phosphatidylserine (PS), on the outer leaflet of the plasma membrane is regulated by the calcium-dependent scramblase transmembrane protein (TMEM16F) (41). Likewise, calpain, a calcium-dependent protease, is central to regulating cytoskeletal reorganization thus facilitating PMV shedding (42). By contrast, unstimulated platelets have been demonstrated to generate PMVs via GPIIb/ IIIa signaling, which destabilizes the actin cytoskeleton, resulting in shedding of PMVs in the absence of soluble agonist stimulation (43). Once generated, PMVs have generally been observed to have a relatively short lifespan with studies demonstrating PMVs to have half-lives of 30 min in mice (44), 10 min in rabbits (45), and approximately 5.5 h in apheresis-derived

PMVs (46). Active endocytosis has been demonstrated to be involved in the clearance of MVs (47) including those of PMVs (48). Indeed, several studies demonstrated the involvement of PS-dependent phagocytic processes in the clearance of PMVs in the circulation (44, 49-52). Several opsonins such as complement component C3b, \u03b32-glycoprotein-1, lactadherin, and developmental endothelial locus-1 facilitate this PS-dependent phagocytosis (44, 49-51, 53). Upon engulfment of EVs by phagocytic cells such as macrophages and dendritic cells, liver X receptor (LXR) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor pathways are activated, which both are known to be induced by lipid derivatives (54). Indeed, the activation of the cholesterol derivative-sensitive pathway LXR by PMVs has been previously demonstrated in plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs) (52), thereby highlighting the importance of lipid composition of EVs on the target cell responses after engulfment. The internalization of PMVs is not only essential for the clearance of PMVs but also ensures the delivery of the MV content into the target cell and thereby exerting their effector functions. Although studies have shown PS-dependent phagocytosis to be involved in the clearance of PMVs, other mechanisms are also involved in this process, which have previously been reviewed in detail by Mulcahy et al. (55).

COMPOSITION OF PMVs

From the humble origin of being just "platelet dust," it is now apparent that PMVs can mediate a diverse range of physiological responses. Their capacity to exert their biological role is attributed to their cell membrane composition and molecular cargo. The phospholipid composition of PMVs is a composite of the platelet plasma and granule membranes with high cholesterol content, also indicating an enrichment of lipid rafts (35). PMVs share many of the antigens as their parental cells that regulate cell adhesion, activation, and coagulation reactions (Figure 1) (10-13). These include various GPs, tissue factors (TF), selectins, and coagulation factors V and VIII (10-13). PMVs are packed with numerous biological molecules, which facilitate the transportation and delivery of bioactive mediators that can modulate the function of target cells. PMVs carry cytokines and chemokines such as interleukin (IL)-1β, CXCL4, CXCL7, and CCL5 (11, 56). In addition, a vast amount of proteins, growth factors, and genetic material such as ribonucleic acid (RNA), messenger RNA, and microRNA can be packaged into PMVs (12, 57-60). Moreover,



scramblase (TMEM16F), mediation and characteristics. Optimized activation, the elevation of intracellular calcium numbers impose, while activating inoppase and scramblase (TMEM16F), mediating the externalization of negatively charged PS (indicated as purple phospholipid). Furthermore, increased intracellular calcium leads to reorganization of the cytoskeleton by activating calpain, thereby cleaving PMVs and releasing them into the circulation. The size, physical characteristics, and cargo of PMVs depend on the environment and agonist(s) causing PMV generation. PMVs are many surface proteins with platelets such as integrins, selectins, adhesion receptors, coagulation factors, and other platelet-derived proteins. PMVs are packed with proteins including growth factors, cytokines/chemokines, and apoptotic proteins. PMVs also carry nucleic acids (mRNA, miRNA, and RNA) and mitochondria. PS, phosphatidylserine; GP, glycoprotein; vWF, von Willebrand factor; RNA, ribonucleic acid; mRNA, messenger RNA; miRNA, microRNA; PMV, platelet-derived microvesicle.

PMVs have recently been described to carry mitochondria, which can influence inflammatory responses (61).

The mechanisms of selective packaging have been demonstrated widely in EVs (62–65). Albeit not fully characterized in PMVs, the difference in lipid composition between PMVs and their parental cell, platelets (35), provide evidence for selective membrane assembly. Interestingly, it has been observed that the physical and biological components of PMVs are influenced by the stimulus used to generate PMVs (66–69). The heterogeneity observed in PMVs may explain why they have a diverse range of biological roles. For instance, larger PMVs may be enriched with more receptors and contents within, and thus can exert more effects, while smaller PMVs can deliver their biological cargo to areas that are otherwise difficult to enter, such as tumors, or to cross, such as the blood-brain barrier. Overall, it is important to understand that various pathological conditions will produce different types of PMVs carrying unique biological cargos that exert specific effects on targets cells. However, the precise mechanism by which PMVs selectively package and release their biological cargo to influence cellular function needs to be carefully determined in the future.

BIOLOGICAL FUNCTION OF PMVs

Hemostasis

It is perhaps not surprising that PMVs are most widely recognized for their role in mediating hemostasis given the resemblance in lipid composition and biological cargo they share with their parent cell—the platelet. Diseases that affect PMV shedding in the circulation have provided insight into their ability to regulate hemostasis. For example, patients with Castaman's defect, where platelets have an isolated inability to generate MVs display a bleeding phenotype (70). Similarly, Scott syndrome, where platelets cannot externalize PS and generate PMVs, is associated with a marked bleeding diathesis (41, 70–72). These disorders highlight the importance of PMVs in mediating hemostasis.

In accordance with their ability to regulate hemostasis, PMVs display both pro- and anticoagulant properties. The assembly of the tenase and prothrombinase complexes, and thus thrombin generation, is increased in the presence of PMVs due to the PS in the outer leaflet of the cell membrane (73). PMVs also express TF, which can initiate the extrinsic coagulation pathway by activating Factor VII (73, 74). On the contrary, PMVs have anticoagulant activity, which is associated with the binding of the natural anticoagulant, protein S and activation of protein C (75–79). Given the potential pro- and anticoagulant effects of PMVs, the tight regulation of PMV levels is likely an important factor regulating the hemostatic response.

Inflammation

Akin to the wealth of literature demonstrating an important pro-inflammatory role for platelets, there is now a growing body of evidence demonstrating that PMVs can regulate inflammatory responses. The immunoglobulins, antigens, cytokines, and chemokines that PMVs carry can directly regulate immune responses (11, 56, 80). The pro-inflammatory effects of PMVs can be demonstrated through their interactions with monocytes and neutrophils. Mechanistically, PMVs bind to leukocytes and form aggregates and can induce monocytes to release inflammatory mediators including IL-1β, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, and matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9, which enhance monocyte migration (81, 82). Lipopolysaccharide-induced PMVs carry IL-1β in its mature form, which can activate endothelial cells and induce leukocyte adhesion thus promoting endothelial inflammation (56). Furthermore, mitochondria that are released in vivo in sterile inflammatory diseases, such as rheumatoid arthritis, have been observed to be packaged within PMVs, which can be hydrolyzed by phospholipase A2 IIA to generate bioactive mediators which promote neutrophil pro-inflammatory responses (61).

Intriguingly, there are reports that PMVs can also act as antiinflammatory mediators. Recently, Dinkla and colleagues (83) have shown that PMVs prevent the differentiation of regulatory T cells into a pro-inflammatory phenotype. PMVs can bind to CCR6-HLA-DR⁺ regulatory T cell subsets via P-selectin and inhibit the production of IL-17 and interferon- γ (83). In accordance, PMVs from platelet concentrates can modify innate immune cells such as macrophages and dendritic cells. Macrophage activation is attenuated in the presence of PMVs as indicated by reduced production of TNF- α and IL-10 (84). PMVs also alter the function of monocyte-derived dendritic cells as demonstrated by their reduced capacity to present antigens, diminished production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and decreased phagocytic activity (84). PMVs can also modify inflammatory effects of the target cell. For instance, PMVs have been demonstrated to regulate the inflammatory responses of mast cells by the transfer of Lipoxygenase 12 (85). This leads to the production of Lipoxin A4, which induces anti-inflammatory and anti-angiogenic responses on endothelial cells by suppressing the generation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (85, 86). Furthermore, pDCs, a subset of dendritic cells that augment inflammatory processes by producing a large amount of pro-atherogenic type 1 interferons were observed to engulf PMVs in a PS-dependent manner (52). PMVs were observed to inhibit pDCs pro-inflammatory response by reducing the secretion of TNF- α and IL-8, signifying an antiinflammatory mechanism of PMVs (52).

In addition, our group has demonstrated that pentameric protein C-reactive protein (pCRP) binds to different MVs including PMVs (87). These pCRP-MVs, albeit not pro-inflammatory in healthy individuals, can aggravate existing tissue injury by activating the classical complement pathway and enhancing leukocyte recruitment to inflamed tissues (87). MVs not only bind pCRP but also convert pCRP to a highly pro-inflammatory monomer of C-reactive protein (mCRP), which can bind to endothelial cells and generate pro-inflammatory signals (88-91). In addition, autoantigen proteinase 3, an elastin degrading protease, binds to PS expressing MVs, thereby promoting inflammation via the generation of reactive oxygen species in neutrophils (92). Thus, these studies further highlight the ability of PMVs to partner with proteins to induce a pro-inflammatory phenotype. Therefore, PMVs may play a dual role in inflammation as they may instigate either pro- or anti-inflammatory responses depending on the cell membrane composition and biological cargo transported by the PMV.

Angiogenesis

In addition to harboring a number of pro-inflammatory cytokines, PMVs may carry growth factors such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), fibroblast growth factor 2, and lipid growth factors suggesting PMVs may play an important role in regulating angiogenesis (93). In accordance, Kim and colleagues have demonstrated that PMVs can inhibit apoptosis while enhancing cell migration, proliferation, survival, and tube formation in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (93). PMVs may also enhance pro-angiogenic MMP-2 and MMP-9 expression in endothelial cells *in vitro* and *in vivo* (94). Furthermore, PMVs stimulate the growth of endothelial

progenitor cells, thus contributing to the formation of new blood vessels (93).

The role of PMVs in regulating angiogenesis in the context of cardiovascular diseases has been highlighted by Brill and colleagues (95). The authors established that PMVs can induce angiogenesis in vitro caused by cytokines, VEGF, basic fibroblast growth factor, and platelet-derived growth factor packaged within PMVs in a process linked to Src, PI-3K, and ERK signaling (95). Moreover, the injection of PMVs in ischemic heart muscle induces the formation of blood vessels in a murine model of myocardial infarction (MI), signifying PMVs capability to induce myocardial angiogenesis in the setting of ischemia (95). PMVs have also been shown to facilitate endothelial repair after arterial injury by enhancing the vasoregenerative capacity of early outgrowth cells (EOCs) (96). PMVs enhance the recruitment, migration, and differentiation of EOCs at the site of injury by enhancing angiogenic growth factors that stimulate resident mature endothelial cells (96). The ability of PMVs to induce angiogenesis has also been demonstrated in the context of neurogenesis following brain injury and tumor progression (97, 98) thus, highlighting the potentially broad role of PMVs in endothelial repair and angiogenesis.

PMVs IN CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES

Atherosclerosis

The rupturing of an atherosclerotic plaque can lead to MI and stroke, which are leading causes of death and disability globally. Indeed, excessive amounts of PMVs have been observed in patients with atherosclerosis (23-28). The increase in PMV numbers was found to correlate with multiple parameters including carotid artery intima media thickness, lipid-rich atherosclerotic plaques, and plaque burden (23-27). In the setting of atherosclerosis, increased hemodynamic shear stress due to plaque-associated luminal stenosis as well as the accumulation of oxidized low-density lipoprotein can activate platelets and stimulate generation of pro-inflammatory PMVs (33, 99). In atherosclerosis, monocytes adhere to activated endothelial cells, infiltrate the intima, and differentiate to tissue macrophages, which then engulf lipids and form foam cells (100). Smooth muscle cells migrate from the media to the intima and produce extracellular matrix, forming the fibrous cap (100). Macrophages and smooth muscle cells can undergo apoptosis leading to accumulation of extracellular lipid which forms the necrotic core (100). Indeed, PMVs have been implicated with these different stages of atherogenesis. For instance, PMVs encapsulate and transport miR-223 to endothelial cells, which can trigger endothelial apoptosis via the insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor (60). PMVs, together with endothelial MVs, increase endothelial permeability thereby influencing vascular endothelial dysfunction, an early step in the development of atherosclerosis (101). The presence of P-selectin expressed by PMVs allows them to interact with leukocytes via P-selectin GP ligand-1 thereby facilitating leukocyte accumulation at the site of endothelial injury and enhancing leukocyte infiltration from the blood vessel to the intima (82). Further to this,

PMVs can transfer the pro-atherogenic cytokine RANTES to endothelial cells and induce monocytes and endothelial cells to release pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-8, IL-1β, TNF- α , and IL-6, further enhancing leukocyte adhesion and infiltration (102–104). PMVs encapsulate active caspase-3 that can induce macrophage apoptosis (105). As a consequence in atherosclerosis, lipids derived from dead macrophages can accumulate and can contribute to the formation of the necrotic core. Furthermore, PMVs have been demonstrated to stimulate smooth muscle cells, leading to the migration of smooth muscle from the media to the intima thereby enhancing lesion progression (106, 107).

However, the main caveat of these studies is the fact that PMVs are only detected in the circulating blood of patients with atherosclerosis but are not found in the atherosclerotic plaque itself (108). This raises the question as to whether PMVs are merely associated with atherogenesis or play an active role in disease pathogenesis. The absence of PMVs in the plaque, while intriguing because of the evidence of PMVs' infiltration in other inflamed tissues, such as arthritic joints (36), could suggest selective removal of PMVs as they engage with other cells and exert their effects at the intraluminal area of the vessel in the setting of atherosclerosis. PMVs are highly subjected to endocytosis/phagocytosis, due to the high expression of adhesion molecules and PS (109). This potentially enhances the clearance of PMVs in comparison with other blood streamderived MVs, which may possibly be one of the mechanisms contributing to the absence of PMVs in the atherosclerotic plaque. These are important questions for further studies.

Acute Coronary Syndromes (ACS)

High levels of circulatory PMVs have been observed in patients with ACS and are also associated with the degree of elevation of cardiac enzymes, IL-6, and CRP levels (29-31). The elevated levels of PMVs in the plasma of patients with ACS persisted for up to 4 years after MI and is linked with markers of coagulation activation and soluble CD40L (110). In accordance with these findings, PMVs have been demonstrated to correlate with the size of myocardium at risk and microvascular dysfunction after ST elevation MI (STEMI) (111, 112). Also, it appears likely that MVs play an active role in promoting vascular inflammation and cardiac damage in patients after an ACS since MVs, including PMVs containing pro-inflammatory isoforms of CRP, have been demonstrated to be elevated in these patients (87, 88). Furthermore, PMVs independently predict future admission for major bleeding in non-STEMI patients (113). Taken together, these data suggest that PMVs detected in patients with ACS may also act as reporters of vascular inflammation, microvascular obstruction and myocardial damage in cardiovascular diseases (29, 30, 111, 112). While elevated levels of PMVs are often observed in patients with ACS, there are few studies that have reported variances in the levels of PMVs and the lack of association of PMVs with the severity of coronary artery disease (114, 115). The discordance in the levels of PMVs in ACS may be due to the variability of inclusion criteria and medication of the patients enrolled in each study. Also, the lack of consensus in the characteristic and definition of MVs may account for the variations observed in the literature.

Indeed, further studies are required, with establish common protocols and clear MVs nomenclature, to fully elucidate the role of PMVs in ACS.

Thrombotic Disorders

Thrombotic complications are often observed in patients with cardiovascular diseases. Augmented shedding of PMVs is deleterious and may contribute to thrombosis. For instance, in patients with immune thrombocytopenia, there are high levels of PMVs despite low platelet counts, which have been linked to a paradoxical increased risk of thrombotic events (116, 117). Increased PMVs are also detected in other thrombotic diseases such as acute pulmonary embolism and deep vein thrombosis (DVT) (118-121). Likewise, PMVs have been detected to be elevated in the context of thrombophilic states such antithrombin deficiency, protein C deficiency, and the Factor V Leiden mutation—all predispositions to venous thrombosis (122, 123). Increased levels of PMVs are observed to be associated with a heightened risk of venous thromboembolism, and PMVs have been proposed as a biomarker to help diagnose patients with DVT (119, 121). Similar to ACS, variation in plasma levels of PMVs are observed in thrombotic disorders (122, 124-126). Inconsistencies in processing blood samples such as handling, storage and methodology used in isolating PMVs may cause artifactual generation of PMVs and represent one of the underlying reasons for the discrepancies observed in the level of PMVs. Therefore, further studies are needed to fully unravel the role of PMVs in thrombotic diseases.

CURRENT CHALLENGES IN EV RESEARCH

Despite the remarkable progress in the field of EVs, clinical translation of EVs as a diagnostic or prognostic marker of pathological states remains a challenge (127). To fully unravel the potential of EVs in the diagnosis and therapy of cardiovascular diseases, it is imperative to understand the biological roles of PMVs in vivo. One of the drawbacks in the field of EVs is that most of the experiments demonstrating the physiological effects of EVs on target cells, such as endothelial cells, have been done in vitro in culture. The key weakness of this approach is that endothelial cells under in vivo conditions are under constant steady-state exposure to EVs. It is not clear how the response of cells in the in vitro, which is typically EV-free, to the sudden exposure of EVs is related to the in vivo setting. Furthermore, due to the lack of common practice in sample preparation and analysis, EV counts and phenotypes may vary dramatically between laboratories, making data analyses and clinical translation difficult. Indeed, several studies have highlighted the effects of pre-analytical variables on EV measurements. These include the type of anticoagulant used in collecting blood samples, centrifugation protocol, the storage of samples and staining protocols used for surface membrane antigens for determining the cellular origin of EVs (128-131). In regard to PMVs, preventing platelet activation and ensuring complete removal of platelets during processing of samples are crucial as this may result in

inaccurate findings. It is also essential to be mindful of the storage and thawing conditions of samples as this leads to changes in the number of PMVs and Annexin V binding (128–130). In addition to this variability, sample handling, isolation protocol, different antigens used to determine cellular origin, inclusion criteria for patients, and their clinical characteristics may account for the qualitative and quantitative variations observed in the literature regarding the characterization of EVs.

The technological advancements have facilitated new methods to improve the purification and detection of EVs from biological fluids (1, 127, 132–135). These include the following: sensitive single particle detection devices (tunable resistive pulse sensing; nanoparticle tracking analysis; and dynamic light scattering), flow cytometry (conventional; imaging; and impedance based), proteomics, and atomic force microscopy (1, 127, 130, 134, 136-138). However, a combination of multiple methods is still necessary to assess both physical and biological properties of EVs (1, 135). In light of the current limitation of EV studies, the International Society of Extracellular Vesicles endeavors to provide guidelines, harmonizing nomenclatures and practices in an effort to improve reproducibility of EV experiments and to eliminate ambiguity in the field of EVs (139-141). Furthermore, this society has already published several position papers in the Journal of Extracellular Vesicles (139-142) and provides public online databases that catalog EV-associated components, thereby assisting researchers to optimize their practices (EV-TRACK, ExoCarta, Vesiclepedia, and EVpedia).

THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF PMVs

Given the role of PMVs in cardiovascular diseases, this raises the question as to whether MVs can be exploited for therapeutic benefit. Indeed, pharmacological studies that alter the levels of PMVs in the circulation have shown encouraging results (143–146). Also, the physical and biochemical properties of PMVs are advantages that can be utilized for the purpose of developing a therapy for cardiovascular diseases (**Table 2**). For

TABLE 2 | Advantages and disadvantages of extracellular vesicles (EVs) as emerging therapy for cardiovascular diseases.

Advantages	Disadvantages
Natural homing ability and specific transfer of bioactive molecules (152, 153)	Lack of standardization of pre-analytical variables (127, 140)
Highly hydrophobic drugs and hydrophilic drugs can be packaged (152, 154)	No clear nomenclature leading to variable qualitative and quantitative analysis (1, 155)
Good delivery vehicle for drugs based on the ability to cross blood- brain barrier (153, 156)	No recommended isolation protocol for clinical grade production and quality contro of EV-based therapeutics (68, 142)
Easy to adapt/optimize content and surface receptors for site- specific delivery (147, 154, 156)	Comprised of heterogeneous components depending on the isolation, handling, and agonist(s) used (67, 69, 128–130)
More stable upon freezing and thawing compared with cells, biocompatible, and non-cytotoxic (142, 156)	The need to establish techniques and methodologies to rigorously quantify and characterized the molecular and physical aspects of EVs (142)



instance, PMV-inspired nanovesicles have been engineered to deliver thrombolysis specifically to sites of clot formation (147). The design of the therapeutic nano vesicle was based on the biological aspects of PMVs that are relevant to thrombus formation. Surface receptors GPIIb/IIIa and P-selectin were used to target the site of clot formation, and the enzyme phospholipase A2 was employed to rupture the vesicle and release the lytic drug, thus allowing the targeting of thrombolysis only at sites of clot formation (147). Thus, this study highlights the feasibility of altering the cargo of EVs and surface receptors for site-specific delivery (Table 2). Also, natural PMVs have showed therapeutic potential to treat cardiovascular diseases. Pretreating circulating-angiogenic cells (CACs) with PMVs derived from atherosclerotic patients (PMV-CACs) enhances the re-endothelization capacity of these cells (148). PMV-CACs enhance blood flow and increase capillary density in rats suffering from hind limb ischemia via PMV release of RANTES (148). Furthermore, a cardioprotective role of MVs, specifically PMVs, has been demonstrated in a study by Ma and colleagues (149). In this study, the transfusion of PMVs from rats that underwent hind limb ischemia-reperfusion preconditioning resulted in increased levels of PMVs and a reduction of infarct size, indicative of a protective role of PMVs in the context of cardiac ischemia-reperfusion injury. This was further supported by data showing that PMVs transfused into rats with middle cerebral artery occlusion reduced infarct area (150). Similarly, other types of EVs have shown promising therapeutic potential. EVs, mainly MVs and exosomes, displayed a cardioprotective role by enhancing the recovery of cardiac function in a postinfarct heart failure animal model (151). Although the precise mechanisms involved in the protective role of EVs in cardiovascular diseases is still incompletely understood, the capacity of EVs to carry vast biological cargos and their ability to transfer a wide array of bioactive molecules to target cells may explain the beneficial effect of EVs as a therapy for cardiovascular diseases. Furthermore, EVs can be used as a drug delivery system to increase solubility, stability, and bioavailability of hydrophobic drug in the blood circulation (Table 2). Sun et al. encapsulated the drug curcumin in exosomes and successfully delivered the drug to activated monocytes, thus inducing an anti-inflammatory response in a preclinical model of septic shock (152). Despite the early promise from these studies involving PMVs, further studies are needed to delineate the potential utility of PMVs in cardiovascular diseases. Further to this, a number of challenges remain in translating therapeutic EVs to the clinic (Table 2).

REFERENCES

- van der Pol E, Böing AN, Gool EL, Nieuwland R. Recent developments in the nomenclature, presence, isolation, detection and clinical impact of extracellular vesicles. *J Thromb Haemost* (2016) 14(1):48–56. doi:10.1111/ jth.13190
- Boulanger CM, Loyer X, Rautou PE, Amabile N. Extracellular vesicles in coronary artery disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol* (2017) 14(5):259–72. doi:10.1038/ nrcardio.2017.7
- Aikawa E. Extracellular vesicles in cardiovascular disease: focus on vascular calcification. J Physiol (2016) 594(11):2877–80. doi:10.1113/JP272112

CONCLUSION

Platelet-derived microvesicles have indeed come a long way from their initial descriptions as "platelet dust" to now being considered as major mediators of intercellular communication. Their role in hemostasis, inflammation, angiogenesis, and wound healing may be beneficial or deleterious and can contribute to the pathogenesis of cardiovascular diseases (Figure 2). PMVs represent a heterogeneous population of EVs derived from platelets. This heterogenicity is mainly due to the variability of stimuli capable of inducing platelet activation and PMV release. Indeed, the mode of platelet activation seems to define the size, content, and amount of PMVs, which together dictate their fate (cell targeting or not) and their effects and potential involvement in diseases. However, despite the undoubted progress in our understanding of the biological roles PMVs, there remains a pressing need to establish common protocols, analysis, and nomenclature in the field of EV research. Advancing our knowledge of the biological function of EVs holds promise to influence the treatment of cardiovascular diseases. Most interestingly, EV-based therapy represents an emerging and novel biological therapeutic approach for cardiovascular diseases. Therefore, harnessing our knowledge of EV biology may indeed unlock the full potential of EVs for the diagnosis and therapy of cardiovascular diseases and beyond.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Figures were produced using Servier Medical Art.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Health and Medical Research Council of Australia (NHMRC). JM is supported by the Haematology Society of Australia and New Zealand (HSANZ) New Investigator Scholarship, XW is supported by the National Heart Foundation of Australia Postdoctoral Fellowship and the Baker Fellowship. KP is supported by an NHMRC Principal Research Fellowship.

- Crescitelli R, Lässer C, Szabó TG, Kittel A, Eldh M, Dianzani I, et al. Distinct RNA profiles in subpopulations of extracellular vesicles: apoptotic bodies, microvesicles and exosomes. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2013) 2(1):20677. doi:10.3402/jev.v2i0.20677
- Akers JC, Gonda D, Kim R, Carter BS, Chen CC. Biogenesis of extracellular vesicles (EV): exosomes, microvesicles, retrovirus-like vesicles, and apoptotic bodies. *J Neurooncol* (2013) 113(1):1–11. doi:10.1007/s11060-013-1084-8
- Willms E, Johansson HJ, Mäger I, Lee Y, Blomberg KE, Sadik M, et al. Cells release subpopulations of exosomes with distinct molecular and biological properties. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:22519. doi:10.1038/srep22519

- Kowal J, Arras G, Colombo M, Jouve M, Morath JP, Primdal-Bengtson B, et al. Proteomic comparison defines novel markers to characterize heterogeneous populations of extracellular vesicle subtypes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (2016) 113(8):8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1521230113
- Poe AJ, Knowlton AA. Exosomes as agents of change in the cardiovascular system. J Mol Cell Cardiol (2017) 111:40–50. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2017. 08.002
- Thery C, Ostrowski M, Segura E. Membrane vesicles as conveyors of immune responses. Nat Rev Immunol (2009) 9(8):581–93. doi:10.1038/ nri2567
- Müller I, Klocke A, Alex M, Kotzsch M, Luther T, Morgenstern E, et al. Intravascular tissue factor initiates coagulation via circulating microvesicles and platelets. *FASEB J* (2003) 17(3):476–8. doi:10.1096/fj.02-0574fje
- Garcia BA, Smalley DM, Cho H, Shabanowitz J, Ley K, Hunt DF. The platelet microparticle proteome. J Proteome Res (2005) 4(5):1516–21. doi:10.1021/ pr0500760
- Vélez P, Izquierdo I, Rosa I, García Á. A 2D-DIGE-based proteomic analysis reveals differences in the platelet releasate composition when comparing thrombin and collagen stimulations. *Sci Rep* (2015) 5:8198. doi:10.1038/ srep08198
- Mobarrez F, Sjövik C, Soop A, Hållström L, Frostell C, Pisetsky DS, et al. CD40L expression in plasma of volunteers following LPS administration: a comparison between assay of CD40L on platelet microvesicles and soluble CD40L. *Platelets* (2015) 26(5):486–90. doi:10.3109/09537104. 2014.932339
- Mause SF, Weber C. Microparticles: protagonists of a novel communication network for intercellular information exchange. *Circ Res* (2010) 107(9): 1047–57. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.226456
- Hristov M, Erl W, Linder S, Weber PC. Apoptotic bodies from endothelial cells enhance the number and initiate the differentiation of human endothelial progenitor cells in vitro. *Blood* (2004) 104(9):2761–6. doi:10.1182/ blood-2003-10-3614
- Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Currie AR. Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. *Br J Cancer* (1972) 26(4):239–57. doi:10.1038/bjc.1972.33
- Wolf P. The nature and significance of platelet products in human plasma. Br J Haematol (1967) 13(3):269–88. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.1967.tb08741.x
- Sandberg H, Bode AP, Dombrose FA, Hoechli M, Lentz BR. Expression of coagulant activity in human platelets: release of membranous vesicles providing platelet factor 1 and platelet factor 3. *Thromb Res* (1985) 39(1): 63–79. doi:10.1016/0049-3848(85)90122-7
- Brisson AR, Tan S, Linares R, Gounou C, Arraud N. Extracellular vesicles from activated platelets: a semiquantitative cryo-electron microscopy and immuno-gold labeling study. *Platelets* (2017) 28(3):263–71. doi:10.1080/ 09537104.2016.1268255
- Duchez AC, Boudreau LH, Naika GS, Bollinger J, Belleannée C, Cloutier N, et al. Platelet microparticles are internalized in neutrophils via the concerted activity of 12-lipoxygenase and secreted phospholipase A2-IIA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112(27):E3564–73. doi:10.1073/pnas. 1507905112
- Zhang Y, Meng H, Ma R, He Z, Wu X, Cao M, et al. Circulating microparticles, blood cells, and endothelium induce procoagulant activity in sepsis through phosphatidyleserine exposure. *Shock* (2016) 45(3):299–307. doi:10.1097/ SHK.000000000000509
- Li S, Wei J, Zhang C, Li X, Meng W, Mo X, et al. Cell-derived microparticles in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2016) 39(6):2439–50. doi:10.1159/000452512
- 23. Fortin PR, Cloutier N, Bissonnette V, Aghdassi E, Eder L, Simonyan D, et al. Distinct subtypes of microparticle-containing immune complexes are associated with disease activity, damage, and carotid intima-media thickness in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Rheumatol* (2016) 43(11):2019–25. doi:10.3899/jrheum.160050
- Suades R, Padró T, Alonso R, Mata P, Badimon L. High levels of TSP1+/ CD142+ platelet-derived microparticles characterise young patients with high cardiovascular risk and subclinical atherosclerosis. *Thromb Haemost* (2015) 114(6):1310–21. doi:10.1160/TH15-04-0325
- 25. Lukasik M, Rozalski M, Luzak B, Michalak M, Ambrosius W, Watala C, et al. Enhanced platelet-derived microparticle formation is associated with

carotid atherosclerosis in convalescent stroke patients. *Platelets* (2013) 24(1):63-70. doi:10.3109/09537104.2011.654292

- 26. Csongrádi É, Nagy B Jr, Fulop T, Varga Z, Karányi Z, Magyar MT, et al. Increased levels of platelet activation markers are positively associated with carotid wall thickness and other atherosclerotic risk factors in obese patients. *Thromb Haemost* (2011) 106(4):683–92. doi:10.1160/TH11-01-0030
- Kuriyama N, Nagakane Y, Hosomi A, Ohara T, Kasai T, Harada S, et al. Evaluation of factors associated with elevated levels of platelet-derived microparticles in the acute phase of cerebral infarction. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* (2010) 16(1):26–32. doi:10.1177/1076029609338047
- Tan KT, Tayebjee MH, Lim HS, Lip GY. Clinically apparent atherosclerotic disease in diabetes is associated with an increase in platelet microparticle levels. *Diabet Med* (2005) 22(12):1657–62. doi:10.1111/j.1464-5491.2005. 01707.x
- Cui Y, Zheng L, Jiang M, Jia R, Zhang X, Quan Q, et al. Circulating microparticles in patients with coronary heart disease and its correlation with interleukin-6 and C-reactive protein. *Mol Biol Rep* (2013) 40(11):6437–42. doi:10.1007/s11033-013-2758-1
- Stępień E, Stankiewicz E, Zalewski J, Godlewski J, Zmudka K, Wybrańska I. Number of microparticles generated during acute myocardial infarction and stable angina correlates with platelet activation. *Arch Med Res* (2012) 43(1):31–5. doi:10.1016/j.arcmed.2012.01.006
- Hartopo AB, Puspitawati I, Gharini PP, Setianto BY. Platelet microparticle number is associated with the extent of myocardial damage in acute myocardial infarction. Arch Med Sci (2016) 12(3):529–37. doi:10.5114/ aoms.2016.59926
- Webber AJ, Johnson SA. Platelet participation in blood coagulation aspects of hemostasis. Am J Pathol (1970) 60(1):19–42.
- 33. Holme PA, Orvim U, Hamers MJ, Solum NO, Brosstad FR, Barstad RM, et al. Shear-induced platelet activation and platelet microparticle formation at blood flow conditions as in arteries with a severe stenosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (1997) 17(4):646–53. doi:10.1161/01.ATV. 17.4.646
- Sakariassen KS, Holme PA, Orvim U, Barstad RM, Solum NO, Brosstad FR. Shear-induced platelet activation and platelet microparticle formation in native human blood. *Thromb Res* (1998) 92(6 Suppl 2):S33–41. doi:10.1016/ S0049-3848(98)00158-3
- 35. Biró E, Akkerman JW, Hoek FJ, Gorter G, Pronk LM, Sturk A, et al. The phospholipid composition and cholesterol content of platelet-derived microparticles: a comparison with platelet membrane fractions. J Thromb Haemost (2005) 3(12):2754–63. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2005.01646.x
- Boilard E, Nigrovic PA, Larabee K, Watts GF, Coblyn JS, Weinblatt ME, et al. Platelets amplify inflammation in arthritis via collagen-dependent microparticle production. *Science* (2010) 327(5965):580–3. doi:10.1126/ science.1181928
- Connor DE, Exner T, Ma DD, Joseph JE. The majority of circulating platelet-derived microparticles fail to bind annexin V, lack phospholipiddependent procoagulant activity and demonstrate greater expression of glycoprotein Ib. *Thromb Haemost* (2010) 103(5):1044–52. doi:10.1160/ TH09-09-0644
- Diehl P, Aleker M, Helbing T, Sossong V, Germann M, Sorichter S, et al. Increased platelet, leukocyte and endothelial microparticles predict enhanced coagulation and vascular inflammation in pulmonary hypertension. J Thromb Thrombolysis (2011) 31(2):173–9. doi:10.1007/s11239-010-0507-z
- Diehl P, Nagy F, Sossong V, Helbing T, Beyersdorf F, Olschewski M, et al. Increased levels of circulating microparticles in patients with severe aortic valve stenosis. *Thromb Haemost* (2008) 99(4):711–9. doi:10.1160/ TH07-05-0334
- Pasquet JM, Dachary-Prigent J, Nurden AT. Calcium influx is a determining factor of calpain activation and microparticle formation in platelets. *Eur J Biochem* (1996) 239(3):647–54. doi:10.1111/j.1432-1033.1996. 0647u.x
- Fujii T, Sakata A, Nishimura S, Eto K, Nagata S. TMEM16F is required for phosphatidylserine exposure and microparticle release in activated mouse platelets. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112(41):12800–5. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1516594112

- Crespin M, Vidal C, Picard F, Lacombe C, Fontenay M. Activation of PAK1/2 during the shedding of platelet microvesicles. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* (2009) 20(1):63–70. doi:10.1097/MBC.0b013e32831bc310
- Cauwenberghs S, Feijge MA, Harper AG, Sage SO, Curvers J, Heemskerk JW. Shedding of procoagulant microparticles from unstimulated platelets by integrin-mediated destabilization of actin cytoskeleton. *FEBS Lett* (2006) 580(22):5313–20. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2006.08.082
- Flaumenhaft R. Formation and fate of platelet microparticles. Blood Cells Mol Dis (2006) 36(2):182–7. doi:10.1016/j.bcmd.2005.12.019
- Rand ML, Wang H, Bang KW, Packham MA, Freedman J. Rapid clearance of procoagulant platelet-derived microparticles from the circulation of rabbits. *J Thromb Haemost* (2006) 4(7):1621–3. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2006. 02011.x
- Rank A, Nieuwland R, Crispin A, Grützner S, Iberer M, Toth B, et al. Clearance of platelet microparticles in vivo. *Platelets* (2011) 22(2):111–6. doi:10.3109/09537104.2010.520373
- 47. Angelot F, Seillès E, Biichlé S, Berda Y, Gaugler B, Plumas J, et al. Endothelial cell-derived microparticles induce plasmacytoid dendritic cell maturation: potential implications in inflammatory diseases. *Haematologica* (2009) 94(11):1502–12. doi:10.3324/haematol.2009.010934
- Faille D, El-Assaad F, Mitchell AJ, Alessi MC, Chimini G, Fusai T, et al. Endocytosis and intracellular processing of platelet microparticles by brain endothelial cells. *J Cell Mol Med* (2012) 16(8):1731–8. doi:10.1111/j. 1582-4934.2011.01434.x
- Dasgupta SK, Abdel-Monem H, Niravath P, Le A, Bellera RV, Langlois K, et al. Lactadherin and clearance of platelet-derived microvesicles. *Blood* (2009) 113(6):1332–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-07-167148
- Abdel-Monem H, Dasgupta SK, Le A, Prakasam A, Thiagarajan P. Phagocytosis of platelet microvesicles and beta2- glycoprotein I. *Thromb Haemost* (2010) 104(2):335–41. doi:10.1160/TH09-12-0849
- Dasgupta SK, Le A, Chavakis T, Rumbaut RE, Thiagarajan P. Developmental endothelial locus-1 (Del-1) mediates clearance of platelet microparticles by the endothelium. *Circulation* (2012) 125(13):1664–72. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.111.068833
- Ceroi A, Delettre FA, Marotel C, Gauthier T, Asgarova A, Biichlé S, et al. The anti-inflammatory effects of platelet-derived microparticles in human plasmacytoid dendritic cells involve liver X receptor activation. *Haema-tologica* (2016) 101(3):e72–6. doi:10.3324/haematol.2015.135459
- Köppler B, Cohen C, Schlöndorff D, Mack M. Differential mechanisms of microparticle transfer to B cells and monocytes: anti-inflammatory properties of microparticles. *Eur J Immunol* (2006) 36(3):648–60. doi:10.1002/ eji.200535435
- A-Gonzalez N, Hidalgo A. Nuclear receptors and clearance of apoptotic cells: stimulating the macrophage's appetite. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:211. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2014.00211
- Mulcahy LA, Pink RC, Carter DR. Routes and mechanisms of extracellular vesicle uptake. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2014) 3(1):24641. doi:10.3402/jev.v3. 24641
- Lindemann S, Tolley ND, Dixon DA, McIntyre TM, Prescott SM, Zimmerman GA, et al. Activated platelets mediate inflammatory signaling by regulated interleukin 1beta synthesis. *J Cell Biol* (2001) 154(3):485–90. doi:10.1083/jcb.200105058
- Diehl P, Fricke A, Sander L, Stamm J, Bassler N, Htun N, et al. Microparticles: major transport vehicles for distinct microRNAs in circulation. *Cardiovasc Res* (2012) 93(4):633–44. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvs007
- Liang H, Yan X, Pan Y, Wang Y, Wang N, Li L, et al. MicroRNA-223 delivered by platelet-derived microvesicles promotes lung cancer cell invasion via targeting tumor suppressor EPB41L3. *Mol Cancer* (2015) 14:58. doi:10.1186/ s12943-015-0327-z
- Jansen F, Yang X, Proebsting S, Hoelscher M, Przybilla D, Baumann K, et al. MicroRNA expression in circulating microvesicles predicts cardiovascular events in patients with coronary artery disease. *J Am Heart Assoc* (2014) 3(6):e001249. doi:10.1161/JAHA.114.001249
- Pan Y, Liang H, Liu H, Li D, Chen X, Li L, et al. Platelet-secreted microRNA-223 promotes endothelial cell apoptosis induced by advanced glycation end products via targeting the insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor. *J Immunol* (2014) 192(1):437–46. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1301790
- 61. Boudreau LH, Duchez AC, Cloutier N, Soulet D, Martin N, Bollinger J, et al. Platelets release mitochondria serving as substrate for bactericidal group

IIA-secreted phospholipase A2 to promote inflammation. Blood (2014) 124(14):2173-83. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-05-573543

- Iavello A, Frech VS, Gai C, Deregibus MC, Quesenberry PJ, Camussi G. Role of Alix in miRNA packaging during extracellular vesicle biogenesis. *Int J Mol Med* (2016) 37(4):958–66. doi:10.3892/ijmm.2016.2488
- Janas T, Janas MM, Sapoń K, Janas T. Mechanisms of RNA loading into exosomes. FEBS Lett (2015) 589(13):1391–8. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2015. 04.036
- Zhang J, Li S, Li L, Li M, Guo C, Yao J, et al. Exosome and exosomal microRNA: trafficking, sorting, and function. *Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics* (2015) 13(1):17–24. doi:10.1016/j.gpb.2015.02.001
- 65. Klein-Scory S, Tehrani MM, Eilert-Micus C, Adamczyk KA, Wojtalewicz N, Schnölzer M, et al. New insights in the composition of extracellular vesicles from pancreatic cancer cells: implications for biomarkers and functions. *Proteome Sci* (2014) 12(1):50. doi:10.1186/s12953-014-0050-5
- Dean WL, Lee MJ, Cummins TD, Schultz DJ, Powell DW. Proteomic and functional characterisation of platelet microparticle size classes. *Thromb Haemost* (2009) 102(4):711–8. doi:10.1160/TH09-04-243
- Milioli M, Ibáñez-Vea M, Sidoli S, Palmisano G, Careri M, Larsen MR. Quantitative proteomics analysis of platelet-derived microparticles reveals distinct protein signatures when stimulated by different physiological agonists. J Proteomics (2015) 121:56–66. doi:10.1016/j.jprot.2015.03.013
- Shai E, Rosa I, Parguiña AF, Motahedeh S, Varon D, García Á. Comparative analysis of platelet-derived microparticles reveals differences in their amount and proteome depending on the platelet stimulus. *J Proteomics* (2012) 76:287–96. doi:10.1016/j.jprot.2012.02.030
- Perez-Pujol S, Marker PH, Key NS. Platelet microparticles are heterogeneous and highly dependent on the activation mechanism: studies using a new digital flow cytometer. *Cytometry A* (2007) 71(1):38–45. doi:10.1002/ cyto.a.20354
- Castaman G, Yu-Feng L, Rodeghiero F. A bleeding disorder characterised by isolated deficiency of platelet microvesicle generation. *Lancet* (1996) 347(9002):700–1. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(96)91259-3
- Mattheij NJ, Braun A, van Kruchten R, Castoldi E, Pircher J, Baaten CC, et al. Survival protein anoctamin-6 controls multiple platelet responses including phospholipid scrambling, swelling, and protein cleavage. *FASEB J* (2016) 30(2):727–37. doi:10.1096/fj.15-280446
- 72. Sims PJ, Wiedmer T, Esmon CT, Weiss HJ, Shattil SJ. Assembly of the platelet prothrombinase complex is linked to vesiculation of the platelet plasma membrane. Studies in Scott syndrome: an isolated defect in platelet procoagulant activity. J Biol Chem (1989) 264(29):17049–57.
- Owens AP, Mackman N. Microparticles in hemostasis and thrombosis. Circ Res (2011) 108(10):1284–97. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.233056
- Khan MM, Hattori T, Niewiarowski S, Edmunds LH Jr, Colman RW. Truncated and microparticle-free soluble tissue factor bound to peripheral monocytes preferentially activate factor VII. *Thromb Haemost* (2006) 95(3):462–8. doi:10.1160/TH05-06-0432
- Dahlback B, Wiedmer T, Sims PJ. Binding of anticoagulant vitamin K-dependent protein S to platelet-derived microparticles. *Biochemistry* (1992) 31(51):12769–77. doi:10.1021/bi00166a009
- Somajo S, Koshiar RL, Norström E, Dahlbäck B. Protein S and factor V in regulation of coagulation on platelet microparticles by activated protein C. *Thromb Res* (2014) 134(1):144–52. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2014.04.031
- 77. Stavenuiter F, Davis NF, Duan E, Gale AJ, Heeb MJ. Platelet protein S directly inhibits procoagulant activity on platelets and microparticles. *Thromb Haemost* (2013) 109(2):229–37. doi:10.1160/TH12-08-0622
- Berckmans RJ, Nieuwland R, Böing AN, Romijn FP, Hack CE, Sturk A. Cell-derived microparticles circulate in healthy humans and support low grade thrombin generation. *Thromb Haemost* (2001) 85(4):639–46.
- 79. Tans G, Rosing J, Thomassen MC, Heeb MJ, Zwaal RF, Griffin JH. Comparison of anticoagulant and procoagulant activities of stimulated platelets and platelet-derived microparticles. *Blood* (1991) 77(12):2641–8.
- Cloutier N, Tan S, Boudreau LH, Cramb C, Subbaiah R, Lahey L, et al. The exposure of autoantigens by microparticles underlies the formation of potent inflammatory components: the microparticle-associated immune complexes. *EMBO Mol Med* (2013) 5(2):235–49. doi:10.1002/emmm. 201201846
- 81. Bei JJ, Liu C, Peng S, Liu CH, Zhao WB, Qu XL, et al. Staphylococcal SSL5-induced platelet microparticles provoke proinflammatory responses

via the CD40/TRAF6/NFkappaB signalling pathway in monocytes. *Thromb Haemost* (2016) 115(3):632–45. doi:10.1160/TH15-04-0322

- Forlow SB, McEver RP, Nollert MU. Leukocyte-leukocyte interactions mediated by platelet microparticles under flow. *Blood* (2000) 95(4): 1317–23.
- Dinkla S, van Cranenbroek B, van der Heijden WA, He X, Wallbrecher R, Dumitriu IE, et al. Platelet microparticles inhibit IL-17 production by regulatory T cells through P-selectin. *Blood* (2016) 127(16):1976–86. doi:10.1182/ blood-2015-04-640300
- Sadallah S, Eken C, Martin PJ, Schifferli JA. Microparticles (ectosomes) shed by stored human platelets downregulate macrophages and modify the development of dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(11):6543–52. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1002788
- Tang K, Liu J, Yang Z, Zhang B, Zhang H, Huang C, et al. Microparticles mediate enzyme transfer from platelets to mast cells: a new pathway for lipoxin A4 biosynthesis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2010) 400(3):432–6. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.08.095
- Baker N, O'Meara SJ, Scannell M, Maderna P, Godson C. Lipoxin A4: antiinflammatory and anti-angiogenic impact on endothelial cells. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(6):3819–26. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0803175
- Braig D, Nero TL, Koch HG, Kaiser B, Wang X, Thiele JR, et al. Transitional changes in the CRP structure lead to the exposure of proinflammatory binding sites. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:14188. doi:10.1038/ ncomms14188
- Habersberger J, Strang F, Scheichl A, Htun N, Bassler N, Merivirta RM, et al. Circulating microparticles generate and transport monomeric C-reactive protein in patients with myocardial infarction. *Cardiovasc Res* (2012) 96(1):64–72. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvs237
- Thiele JR, Habersberger J, Braig D, Schmidt Y, Goerendt K, Maurer V, et al. Dissociation of pentameric to monomeric C-reactive protein localizes and aggravates inflammation: in vivo proof of a powerful proinflammatory mechanism and a new anti-inflammatory strategy. *Circulation* (2014) 130(1):35–50. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.007124
- Eisenhardt SU, Thiele JR, Bannasch H, Stark GB, Peter K. C-reactive protein: how conformational changes influence inflammatory properties. *Cell Cycle* (2009) 8(23):3885–92. doi:10.4161/cc.8.23.10068
- Eisenhardt SU, Habersberger J, Murphy A, Chen YC, Woollard KJ, Bassler N, et al. Dissociation of pentameric to monomeric C-reactive protein on activated platelets localizes inflammation to atherosclerotic plaques. *Circ Res* (2009) 105(2):128–37. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.108. 190611
- Martin KR, Kantari-Mimoun C, Yin M, Pederzoli-Ribeil M, Angelot-Delettre F, Ceroi A, et al. Proteinase 3 is a phosphatidylserine-binding protein that affects the production and function of microvesicles. *J Biol Chem* (2016) 291(20):10476–89. doi:10.1074/jbc.M115.698639
- Kim HK, Song KS, Chung JH, Lee KR, Lee SN. Platelet microparticles induce angiogenesis in vitro. *Br J Haematol* (2004) 124(3):376–84. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2141.2003.04773.x
- 94. Sun C, Feng SB, Cao ZW, Bei JJ, Chen Q, Zhao WB, et al. Up-regulated expression of matrix metalloproteinases in endothelial cells mediates platelet microvesicle-induced angiogenesis. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2017) 41(6):2319–32. doi:10.1159/000475651
- Brill A, Dashevsky O, Rivo J, Gozal Y, Varon D. Platelet-derived microparticles induce angiogenesis and stimulate post-ischemic revascularization. *Cardiovasc Res* (2005) 67(1):30–8. doi:10.1016/j.cardiores.2005. 04.007
- Mause SF, Ritzel E, Liehn EA, Hristov M, Bidzhekov K, Müller-Newen G, et al. Platelet microparticles enhance the vasoregenerative potential of angiogenic early outgrowth cells after vascular injury. *Circulation* (2010) 122(5):495–506. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.909473
- Hayon Y, Dashevsky O, Shai E, Varon D, Leker RR. Platelet microparticles promote neural stem cell proliferation, survival and differentiation. *J Mol Neurosci* (2012) 47(3):659–65. doi:10.1007/s12031-012-9711-y
- Janowska-Wieczorek A, Wysoczynski M, Kijowski J, Marquez-Curtis L, Machalinski B, Ratajczak J, et al. Microvesicles derived from activated platelets induce metastasis and angiogenesis in lung cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2005) 113(5):752–60. doi:10.1002/ijc.20657
- 99. Wang H, Wang ZH, Kong J, Yang MY, Jiang GH, Wang XP, et al. Oxidized low-density lipoprotein-dependent platelet-derived microvesicles

trigger procoagulant effects and amplify oxidative stress. *Mol Med* (2012) 18:159-66. doi:10.2119/molmed.2011.00295

- Libby P, Ridker PM, Hansson GK. Progress and challenges in translating the biology of atherosclerosis. *Nature* (2011) 473(7347):317–25. doi:10.1038/ nature10146
- 101. Marcos-Ramiro B, Oliva Nacarino P, Serrano-Pertierra E, Blanco-Gelaz MA, Weksler BB, Romero IA, et al. Microparticles in multiple sclerosis and clinically isolated syndrome: effect on endothelial barrier function. BMC Neurosci (2014) 15:110. doi:10.1186/1471-2202-15-110
- 102. Mause SF, von Hundelshausen P, Zernecke A, Koenen RR, Weber C. Platelet microparticles: a transcellular delivery system for RANTES promoting monocyte recruitment on endothelium. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2005) 25(7):1512–8. doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000170133.43608.37
- 103. Nomura S, Tandon NN, Nakamura T, Cone J, Fukuhara S, Kambayashi J. High-shear-stress-induced activation of platelets and microparticles enhances expression of cell adhesion molecules in THP-1 and endothelial cells. *Atherosclerosis* (2001) 158(2):277–87. doi:10.1016/S0021-9150(01) 00433-6
- 104. Vasina EM, Cauwenberghs S, Staudt M, Feijge MA, Weber C, Koenen RR, et al. Aging- and activation-induced platelet microparticles suppress apoptosis in monocytic cells and differentially signal to proinflammatory mediator release. *Am J Blood Res* (2013) 3(2):107–23.
- 105. Böing AN, Hau CM, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Platelet microparticles contain active caspase 3. *Platelets* (2008) 19(2):96–103. doi:10.1080/ 09537100701777295
- 106. Pakala R. Serotonin and thromboxane A2 stimulate platelet-derived microparticle-induced smooth muscle cell proliferation. *Cardiovasc Radiat Med* (2004) 5(1):20–6. doi:10.1016/j.carrad.2003.12.002
- 107. Weber A, Koppen HO, Schror K. Platelet-derived microparticles stimulate coronary artery smooth muscle cell mitogenesis by a PDGFindependent mechanism. *Thromb Res* (2000) 98(5):461–6. doi:10.1016/ S0049-3848(00)00192-4
- Leroyer AS, Isobe H, Lesèche G, Castier Y, Wassef M, Mallat Z, et al. Cellular origins and thrombogenic activity of microparticles isolated from human atherosclerotic plaques. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2007) 49(7):772–7. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2006.10.053
- 109. Badlou BA, Wu YP, Smid WM, Akkerman JW. Platelet binding and phagocytosis by macrophages. *Transfusion* (2006) 46(8):1432–43. doi:10.1111/ j.1537-2995.2006.00913.x
- 110. Michelsen AE, Brodin E, Brosstad F, Hansen JB. Increased level of platelet microparticles in survivors of myocardial infarction. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest* (2008) 68(5):386–92. doi:10.1080/00365510701794957
- 111. Porto I, Biasucci LM, De Maria GL, Leone AM, Niccoli G, Burzotta F, et al. Intracoronary microparticles and microvascular obstruction in patients with ST elevation myocardial infarction undergoing primary percutaneous intervention. *Eur Heart J* (2012) 33(23):2928–38. doi:10.1093/ eurheartj/ehs065
- 112. Jung C, Sörensson P, Saleh N, Arheden H, Rydén L, Pernow J. Circulating endothelial and platelet derived microparticles reflect the size of myocardium at risk in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction. *Atherosclerosis* (2012) 221(1):226–31. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2011.12.025
- 113. Montoro-García S, Shantsila E, Tapp LD, López-Cuenca A, Romero AI, Hernández-Romero D, et al. Small-size circulating microparticles in acute coronary syndromes: relevance to fibrinolytic status, reparative markers and outcomes. *Atherosclerosis* (2013) 227(2):313–22. doi:10.1016/j. atherosclerosis.2013.01.028
- 114. Giannopoulos G, Oudatzis G, Paterakis G, Synetos A, Tampaki E, Bouras G, et al. Red blood cell and platelet microparticles in myocardial infarction patients treated with primary angioplasty. *Int J Cardiol* (2014) 176(1):145–50. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2014.07.022
- 115. Tan KT, Tayebjee MH, Macfadyen RJ, Lip GY, Blann AD. Elevated platelet microparticles in stable coronary artery disease are unrelated to disease severity or to indices of inflammation. *Platelets* (2005) 16(6):368–71. doi:10.1080/00207230500120401
- Galli M, Grassi A, Barbui T. Platelet-derived microvesicles in thrombotic thrombocytopenic purpura and hemolytic uremic syndrome. *Thromb Haemost* (1996) 75(3):427–31.
- 117. Sewify EM, Sayed D, Abdel Aal RF, Ahmad HM, Abdou MA. Increased circulating red cell microparticles (RMP) and platelet microparticles (PMP)

in immune thrombocytopenic purpura. *Thromb Res* (2013) 131(2):e59–63. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2012.11.021

- 118. Bal L, Ederhy S, Di Angelantonio E, Toti F, Zobairi F, Dufaitre G, et al. Circulating procoagulant microparticles in acute pulmonary embolism: a case-control study. *Int J Cardiol* (2010) 145(2):321–2. doi:10.1016/j. ijcard.2009.11.048
- 119. Bucciarelli P, Martinelli I, Artoni A, Passamonti SM, Previtali E, Merati G, et al. Circulating microparticles and risk of venous thromboembolism. *Thromb Res* (2012) 129(5):591–7. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2011.08.020
- 120. Campello E, Spiezia L, Radu CM, Bulato C, Castelli M, Gavasso S, et al. Endothelial, platelet, and tissue factor-bearing microparticles in cancer patients with and without venous thromboembolism. *Thromb Res* (2011) 127(5):473–7. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2011.01.002
- 121. Ramacciotti E, Blackburn S, Hawley AE, Vandy F, Ballard-Lipka N, Stabler C, et al. Evaluation of soluble P-selectin as a marker for the diagnosis of deep venous thrombosis. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* (2011) 17(4):425–31. doi:10.1177/1076029611405032
- 122. Campello E, Spiezia L, Radu CM, Bulato C, Gavasso S, Tormene D, et al. Circulating microparticles and the risk of thrombosis in inherited deficiencies of antithrombin, protein C and protein S. *Thromb Haemost* (2016) 115(1):81–8. doi:10.1160/TH15-04-0286
- 123. Lincz LF, Scorgie FE, Enjeti A, Seldon M. Variable plasma levels of factor V Leiden correlate with circulating platelet microparticles in carriers of factor V Leiden. *Thromb Res* (2012) 129(2):192–6. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2011. 06.018
- 124. Ye R, Ye C, Huang Y, Liu L, Wang S. Circulating tissue factor positive microparticles in patients with acute recurrent deep venous thrombosis. *Thromb Res* (2012) 130(2):253–8. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2011.10.014
- 125. Chirinos JA, Heresi GA, Velasquez H, Jy W, Jimenez JJ, Ahn E, et al. Elevation of endothelial microparticles, platelets, and leukocyte activation in patients with venous thromboembolism. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2005) 45(9):1467–71. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2004.12.075
- 126. Martinez M, Ricart JM, Ruiz-Aja S, Rus A, Todolí J, Calvo J, et al. Platelet activation and red blood cell phosphatidylserine exposure evaluated by flow cytometry in patients with Behcet's disease: are they related to thrombotic events? *Pathophysiol Haemost Thromb* (2007) 36(1):18–22. doi:10.1159/000112635
- 127. Yuana Y, Bertina RM, Osanto S. Pre-analytical and analytical issues in the analysis of blood microparticles. *Thromb Haemost* (2011) 105(3):396–408. doi:10.1160/TH10-09-0595
- Kong F, Zhang L, Wang H, Yuan G, Guo A, Li Q, et al. Impact of collection, isolation and storage methodology of circulating microvesicles on flow cytometric analysis. *Exp Ther Med* (2015) 10(6):2093–101. doi:10.3892/ etm.2015.2780
- 129. Trummer A, De Rop C, Tiede A, Ganser A, Eisert R. Recovery and composition of microparticles after snap-freezing depends on thawing temperature. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* (2009) 20(1):52–6. doi:10.1097/ MBC.0b013e32831be9c5
- Chandler WL. Microparticle counts in platelet-rich and platelet-free plasma, effect of centrifugation and sample-processing protocols. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* (2013) 24(2):125–32. doi:10.1097/MBC.0b013e32835a0824
- Jayachandran M, Miller VM, Heit JA, Owen WG. Methodology for isolation, identification and characterization of microvesicles in peripheral blood. *J Immunol Methods* (2012) 375(1–2):207–14. doi:10.1016/j. jim.2011.10.012
- 132. Pospichalova V, Svoboda J, Dave Z, Kotrbova A, Kaiser K, Klemova D, et al. Simplified protocol for flow cytometry analysis of fluorescently labeled exosomes and microvesicles using dedicated flow cytometer. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2015) 4:25530. doi:10.3402/jev.v4.25530
- Li P, Kaslan M, Lee SH, Yao J, Gao Z. Progress in exosome isolation techniques. *Theranostics* (2017) 7(3):789–804. doi:10.7150/thno.18133
- Lobb RJ, Becker M, Wen SW, Wong CS, Wiegmans AP, Leimgruber A, et al. Optimized exosome isolation protocol for cell culture supernatant and human plasma. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2015) 4:27031. doi:10.3402/jev. v4.27031
- 135. Gardiner C, Di Vizio D, Sahoo S, Théry C, Witwer KW, Wauben M, et al. Techniques used for the isolation and characterization of extracellular vesicles: results of a worldwide survey. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2016) 5:32945. doi:10.3402/jev.v5.32945

- Poncelet P, Robert S, Bailly N, Garnache-Ottou F, Bouriche T, Devalet B, et al. Tips and tricks for flow cytometry-based analysis and counting of microparticles. *Transfus Apher Sci* (2015) 53(2):110–26. doi:10.1016/j. transci.2015.10.008
- Headland SE, Jones HR, D'Sa AS, Perretti M, Norling LV. Cuttingedge analysis of extracellular microparticles using ImageStream(X) imaging flow cytometry. *Sci Rep* (2014) 4:5237. doi:10.1038/srep05237
- Chandler WL. Measurement of microvesicle levels in human blood using flow cytometry. *Cytometry B Clin Cytom* (2016) 90(4):326–36. doi:10.1002/ cyto.b.21343
- 139. EV-TRACK Consortium, Van Deun J, Mestdagh P, Agostinis P, Akay Ö, Anand S, et al. EV-TRACK: transparent reporting and centralizing knowledge in extracellular vesicle research. *Nat Methods* (2017) 14(3):228–32. doi:10.1038/nmeth.4185
- 140. Witwer KW, Buzás EI, Bemis LT, Bora A, Lässer C, Lötvall J, et al. Standardization of sample collection, isolation and analysis methods in extracellular vesicle research. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2013) 27:2. doi:10.3402/jev. v2i0.20360
- 141. Lötvall J, Hill AF, Hochberg F, Buzás EI, Di Vizio D, Gardiner C, et al. Minimal experimental requirements for definition of extracellular vesicles and their functions: a position statement from the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2014) 3:26913. doi:10.3402/ jev.v3.26913
- 142. Lener T, Gimona M, Aigner L, Börger V, Buzas E, Camussi G, et al. Applying extracellular vesicles based therapeutics in clinical trials – an ISEV position paper. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2015) 4:30087. doi:10.3402/jev. v4.30087
- 143. Giacomazzi A, Degan M, Calabria S, Meneguzzi A, Minuz P. Antiplatelet agents inhibit the generation of platelet-derived microparticles. *Front Pharmacol* (2016) 7:314. doi:10.3389/fphar.2016.00314
- 144. Connor DE, Ly K, Aslam A, Boland J, Low J, Jarvis S, et al. Effects of antiplatelet therapy on platelet extracellular vesicle release and procoagulant activity in health and in cardiovascular disease. *Platelets* (2016) 27(8):805–11. doi:10.1080/09537104.2016.1190008
- 145. Bulut D, Becker V, Mugge A. Acetylsalicylate reduces endothelial and platelet-derived microparticles in patients with coronary artery disease. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* (2011) 89(4):239–44. doi:10.1139/y11-013
- 146. Skeppholm M, Mobarrez F, Malmqvist K, Wallén H. Platelet-derived microparticles during and after acute coronary syndrome. *Thromb Haemost* (2012) 107(6):1122–9. doi:10.1160/TH11-11-0779
- 147. Pawlowski CL, Li W, Sun M, Ravichandran K, Hickman D, Kos C, et al. Platelet microparticle-inspired clot-responsive nanomedicine for targeted fibrinolysis. *Biomaterials* (2017) 128:94–108. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials. 2017.03.012
- 148. Ohtsuka M, Sasaki K, Ueno T, Seki R, Nakayoshi T, Koiwaya H, et al. Platelet-derived microparticles augment the adhesion and neovascularization capacities of circulating angiogenic cells obtained from atherosclerotic patients. *Atherosclerosis* (2013) 227(2):275–82. doi:10.1016/j. atherosclerosis.2013.01.040
- Ma F, Liu H, Shen Y, Zhang Y, Pan S. Platelet-derived microvesicles are involved in cardio-protective effects of remote preconditioning. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol* (2015) 8(9):10832–9.
- 150. Shan LY, Li JZ, Zu LY, Niu CG, Ferro A, Zhang YD, et al. Plateletderived microparticles are implicated in remote ischemia conditioning in a rat model of cerebral infarction. CNS Neurosci Ther (2013) 19(12):917–25. doi:10.1111/cns.12199
- 151. Kervadec A, Bellamy V, El Harane N, Arakélian L, Vanneaux V, Cacciapuoti I, et al. Cardiovascular progenitor-derived extracellular vesicles recapitulate the beneficial effects of their parent cells in the treatment of chronic heart failure. *J Heart Lung Transplant* (2016) 35(6):795–807. doi:10.1016/j. healun.2016.01.013
- 152. Sun D, Zhuang X, Xiang X, Liu Y, Zhang S, Liu C, et al. A novel nanoparticle drug delivery system: the anti-inflammatory activity of curcumin is enhanced when encapsulated in exosomes. *Mol Ther* (2010) 18(9):1606–14. doi:10.1038/mt.2010.105
- 153. Zhuang X, Xiang X, Grizzle W, Sun D, Zhang S, Axtell RC, et al. Treatment of brain inflammatory diseases by delivering exosome encapsulated anti-inflammatory drugs from the nasal region to the brain. *Mol Ther* (2011) 19(10):1769–79. doi:10.1038/mt.2011.164

- 154. Tian Y, Li S, Song J, Ji T, Zhu M, Anderson GJ, et al. A doxorubicin delivery platform using engineered natural membrane vesicle exosomes for targeted tumor therapy. *Biomaterials* (2014) 35(7):2383–90. doi:10.1016/j. biomaterials.2013.11.083
- Gould SJ, Raposo G. As we wait: coping with an imperfect nomenclature for extracellular vesicles. J Extracell Vesicles (2013) 2(1):20389. doi:10.3402/ jev.v2i0.20389
- Alvarez-Erviti L, Seow Y, Yin H, Betts C, Lakhal S, Wood MJ. Delivery of siRNA to the mouse brain by systemic injection of targeted exosomes. *Nat Biotechnol* (2011) 29(4):341–5. doi:10.1038/nbt.1807

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Zaldivia, McFadyen, Lim, Wang and Peter. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Microvesicles in Atherosclerosis and Angiogenesis: From Bench to Bedside and Reverse

Lina Badimon^{1,2*}, Rosa Suades¹, Gemma Arderiu¹, Esther Peña¹, Gemma Chiva-Blanch¹ and Teresa Padró¹

¹ Cardiovascular Research Center (ICCC) and CiberCV, Sant Pau Biomedical Research Institute (IIB-Sant Pau), Barcelona, Spain, ² Cardiovascular Research Chair, UAB, Barcelona, Spain

Atherosclerosis (AT) is a progressive chronic disease involving lipid accumulation, fibrosis, and inflammation in medium and large-sized arteries, and it is the main cause of cardiovascular disease (CVD). AT is caused by dyslipidemia and mediated by both innate and adaptive immune responses. Despite lipid-lowering drugs have shown to decrease the risk of cardiovascular events (CVEs), there is a significant burden of AT-related morbidity and mortality. Identification of subjects at increased risk for CVE as well as discovery of novel therapeutic targets for improved treatment strategies are still unmet clinical needs in CVD. Microvesicles (MVs), small extracellular plasma membrane particles shed by activated and apoptotic cells have been widely linked to the development of CVD. MVs from vascular and resident cells by facilitating exchange of biological information between neighboring cells serve as cellular effectors in the bloodstream and play a key role in all stages of disease progression. This article reviews the current knowledge on the role of MVs in AT and CVD. Attention is focused on novel aspects of MV-mediated regulatory mechanisms from endothelial dysfunction, vascular wall inflammation, oxidative stress, and apoptosis to coagulation and thrombosis in the progression and development of atherothrombosis. MV contribution to vascular remodeling is also discussed, with a particular emphasis on the effect of MVs on the crosstalk between endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells, and their role regulating the active process of AT-driven angiogenesis and neovascularization. This review also highlights the latest findings and main challenges on the potential prognostic, diagnostic, and therapeutic value of cell-derived MVs in CVD. In summary, MVs have emerged as new regulators of biological functions in atherothrombosis and might be instrumental in cardiovascular precision medicine; however, significant efforts are still needed to translate into clinics the latest findings on MV regulation and function.

Keywords: angiogenesis, atherosclerosis, cardiovascular diseases, cell-derived microvesicles, endothelial dysfunction, inflammation, neovascularization, thrombosis

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Elena Aikawa, Brigham and Women's Hospital, United States

Reviewed by:

Carlos Alonso Escudero, University of the Bío Bío, Chile Albert Rizvanov, Kazan Federal University, Russia

> *Correspondence: Lina Badimon Ibadimon@csic-iccc.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Atherosclerosis and Vascular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 22 August 2017 Accepted: 22 November 2017 Published: 18 December 2017

Citation:

Badimon L, Suades R, Arderiu G, Peña E, Chiva-Blanch G and Padró T (2017) Microvesicles in Atherosclerosis and Angiogenesis: From Bench to Bedside and Reverse. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 4:77. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2017.00077

Abbreviations: AT, atherosclerosis; CAD, coronary artery disease; cMV, circulating microvesicle; CVD, cardiovascular disease; CVE, cardiovascular event; EC, endothelial cell; eMV, endothelial-derived microvesicle; EPC, endothelial progenitor cell; ErMV, erythrocyte-derived microvesicle; ICAM, intercellular cell adhesion molecule; I/R, ischemia and reperfusion; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; ℓ MV, lymphocyte-derived microvesicle; LMV, leukocyte-derived microvesicle; LLT, lipid-lowering treatment; mEC, microvascular endothelial cell; meMV, microvascular endothelial-derived microvesicle; MetDiet, Mediterranean diet; miRNA, microRNA; MMP, matrix metalloproteinase; mMV, monocyte-derived microvesicle; MP, microparticle; MSC, mesenchymal stem cell; MV, microvesicle; NO, nitric oxide; pMV, platelet-derived microvesicle; PS, phosphatidylserine; RNA, ribonucleic acid; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SMC, smooth muscle cell; TF, tissue factor; T2D, type 2 diabetes; VCAM, vascular cell adhesion molecule.

INTRODUCTION

Despite significant advances in prevention, diagnosis, and therapeutic intervention focused on strategies for preventing cardiovascular disease (CVD), coronary artery disease (CAD) remains the leading cause of mortality and morbidity worldwide. Since not every individual has the same risk of developing future cardiovascular events (CVEs), an important challenge in cardiovascular medicine is to accurately predict who will develop atherosclerosis (AT)-related complications, such as acute coronary syndromes (ACS). Current tools to predict atherosclerotic vascular complications perform only poor to moderate. This emphasizes that there is an unmet need for novel biomarkers to stratify the risk of atherosclerotic complications in the intermediate and high-risk population on top of classical risk factors.

Atherosclerosis, the hallmark sign of CVD, is a silent hypercholesterolemia-triggered chronic systemic inflammatory process of the artery wall that is characterized by deposition of lipids within the intima of elastic arteries. This leads to structural damage and formation of fatty streaks with subsequent loss of elasticity, which can develop to fiber and atheromatous plaques, resulting in thrombus formation and narrowing of the luminal. Damage to arterial endothelial cells (ECs) is considered the earliest event in atherogenesis. Development of atherosclerotic plaques also includes the continuous crosstalk between EC, smooth muscle cells (SMCs), inflammatory cells, and inflammatory mediators (1) acting through mechanisms that have not yet been completely revealed.

Microvesicles (MVs), with a diameter ranging from 0.10 to 1.00 µm, are small plasma membrane vesicle fragments, also known as microparticles (MPs), that are released by many cell types, such as platelets, leukocytes, ECs, erythrocytes, and SMCs, into different bodily fluids, including plasma, urine, saliva, milk, sweat, semen, and tears, as well as in conditioned media from cell culture experiments (2, 3) (Figure 1). Depending on the generation mechanism, there are distinct types of extracellular vesicles, including MVs, apoptotic bodies, and exosomes (4), being MVs the most heterogeneous and studied population so far. The present review particularly focuses on MVs, which are specifically formed by budding of the plasma membrane, a releasing process that is driven by calcium-dependent signaling, activity of several enzymes, cytoskeleton remodeling, and externalization of phosphatidylserine (PS). MVs are shed under basal conditions and their release increases with various stimuli and pathological settings. In contrast to MVs, apoptotic bodies are larger permeable membrane vesicles with a diameter >1 μ m containing apoptotic nuclear material while exosomes constitute the smallest extracellular vesicle type (ranging from 40 to 100 nm in diameter), highly enriched in lipids and tetraspanins, and actively shed from intracellular multivesicular bodies upon fusion with the cell membrane.



FIGURE 1 | Microvesicle (MV) composition. Schematic representation of the molecular repertoire of the cell-derived MVs. MVs are loaded with distinct components of genetic material [nucleic acids, mRNAs, microRNAs (miRNAs)], lipids (phospholipids and bioactive mediators), and proteins (cytokines, chemokines, membrane receptors, adhesion molecules, enzymes, growth factors, and cytoskeleton-associated and regulatory proteins) to mediate intercellular communication processes.

Microvesicles are specifically composed of lipids, genetic material, such as mRNA, non-coding ribonucleic acids (RNAs) [microRNA (miRNA)], or even small amounts of DNA, and proteins such as transcription factors, cytokines, and growth factors (Figure 1). Interestingly, the packaging of distinct biomolecules into MVs seems to occur in a non-randomly fashion. Thus, specific miRNAs were seen to be preferentially sorted into MVs. Blood cells and cultured monocytic THP1 cells actively and selectively secreted MV-loaded miRNAs into the circulation in response to various stimuli (5). Nevertheless, further efforts are needed toward a complete understanding of this regulated sorting mechanism. MVs have been characteristically recognized by the externalization of PS on the outer membrane leaflet. However, this property has recently been a matter of debate. New evidence suggests that some MVs can express cell markers without annexin V binding (6, 7). Interestingly, MVs harbor on their surface transmembrane and receptor proteins from the parental cells from which they derived from. This property, important for specific cell-cell interactions, is also used in MV identification and characterization by high-sensitivity flow cytometry. MVs can deliver their cargo to cells nearby or in remote locations, perpetuating the intercellular communication process. Since their content fluctuates depending on the pathological context, MVs have drawn the attention as a potential source of biomarkers for disease identification (8).

Flow cytometry has been the gold standard methodological choice for MV measurements. Recently, some new methods (9) such as atomic force microscopy have been developed. Today there is still a general need of establishing preanalytical steps for MV isolation and of validating novel techniques. Recent efforts (10–12) are addressed to standardize MV analytical procedures between instruments and laboratories (13).

Microvesicles promote the development and progression of AT, by inducing endothelial dysfunction (ED) and initial lesion formation, influencing cell communication, promoting inflammatory reactions and participation in lipid deposition, neovascularization, calcification and unstable plaque progression, and injured plaque clotting and thrombosis after rupture. Here, we review the current and last data on the role of MVs in AT and CVD, highlighting their relevance for vascular remodeling and neovascularization. In addition, we discuss the emerging interest of MVs as prognostic and diagnostic biomarkers of disease and their potential use as therapeutic agents.

MV-MEDIATED REGULATORY MECHANISMS IN THE DEVELOPMENT AND PROGRESSION OF AT

Several evidences support a direct functional role for circulating MVs in atherothrombosis. They span from the early stages related to the presence of classical cardiovascular risk factors (CVRF) (e.g., hyperlipidemia, diabetes, and hypertension) to acute cardiovascular and cerebrovascular events as result of their effect on intercellular communication processes transferring proteins, non-coding RNAs, and even mRNAs (14) to target cells. Specifically, MVs are able to (1) fuse with plasma membrane of target cells and transfer their cargo into the recipient cells, (2) interact with target cells *via* a receptor-mediated signaling mechanism, and (3) be internalized *via* endocytosis and fused with either endosomes to release their content into the cytosol or lysosomes to be degraded (2). To bridge the gap between atherosclerotic lesion initiation, plaque rupture, and CVEs, multifaceted MV-driven molecular mechanisms of AT progression linked to endothelial homeostasis, inflammation, and thrombosis will be discussed.

Endothelial Dysfunction

Endothelial cells exert natural barrier functions in the vessel wall to prevent pathogen invasion and to maintain vascular integrity, through the balanced release of cell and molecular components acting at paracrine and autocrine level. Vascular ECs change their phenotype and function in response to mechanical injury and systemic factors, such as dyslipidemia, smoking, and other stimuli and/or risk factors.

Recent studies support a direct relationship between the levels of circulating endothelial-derived MVs (eMVs) and the degree of ED in patients with end-stage renal failure (15), congenital heart disease (16), CAD (17, 18), type 2 diabetes (T2D) (19), and obesity and hypertension (20). Indeed, MVs are able to interact with the vascular endothelium and promote cellular dysfunction (Figure 2). Thus, MVs from T2D patients have shown to attenuate eNOS expression in cultured EC (21). Furthermore, MVs of endothelial origin have shown to decrease nitric oxide (NO) production in vitro (22, 23) and under high glucose conditions through changes in oxidative stress (24) or inducing a temporal cross talk between mitochondria and endoplasmic reticulum (25). These effects have been obtained in ex vivo studies (23, 26) and with patient-derived MVs in pathologies such as myocardial infarction (MI) (27), end-stage renal failure (15), metabolic syndrome (28), valvular heart disease and cardiac injury (29), and undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention (30). As a result, vascular tone and endothelial repair capacity are altered. Studies in vitro using rat aortic rings provided evidence that eMVs lead to impaired acetylcholinemediated vasorelaxation (22), and studies ex vivo with eMVs from ACS patients induced premature ED, senescence, and thrombogenicity through an angiotensin II-dependent redox activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase/Akt and mitogenactivated protein kinases pathways (31). In addition, when MVs obtained from plasma of subjects with metabolic syndrome, were injected intravenously in mice, a severe impairment of endothelium-triggered vasorelaxation with decreased NOsynthase expression was detected (28). Horn et al. reported that MVs carry functionally active NO synthase that induce NO production within the MVs, a function downregulated in MVs from patients with ED (32). These results indicate that eMVs have a functional role in the control of vascular homeostasis.

The physiopathological conditions stimulating MVs formation have an impact on MV phenotype and functional activity. Interestingly, Mahmoud and colleagues reported that MVs from healthy individuals or shed under basal conditions had no effects on endothelial function, while *in vitro* generated eMVs exert a protective role on endothelial function in a free-fatty acidinduced model, *via* eNOS/Akt signaling and reduced oxidative stress (33). This recent study reflects on how MVs may behave



as different biological effectors in health and disease, highlighting the relevance of the environment and pathological stimuli triggering MV release on their phenotype and biological activity.

Injured endothelium beyond promoting the recruitment of activated platelets to repair damaged ECs, also facilitates adherence of platelet-derived MVs (pMVs) to the vascular wall (**Figure 2**), inducing in turn the permeability and apoptosis of ECs, the latter by MV transfer of caspase-3 and Rho-kinase enzymes according to the *in vitro* findings reported by Edrissi et al. (34). More specifically, these authors have proved that plasma-derived MVs from rats submitted to chronic cerebral ischemia contain factors involved in the activation of the tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α pathway that delivered to ECs regulate endothelial permeability *in vitro*.

Vascular Wall Atheroinflammation

The role of MVs on the propagation of endothelial proinflammatory response was initially reported in *in vitro* studies showing that blood-derived MVs (obtained from either plasma and/ or cell cultures, and also induced by high-shear stress) raise the release of cytokines and cell adhesion molecules in ECs (35, 36) and in leukocytes (37). In addition, circulating MVs obtained from healthy volunteers after infusion of a chemotactic peptide induced cytokine and chemokine release in in vitro EC cultures (38). Similar findings have been reported using MVs from both animal models and patients (39, 40). Thus, MVs obtained from a high-fat diet-fed obese murine model of insulin resistance and T2D induced the expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production in rat cardiac ECs (41). Furthermore, MVs have also shown to increase the monocyte expression of cell surface antigens such as CD11a/CD18 and CD11b/CD18 α_M/β_2 (37) and the endothelial expression of intercellular cell adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) (42, 43). Increasing evidences suggest that regulation of protein expression by MVs is dependent on their miRNA-cargo. Thus, MV-mediated regulation of ICAM-1 expression in ECs is dependent on their content in miRNA-222 and its transfer to the target cells (44). MV-associated inflammatory cascade promotes the binding of monocytes to the endothelium and their infiltration into the atherosclerotic plaque (Figure 2) (24, 37, 45-47). Indeed, in vitro studies demonstrated that monocyte and leukocyte activation and adhesion is regulated by eMVs transferring miRNA-10 to the monocyte and thereby targeting nuclear factor-kB inflammatory pathway (48) and by MVs that

carry arachidonic acid as well as oxidize phospholipids (45). Another smart study showed that pMVs transfer proatherogenic C–C motif chemokine 5 [regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted (RANTES)] to either activated ECs or murine atherosclerotic carotid arteries enabling monocyte adherence (46). Thus, MVs might contribute to the early atherosclerotic lesions development by promoting leukocyte adhesion to the endothelium.

Oxidative Stress, Apoptosis, and Vascular Remodeling

The seminal study of Forlow et al. showed that pMVs expressing P-selectin (P-Sel) promoted monocyte infiltration by facilitating leukocyte–leukocyte interactions under detrimental flow conditions (**Figure 2**) (49). Besides, lipid-containing MVs derived from various cell types promote foam cell formation and programmed cell death by inducing lipid and cholesterol accumulation in macrophages through a toll-like receptor induced mechanism

in vitro and in a human skin model (50). TNF- α -induced eMVs contributed to apoptosis and inflammation of ECs in vitro (51). Delivery of the proapoptotic enzymes caspase-1 and caspase-3 to target cells by eMVs, pMVs, monocyte-derived MVs (mMVs), T-lymphocyte-derived MVs (ℓMVs), and erythrocyte-derived MVs trigger macrophage cell apoptosis in vitro (52-56), which in turn causes more MV release, amplifying the process and facilitating progression of the atherosclerotic lesion. Thus, human atherosclerotic lesions contain MVs (57, 58) being those of monocyte and macrophage origin the most abundant. Apoptosis cell-derived MVs amplify the initiation and maintenance of inflammation in human monocytes together with interferon γ (59) in contrast to a recent study pointing out that MVs released from apoptotic cells provoke less inflammatory response than MVs from viable cells in monocytes, relating this effect with the specific miRNAs pattern found in these MVs (60). Furthermore, atherogenic low-density lipoprotein (LDL) modified by aggregation induce the release MVs enriched in tissue factor (TF) from SMCs (61) (Figures 2 and 3). pMVs increased SMC proliferation



FIGURE 3 | Key prothrombotic mechanisms exerted by microvesicles (MVs) at sites of vascular injury. MVs' adhesion to the endothelial layer enhances platelet adhesion and thrombus formation and contributes to TF release at the injured atherosclerotic plaque. IL-33, interleukin-33; LMV, leukocyte-derived microvesicle; mMV, monocyte-derived microvesicle; pMV, platelet-derived microvesicle; PSGL-1, P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1; SMC-MV, smooth muscle cell-derived microvesicle; TF, tissue factor; vWF, von Willebrand factor. (62) by a mechanism independent of platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) (63) whereas mMVs induced SMC death by caspase-1 (56).

High-risk plaques have a large lipid content covered by a thin fibrous cap penetrated by proinflammatory cells and a diffuse pattern of calcification (64, 65). The level of calcification has associated either with plaque burden (66) and lesion destabilization (67) or with less prone to rupture plaques (68). It seems plausible that the effect of calcification on atherosclerotic lesions evolves from a destabilizing effect in early lesions to a potential stabilizing effect of larger calcium burden in more advanced plaques (69). MVs from ECs, VSMCs, and macrophages seem to be recruited at the site of atherosclerotic plaque calcification and have been associated with the calcification process (70-73). Regarding MV-associated modulation of fibrous cap weakening, several cell-derived MVs can influence the progressive depletion of VSMCs and extracellular matrix degradation through metalloprotease interaction. Specifically, the involved molecular effectors are matrix metalloproteinase 9 (MMP-9), a disintegrin and metalloprotease-10 (ADAM-10) and -17 (ADAM-17) in neutrophil-derived MVs [(74, 75), respectively], MMP-9, matrix metalloproteinase-2 (MMP-2), and MMP-10 in eMVs [(76-78), respectively], and the metalloprotease TNF- α converting enzyme (TACE/ADAM-17) of human atherosclerotic plaques-derived MVs (79). A relevant finding is that the shedding of matrix MVs from arterial intimal SMCs was found higher in athero-prone areas of the human aorta than in athero-resistant areas at the preatherosclerotic disease stage with quantitative electron microscopic analyses (80). Shear stress-induced eMVs-containing miRNA-143 and miRNA-145 prevented VSMC dedifferentiation (81). Likewise, circulating MVs bearing miRNA-223 could penetrate the vascular wall and inhibit VSMC proliferation and migration, resulting in a decreased plaque size (82).

Coagulation and Thrombosis

The potential role of MVs in atherothrombosis is supported by a large number of studies. Procoagulant MVs are located within human advance vulnerable plaques (83). Upon atherosclerotic plaque erosion or rupture, the high-risk vulnerable plaque exposes their vascular contents to the blood flow, the coagulation cascade is activated and, concomitantly, there is recruitment and activation of circulating platelets that may lead to thrombus formation. Thrombosis may compromise arterial blood flow supply leading to the presentation of oxygen deficiency and the presence of MI.

First described as platelet dust (84), MVs are procoagulant biological effectors due to the surface content of negatively charged PS, which confers them high binding capacity for coagulating factors, being prominently higher in MVs than cell surface membrane in the case of platelets (85). The presence of other molecules and receptors including TF (83), factor VIII and Va (86), P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) (87), glycoprotein IIb/IIIa (88), and protein disulfide isomerase (PDI) (89) on MV surface might further enhance clot formation and thrombosis. TF can be functionally transferred *via* MVs to monocytes and other cells (90, 91). Protease-activated receptor 2 activation favors the shedding of TF-rich MVs through a process involving filamin A. Specifically, the interaction of TF with filamin A translocate cell surface TF to cholesterol-rich lipid rafts, promoting its activity and release into MVs (92). Indeed, procoagulant TF-rich MVs are increased by hyperinsulinemia (93) and found increased in patients with T2D (94). Recently, it has been shown that proinflammatory cytokine IL-33 induces differential TF expression and activity in intermediate monocyte subset as well as the release of procoagulant MVs rich in TF (95), emphasizing the interplay between inflammation and thrombosis (**Figure 3**).

Several key studies have addressed how MVs affect the clotting process (Figure 3). Upon endothelial injury, pMVs can bind to subcellular matrix to enhance clotting (96). Noteworthy, we reported that circulating and platelet-derived MVs exert direct effects on atherothrombosis by promoting platelet and fibrin deposition on atherosclerotic arterial wall (97). We performed a proof-of-concept study by perfusing blood with and without exogenously added pMVs to injured atherosclerotic vessel wall and demonstrated that elevated levels of pMVs were able to enhance platelet and fibrin adhesion under conditions of high-shear stress (97, 98). Indeed, a decreased level of pMVs bearing surface epitopes of adhesion and activation was found in blood perfusing prothrombotic surfaces, and also in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) patients (99), supporting the high tendency to adhere of pMVs (49). High-shear stress-induced pMVs induce enhanced expression of cell adhesion molecules in ECs and monocytes (36) and regulate monocytes involvement in AT and inflammation (37). Interestingly, MVs from healthy subjects support low-grade thrombin generation (100) and are able to activate a stress signaling pathway in ECs leading to increased procoagulant activity (35); and PDI-bearing pMVs promote platelet hyperaggregability and insulin degradation in patients with T2D (89). Furthermore, interactions between platelet P-selection with PSGL-1 of leukocyte-derived MVs (LMVs) are required to concentrate TF activity at the thrombus edge to promote thrombus formation (87). MVs carrying functional TF might enable the growth of unregulated thrombus generation and fibrin formation and thrombus propagation ultimately leading to thrombotic complications (101).

POTENTIAL PROGNOSTIC, DIAGNOSTIC, AND THERAPEUTIC VALUE OF CELL-DERIVED MVs IN AT

CV diseases reflect a continuum of mechanisms underlying the gradually progressing AT. In addition to the pathogenic effects of MVs in AT and thrombosis, circulating levels of MVs (cMVs) of different cellular origin are increased in CVDs and reflect the severity of the different stages of the pathophysiology (102), thus cMVs might serve as potential diagnosis and prognosis biomarkers, which would be valuable tools for cardiovascular risk prediction as well as for evaluating the pharmacological response to therapeutic interventions.

Circulating microvesicles exist in the blood of normal healthy individuals released upon activation and in some cases apoptosis of vascular cells. Indeed, MV levels show gender-specific differences (103, 104) and changes are observed with age (105), during pregnancy (106), after exercise (107–109) and after a high-fat meal (110). It is important to recognize that differences may arise depending on age, gender, body mass index, lipid, hormone levels, smoking status and other confounding variables in apparently healthy subjects when evaluating cMVs for pathogenic potential (111). Another relevant issue to bear in mind when studying cMVs is their clearance mechanism, which might influence the levels of cMVs and could also be impaired by CVRF.

Cardiovascular Risk Factors

The number and phenotype of cMVs has been associated to major CVRF, such as smoking, diabetes mellitus, obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, and metabolic syndrome (**Table 1**). Within hyperlipidemia, it has been shown that in patients with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia (FH), pMVs carrying TF identify subclinical atherosclerotic plaque burden (112), and ℓ MPs are able to discriminate between lipid-rich and fibrous atherosclerotic

 TABLE 1 | Microvesicle-associated prognostic and diagnostic value in cardiovascular risk stratification and CVDs.

CVRF and atherothrombotic diseases		Reference	
CVRF	Smoking	(114–116, 117)	
	DM	Insulin resistance (118) DM (119–123) Type 2 DM (124–127) DM with microvascular complications (128)	
	Obesity	In children (129) In adults (114, 130, 131) Caloric restriction/bariatric surgery (132)	
	Hypertension	(18, 133–135)	
	Dyslipidemia	Dyslipidemia (112, 113, 126, 136)	
	Metabolic syndrome	Clustering of CVRF (28, 137–139) Cardiometabolic risk (140)	
	Uremia	(141)	
Atherosclerosis	FRS	(140, 142)	
(AT)	ED	(15, 115)	
	Calcification	(143)	
	PAD	(105, 144)	
	Subclinical AT	(19, 112, 113, 145)	
	Stable CAD	(17, 146–148)	
CVD	ACS	(142, 146, 149–154) STEMI (155, 156)	
	Cerebrovascular disease	lschemic stroke (157–162) Cerebral vasospasm (163) Lacunar infarcts (157) Carotid AT (164)	

ACS, acute coronary syndromes; CAD, coronary artery disease; CVD, cardiovascular disease; CVRF, cardiovascular risk factors; DM, diabetes mellitus; ED, endothelial dysfunction; FRS, Framingham Risk Score; PAD, peripheral artery disease; STEMI, ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. plaques in the same patients (113), thus reflecting that chronic exposure to high levels of LDL activates the vascular compartment by distinct mechanisms. Therefore, CVRF correlate with increased numbers of MVs indicating that MVs might be active in triggering thrombosis and further contributing to an increased risk of CVEs.

Atherosclerosis

Several studies have shown an association between cMVs and the Framingham Risk Score (used to predict CVD risk), ED, coronary calcification, peripheral artery disease, and subclinical AT (**Table 1**). Our group has recently reported that subjects at high cardiovascular risk who were about to develop a major CVE have increased levels of blood CD3⁺/CD45⁺ cMV (165). This is in agreement with our previous findings demonstrating that FH patients with subclinical lipid-rich atherosclerotic plaques have significantly higher levels blood-derived circulating ℓ MVs than those with fibrous plaques (113). Besides, levels of circulating MVs have been found increased in patients with stable CAD, being MVs of endothelial origin (CD144⁺, CD31⁺/Annexin V⁺) and bearing miRNA-199a and miRNA-126 the most associated to major adverse CVEs (17, 146–148).

Acute Coronary Syndromes

Cell-derived cMV levels are profoundly increased in patients with ACS (**Table 1**). In a study in patients with STEMI, our group has demonstrated increased levels of pan-LMPs (CD45⁺), including lymphocytes (CD3⁺) and monocytes (CD14⁺) within the first hours of the ACS onset, with partial reductions after 72 h, likely because the inflammatory burst occurred at STEMI onset (155). These data are strongly supported by the fact that platelet- and monocyte-derived cMVs also associate with AMI severity (156) and CVD mortality (166), reflecting the sustained underlying endothelial injury and leukocyte and platelet activation in CVD progression after a CVE.

Cerebrovascular Disease

Circulating microvesicles have been associated with ischemic stroke, cerebral vasospasm, lacunar infarcts and multi-infarct dementia, and carotid AT (**Table 1**). Besides, a recent case-control pilot study suggests that circulating MVs derived from monocytes of M2 phenotype, but not those of M1-phenotype are significantly increased in patients with intracerebral hemorrhage within 12 h of symptom onset (167).

AT-DRIVEN ANGIOGENESIS AND NEOVASCULARIZATION: MVs AS THERAPEUTIC VECTORS

Angiogenesis is an active fine-tuning process of vessel sprouting and growth that depends on a precise interplay between stimulatory and inhibitory signals of ECs, SMCs, and pericytes (168). Notably, recent evidence outlines the importance of EC metabolism for angiogenesis in the context of atherogenesis and AT progression (169). Thus, angiogenic processes have severe consequences on vascular remodeling and plaque stability within vulnerable atherosclerotic plaques (plaque rupture and intraplaque hemorrhage). The generation of new delicate and frail vessels within the growing atherosclerotic lesion contributes to increase the vulnerability of the plaque to rupture. Intriguingly, it is not fully understood whether an atherosclerotic plaque in the arterial tree will rupture and trigger thrombotic cascade or will stabilize. The highest accumulation of neovessels was found in ACS-related human coronary plaques (170). Paracrine intercellular communication exerted by MVs might play a role in the adaptive response of ischemic tissue to hypoxic stress caused by CVD (171). Interestingly, MVs have been postulated as both pro- and antiangiogenic factors (172-177) (Table 2). Indeed, low levels of eMVs-containing \beta1-integrin and the enzymatically active MMP-2 and MMP-9 showed to promote angiogenesis whereas high levels abolished the angiogenic effects (76). The effect of MVs on angiogenesis is also highly dependent on the quantity, the parental cell type and cell surface content.

Microvesicles from apoptotic ECs (24, 188), endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs) (188), platelets (172, 181, 182, 193, 194), skin wound myofibroblasts (187), and ischemic muscle (183) stimulate endothelial proliferation, survival, migration, repair, and tube formation *in vitro* by activating pro-angiogenic

signaling cascades, such as ERK and PI3K/Akt pathways, or through upregulation of MMP-2 and MMP-9 expression in ECs (185) (**Table 2**). Leroyer et al. (186) elegantly demonstrated that carotid plaque MVs stimulate both endothelial proliferation and *in vivo* angiogenesis in a CD40 ligand-dependent manner, which could be modulated by the fibrinolytic activity of eMVs and LMVs (184). Indeed, eMVs play an important role in plasmin formation, which can influence *in vitro* the tube formation of EPCs in a dose-dependent manner (184).

Other cell-specific MVs have also shown proangiogenic potential (**Table 2**). pMVs from atherosclerotic patients increased the neovascularization capacity of circulating angiogenic cells through a RANTES-mediated mechanism (178). pMVs not only were shown to stimulate vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-dependent revascularization after chronic cardiac ischemia (172) but also stem cell repair mechanisms after brain ischemia in rats by increasing angiogenesis and neurogenesis at the infarct zone (179). In addition, the remote conditioning protective effect of pMVs was further proved against cerebral ischemic reperfusion injury (180). Increased levels of MVs from ischemic muscle showed to promote postischemic neovascularization in mouse after hindlimb ischemia (HLI) (183).

Type of MVs	Source	Function	Mechanism	Reference
Platelet-derived	Patients with atherosclerosis	↑ Neovascularization of CAC	Mediated by RANTES	(178)
MVs	Healthy donors	↑ Angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo	Dependent on VEGF	(172)
	Healthy donors	\uparrow Proliferation, angiogenesis and neurogenesis	Differentiation and proliferation of stem cells mediated by MV growth factors (FGF2, VEGF, and PDGF)	(179)
	Healthy rats	Protective effect against cerebral ischemic- reperfusion injury	Mediating remote ischemic preconditioning	(180)
	Healthy donors	↑ Tube formation	<i>Via</i> the pertussis toxin-sensitive G protein and the PI3K pathway	(181)
	Healthy donors	\uparrow Capillary tube formation and reendothelialization	By sensitization of CXCR4 and growth factors	(182)
Endothelial cell (EC)-derived MVs	Mice ischemic hindlimb muscle	↑ Postischemic neovascularization	-	(183)
	Human umbilical vein ECs	↑ Angiogenesis (with low levels of eMVs)	Through β 1-integrin and MMP-2 and -9	(76)
	Human ECs	↑ Formation of capillary-like structures	By MV-harboring Sonic Hedgehog	(174)
	Human coronary artery ECs	↑ Vascular endothelial repair	Induced by miR-126-containing MVs	(24)
	Human microvascular EC	↑ In vitro tube formation	MV-induced plasmin generation	(184)
	Human umbilical vein ECs	↑ Angiogenesis	By upregulating MMP expression	(185)
Carotid plaque- derived MVs	Endarterectomy specimens	↑ <i>In vivo</i> the tube formation	In a CD40 ligand-dependent manner	(186)
T-lymphocyte- derived MVs	Human lymphoid cells	↑ Neoangiogenesis	By NO synthesis pathway	(175)
Myofibroblasts- derived MVs	Skin wound myofibroblasts	↑ Capillary formation	-	(187)
EPC-derived MVs	EPCs from healthy donors	↑ Angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo	Through eNOS and PI3K/Akt pathway	(188)
MSC-derived MVs	MSC from bone marrow	Promote angiogenesis	-	(189)
	MSC from bone marrow	↑ Postischemic angioneurogenesis	-	(190)
	MSC from umbilical cord	↑ Angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo	-	(191)
	MSC from umbilical cord	↑ Angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo	By \uparrow VEGF in a HIF-1 α independent manner	(192)

CAC, circulating angiogenic cells; CXCR4, C–X–C chemokine receptor type 4; EPC, endothelial progenitor cell; eNOS, endothelial NO synthase; FGF, fibroblast growth factor; HIF, hypoxia-inducible factor; MSC, mesenchymal stem cell; MMP, matrix metalloproteinase; MV, microvesicle; NO, nitric oxide; PDGF, platelet-derived growth factor; PI3K, phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase; RANTES, regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; MV, microvesicle; MMP-2, matrix metalloproteinase-2.
T-lymphocyte-derived *l*MVs enriched with the morphogen sonic hedgehog increased neoangiogenesis and restored endothelial function after injection in mice by stimulating the NO synthesis pathway (175, 195). Endothelial colony-forming cell-derived MVs were demonstrated to be pro-angiogenic both in vitro and in vivo through eNOS and the PI3K/AKT pathway (188). Moreover, MVs from bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) showed proangiogenic activities in a rat MI model contributing to cardiac repair (189) and improved postischemic neuroangiogenesis in a stroke model (190) while MSC-derived MVs from umbilical cord enhanced tube-like structure development and further rescued blood flow in a rat model of HLI (191). Indeed, umbilical cord MSC-derived MVs were shown to enhance angiogenesis in a rat model of kidney ischemia (192), suggesting that MSC-derived MVs might exert cardioprotective effects.

In contrast to the findings reported above, placental MVs have been implicated in antiangiogenic processes contributing to impaired perfusion of placenta in patients with preeclampsia (196). In line with these studies, high levels of eMVs inhibited angiogenesis in the cultured segments of hearts by hampering endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) regulation (176). Oxidative stress is also involved in the antiangiogenic effect of MVs. Lymphocyte-MVs inhibited angiogenesis regulating negatively VEGF pathway (197) whereas eMVs inhibited *in vitro* angiogenesis by impairing acetylcholine-induced endothelial vasorelaxation and NO production in rat aortic rings (22, 173). Recently, eMVs were reported to inhibit capillary-like branch structure formation by microvascular ECs (mECs) *in vitro* and *in vivo* triggered by ROS *via* the expression of CD36 on the target EC (198).

Interestingly, the stimulating environment influencing the generation of MVs is able to switch their angiogenic phenotype. Treatment of MSCs with PDGF generated proangiogenic MVs (199), showing that the cargoes of MVs greatly impact on their effects. In agreement, cavin-2 that is released in eMVs and required for eMV biogenesis acts as a regulator of angiogenesis by producing NO and controlling the stability and activity of eNOS (200). Moreover, we found that C-reactive protein (CRP) is pro-angiogenic (201) and interestingly CRP is carried by circulating MVs in ischemic patients (202). eMVs from patients with chronic thromboembolic pulmonary hypertension increased EC endoglin concentration and stimulated endothelial angiogenesis showing a protective mechanism for ED and vascular occlusion (203). Of note, exercise intensity increases the levels of circulating pMVs with proangiogenic potential, which stimulate EC proliferation, migration, and tubule formation (204). Besides, antihypertensive drugs have shown to regulate both eMV generation and angiogenesis (205). Therefore, MVs might be considered as dual-purpose mediators of cell-cell communication in health and disease, greatly depending on the surrounding environment in which they are formed, their content and the pathophysiological context where they exert their functions.

Similarly, MVs from preconditioned adipose-derived stem cells (ASC) showed proangiogenic potential through the release of miR-31 targeting factor-inhibiting HIF-1 and enhancing ASC therapeutic efficacy (206). Indeed, miRNA delivery is a key mechanism involved in the effects of MV-driven angiogenesis such as EPC-MVs promoting neovascularization and impairing muscle damage after HLI (207) or inducing the survival of human islet transplants (208). Thus, eMVs released upon interleukin-3 activation transferred miRNA-126-3p and pSTAT5 into ECs thereby promoting angiogenesis (209). In this regard, MVs containing miRNA-126 stimulate reendothelialization after vascular injury (24) and administration of vesicles containing miR-126 decreased atherosclerotic plaque formation and favored plaque stability in mice (210). Besides, transfer of miRNA-150 to ECs by mMVs also promoted angiogenesis both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (117).

Tissue factor, the primary cellular initiator of blood coagulation, is also involved in angiogenic processes (211-213). Proangiogenic signaling through TF-dependent MV-mediated activation of PAR-2 has been reported in hypoxic ECs (214). Besides, TF+-MVs were shown to bind to β 1-integrin in the surface of ECs to induce proliferation through ERK1/2 (215). In the same line, we have demonstrated that TF-containing eMVs from microvascular ECs (meMVs) interacted via paracrine signaling with other mECs and triggered angiogenesis ex vivo and postischemic collateral vessel growth in vivo (216). The meMVs proangiogenic potential was shown to be regulated by β1-integrin-EC interactions inducing Rac1-ERK1/2-ETS signaling and CCL2 production (Figure 4). Taken together, MVs can overwhelm the effects of arterial occlusion and tissue ischemia by stimulating postischemic neovascularization together with tissue reperfusion. Beyond being a promising therapeutic strategy for treating ischemic diseases (217), angiogenesis has also a role in the context of tumor progression and cancer, in which distinct types of MVs by means of cell-cell communication have also a regulatory function (14, 218-228). It is important to join efforts toward the ultimate goal of reaching therapeutical applications of MVs into the clinical arena.

PHARMACOLOGICAL AND NON-PHARMACOLOGICAL INTERVENTION

A deep understanding of the role of MVs in AT might be fundamental for both CVD risk factor control and therapeutic treatment (130). Non-pharmacological interventions lie in overcoming CVRF by lifestyle modifications, such as exercise and diet. In primary prevention, a recent clinical trial showed the benefit of the adherence to the Mediterranean diet in patients at high cardiovascular risk in relation to the incidence of severe CVEs (229). Within the same population, our group has recently demonstrated that decreased levels of cMVs derived from ECs, leukocytes and activated platelets could signal for a reduced rate of major CVEs in high-risk patients under state-of-the-art treatment and receiving a controlled MedDiet supplemented with nuts (230). Dietary modulation of MV release is a relatively new field of study based mainly on short-term studies; further large-scale studies will help to better understand the complex relationship between diet and CVD.

Several drugs have shown to influence cMVs levels (231, 232), their cargoes (233) and even their function (**Table 3**). For instance,



berberine improved endothelial function by reducing CD31+/ CD42⁻ eMVs and thereby levels of oxidative stress in humans (234, 235) and the adhesion of monocytes to ECs was partially prevented by eMVs after lipid-lowering and antihypertensive treatments (236). Since MV biogenesis and release is not fully understood, distinct therapeutic options are under investigation. Reduced levels of pMVs are associated with the use of distinct anti-platelet drugs such as GPIIb/IIIa inhibitors (237, 238), clopidogrel (239, 240), ticlopidine (121, 122), and acetylsalicylic acid (ASA) (241). In patients under antithrombotic therapy, P-Sel and TF-containing pMVs remain high 6 months after treatment initiation (242), likely due to the fact that low doses of ASA might not be potent enough to prevent the release of pMVs into the microcirculation (243). Our group has reported that ASA intake in patients with diabetes in primary prevention has no effect on pMVs (244). Similarly, antihypertensive drugs like angiotensin II receptor antagonists (245) and calcium channel blockers (246), antioxidants (247), peroxisome proliferator-activator receptor activators (248, 249), hydroxyurea in sickle cell disease (250), and eculizumab in paroxysmal nocturnal hemoglobinuria (251) have also shown influence on MV shedding. Up to now the effect of statins, the cornerstone drugs for lipid-lowering treatment (LLT) in CVD prevention, has been highly debated. While some authors demonstrated that statins may enhance the shedding of MVs (252, 253) many studies have found that statin treatment promote MV inhibition (88, 135, 254-256). Thus, pravastatin and simvastatin decreased pMVs in hypertensive (257) and type-2 diabetic (88, 120) patients. Similarly, atorvastatin diminished the formation of thrombin and the expression of P-Sel, TF, and GPIIIa on pMVs in patients with peripheral artery disease (233) and with dyslipidemia and type-1 diabetes (258). Indeed, in a study focused on the effects of LLT on levels of cMV in athero-

sclerotic patients in primary prevention, we have reported that the plasma of LLT-treated patients presented lower quantity of MVs and lower content of cell surface activation markers than the plasma from untreated patients with the same blood cholesterol levels (255), indicating a direct benefit of LLT with statins in reducing cell membrane shedding, which may have effects in the beneficial protection against AT characteristic of statins by inhibiting MV generation and the triggering of MV-dependent mechanisms. These data are in agreement to results pointing out the broader use of statins decreasing inflammation and suppressing MV release, an effect that is not shown neither with ezetimibe alone (259) nor with ezetimibe combined with statins (260). Furthermore, several inhibitors of MV shedding such as ROCK inhibitors or calpain, among others, are currently under study. Nevertheless, whether the clinical benefit of these pharmacological strategies is directly related to MV decrease deserves further research.

Therapeutic Potential

In addition to pharmacological modulation, the advantageous characteristics of cell-derived MVs, which are a naturally produced therapeutic agents with potential to be used as delivery drugs to specific cell types (261), open up their potential therapeutic application, especially in cardiac cell therapy. Preclinical studies demonstrated that treatment with the vesicular fraction of the conditioned media of hypoxic MSCs decreased infarct size and improved cardiac function by decreasing oxidative stress, enhancing myocardial viability, and preventing damage to the heart after MI in mouse and pig models (262–264). The mechanism of action might involve the transfer of specific RNAs through embryonic stem cell MVs (265). MSC-derived MVs were able to face the detrimental effects of ischemia and reperfusion (I/R) injury in the kidney (266). Similarly, MVs derived from myocardial ischemia

TABLE 3 | Main studies evaluating the effects of pharmacological therapies on circulating microvesicles.

Type of drug	Therapy dose	Subjects (N)	MV change	Reference
Anti-platelet				
GPIIb/IIIa inhibitors	Abciximab: 250 μg/kg bolus + 12 h 0.125 μg/kg/min Eptifibatide: 180 μg/kg bolus + 18 h 2 μg/kg/min	50 ST-segment elevation patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention	↓ GPIV+-pMVs ↓ CD11a+-LMVs	(238)
Clopidogrel	4 weeks, 75 mg/day	26 patients with stable coronary artery disease (CAD)	= CD51⁺-eMVs ↓ CD42⁺/CD31⁺-pMV	(240)
Probucol and ticlopidine	6 months Probucol: 500 mg/day Ticlopidine: 200 mg/day	23 normolipidemic controls and 53 hyperlipidemic patients	↓ CD62P+-pMVs ↓ CD63+-pMVs ↓ Annexin V+-MVs ↓ CD14+-mMVs	(121)
Ticlopidine	1 month, 200 mg/day	21 type-2 diabetic patients	↓ CD62P+-pMVs ↓ CD14+-mMVs	(122)
Acetylsalicylic acid	8 weeks, 100 mg/day	15 patients with CAD	↓ eMVs ↓ pMVs	(241)
	6 months, bolus of 500 mg and 75 mg/day	51 patients with acute coronary syndromes	↑ CD62P+-pMVs ↑ CD142+-pMVs	(242)
	10 days, 100 mg/day	43 patients with diabetes	= pMVs	(244)
Cilostazol	1 month, 150 mg/day	30 controls and 43 non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus	↓ CD62P+-pMVs ↓ CD63+-pMVs ↓ Annexin V+-MVs	(231)
Antihypertensive				
Angiotensin II receptor antagonists	Eprosartan: 2 months, 600 mg/day	31 hypertensive and 31 normotensive patients	↓ CD42b+-pMVs	(245)
Losartan and simvastatin	24 weeks Losartan: 50 mg/day Simvastatin: 10 mg/day	41 hypertensive patients with hyperlipidemia and/or type-2 diabetes	↓ KMP9+-pMVs ↓ CD51+-eMVs	(135)
Anti-diabetic				
Miglitol	1 month, 150 mg/day	72 non-diabetic patients (37 with hypertension, 35 with hyperlipidemia) and 38 diabetic patients	↓ CD42a/b+-pMVs	(232)
Berberine	1 month, 1.2 g/day	14 vs. 11 healthy subjects	↓ CD31+/CD42- eMVs	(234)
	1 month, 1.2 g/day	12 vs. 11 healthy subjects	↓ CD31+/CD42- eMVs	(235)
Lipid lowering				
Statins	Pravastatin: 8 weeks, 40 mg/day	50 patients with type-2 diabetes	↓ CD61+-pMVs	(88)
	Atorvastatin: 8 weeks, 80 mg/day	19 patients with peripheral arterial occlusive disease and hypercholesterolemia	↓ CD62P+-pMVs ↓ CD142+-pMVs ↓ CD41+-pMVs	(233)
	Atorvastatin: 80 mg/day	19 patients with peripheral arterial occlusive disease	↓ CD62P+-pMVs ↓ CD142+-pMVs ↑ CD144+-eMVs	(253)
	Simvastatin: 80 mg/day; pravastatin: 40 mg/day; lovastatin: 80 mg/day; fluvastatin: 80 mg/day; atorvastatin: 80 mg/day; rosuvastatin: 20–40 mg/day	37 hypercholesterolaemic patients and 37 normocholesterolaemic controls	↓ CD41+/61+-pMVs ↓ CD146+/31+-eMVs ↓ CD45+-LMVs ↓ CD14+-mMVs ↓ CD142+-MVs	(255)
	Simvastatin: 6 months, 20 mg/day	21 hyperlipidemic patients	↓ CD61+-pMVs	(256)
	Simvastatin: 24 weeks, 10 mg/day	41 hypertensive patients	↓ KMP9+-pMVs	(257)
	Atorvastatin: 2 months, 20 mg/day	20 patients with type 1 diabetes and dyslipidemia	↓ pMVs	(258)
				(Continu

(Continued)

TABLE 3 | Continued

Type of drug	Therapy dose	Subjects (N)	MV change	Reference
Ezetimibe	10 mg/day	63 patients with coronary heart disease	= MVs	(259)
Ezetimibe with statins	Atorvastatin 80 mg/day vs. atorvastatin 20 mg/day plus ezetimibe 10 mg/day	75 high-risk subjects	↓ pMV with high-dose statin monotherapy	(260)

MV, microvesicle; eMVs, endothelial-derived microvesicles; LMVs, leukocyte-derived microvesicles; mMVs, monocyte-derived microvesicles; MVs, microvesicles; pMVs, plateletderived microvesicles.

could protect hearts from I/R injury in rats through calcium regulatory proteins to alleviate intrinsic myocardial mitochondrial and endoplasmic reticulum apoptotic pathways (267). Interestingly, the effect of cardiosphere-derived cells (CDC) on the therapeutic regeneration of the infarcted myocardium shown in a clinical trial (268) seems to be mediated by CDC-derived extracellular vesicles (269). ECs have also been shown to be atheroprotective by transferring miRNAs via MVs to SMCs (81). Specifically, MVs transported functional miR-143/145 into SMCs after activation by shear stress and they reduced atherosclerotic lesion formation in the aorta. Furthermore, a promising therapeutic application of MVs is the use of synthetic MVs mimicking the natural ones. MV delivery could be clinically useful in several conditions such as MI and inflammatory pathologies. Indeed, a recent work reported that infusion of artificially produced MVs can improve inflammation and ameliorate symptoms in different mouse models of MI, multiple sclerosis, and kidney injury (270). Therapeutic innovation of MVs is still in its infancy, and its applicability is hampered by many shortcomings, such as the in vivo biodistribution of MVs that depends on their cellular origin, their half-life and the route of administration (271). Further understanding of the biological mechanisms, efficiency and feasibility of these MV-based therapies is warranted.

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Microvesicles actively contribute to AT progression and complication due to their implicit role in cell-to-cell communication. cMVs not only play a direct biological role in AT and neoangiogenensis but also might be susceptible targets for pharmacological modulation and emerge as potential prognostic and diagnostic biomarkers of atherothrombotic CVD. However, limitations and technological constraints have precluded the complete understanding of mechanisms of MV formation and pathophysiological relevance. Most functional effects of MVs have been evidenced in *in vitro* studies with a predetermined MV concentration that is not always comparable to the pathophysiological situation while their exact role in the clinical setting is dismissed. Despite cMVs emerge as promising biomarker candidates, clinical studies in larger cohorts are required to clearly delineate their

REFERENCES

 Santos-Gallego CG, Picatoste B, Badimon JJ. Pathophysiology of acute coronary syndrome. *Curr Atheroscler Rep* (2014) 16:401. doi:10.1007/ s11883-014-0401-9 role as diagnostic and prognostic markers of disease. Until now, the lack of standardization in preanalytical phase guidelines, the difficult implementation as routine in the clinical laboratory as well as the high cost of cMV measurements have curbed their full clinical characterization. However, recent and advanced sensitive technologies together with consensus within the scientific community will undoubtedly shed light on the cMV potential as biomarkers. Besides, exploring the cMV specific targeting to a selective tissue, how they are produced *in vivo* and their specific genomic, transcriptomic, metabolomic and proteomic content is essential to design efficient therapeutically strategies involving MVs. In the next coming years, we will witness advances and breakthroughs in the area of MVs that will translate into their use in diagnostic and therapeutic innovation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LB, RS, and TP conceived and coordinated the design of the review and wrote the paper. RS made figures. LB and RS edited the paper. All the authors wrote part of the manuscript, provided critical comments, revised the manuscript, and approved the final version of the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The continuous support of Fundación Investigación Cardiovascular—F. Jesus Serra (Spain) to the Cardiovascular Research Chair-UAB (LB) is gratefully acknowledged.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness Plan Estatal I+D+I [SAF2016-76819-R], the Institute of Health Carlos III-ISCIII [CIBERCV CN16/11/00411 and TERCEL RD16/0011/018 to LB, FIS PI16/01915 to TP], and by the Fondo Europeo de Desarrollo Regional (FEDER—"Una manera de hacer Europa"). The authors thank the continuous support of the Generalitat of Catalunya (Secretaria d'Universitats i Recerca del Departament d'Economia i Coneixement de la Generalitat; 2014SGR1303). RS is a postdoctoral fellow funded by Daniel Bravo Andreu Foundation.

- Suades R, Padro T, Badimon L. The role of blood-borne microparticles in inflammation and hemostasis. *Semin Thromb Hemost* (2015) 41:590–606. doi:10.1055/s-0035-1556591
- 3. Badimon L, Suades R, Fuentes E, Palomo I, Padro T. Role of plateletderived microvesicles as crosstalk mediators in atherothrombosis and future

pharmacology targets: a link between inflammation, atherosclerosis, and thrombosis. *Front Pharmacol* (2016) 7:293. doi:10.3389/fphar.2016.00293

- van der pol E, Boing AN, Gool EL, Nieuwland R. Recent developments in the nomenclature, presence, isolation, detection and clinical impact of extracellular vesicles. *J Thromb Haemost* (2016) 14:48–56. doi:10.1111/jth.13190
- Zhang Y, Liu D, Chen X, Li J, Li L, Bian Z, et al. Secreted monocytic miR-150 enhances targeted endothelial cell migration. *Mol Cell* (2010) 39:133–44. doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2010.06.010
- Connor DE, Exner T, Ma DD, Joseph JE. The majority of circulating platelet-derived microparticles fail to bind annexin V, lack phospholipid-dependent procoagulant activity and demonstrate greater expression of glycoprotein Ib. *Thromb Haemost* (2010) 103:1044–52. doi:10.1160/ TH09-09-0644
- Arraud N, Linares R, Tan S, Gounou C, Pasquet JM, Mornet S, et al. Extracellular vesicles from blood plasma: determination of their morphology, size, phenotype and concentration. *J Thromb Haemost* (2014) 12:614–27. doi:10.1111/jth.12554
- Gaceb A, Martinez MC, Andriantsitohaina R. Extracellular vesicles: new players in cardiovascular diseases. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2014) 50:24–8. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2014.01.018
- Coumans FAW, Gool EL, Nieuwland R. Bulk immunoassays for analysis of extracellular vesicles. *Platelets* (2017) 28:242–8. doi:10.1080/09537104.2016. 1265926
- Coumans FAW, Brisson AR, Buzas EI, Dignat-George F, Drees EEE, El-Andaloussi S, et al. Methodological guidelines to study extracellular vesicles. *Circ Res* (2017) 120:1632–48. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.309417
- Ridger VC, Boulanger CM, Angelillo-Scherrer A, Badimon L, Blanc-Brude O, Bochaton-Piallat ML, et al. Microvesicles in vascular homeostasis and diseases. Position Paper of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) working group on atherosclerosis and vascular biology. *Thromb Haemost* (2017) 117:1296–316. doi:10.1160/TH16-12-0943
- Szatanek R, Baj-Krzyworzeka M, Zimoch J, Lekka M, Siedlar M, Baran J. The methods of choice for extracellular vesicles (EVs) characterization. *Int J Mol Sci* (2017) 18(6):ii:E1153. doi:10.3390/ijms18061153
- Valkonen S, Van Der Pol E, Boing A, Yuana Y, Yliperttula M, Nieuwland R, et al. Biological reference materials for extracellular vesicle studies. *Eur J Pharm Sci* (2017) 98:4–16. doi:10.1016/j.ejps.2016.09.008
- Skog J, Wurdinger T, Van Rijn S, Meijer DH, Gainche L, Sena-Esteves M, et al. Glioblastoma microvesicles transport RNA and proteins that promote tumour growth and provide diagnostic biomarkers. *Nat Cell Biol* (2008) 10:1470–6. doi:10.1038/ncb1800
- Amabile N, Guerin AP, Leroyer A, Mallat Z, Nguyen C, Boddaert J, et al. Circulating endothelial microparticles are associated with vascular dysfunction in patients with end-stage renal failure. J Am Soc Nephrol (2005) 16:3381–8. doi:10.1681/ASN.2005050535
- Lin ZB, Ci HB, Li Y, Cheng TP, Liu DH, Wang YS, et al. Endothelial microparticles are increased in congenital heart diseases and contribute to endothelial dysfunction. *J Transl Med* (2017) 15:4. doi:10.1186/s12967-016-1087-2
- Werner N, Wassmann S, Ahlers P, Kosiol S, Nickenig G. Circulating CD31+/annexin V+ apoptotic microparticles correlate with coronary endothelial function in patients with coronary artery disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2006) 26:112–6. doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000191634.13057.15
- Chen Y, Feng B, Li X, Ni Y, Luo Y. Plasma endothelial microparticles and their correlation with the presence of hypertension and arterial stiffness in patients with type 2 diabetes. *J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich)* (2012) 14:455–60. doi:10.1111/j.1751-7176.2012.00631.x
- Feng B, Chen Y, Luo Y, Chen M, Li X, Ni Y. Circulating level of microparticles and their correlation with arterial elasticity and endothelium-dependent dilation in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Atherosclerosis* (2010) 208:264–9. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2009.06.037
- Hu SS, Zhang HG, Zhang QJ, Xiu RJ. CD51+ endothelial microparticles as a biomarker of endothelial dysfunction in obese patients with hypertension. *Endocrine* (2015) 49:283–5. doi:10.1007/s12020-014-0423-7
- Martin S, Tesse A, Hugel B, Martinez MC, Morel O, Freyssinet JM, et al. Shed membrane particles from T lymphocytes impair endothelial function and regulate endothelial protein expression. *Circulation* (2004) 109:1653–9. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000124065.31211.6E

- Brodsky SV, Zhang F, Nasjletti A, Goligorsky MS. Endothelium-derived microparticles impair endothelial function in vitro. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* (2004) 286:H1910–5. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.01172.2003
- Densmore JC, Signorino PR, Ou J, Hatoum OA, Rowe JJ, Shi Y, et al. Endothelium-derived microparticles induce endothelial dysfunction and acute lung injury. *Shock* (2006) 26:464–71. doi:10.1097/01.shk.0000228791. 10550.36
- 24. Jansen F, Yang X, Hoelscher M, Cattelan A, Schmitz T, Proebsting S, et al. Endothelial microparticle-mediated transfer of microRNA-126 promotes vascular endothelial cell repair via SPRED1 and is abrogated in glucosedamaged endothelial microparticles. *Circulation* (2013) 128:2026–38. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.113.001720
- Safiedeen Z, Rodriguez-Gomez I, Vergori L, Soleti R, Vaithilingam D, Douma I, et al. Temporal cross talk between endoplasmic reticulum and mitochondria regulates oxidative stress and mediates microparticle-induced endothelial dysfunction. *Antioxid Redox Signal* (2017) 26:15–27. doi:10.1089/ ars.2016.6771
- 26. Ishida K, Taguchi K, Hida M, Watanabe S, Kawano K, Matsumoto T, et al. Circulating microparticles from diabetic rats impair endothelial function and regulate endothelial protein expression. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)* (2016) 216:211–20. doi:10.1111/apha.12561
- Boulanger CM, Scoazec A, Ebrahimian T, Henry P, Mathieu E, Tedgui A, et al. Circulating microparticles from patients with myocardial infarction cause endothelial dysfunction. *Circulation* (2001) 104:2649–52. doi:10.1161/ hc4701.100516
- Agouni A, Lagrue-Lak-Hal AH, Ducluzeau PH, Mostefai HA, Draunet-Busson C, Leftheriotis G, et al. Endothelial dysfunction caused by circulating microparticles from patients with metabolic syndrome. *Am J Pathol* (2008) 173:1210–9. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2008.080228
- Fu L, Hu XX, Lin ZB, Chang FJ, Ou ZJ, Wang ZP, et al. Circulating microparticles from patients with valvular heart disease and cardiac surgery inhibit endothelium-dependent vasodilation. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg (2015) 150:666–72. doi:10.1016/j.jtcvs.2015.05.069
- Ye S, Shan XF, Han WQ, Zhang QR, Gao J, Jin AP, et al. Microparticles from patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention impair vasodilatation by uncoupling endothelial nitric oxide synthase. *Shock* (2017) 48:201–8. doi:10.1097/SHK.0000000000823
- 31. Abbas M, Jesel L, Auger C, Amoura L, Messas N, Manin G, et al. Endothelial microparticles from acute coronary syndrome patients induce premature coronary artery endothelial cell aging and thrombogenicity: role of the Ang II/AT1 receptor/NADPH oxidase-mediated activation of MAPKs and PI3-kinase pathways. *Circulation* (2017) 135:280–96. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.116.017513
- 32. Horn P, Cortese-Krott MM, Amabile N, Hundsdorfer C, Kroncke KD, Kelm M, et al. Circulating microparticles carry a functional endothelial nitric oxide synthase that is decreased in patients with endothelial dysfunction. *J Am Heart Assoc* (2012) 2:e003764. doi:10.1161/JAHA.112.003764
- Mahmoud AM, Wilkinson FL, Mccarthy EM, Moreno-Martinez D, Langford-Smith A, Romero M, et al. Endothelial microparticles prevent lipid-induced endothelial damage via Akt/eNOS signaling and reduced oxidative stress. *FASEB J* (2017) 31:4636–48. doi:10.1096/fj.201601244RR
- Edrissi H, Schock SC, Hakim AM, Thompson CS. Microparticles generated during chronic cerebral ischemia increase the permeability of microvascular endothelial barriers in vitro. *Brain Res* (2016) 1634:83–93. doi:10.1016/j. brainres.2015.12.032
- Mesri M, Altieri DC. Leukocyte microparticles stimulate endothelial cell cytokine release and tissue factor induction in a JNK1 signaling pathway. *J Biol Chem* (1999) 274:23111–8. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.33.23111
- Nomura S, Tandon NN, Nakamura T, Cone J, Fukuhara S, Kambayashi J. High-shear-stress-induced activation of platelets and microparticles enhances expression of cell adhesion molecules in THP-1 and endothelial cells. *Atherosclerosis* (2001) 158:277–87. doi:10.1016/S0021-9150(01) 00433-6
- Barry OP, Pratico D, Savani RC, Fitzgerald GA. Modulation of monocyteendothelial cell interactions by platelet microparticles. *J Clin Invest* (1998) 102:136–44. doi:10.1172/JCI2592
- Mesri M, Altieri DC. Endothelial cell activation by leukocyte microparticles. *J Immunol* (1998) 161:4382–7.

- Meziani F, Delabranche X, Asfar P, Toti F. Bench-to-bedside review: circulating microparticles a new player in sepsis? *Crit Care* (2010) 14:236. doi:10.1186/cc9231
- Wang JG, Williams JC, Davis BK, Jacobson K, Doerschuk CM, Ting JP, et al. Monocytic microparticles activate endothelial cells in an IL-1beta-dependent manner. *Blood* (2011) 118:2366–74. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-01-330878
- Heinrich LF, Andersen DK, Cleasby ME, Lawson C. Long-term high fat feeding of rats results in increased numbers of circulating microvesicles with pro-inflammatory effects on endothelial cells. *Br J Nutr* (2015) 113:1704–11. doi:10.1017/S0007114515001117
- Curtis AM, Wilkinson PF, Gui M, Gales TL, Hu E, Edelberg JM. p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase targets the production of proinflammatory endothelial microparticles. *J Thromb Haemost* (2009) 7:701–9. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2009.03304.x
- Fink K, Moebes M, Vetter C, Bourgeois N, Schmid B, Bode C, et al. Selenium prevents microparticle-induced endothelial inflammation in patients after cardiopulmonary resuscitation. *Crit Care* (2015) 19:58. doi:10.1186/ s13054-015-0774-3
- Jansen F, Yang X, Baumann K, Przybilla D, Schmitz T, Flender A, et al. Endothelial microparticles reduce ICAM-1 expression in a microRNA-222-dependent mechanism. J Cell Mol Med (2015) 19:2202–14. doi:10.1111/ jcmm.12607
- Huber J, Vales A, Mitulovic G, Blumer M, Schmid R, Witztum JL, et al. Oxidized membrane vesicles and blebs from apoptotic cells contain biologically active oxidized phospholipids that induce monocyte-endothelial interactions. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2002) 22:101–7. doi:10.1161/ hq0102.101525
- Mause SF, Von Hundelshausen P, Zernecke A, Koenen RR, Weber C. Platelet microparticles: a transcellular delivery system for RANTES promoting monocyte recruitment on endothelium. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2005) 25:1512–8. doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000170133.43608.37
- Rautou PE, Leroyer AS, Ramkhelawon B, Devue C, Duflaut D, Vion AC, et al. Microparticles from human atherosclerotic plaques promote endothelial ICAM-1-dependent monocyte adhesion and transendothelial migration. *Circ Res* (2011) 108:335–43. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.237420
- Njock MS, Cheng HS, Dang LT, Nazari-Jahantigh M, Lau AC, Boudreau E, et al. Endothelial cells suppress monocyte activation through secretion of extracellular vesicles containing antiinflammatory microRNAs. *Blood* (2015) 125:3202–12. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-11-611046
- Forlow SB, Mcever RP, Nollert MU. Leukocyte-leukocyte interactions mediated by platelet microparticles under flow. *Blood* (2000) 95(4):1317–23.
- Keyel PA, Tkacheva OA, Larregina AT, Salter RD. Coordinate stimulation of macrophages by microparticles and TLR ligands induces foam cell formation. *J Immunol* (2012) 189:4621–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200828
- Lee SK, Yang SH, Kwon I, Lee OH, Heo JH. Role of tumour necrosis factor receptor-1 and nuclear factor-kappaB in production of TNF-alpha-induced pro-inflammatory microparticles in endothelial cells. *Thromb Haemost* (2014) 112:580–8. doi:10.1160/TH13-11-0975
- Abid Hussein MN, Nieuwland R, Hau CM, Evers LM, Meesters EW, Sturk A. Cell-derived microparticles contain caspase 3 in vitro and in vivo. J Thromb Haemost (2005) 3:888–96. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2005.01240.x
- Distler JH, Huber LC, Hueber AJ, Reich CF III, Gay S, Distler O, et al. The release of microparticles by apoptotic cells and their effects on macrophages. *Apoptosis* (2005) 10:731–41. doi:10.1007/s10495-005-2941-5
- Huber LC, Jungel A, Distler JH, Moritz F, Gay RE, Michel BA, et al. The role of membrane lipids in the induction of macrophage apoptosis by microparticles. *Apoptosis* (2007) 12:363–74. doi:10.1007/s10495-006-0622-7
- Boing AN, Hau CM, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Platelet microparticles contain active caspase 3. *Platelets* (2008) 19:96–103. doi:10.1080/09537100701777295
- Sarkar A, Mitra S, Mehta S, Raices R, Wewers MD. Monocyte derived microvesicles deliver a cell death message via encapsulated caspase-1. *PLoS One* (2009) 4:e7140. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0007140
- Leroyer AS, Isobe H, Leseche G, Castier Y, Wassef M, Mallat Z, et al. Cellular origins and thrombogenic activity of microparticles isolated from human atherosclerotic plaques. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2007) 49:772–7. doi:10.1016/j. jacc.2006.10.053
- 58. Mayr M, Grainger D, Mayr U, Leroyer AS, Leseche G, Sidibe A, et al. Proteomics, metabolomics, and immunomics on microparticles derived

from human atherosclerotic plaques. Circ Cardiovasc Genet (2009) 2:379–88. doi:10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.108.842849

- Niessen A, Heyder P, Krienke S, Blank N, Tykocinski LO, Lorenz HM, et al. Apoptotic-cell-derived membrane microparticles and IFN-alpha induce an inflammatory immune response. J Cell Sci (2015) 128:2443–53. doi:10.1242/ jcs.162735
- Classen L, Tykocinski LO, Wiedmann F, Birr C, Schiller P, Tucher C, et al. Extracellular vesicles mediate intercellular communication: transfer of functionally active microRNAs by microvesicles into phagocytes. *Eur J Immunol* (2017) 47(9):1535–49. doi:10.1002/eji.201646595
- Llorente-Cortes V, Otero-Vinas M, Camino-Lopez S, Llampayas O, Badimon L. Aggregated low-density lipoprotein uptake induces membrane tissue factor procoagulant activity and microparticle release in human vascular smooth muscle cells. *Circulation* (2004) 110:452–9. doi:10.1161/01. CIR.0000136032.40666.3D
- Pakala R. Serotonin and thromboxane A2 stimulate platelet-derived microparticle-induced smooth muscle cell proliferation. *Cardiovasc Radiat Med* (2004) 5:20–6. doi:10.1016/j.carrad.2003.12.002
- Weber A, Koppen HO, Schror K. Platelet-derived microparticles stimulate coronary artery smooth muscle cell mitogenesis by a PDGF-independent mechanism. *Thromb Res* (2000) 98:461–6. doi:10.1016/S0049-3848(00) 00192-4
- Kelly-Arnold A, Maldonado N, Laudier D, Aikawa E, Cardoso L, Weinbaum S. Revised microcalcification hypothesis for fibrous cap rupture in human coronary arteries. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110:10741–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1308814110
- Badimon L, Vilahur G. Thrombosis formation on atherosclerotic lesions and plaque rupture. J Intern Med (2014) 276:618–32. doi:10.1111/joim.12296
- 66. Sangiorgi G, Rumberger JA, Severson A, Edwards WD, Gregoire J, Fitzpatrick LA, et al. Arterial calcification and not lumen stenosis is highly correlated with atherosclerotic plaque burden in humans: a histologic study of 723 coronary artery segments using nondecalcifying methodology. J Am Coll Cardiol (1998) 31:126–33. doi:10.1016/S0735-1097(97)00443-9
- Otsuka F, Sakakura K, Yahagi K, Joner M, Virmani R. Has our understanding of calcification in human coronary atherosclerosis progressed? *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2014) 34:724–36. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.302642
- Huang H, Virmani R, Younis H, Burke AP, Kamm RD, Lee RT. The impact of calcification on the biomechanical stability of atherosclerotic plaques. *Circulation* (2001) 103:1051–6. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.103.8.1051
- Hsu JJ, Lim J, Tintut Y, Demer LL. Cell-matrix mechanics and pattern formation in inflammatory cardiovascular calcification. *Heart* (2016) 102:1710–5. doi:10.1136/heartjnl-2016-309667
- Reynolds JL, Joannides AJ, Skepper JN, Mcnair R, Schurgers LJ, Proudfoot D, et al. Human vascular smooth muscle cells undergo vesicle-mediated calcification in response to changes in extracellular calcium and phosphate concentrations: a potential mechanism for accelerated vascular calcification in ESRD. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2004) 15:2857–67. doi:10.1097/01.ASN.0000141960.01035.28
- New SE, Goettsch C, Aikawa M, Marchini JF, Shibasaki M, Yabusaki K, et al. Macrophage-derived matrix vesicles: an alternative novel mechanism for microcalcification in atherosclerotic plaques. *Circ Res* (2013) 113:72–7. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.301036
- Buendia P, Montes De Oca A, Madueno JA, Merino A, Martin-Malo A, Aljama P, et al. Endothelial microparticles mediate inflammation-induced vascular calcification. *FASEB J* (2015) 29:173–81. doi:10.1096/fj.14-249706
- Goettsch C, Hutcheson JD, Aikawa M, Iwata H, Pham T, Nykjaer A, et al. Sortilin mediates vascular calcification via its recruitment into extracellular vesicles. J Clin Invest (2016) 126:1323–36. doi:10.1172/JCI80851
- Gasser O, Hess C, Miot S, Deon C, Sanchez JC, Schifferli JA. Characterisation and properties of ectosomes released by human polymorphonuclear neutrophils. *Exp Cell Res* (2003) 285:243–57. doi:10.1016/S0014-4827(03)00055-7
- Folkesson M, Li C, Frebelius S, Swedenborg J, Wagsater D, Williams KJ, et al. Proteolytically active ADAM10 and ADAM17 carried on membrane microvesicles in human abdominal aortic aneurysms. *Thromb Haemost* (2015) 114:1165–74. doi:10.1160/TH14-10-0899
- 76. Taraboletti G, D'Ascenzo S, Borsotti P, Giavazzi R, Pavan A, Dolo V. Shedding of the matrix metalloproteinases MMP-2, MMP-9, and MT1-MMP as membrane vesicle-associated components by endothelial cells. *Am J Pathol* (2002) 160:673–80. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64887-0

- Lozito TP, Tuan RS. Endothelial cell microparticles act as centers of matrix metalloproteinsase-2 (MMP-2) activation and vascular matrix remodeling. *J Cell Physiol* (2012) 227:534–49. doi:10.1002/jcp.22744
- Martinez de Lizarrondo S, Roncal C, Calvayrac O, Rodriguez C, Varo N, Purroy A, et al. Synergistic effect of thrombin and CD40 ligand on endothelial matrix metalloproteinase-10 expression and microparticle generation in vitro and in vivo. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2012) 32:1477–87. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.112.248773
- Canault M, Leroyer AS, Peiretti F, Leseche G, Tedgui A, Bonardo B, et al. Microparticles of human atherosclerotic plaques enhance the shedding of the tumor necrosis factor-alpha converting enzyme/ADAM17 substrates, tumor necrosis factor and tumor necrosis factor receptor-1. *Am J Pathol* (2007) 171:1713–23. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2007.070021
- Bobryshev YV, Killingsworth MC, Orekhov AN. Increased shedding of microvesicles from intimal smooth muscle cells in athero-prone areas of the human aorta: implications for understanding of the predisease stage. *Pathobiology* (2013) 80:24–31. doi:10.1159/000339430
- Hergenreider E, Heydt S, Treguer K, Boettger T, Horrevoets AJ, Zeiher AM, et al. Atheroprotective communication between endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells through miRNAs. *Nat Cell Biol* (2012) 14:249–56. doi:10.1038/ncb2441
- Shan Z, Qin S, Li W, Wu W, Yang J, Chu M, et al. An endocrine genetic signal between blood cells and vascular smooth muscle cells: role of microRNA-223 in smooth muscle function and atherogenesis. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2015) 65:2526–37. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2015.03.570
- Mallat Z, Hugel B, Ohan J, Leseche G, Freyssinet JM, Tedgui A. Shed membrane microparticles with procoagulant potential in human atherosclerotic plaques: a role for apoptosis in plaque thrombogenicity. *Circulation* (1999) 99:348–53. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.99.3.348
- Wolf P. The nature and significance of platelet products in human plasma. Br J Haematol (1967) 13:269–88. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.1967.tb08741.x
- Sinauridze EI, Kireev DA, Popenko NY, Pichugin AV, Panteleev MA, Krymskaya OV, et al. Platelet microparticle membranes have 50- to 100fold higher specific procoagulant activity than activated platelets. *Thromb Haemost* (2007) 97(3):425–34. doi:10.1160/TH06-06-0313
- Nomura S, Komiyama Y, Murakami T, Funatsu A, Kokawa T, Sugo T, et al. Flow cytometric analysis of surface membrane proteins on activated platelets and platelet-derived microparticles from healthy and thrombasthenic individuals. *Int J Hematol* (1993) 58:203–12.
- Falati S, Liu Q, Gross P, Merrill-Skoloff G, Chou J, Vandendries E, et al. Accumulation of tissue factor into developing thrombi in vivo is dependent upon microparticle P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 and platelet P-selectin. *J Exp Med* (2003) 197:1585–98. doi:10.1084/jem.20021868
- Sommeijer DW, Joop K, Leyte A, Reitsma PH, Ten Cate H. Pravastatin reduces fibrinogen receptor gpIIIa on platelet-derived microparticles in patients with type 2 diabetes. *J Thromb Haemost* (2005) 3:1168–71. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2005.01403.x
- Raturi A, Miersch S, Hudson JW, Mutus B. Platelet microparticleassociated protein disulfide isomerase promotes platelet aggregation and inactivates insulin. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2008) 1778:2790–6. doi:10.1016/j. bbamem.2008.07.003
- Scholz T, Temmler U, Krause S, Heptinstall S, Losche W. Transfer of tissue factor from platelets to monocytes: role of platelet-derived microvesicles and CD62P. *Thromb Haemost* (2002) 88(6):1033–8.
- Del Conde I, Shrimpton CN, Thiagarajan P, Lopez JA. Tissue-factor-bearing microvesicles arise from lipid rafts and fuse with activated platelets to initiate coagulation. *Blood* (2005) 106:1604–11. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-03-1095
- Collier M, Collier MEW, Ettelaie C, Goult BT, Maraveyas A, Goodall AH. Investigation of the filamin A-dependent mechanisms of tissue factor incorporation into microvesicles. *Thromb Haemost* (2017) 117(11): 2034–44. doi:10.1160/TH17-01-0009
- Boden G, Rao AK. Effects of hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia on the tissue factor pathway of blood coagulation. *Curr Diab Rep* (2007) 7:223–7. doi:10.1007/s11892-007-0035-1
- 94. Tsimerman G, Roguin A, Bachar A, Melamed E, Brenner B, Aharon A. Involvement of microparticles in diabetic vascular complications. *Thromb Haemost* (2011) 106:310–21. doi:10.1160/TH10-11-0712
- 95. Stojkovic S, Thulin A, Hell L, Thaler B, Rauscher S, Baumgartner J, et al. IL-33 stimulates the release of procoagulant microvesicles from human monocytes

and differentially increases tissue factor in human monocyte subsets. *Thromb Haemost* (2017) 117:1379–90. doi:10.1160/TH16-10-0784

- Merten M, Pakala R, Thiagarajan P, Benedict CR. Platelet microparticles promote platelet interaction with subendothelial matrix in a glycoprotein IIb/ IIIa-dependent mechanism. *Circulation* (1999) 99:2577–82. doi:10.1161/01. CIR.99.19.2577
- Suades R, Padro T, Vilahur G, Badimon L. Circulating and plateletderived microparticles in human blood enhance thrombosis on atherosclerotic plaques. *Thromb Haemost* (2012) 108:1208–19. doi:10.1160/TH12-07-0486
- Mause SF. Platelet microparticles: reinforcing the hegemony of platelets in atherothrombosis. *Thromb Haemost* (2013) 109:5–6. doi:10.1160/TH12-11-0817
- 99. Suades R, Padro T, Vilahur G, Martin-Yuste V, Sabate M, Sans-Rosello J, et al. Growing thrombi release increased levels of CD235a(+) microparticles and decreased levels of activated platelet-derived microparticles. Validation in ST-elevation myocardial infarction patients. *J Thromb Haemost* (2015) 13:1776–86. doi:10.1111/jth.13065
- Berckmans RJ, Nieuwland R, Boing AN, Romijn FP, Hack CE, Sturk A. Cellderived microparticles circulate in healthy humans and support low grade thrombin generation. *Thromb Haemost* (2001) 85(4):639–46.
- Zwicker JI, Trenor CC III, Furie BC, Furie B. Tissue factor-bearing microparticles and thrombus formation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2011) 31:728–33. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.200964
- Burnier L, Fontana P, Kwak BR, Angelillo-Scherrer A. Cell-derived microparticles in haemostasis and vascular medicine. *Thromb Haemost* (2009) 101(3):439–51. doi:10.1160/TH08-08-0521
- Toth B, Nikolajek K, Rank A, Nieuwland R, Lohse P, Pihusch V, et al. Gender-specific and menstrual cycle dependent differences in circulating microparticles. *Platelets* (2007) 18:515–21. doi:10.1080/ 09537100701525843
- 104. Robert S, Poncelet P, Lacroix R, Arnaud L, Giraudo L, Hauchard A, et al. Standardization of platelet-derived microparticle counting using calibrated beads and a Cytomics FC500 routine flow cytometer: a first step towards multicenter studies? *J Thromb Haemost* (2009) 7:190–7. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2008.03200.x
- 105. van der Zee PM, Biro E, Ko Y, De Winter RJ, Hack CE, Sturk A, et al. P-selectin- and CD63-exposing platelet microparticles reflect platelet activation in peripheral arterial disease and myocardial infarction. *Clin Chem* (2006) 52:657–64. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2005.057414
- 106. Bretelle F, Sabatier F, Desprez D, Camoin L, Grunebaum L, Combes V, et al. Circulating microparticles: a marker of procoagulant state in normal pregnancy and pregnancy complicated by preeclampsia or intrauterine growth restriction. *Thromb Haemost* (2003) 89(3):486–92.
- 107. Chaar V, Romana M, Tripette J, Broquere C, Huisse MG, Hue O, et al. Effect of strenuous physical exercise on circulating cell-derived microparticles. *Clin Hemorheol Microcirc* (2011) 47:15–25. doi:10.3233/CH-2010-1361
- Sossdorf M, Otto GP, Claus RA, Gabriel HH, Lösche W. Cell-derived microparticles promote coagulation after moderate exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* (2011) 43:1169–76. doi:10.1249/MSS.0b013e3182068645
- 109. Maruyama K, Kadono T, Morishita E. Plasma levels of platelet-derived microparticles are increased after anaerobic exercise in healthy subjects. *J Atheroscler Thromb* (2012) 19:585–7. doi:10.5551/jat.11791
- 110. Tushuizen ME, Nieuwland R, Scheffer PG, Sturk A, Heine RJ, Diamant M. Two consecutive high-fat meals affect endothelial-dependent vasodilation, oxidative stress and cellular microparticles in healthy men. *J Thromb Haemost* (2006) 4:1003–10. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2006.01914.x
- 111. Enjeti AK, Ariyarajah A, D'Crus A, Seldon M, Lincz LF. Circulating microvesicle number, function and small RNA content vary with age, gender, smoking status, lipid and hormone profiles. *Thromb Res* (2017) 156:65–72. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2017.04.019
- 112. Suades R, Padro T, Alonso R, Mata P, Badimon L. High levels of TSP1+/ CD142+ platelet-derived microparticles characterise young patients with high cardiovascular risk and subclinical atherosclerosis. *Thromb Haemost* (2015) 114:1310–21. doi:10.1160/TH15-04-0325
- 113. Suades R, Padro T, Alonso R, Lopez-Miranda J, Mata P, Badimon L. Circulating CD45+/CD3+ lymphocyte-derived microparticles map lipidrich atherosclerotic plaques in familial hypercholesterolaemia patients. *Thromb Haemost* (2014) 111:111–21. doi:10.1160/TH13-07-0612

- 114. Goichot B, Grunebaum L, Desprez D, Vinzio S, Meyer L, Schlienger JL, et al. Circulating procoagulant microparticles in obesity. *Diabetes Metab* (2006) 32:82–5. doi:10.1016/S1262-3636(07)70251-3
- 115. Heiss C, Amabile N, Lee AC, Real WM, Schick SF, Lao D, et al. Brief secondhand smoke exposure depresses endothelial progenitor cells activity and endothelial function: sustained vascular injury and blunted nitric oxide production. J Am Coll Cardiol (2008) 51:1760–71. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2008.01.040
- 116. Gordon C, Gudi K, Krause A, Sackrowitz R, Harvey BG, Strulovici-Barel Y, et al. Circulating endothelial microparticles as a measure of early lung destruction in cigarette smokers. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2011) 184(2):224–32. doi:10.1164/rccm.201012-2061OC
- 117. Li J, Zhang Y, Liu Y, Dai X, Li W, Cai X, et al. Microvesicle-mediated transfer of microRNA-150 from monocytes to endothelial cells promotes angiogenesis. *J Biol Chem* (2013) 288:23586–96. doi:10.1074/jbc. M113.489302
- 118. Jayachandran M, Litwiller RD, Lahr BD, Bailey KR, Owen WG, Mulvagh SL, et al. Alterations in platelet function and cell-derived microvesicles in recently menopausal women: relationship to metabolic syndrome and atherogenic risk. *J Cardiovasc Transl Res* (2011) 4:811–22. doi:10.1007/s12265-011-9296-9
- 119. Sabatier F, Darmon P, Hugel B, Combes V, Sanmarco M, Velut JG, et al. Type 1 and type 2 diabetic patients display different patterns of cellular microparticles. *Diabetes* (2002) 51:2840–5. doi:10.2337/diabetes.51.9.2840
- 120. Nomura S, Shouzu A, Omoto S, Nishikawa M, Iwasaka T, Fukuhara S. Activated platelet and oxidized LDL induce endothelial membrane vesiculation: clinical significance of endothelial cell-derived microparticles in patients with type 2 diabetes. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* (2004) 10:205–15. doi:10.1177/107602960401000302
- 121. Nomura S, Takahashi N, Inami N, Kajiura T, Yamada K, Nakamori H, et al. Probucol and ticlopidine: effect on platelet and monocyte activation markers in hyperlipidemic patients with and without type 2 diabetes. *Atherosclerosis* (2004) 174:329–35. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2004.01.027
- 122. Shouzu A, Nomura S, Omoto S, Hayakawa T, Nishikawa M, Iwasaka T. Effect of ticlopidine on monocyte-derived microparticles and activated platelet markers in diabetes mellitus. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* (2004) 10:167–73. doi:10.1177/107602960401000207
- 123. Koga H, Sugiyama S, Kugiyama K, Watanabe K, Fukushima H, Tanaka T, et al. Elevated levels of VE-cadherin-positive endothelial microparticles in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol (2005) 45:1622–30. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2005.02.047
- 124. Omoto S, Nomura S, Shouzu A, Hayakawa T, Shimizu H, Miyake Y, et al. Significance of platelet-derived microparticles and activated platelets in diabetic nephropathy. *Nephron* (1999) 81:271–7. doi:10.1159/000045292
- 125. Diamant M, Nieuwland R, Pablo RF, Sturk A, Smit JW, Radder JK. Elevated numbers of tissue-factor exposing microparticles correlate with components of the metabolic syndrome in uncomplicated type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Circulation* (2002) 106:2442–7. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.0000036596. 59665.C6
- 126. Koga H, Sugiyama S, Kugiyama K, Fukushima H, Watanabe K, Sakamoto T, et al. Elevated levels of remnant lipoproteins are associated with plasma platelet microparticles in patients with type-2 diabetes mellitus without obstructive coronary artery disease. *Eur Heart J* (2006) 27:817–23. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehi746
- 127. Bernard S, Loffroy R, Serusclat A, Boussel L, Bonnefoy E, Thevenon C, et al. Increased levels of endothelial microparticles CD144 (VE-Cadherin) positives in type 2 diabetic patients with coronary noncalcified plaques evaluated by multidetector computed tomography (MDCT). *Atherosclerosis* (2009) 203:429–35. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2008.07.039
- 128. Ogata N, Nomura S, Shouzu A, Imaizumi M, Arichi M, Matsumura M. Elevation of monocyte-derived microparticles in patients with diabetic retinopathy. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2006) 73:241–8. doi:10.1016/j. diabres.2006.01.014
- Gunduz Z, Dursun I, Tulpar S, Bastug F, Baykan A, Yikilmaz A, et al. Increased endothelial microparticles in obese and overweight children. *J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab* (2012) 25:1111–7. doi:10.1515/jpem-2012-0194
- 130. Murakami T, Horigome H, Tanaka K, Nakata Y, Ohkawara K, Katayama Y, et al. Impact of weight reduction on production of platelet-derived microparticles and fibrinolytic parameters in obesity. *Thromb Res* (2007) 119:45–53. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2005.12.013

- 131. Stepanian A, Bourguignat L, Hennou S, Coupaye M, Hajage D, Salomon L, et al. Microparticle increase in severe obesity: not related to metabolic syndrome and unchanged after massive weight loss. *Obesity (Silver Spring)* (2013) 21:2236–43. doi:10.1002/oby.20365
- 132. Cheng V, Kashyap SR, Schauer PR, Kirwan JP, Mccrae KR. Restoration of glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus after bariatric surgery is associated with reduction in microparticles. *Surg Obes Relat Dis* (2013) 9:207–12. doi:10.1016/j.soard.2011.09.026
- 133. Nomura S, Kanazawa S, Fukuhara S. Effects of efonidipine on platelet and monocyte activation markers in hypertensive patients with and without type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Hum Hypertens* (2002) 16:539–47. doi:10.1038/ sj.jhh.1001447
- 134. Preston RA, Jy W, Jimenez JJ, Mauro LM, Horstman LL, Valle M, et al. Effects of severe hypertension on endothelial and platelet microparticles. *Hypertension* (2003) 41:211–7. doi:10.1161/01.HYP.0000049760. 15764.2D
- 135. Nomura S, Shouzu A, Omoto S, Nishikawa M, Iwasaka T. Effects of losartan and simvastatin on monocyte-derived microparticles in hypertensive patients with and without type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* (2004) 10:133–41. doi:10.1177/107602960401000203
- 136. Ferreira AC, Peter AA, Mendez AJ, Jimenez JJ, Mauro LM, Chirinos JA, et al. Postprandial hypertriglyceridemia increases circulating levels of endothelial cell microparticles. *Circulation* (2004) 110:3599–603. doi:10.1161/01. CIR.0000148820.55611.6B
- 137. Arteaga RB, Chirinos JA, Soriano AO, Jy W, Horstman L, Jimenez JJ, et al. Endothelial microparticles and platelet and leukocyte activation in patients with the metabolic syndrome. *Am J Cardiol* (2006) 98:70–4. doi:10.1016/j. amjcard.2006.01.054
- 138. Ueba T, Haze T, Sugiyama M, Higuchi M, Asayama H, Karitani Y, et al. Level, distribution and correlates of platelet-derived microparticles in healthy individuals with special reference to the metabolic syndrome. *Thromb Haemost* (2008) 100(2):280–5. doi:10.1160/TH07-11-0668
- 139. Helal O, Defoort C, Robert S, Marin C, Lesavre N, Lopez-Miranda J, et al. Increased levels of microparticles originating from endothelial cells, platelets and erythrocytes in subjects with metabolic syndrome: relationship with oxidative stress. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* (2011) 21:665–71. doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2010.01.004
- 140. Amabile N, Cheng S, Renard JM, Larson MG, Ghorbani A, Mccabe E, et al. Association of circulating endothelial microparticles with cardiometabolic risk factors in the Framingham Heart Study. *Eur Heart J* (2014) 35:2972–9. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehu153
- 141. Ando M, Iwata A, Ozeki Y, Tsuchiya K, Akiba T, Nihei H. Circulating platelet-derived microparticles with procoagulant activity may be a potential cause of thrombosis in uremic patients. *Kidney Int* (2002) 62:1757–63. doi:10.1046/j.1523-1755.2002.00627.x
- 142. Nozaki T, Sugiyama S, Koga H, Sugamura K, Ohba K, Matsuzawa Y, et al. Significance of a multiple biomarkers strategy including endothelial dysfunction to improve risk stratification for cardiovascular events in patients at high risk for coronary heart disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2009) 54:601–8. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2009.05.022
- 143. Jayachandran M, Litwiller RD, Owen WG, Heit JA, Behrenbeck T, Mulvagh SL, et al. Characterization of blood borne microparticles as markers of premature coronary calcification in newly menopausal women. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol (2008) 295:H931–8. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00193.2008
- 144. Zeiger F, Stephan S, Hoheisel G, Pfeiffer D, Ruehlmann C, Koksch M. P-Selectin expression, platelet aggregates, and platelet-derived microparticle formation are increased in peripheral arterial disease. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* (2000) 11(8):723–8. doi:10.1097/00001721-200012000-00005
- 145. Chironi G, Simon A, Hugel B, Del Pino M, Gariepy J, Freyssinet JM, et al. Circulating leukocyte-derived microparticles predict subclinical atherosclerosis burden in asymptomatic subjects. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2006) 26:2775–80. doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000249639.36915.04
- 146. Bernal-Mizrachi L, Jy W, Jimenez JJ, Pastor J, Mauro LM, Horstman LL, et al. High levels of circulating endothelial microparticles in patients with acute coronary syndromes. *Am Heart J* (2003) 145:962–70. doi:10.1016/ S0002-8703(03)00103-0
- 147. Sinning JM, Losch J, Walenta K, Bohm M, Nickenig G, Werner N. Circulating CD31+/Annexin V+ microparticles correlate with cardiovascular outcomes. *Eur Heart J* (2011) 32:2034–41. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehq478

- 148. Jansen F, Yang X, Proebsting S, Hoelscher M, Przybilla D, Baumann K, et al. MicroRNA expression in circulating microvesicles predicts cardiovascular events in patients with coronary artery disease. J Am Heart Assoc (2014) 3:e001249. doi:10.1161/JAHA.114.001249
- 149. Mallat Z, Benamer H, Hugel B, Benessiano J, Steg PG, Freyssinet JM, et al. Elevated levels of shed membrane microparticles with procoagulant potential in the peripheral circulating blood of patients with acute coronary syndromes. *Circulation* (2000) 101:841–3. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.101.8.841
- Nomura S, Uehata S, Saito S, Osumi K, Ozeki Y, Kimura Y. Enzyme immunoassay detection of platelet-derived microparticles and RANTES in acute coronary syndrome. *Thromb Haemost* (2003) 89(3):506–12.
- Bernal-Mizrachi L, Jy W, Fierro C, Macdonough R, Velazques HA, Purow J, et al. Endothelial microparticles correlate with high-risk angiographic lesions in acute coronary syndromes. *Int J Cardiol* (2004) 97:439–46. doi:10.1016/j. ijcard.2003.10.029
- Li X, Cong H. Platelet-derived microparticles and the potential of glycoprotein IIb/IIIa antagonists in treating acute coronary syndrome. *Tex Heart Inst J* (2009) 36(2):134–9.
- 153. D'Alessandra Y, Devanna P, Limana F, Straino S, Di Carlo A, Brambilla PG, et al. Circulating microRNAs are new and sensitive biomarkers of myocardial infarction. *Eur Heart J* (2010) 31:2765–73. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehq167
- 154. Ueba T, Nomura S, Inami N, Nishikawa T, Kajiwara M, Iwata R, et al. Plasma level of platelet-derived microparticles is associated with coronary heart disease risk score in healthy men. *J Atheroscler Thromb* (2010) 17:342–9. doi:10.5551/jat.2964
- 155. Suades R, Padro T, Crespo J, Ramaiola I, Martin-Yuste V, Sabate M, et al. Circulating microparticle signature in coronary and peripheral blood of ST elevation myocardial infarction patients in relation to pain-to-PCI elapsed time. *Int J Cardiol* (2016) 202:378–87. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.09.011
- 156. Chiva-Blanch G, Laake K, Myhre P, Bratseth V, Arnesen H, Solheim S, et al. Platelet-, monocyte-derived and tissue factor-carrying circulating microparticles are related to acute myocardial infarction severity. *PLoS One* (2017) 12:e0172558. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0172558
- 157. Lee YJ, Jy W, Horstman LL, Janania J, Reyes Y, Kelley RE, et al. Elevated platelet microparticles in transient ischemic attacks, lacunar infarcts, and multiinfarct dementias. *Thromb Res* (1993) 72:295–304. doi:10.1016/0049-3848(93)90138-E
- 158. Simak J, Gelderman MP, Yu H, Wright V, Baird AE. Circulating endothelial microparticles in acute ischemic stroke: a link to severity, lesion volume and outcome. *J Thromb Haemost* (2006) 4:1296–302. doi:10.1111/j. 1538-7836.2006.01911.x
- Jung KH, Chu K, Lee ST, Park HK, Bahn JJ, Kim DH, et al. Circulating endothelial microparticles as a marker of cerebrovascular disease. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 66:191–9. doi:10.1002/ana.21681
- 160. Lukasik M, Rozalski M, Luzak B, Michalak S, Kozubski W, Watala C. Platelet activation and reactivity in the convalescent phase of ischaemic stroke. *Thromb Haemost* (2010) 103:644–50. doi:10.1160/TH09-08-0599
- 161. Kim SJ, Moon GJ, Cho YH, Kang HY, Hyung NK, Kim D, et al. Circulating mesenchymal stem cells microparticles in patients with cerebrovascular disease. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e37036. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0037036
- 162. Chiva-Blanch G, Suades R, Crespo J, Pena E, Padro T, Jimenez-Xarrie E, et al. Microparticle shedding from neural progenitor cells and vascular compartment cells is increased in ischemic stroke. *PLoS One* (2016) 11: e0148176. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0148176
- 163. Lackner P, Dietmann A, Beer R, Fischer M, Broessner G, Helbok R, et al. Cellular microparticles as a marker for cerebral vasospasm in spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2010) 41:2353–7. doi:10.1161/ STROKEAHA.110.584995
- 164. Michelsen AE, Notø AT, Brodin E, Mathiesen EB, Brosstad F, Hansen JB. Elevated levels of platelet microparticles in carotid atherosclerosis and during the postprandial state. *Thromb Res* (2009) 123:881–6. doi:10.1016/j. thromres.2008.10.016
- 165. Chiva-Blanch G, Suades R, Crespo J, Vilahur G, Arderiu G, Padro T, et al. CD3(+)/CD45(+) and SMA-alpha(+) circulating microparticles are increased in individuals at high cardiovascular risk who will develop a major cardiovascular event. *Int J Cardiol* (2016) 208:147–9. doi:10.1016/j. ijcard.2016.01.211
- Chiva-Blanch G, Bratseth V, Ritschel V, Andersen GO, Halvorsen S, Eritsland J, et al. Monocyte-derived circulating microparticles (CD14+, CD14+/CD11b+

and CD14+/CD142+) are related to long-term prognosis for cardiovascular mortality in STEMI patients. *Int J Cardiol* (2017) 227:876–81. doi:10.1016/j. ijcard.2016.11.302

- Walsh KB, Campos B, Hart K, Thakar C, Adeoye O. M2 monocyte microparticles are increased in intracerebral hemorrhage. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis (2017) 26(10):2369–75. doi:10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2017.05.027
- Carmeliet P, Jain RK. Molecular mechanisms and clinical applications of angiogenesis. *Nature* (2011) 473:298–307. doi:10.1038/nature10144
- 169. Pircher A, Treps L, Bodrug N, Carmeliet P. Endothelial cell metabolism: a novel player in atherosclerosis? Basic principles and therapeutic opportunities. *Atherosclerosis* (2016) 253:247–57. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis. 2016.08.011
- Juan-Babot JO, Martinez-Gonzalez J, Berrozpe M, Badimon L. [Neovascularization in human coronary arteries with lesions of different severity]. *Rev Esp Cardiol* (2003) 56:978–86. doi:10.1016/S0300-8932(03)76995-4
- 171. Belting M, Christianson HC. Role of exosomes and microvesicles in hypoxia-associated tumour development and cardiovascular disease. J Intern Med (2015) 278:251–63. doi:10.1111/joim.12393
- Brill A, Dashevsky O, Rivo J, Gozal Y, Varon D. Platelet-derived microparticles induce angiogenesis and stimulate post-ischemic revascularization. *Cardiovasc Res* (2005) 67:30–8. doi:10.1016/j.cardiores.2005.04.007
- 173. Mezentsev A, Merks RM, O'Riordan E, Chen J, Mendelev N, Goligorsky MS, et al. Endothelial microparticles affect angiogenesis in vitro: role of oxidative stress. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol (2005) 289:H1106–14. doi:10.1152/ ajpheart.00265.2005
- 174. Soleti R, Benameur T, Porro C, Panaro MA, Andriantsitohaina R, Martinez MC. Microparticles harboring Sonic Hedgehog promote angiogenesis through the upregulation of adhesion proteins and proangiogenic factors. *Carcinogenesis* (2009) 30:580–8. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgp030
- 175. Benameur T, Soleti R, Porro C, Andriantsitohaina R, Martinez MC. Microparticles carrying Sonic hedgehog favor neovascularization through the activation of nitric oxide pathway in mice. *PLoS One* (2010) 5:e12688. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0012688
- 176. Ou ZJ, Chang FJ, Luo D, Liao XL, Wang ZP, Zhang X, et al. Endotheliumderived microparticles inhibit angiogenesis in the heart and enhance the inhibitory effects of hypercholesterolemia on angiogenesis. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* (2011) 300:E661–8. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00611.2010
- 177. Todorova D, Simoncini S, Lacroix R, Sabatier F, Dignat-George F. Extracellular vesicles in angiogenesis. *Circ Res* (2017) 120:1658–73. doi:10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.117.309681
- 178. Ohtsuka M, Sasaki K, Ueno T, Seki R, Nakayoshi T, Koiwaya H, et al. Platelet-derived microparticles augment the adhesion and neovascularization capacities of circulating angiogenic cells obtained from atherosclerotic patients. *Atherosclerosis* (2013) 227:275–82. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis. 2013.01.040
- 179. Hayon Y, Dashevsky O, Shai E, Brill A, Varon D, Leker RR. Platelet microparticles induce angiogenesis and neurogenesis after cerebral ischemia. *Curr Neurovasc Res* (2012) 9:185–92. doi:10.2174/156720212801619018
- 180. Shan LY, Li JZ, Zu LY, Niu CG, Ferro A, Zhang YD, et al. Platelet-derived microparticles are implicated in remote ischemia conditioning in a rat model of cerebral infarction. CNS Neurosci Ther (2013) 19:917–25. doi:10.1111/cns.12199
- 181. Kim HK, Song KS, Chung JH, Lee KR, Lee SN. Platelet microparticles induce angiogenesis in vitro. *Br J Haematol* (2004) 124:376–84. doi:10.1046/j. 1365-2141.2003.04773.x
- 182. Mause SF, Ritzel E, Liehn EA, Hristov M, Bidzhekov K, Muller-Newen G, et al. Platelet microparticles enhance the vasoregenerative potential of angiogenic early outgrowth cells after vascular injury. *Circulation* (2010) 122:495–506. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.109.909473
- Leroyer AS, Ebrahimian TG, Cochain C, Recalde A, Blanc-Brude O, Mees B, et al. Microparticles from ischemic muscle promotes postnatal vasculogenesis. *Circulation* (2009) 119:2808–17. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108. 816710
- 184. Lacroix R, Sabatier F, Mialhe A, Basire A, Pannell R, Borghi H, et al. Activation of plasminogen into plasmin at the surface of endothelial microparticles: a mechanism that modulates angiogenic properties of endothelial progenitor cells in vitro. *Blood* (2007) 110:2432–9. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-02-069997
- 185. Sun C, Feng SB, Cao ZW, Bei JJ, Chen Q, Zhao WB, et al. Up-regulated expression of matrix metalloproteinases in endothelial cells mediates platelet

microvesicle-induced angiogenesis. Cell Physiol Biochem (2017) 41:2319-32. doi:10.1159/000475651

- 186. Leroyer AS, Rautou PE, Silvestre JS, Castier Y, Leseche G, Devue C, et al. CD40 ligand+ microparticles from human atherosclerotic plaques stimulate endothelial proliferation and angiogenesis a potential mechanism for intraplaque neovascularization. J Am Coll Cardiol (2008) 52:1302–11. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2008.07.032
- 187. Merjaneh M, Langlois A, Larochelle S, Cloutier CB, Ricard-Blum S, Moulin VJ. Pro-angiogenic capacities of microvesicles produced by skin wound myofibroblasts. *Angiogenesis* (2017) 20:385–98. doi:10.1007/s10456-017-9554-9
- Deregibus MC, Cantaluppi V, Calogero R, Lo Iacono M, Tetta C, Biancone L, et al. Endothelial progenitor cell derived microvesicles activate an angiogenic program in endothelial cells by a horizontal transfer of mRNA. *Blood* (2007) 110:2440–8. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-03-078709
- 189. Bian S, Zhang L, Duan L, Wang X, Min Y, Yu H. Extracellular vesicles derived from human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells promote angiogenesis in a rat myocardial infarction model. *J Mol Med (Berl)* (2014) 92:387–97. doi:10.1007/s00109-013-1110-5
- 190. Doeppner TR, Herz J, Gorgens A, Schlechter J, Ludwig AK, Radtke S, et al. Extracellular vesicles improve post-stroke neuroregeneration and prevent postischemic immunosuppression. *Stem Cells Transl Med* (2015) 4:1131–43. doi:10.5966/sctm.2015-0078
- 191. Zhang HC, Liu XB, Huang S, Bi XY, Wang HX, Xie LX, et al. Microvesicles derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells stimulated by hypoxia promote angiogenesis both in vitro and in vivo. *Stem Cells Dev* (2012) 21:3289–97. doi:10.1089/scd.2012.0095
- 192. Zou X, Gu D, Xing X, Cheng Z, Gong D, Zhang G, et al. Human mesenchymal stromal cell-derived extracellular vesicles alleviate renal ischemic reperfusion injury and enhance angiogenesis in rats. *Am J Transl Res* (2016) 8(10):4289–99.
- 193. Prokopi M, Pula G, Mayr U, Devue C, Gallagher J, Xiao Q, et al. Proteomic analysis reveals presence of platelet microparticles in endothelial progenitor cell cultures. *Blood* (2009) 114:723–32. doi:10.1182/blood-2009-02-205930
- 194. Varon D, Hayon Y, Dashevsky O, Shai E. Involvement of platelet derived microparticles in tumor metastasis and tissue regeneration. *Thromb Res* (2012) 130(Suppl 1):S98–9. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2012.08.289
- 195. Agouni A, Mostefai HA, Porro C, Carusio N, Favre J, Richard V, et al. Sonic hedgehog carried by microparticles corrects endothelial injury through nitric oxide release. FASEB J (2007) 21:2735–41. doi:10.1096/fj.07-8079com
- 196. Guller S, Tang Z, Ma YY, Di Santo S, Sager R, Schneider H. Protein composition of microparticles shed from human placenta during placental perfusion: potential role in angiogenesis and fibrinolysis in preeclampsia. *Placenta* (2011) 32:63–9. doi:10.1016/j.placenta.2010.10.011
- 197. Yang C, Mwaikambo BR, Zhu T, Gagnon C, Lafleur J, Seshadri S, et al. Lymphocytic microparticles inhibit angiogenesis by stimulating oxidative stress and negatively regulating VEGF-induced pathways. Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol (2008) 294:R467–76. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00432.2007
- 198. Ramakrishnan DP, Hajj-Ali RA, Chen Y, Silverstein RL. Extracellular vesicles activate a CD36-dependent signaling pathway to inhibit microvascular endothelial cell migration and tube formation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2016) 36:534–44. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.307085
- 199. Lopatina T, Bruno S, Tetta C, Kalinina N, Porta M, Camussi G. Plateletderived growth factor regulates the secretion of extracellular vesicles by adipose mesenchymal stem cells and enhances their angiogenic potential. *Cell Commun Signal* (2014) 12:26. doi:10.1186/1478-811X-12-26
- Boopathy GTK, Kulkarni M, Ho SY, Boey A, Chua EWM, Barathi VA, et al. Cavin-2 regulates the activity and stability of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) in angiogenesis. J Biol Chem (2017) 292(43):17760–76. doi:10.1074/ jbc.M117.794743
- 201. Turu MM, Slevin M, Matou S, West D, Rodriguez C, Luque A, et al. C-reactive protein exerts angiogenic effects on vascular endothelial cells and modulates associated signalling pathways and gene expression. *BMC Cell Biol* (2008) 9:47. doi:10.1186/1471-2121-9-47
- 202. Habersberger J, Strang F, Scheichl A, Htun N, Bassler N, Merivirta RM, et al. Circulating microparticles generate and transport monomeric C-reactive protein in patients with myocardial infarction. *Cardiovasc Res* (2012) 96:64–72. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvs237
- 203. Belik D, Tsang H, Wharton J, Howard L, Bernabeu C, Wojciak-Stothard B. Endothelium-derived microparticles from chronically thromboembolic

pulmonary hypertensive patients facilitate endothelial angiogenesis. *J Biomed Sci* (2016) 23:4. doi:10.1186/s12929-016-0224-9

- 204. Wilhelm EN, Gonzalez-Alonso J, Parris C, Rakobowchuk M. Exercise intensity modulates the appearance of circulating microvesicles with proangiogenic potential upon endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* (2016) 311:H1297–310. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.00516.2016
- 205. Jain M, Bhosale V, Tripathi D, Singh H, Pal N, Hanif K, et al. Antihypertensive drugs aliskiren, nebivolol, and olmesartan reduce hypertension by reducing endothelial microparticles and regulating angiogenesis. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol* (2017) 70:176–83. doi:10.1097/FJC.0000000000000503
- 206. Kang T, Jones TM, Naddell C, Bacanamwo M, Calvert JW, Thompson WE, et al. Adipose-derived stem cells induce angiogenesis via microvesicle transport of miRNA-31. *Stem Cells Transl Med* (2016) 5:440–50. doi:10.5966/ sctm.2015-0177
- 207. Ranghino A, Cantaluppi V, Grange C, Vitillo L, Fop F, Biancone L, et al. Endothelial progenitor cell-derived microvesicles improve neovascularization in a murine model of hindlimb ischemia. *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol* (2012) 25:75–85. doi:10.1177/039463201202500110
- Cantaluppi V, Biancone L, Figliolini F, Beltramo S, Medica D, Deregibus MC, et al. Microvesicles derived from endothelial progenitor cells enhance neoangiogenesis of human pancreatic islets. *Cell Transplant* (2012) 21:1305–20. doi:10.3727/096368911X627534
- 209. Lombardo G, Dentelli P, Togliatto G, Rosso A, Gili M, Gallo S, et al. Activated Stat5 trafficking via endothelial cell-derived extracellular vesicles controls IL-3 pro-angiogenic paracrine action. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:25689. doi:10.1038/ srep25689
- 210. Zernecke A, Bidzhekov K, Noels H, Shagdarsuren E, Gan L, Denecke B, et al. Delivery of microRNA-126 by apoptotic bodies induces CXCL12dependent vascular protection. *Sci Signal* (2009) 2:ra81. doi:10.1126/ scisignal.2000610
- 211. Rak J, Milsom C, May L, Klement P, Yu J. Tissue factor in cancer and angiogenesis: the molecular link between genetic tumor progression, tumor neovascularization, and cancer coagulopathy. *Semin Thromb Hemost* (2006) 32:54–70. doi:10.1055/s-2006-933341
- 212. Arderiu G, Pena E, Aledo R, Badimon L. Tissue factor-Akt signaling triggers microvessel formation. *J Thromb Haemost* (2012) 10:1895–905. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2012.04848.x
- 213. Arderiu G, Espinosa S, Pena E, Crespo J, Aledo R, Bogdanov VY, et al. Tissue factor variants induce monocyte transformation and transdifferentiation into endothelial cell-like cells. *J Thromb Haemost* (2017) 15(8):1689–703. doi:10.1111/jth.13751
- 214. Svensson KJ, Kucharzewska P, Christianson HC, Skold S, Lofstedt T, Johansson MC, et al. Hypoxia triggers a proangiogenic pathway involving cancer cell microvesicles and PAR-2-mediated heparin-binding EGF signaling in endothelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108:13147–52. doi:10.1073/pnas.1104261108
- Collier ME, Ettelaie C. Induction of endothelial cell proliferation by recombinant and microparticle-tissue factor involves beta1-integrin and extracellular signal regulated kinase activation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2010) 30:1810–7. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.211854
- 216. Arderiu G, Pena E, Badimon L. Angiogenic microvascular endothelial cells release microparticles rich in tissue factor that promotes postischemic collateral vessel formation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2015) 35:348–57. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.303927
- 217. Martinez MC, Andriantsitohaina R. Microparticles in angiogenesis: therapeutic potential. *Circ Res* (2011) 109:110–9. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA. 110.233049
- Graves LE, Ariztia EV, Navari JR, Matzel HJ, Stack MS, Fishman DA. Proinvasive properties of ovarian cancer ascites-derived membrane vesicles. *Cancer Res* (2004) 64:7045–9. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1800
- Janowska-Wieczorek A, Wysoczynski M, Kijowski J, Marquez-Curtis L, Machalinski B, Ratajczak J, et al. Microvesicles derived from activated platelets induce metastasis and angiogenesis in lung cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2005) 113:752–60. doi:10.1002/ijc.20657
- 220. Taraboletti G, D'Ascenzo S, Giusti I, Marchetti D, Borsotti P, Millimaggi D, et al. Bioavailability of VEGF in tumor-shed vesicles depends on vesicle burst induced by acidic pH. *Neoplasia* (2006) 8:96–103. doi:10.1593/neo.05583
- 221. Al-Nedawi K, Meehan B, Kerbel RS, Allison AC, Rak J. Endothelial expression of autocrine VEGF upon the uptake of tumor-derived microvesicles

containing oncogenic EGFR. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A (2009) 106:3794–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0804543106

- 222. Yang C, Gagnon C, Hou X, Hardy P. Low density lipoprotein receptor mediates anti-VEGF effect of lymphocyte T-derived microparticles in Lewis lung carcinoma cells. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2010) 10:448–56. doi:10.4161/cbt.10.5. 12533
- 223. Yang C, Xiong W, Qiu Q, Shao Z, Hamel D, Tahiri H, et al. Role of receptormediated endocytosis in the antiangiogenic effects of human T lymphoblastic cell-derived microparticles. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* (2012) 302:R941–9. doi:10.1152/ajpregu.00527.2011
- 224. Zhuang G, Wu X, Jiang Z, Kasman I, Yao J, Guan Y, et al. Tumour-secreted miR-9 promotes endothelial cell migration and angiogenesis by activating the JAK-STAT pathway. *EMBO J* (2012) 31:3513–23. doi:10.1038/emboj. 2012.183
- Zhang H, Bai M, Deng T, Liu R, Wang X, Qu Y, et al. Cell-derived microvesicles mediate the delivery of miR-29a/c to suppress angiogenesis in gastric carcinoma. *Cancer Lett* (2016) 375:331–9. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2016.03.026
- 226. Feng Q, Zhang C, Lum D, Druso JE, Blank B, Wilson KF, et al. A class of extracellular vesicles from breast cancer cells activates VEGF receptors and tumour angiogenesis. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8:14450. doi:10.1038/ ncomms14450
- 227. Huaitong X, Yuanyong F, Yueqin T, Peng Z, Wei S, Kai S. Microvesicles releasing by oral cancer cells enhance endothelial cell angiogenesis via Shh/RhoA signaling pathway. *Cancer Biol Ther* (2017) 18(10):783–91. doi:10.1080/ 15384047.2017.1373213
- 228. Treps L, Perret R, Edmond S, Ricard D, Gavard J. Glioblastoma stem-like cells secrete the pro-angiogenic VEGF-A factor in extracellular vesicles. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2017) 6:1359479. doi:10.1080/20013078.2017.1359479
- 229. Estruch R, Ros E, Salas-Salvado J, Covas MI, Corella D, Aros F, et al. Primary prevention of cardiovascular disease with a Mediterranean diet. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 368:1279–90. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1200303
- 230. Chiva-Blanch G, Crespo J, Suades R, Arderiu G, Padro T, Vilahur G, et al. CD142+/CD61+, CD146+ and CD45+ microparticles predict cardiovascular events in high risk patients following a Mediterranean diet supplemented with nuts. *Thromb Haemost* (2016) 116:103–14. doi:10.1160/TH16-02-0130
- 231. Nomura S, Shouzu A, Omoto S, Hayakawa T, Kagawa H, Nishikawa M, et al. Effect of cilostazol on soluble adhesion molecules and platelet-derived microparticles in patients with diabetes. *Thromb Haemost* (1998) 80: 388–92.
- 232. Nomura S, Omoto S, Yokoi T, Fujita S, Ozasa R, Eguchi N, et al. Effects of miglitol in platelet-derived microparticle, adiponectin, and selectin level in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Int J Gen Med* (2011) 4:539–45. doi:10.2147/IJGM.S22115
- 233. Mobarrez F, He S, Broijersen A, Wiklund B, Antovic A, Antovic J, et al. Atorvastatin reduces thrombin generation and expression of tissue factor, P-selectin and GPIIIa on platelet-derived microparticles in patients with peripheral arterial occlusive disease. *Thromb Haemost* (2011) 106:344–52. doi:10.1160/TH10-12-0810
- Wang JM, Yang Z, Xu MG, Chen L, Wang Y, Su C, et al. Berberine-induced decline in circulating CD31+/CD42- microparticles is associated with improvement of endothelial function in humans. *Eur J Pharmacol* (2009) 614:77–83. doi:10.1016/j.ejphar.2009.04.037
- Cheng F, Wang Y, Li J, Su C, Wu F, Xia WH, et al. Berberine improves endothelial function by reducing endothelial microparticles-mediated oxidative stress in humans. *Int J Cardiol* (2013) 167:936–42. doi:10.1016/j. ijcard.2012.03.090
- 236. Zu L, Ren C, Pan B, Zhou B, Zhou E, Niu C, et al. Endothelial microparticles after antihypertensive and lipid-lowering therapy inhibit the adhesion of monocytes to endothelial cells. *Int J Cardiol* (2016) 202:756–9. doi:10.1016/j. ijcard.2015.10.035
- 237. Goto S, Tamura N, Li M, Handa M, Ikeda Y, Handa S, et al. Different effects of various anti-GPIIb-IIIa agents on shear-induced platelet activation and expression of procoagulant activity. *J Thromb Haemost* (2003) 1:2022–30. doi:10.1046/j.1538-7836.2003.00349.x
- Morel O, Hugel B, Jesel L, Mallat Z, Lanza F, Douchet MP, et al. Circulating procoagulant microparticles and soluble GPV in myocardial infarction treated by primary percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty. A possible role for GPIIb-IIIa antagonists. *J Thromb Haemost* (2004) 2:1118–26. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2004.00805.x

- Judge HM, Buckland RJ, Sugidachi A, Jakubowski JA, Storey RF. Relationship between degree of P2Y12 receptor blockade and inhibition of P2Y12mediated platelet function. *Thromb Haemost* (2010) 103:1210–7. doi:10.1160/ TH09-11-0770
- 240. Franca CN, Pinheiro LF, Izar MC, Brunialti MK, Salomao R, Bianco HT, et al. Endothelial progenitor cell mobilization and platelet microparticle release are influenced by clopidogrel plasma levels in stable coronary artery disease. *Circ J* (2012) 76:729–36. doi:10.1253/circj.CJ-11-1145
- Bulut D, Becker V, Mugge A. Acetylsalicylate reduces endothelial and platelet-derived microparticles in patients with coronary artery disease. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* (2011) 89:239–44. doi:10.1139/y11-013
- Skeppholm M, Mobarrez F, Malmqvist K, Wallen H. Platelet-derived microparticles during and after acute coronary syndrome. *Thromb Haemost* (2012) 107:1122–9. doi:10.1160/TH11-11-0779
- 243. Lubsczyk B, Kollars M, Hron G, Kyrle PA, Weltermann A, Gartner V. Low dose acetylsalicylic acid and shedding of microparticles in vivo in humans. *Eur J Clin Invest* (2010) 40:477–82. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2362.2010.02299.x
- 244. Chiva-Blanch G, Suades R, Padro T, Vilahur G, Pena E, Ybarra J, et al. Microparticle shedding by erythrocytes, monocytes and vascular smooth muscular cells is reduced by aspirin in diabetic patients. *Rev Esp Cardiol (Engl Ed)* (2016) 69(7):672–80. doi:10.1016/j.rec.2015.12.033
- Labios M, Martinez M, Gabriel F, Guiral V, Munoz A, Aznar J. Effect of eprosartan on cytoplasmic free calcium mobilization, platelet activation, and microparticle formation in hypertension. *Am J Hypertens* (2004) 17:757–63. doi:10.1016/j.amjhyper.2004.05.010
- 246. Nomura S, Inami N, Kimura Y, Omoto S, Shouzu A, Nishikawa M, et al. Effect of nifedipine on adiponectin in hypertensive patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *J Hum Hypertens* (2007) 21:38–44. doi:10.1038/sj.jhh. 1002100
- 247. Morel O, Jesel L, Hugel B, Douchet MP, Zupan M, Chauvin M, et al. Protective effects of vitamin C on endothelium damage and platelet activation during myocardial infarction in patients with sustained generation of circulating microparticles. *J Thromb Haemost* (2003) 1:171–7. doi:10.1046/j.1538-7836.2003.00010.x
- 248. Kagawa H, Nomura S, Nagahama M, Ozaki Y, Fukuhara S. Effect of bezafibrate on soluble adhesion molecules and platelet activation markers in patients with connective tissue diseases and secondary hyperlipidemia. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* (2001) 7:153–7. doi:10.1177/107602960100700213
- Esposito K, Ciotola M, Giugliano D. Pioglitazone reduces endothelial microparticles in the metabolic syndrome. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2006) 26:1926. doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000231512.15115.25
- 250. Nebor D, Romana M, Santiago R, Vachiery N, Picot J, Broquere C, et al. Fetal hemoglobin and hydroxycarbamide modulate both plasma concentration and cellular origin of circulating microparticles in sickle cell anemia children. *Haematologica* (2013) 98(6):862–7. doi:10.3324/haematol.2012.073619
- 251. Weitz IC, Razavi P, Rochanda L, Zwicker J, Furie B, Manly D, et al. Eculizumab therapy results in rapid and sustained decreases in markers of thrombin generation and inflammation in patients with PNH independent of its effects on hemolysis and microparticle formation. *Thromb Res* (2012) 130:361–8. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2012.04.001
- Diamant M, Tushuizen ME, Abid-Hussein MN, Hau CM, Boing AN, Sturk A, et al. Simvastatin-induced endothelial cell detachment and microparticle release are prenylation dependent. *Thromb Haemost* (2008) 100(3):489–97. doi:10.1160/TH07-12-0760
- 253. Mobarrez F, Egberg N, Antovic J, Broijersen A, Jorneskog G, Wallen H. Release of endothelial microparticles in vivo during atorvastatin treatment; a randomized double-blind placebo-controlled study. *Thromb Res* (2012) 129:95–7. doi:10.1016/j.thromres.2011.09.027
- 254. Tramontano AF, O'Leary J, Black AD, Muniyappa R, Cutaia MV, El-Sherif N. Statin decreases endothelial microparticle release from human coronary artery endothelial cells: implication for the Rho-kinase pathway. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2004) 320:34–8. doi:10.1016/j. bbrc.2004.05.127
- 255. Suades R, Padro T, Alonso R, Mata P, Badimon L. Lipid-lowering therapy with statins reduces microparticle shedding from endothelium, platelets and inflammatory cells. *Thromb Haemost* (2013) 110:366–77. doi:10.1160/ TH13-03-0238
- 256. Pawelczyk M, Chmielewski H, Kaczorowska B, Przybyla M, Baj Z. The influence of statin therapy on platelet activity markers in hyperlipidemic

patients after ischemic stroke. Arch Med Sci (2015) 11:115–21. doi:10.5114/ aoms.2015.49216

- 257. Nomura S, Shouzu A, Omoto S, Nishikawa M, Fukuhara S, Iwasaka T. Losartan and simvastatin inhibit platelet activation in hypertensive patients. *J Thromb Thrombolysis* (2004) 18:177–85. doi:10.1007/s11239-005-0343-8
- 258. Tehrani S, Mobarrez F, Antovic A, Santesson P, Lins PE, Adamson U, et al. Atorvastatin has antithrombotic effects in patients with type 1 diabetes and dyslipidemia. *Thromb Res* (2010) 126:e225–31. doi:10.1016/j. thromres.2010.05.023
- 259. Lins LC, Franca CN, Fonseca FA, Barbosa SP, Matos LN, Aguirre AC, et al. Effects of Ezetimibe on endothelial progenitor cells and microparticles in high-risk patients. *Cell Biochem Biophys* (2014) 70(1):687–96. doi:10.1007/ s12013-014-9973-9
- 260. Ferreira CE, Franca CN, Izar MC, Camargo LM, Roman RM, Fonseca FA. High-intensity statin monotherapy versus moderate-intensity statin plus ezetimibe therapy: effects on vascular biomarkers. *Int J Cardiol* (2014) 180:78–9. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2014.11.177
- 261. van Dommelen SM, Vader P, Lakhal S, Kooijmans SA, Van Solinge WW, Wood MJ, et al. Microvesicles and exosomes: opportunities for cell-derived membrane vesicles in drug delivery. *J Control Release* (2011) 161:635–44. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2011.11.021
- 262. Timmers L, Lim SK, Arslan F, Armstrong JS, Hoefer IE, Doevendans PA, et al. Reduction of myocardial infarct size by human mesenchymal stem cell conditioned medium. *Stem Cell Res* (2007) 1:129–37. doi:10.1016/j. scr.2008.02.002
- 263. Timmers L, Lim SK, Hoefer IE, Arslan F, Lai RC, Van Oorschot AA, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cell-conditioned medium improves cardiac function following myocardial infarction. *Stem Cell Res* (2011) 6:206–14. doi:10.1016/j.scr.2011.01.001
- 264. Kervadec A, Bellamy V, El Harane N, Arakelian L, Vanneaux V, Cacciapuoti I, et al. Cardiovascular progenitor-derived extracellular vesicles recapitulate the beneficial effects of their parent cells in the treatment of chronic heart failure. *J Heart Lung Transplant* (2016) 35:795–807. doi:10.1016/j.healun.2016.01.013
- 265. Ratajczak MZ, Ratajczak J. Horizontal transfer of RNA and proteins between cells by extracellular microvesicles: 14 years later. *Clin Transl Med* (2016) 5:7. doi:10.1186/s40169-016-0087-4
- 266. Gatti S, Bruno S, Deregibus MC, Sordi A, Cantaluppi V, Tetta C, et al. Microvesicles derived from human adult mesenchymal stem cells

protect against ischaemia-reperfusion-induced acute and chronic kidney injury. *Nephrol Dial Transplant* (2011) 26:1474–83. doi:10.1093/ndt/ gfr015

- 267. Wang Y, Wei S, Wang YL, Liu M, Shang M, Zhang Q, et al. Protective effects of circulating microvesicles derived from myocardial ischemic rats on apoptosis of cardiomyocytes in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8(33):54572–82. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.17424
- 268. Malliaras K, Makkar RR, Smith RR, Cheng K, Wu E, Bonow RO, et al. Intracoronary cardiosphere-derived cells after myocardial infarction: evidence of therapeutic regeneration in the final 1-year results of the CADUCEUS trial (CArdiosphere-Derived aUtologous stem CElls to reverse ventricUlar dySfunction). J Am Coll Cardiol (2014) 63:110–22. doi:10.1016/j. jacc.2013.08.724
- 269. Gallet R, Dawkins J, Valle J, Simsolo E, De Couto G, Middleton R, et al. Exosomes secreted by cardiosphere-derived cells reduce scarring, attenuate adverse remodelling, and improve function in acute and chronic porcine myocardial infarction. *Eur Heart J* (2017) 38:201–11. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ ehw240
- 270. Getts DR, Terry RL, Getts MT, Deffrasnes C, Muller M, Van Vreden C, et al. Therapeutic inflammatory monocyte modulation using immune-modifying microparticles. *Sci Transl Med* (2014) 6:219ra217. doi:10.1126/ scitranslmed.3007563
- 271. Wiklander OP, Nordin JZ, O'Loughlin A, Gustafsson Y, Corso G, Mager I, et al. Extracellular vesicle in vivo biodistribution is determined by cell source, route of administration and targeting. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2015) 4:26316. doi:10.3402/jev.v4.26316

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Badimon, Suades, Arderiu, Peña, Chiva-Blanch and Padró. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Message in a Microbottle: Modulation of Vascular Inflammation and Atherosclerosis by Extracellular Vesicles

Emiel P. C. van der Vorst^{1,2*}, Renske J. de Jong³ and Marjo M. P. C. Donners^{1,4*}

¹ DZHK (German Centre for Cardiovascular Research), Partner Site Munich Heart Alliance, Munich, Germany, ² Institute for Cardiovascular Prevention, Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich, Munich, Germany, ³ Center of Allergy Environment (ZAUM), Helmholtz Center, TU Munich, Neuherberg, Germany, ⁴ Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht (CARIM), Maastricht University, Maastricht, Netherlands

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rory R. Koenen, Maastricht University, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Bernhard H. Rauch, University of Greifswald, Germany Christina Bursill, South Australian Health and Medical Research Institute, Australia Teresa Padro, Centre d'Investigació Cardiovascular (CSIC), Spain

*Correspondence:

Emiel P. C. van der Vorst emiel.van_der_vorst@ med.uni-muenchen.de; Marjo M. P. C. Donners marjo.donners@ maastrichtuniversity.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Atherosclerosis and Vascular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

Received: 01 October 2017 Accepted: 03 January 2018 Published: 22 January 2018

Citation:

van der Vorst EPC, de Jong RJ and Donners MMPC (2018) Message in a Microbottle: Modulation of Vascular Inflammation and Atherosclerosis by Extracellular Vesicles. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:2. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00002 Extracellular vesicles (EVs) have emerged as a novel intercellular communication system. By carrying bioactive lipids, miRNAs and proteins they can modulate target cell functions and phenotype. Circulating levels of EVs are increased in inflammatory conditions, e.g., cardiovascular disease patients, and their functional contribution to atherosclerotic disease development is currently heavily studied. This review will describe how EVs can modulate vascular cell functions relevant to vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis, particularly highlighting the role of EV-associated proteolytic activity and effector proteins involved. Furthermore, we will discuss key questions and challenges, especially for EV-based therapeutics.

Keywords: extracellular vesicles, vascular inflammation, atherosclerosis, proteolytic activity, challenges

INTRODUCTION

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) play a crucial physiological and pathophysiological role, as they have been identified as regulators of cell-to-cell communication (1).

Extracellular vesicles are small spherical vesicles, consisting of a lipid bilayer membrane encasing a small organelle-free cytosol, that are released by cells into the extracellular environment (2). It has been shown that most cell types can release EVs, originating from various subcellular membrane compartments (3). Nowadays, EVs are generally classified into three main classes, i.e., exosomes, microvesicles (MVs), and apoptotic bodies (3). Exosomes arise from intracellular compartments called multivesicular bodies (MVBs) and are released by an active process, leading to fusion of these MVBs with the plasma membrane (4). Exosomes typically have a size of 30-100 nm, i.e., representing the smallest subgroup of EVs, and are enriched for tetraspanins (CD9, CD63, and CD81) or other markers, such as flotillin and tumor susceptibility gene 101, which are often used to distinguish them from other populations of EVs (5). The second class of EVs is MVs, which are typically larger in size (ranging from 100 to 1,000 nm) and are produced by budding off directly from the plasma membrane in a process called microvesiculation (5). Microvesiculation involves the externalization of phosphatidylserine (PS) followed by cytoskeleton rearrangement and the formation of membrane curvatures (6, 7). Therefore, MVs membranes are also enriched in PS (detectable by Annexin A5) and the membrane composition resembles that of the parental cell (8). The third type of EVs is apoptotic bodies with a size of $>1 \,\mu\text{m}$. These vesicles are released from apoptotic cells through membrane blebbing and therefore contain apoptotic nuclear material (9).

However, although the field is rapidly evolving, it is still quite challenging to specifically isolate, characterize, and classify the different populations of vesicles as discussed below.

Extracellular vesicles can cargo a large variety of biomolecules, such as various DNA, RNA, and microRNA species, bioactive lipids, and proteins. The latter include receptor ligands, by which EVs can interact with target cells (2), and proteolytically active enzymes, by which these vesicles can influence many cellular functions (10). This review will give a brief overview on how EVs can modulate vascular cell functions relevant to vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis, particularly highlighting the role of EV-associated proteolytic activity and effector proteins involved. Furthermore, we will discuss key questions and challenges, especially for EV-based therapeutics.

EVs IN VASCULAR INFLAMMATION AND ATHEROSCLEROSIS

Recent years, great efforts have already been made to elucidate the role of EVs in cardiovascular diseases (CVDs), which is still the major cause of mortality worldwide. CVDs are mainly caused by atherosclerosis, a chronic inflammatory disease initiated by a continuous damage of the vascular endothelium leading to endothelial dysfunction (11). It has already been clearly shown that inflammation and endothelial injury augment the release of EVs (12, 13), generally reflecting the pro-inflammatory state of the parental cell. In addition, EVs influence thrombus formation which can occur after plaque rupture (3). Indeed, atherosclerotic lesions contain and release EVs, derived from leukocytes, platelets, smooth muscle cells (SMCs), and endothelial cells, during all stages of atherosclerosis development (14, 15) (Figure 1). As a consequence, patients with CVD mediated by endothelial damage show significantly elevated levels of circulating cell-derived EVs (16). This observation has therefore also been the starting point to investigate EVs as potential prognostic and diagnostic biomarkers. While most research has focused on the presence and function of MVs, also exosomes have been observed in human atherosclerotic lesions (17), although their functional roles remain largely unexplored.



FIGURE 1 | Reported roles of EVs in vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis. Brief schematic representation of the reported effects of circulating cell-derived and plaque-derived EVs on different processes in atherosclerosis development. The mentioned effector molecules are merely examples, and it should be noted that many more exist. White vesicles are of unknown origin/parental cell. EC, endothelial cell; EV, extracellular vesicle. Please refer to **Table 1** for more detailed information.

Several in vitro studies clearly show that platelet and leukocyte-derived MVs from unstimulated cells increase the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines from endothelial cells and leukocytes, especially interleukin (IL)-6 and IL-8 (18, 19). Release of these cytokines will inherently promote monocyte adhesion to the endothelium and migration into the atherosclerotic lesions. MVs released from human atherosclerotic plaques were shown to increase the expression of endothelial adhesion molecules such as intercellular adhesion molecule 1 and monocyte adhesion molecule receptors, like CD11a, thereby further augmenting monocyte adhesion (18, 20). Furthermore, CCL5 (RANTES) is transferred from healthy platelet MVs to activated endothelial cells and can thereby enhance leukocyte adhesion (21). Endothelial and leukocyte MVs have also been shown to induce endothelial cell dysfunction, by decreasing the production of nitric oxide (NO) (22, 23). This is the result of an inhibition of the endothelial NO synthase and/or an increase in caveolin-1, increasing local oxidative stress (24, 25). Besides this mediator, MVs can act as potential markers of endothelial dysfunction, as nicely reviewed in Ref. (26). Together, these data clearly show that MVs, derived from various (vascular) cell types, can greatly influence the initiation of atherosclerosis development.

Microvesicles derived from macrophages and fibroblasts have also been implicated in later stages of lesion development, as they can stimulate foam cell formation by lipid/cholesterol uptake in macrophages (27). Furthermore, several reports have indicated that T cell-derived MVs can contribute to monocyte and macrophage apoptosis, via two proposed mechanisms (28, 29). The first mechanism involves the phagocytosis of MVs by monocytes and macrophages, leading to an increased cellular content of membrane phospholipids. These phospholipids are likely cleaved by phospholipase A2 into arachidonic acid, which will subsequently result in an increased amount of proapoptotic ceramides inside the cells (28, 29). The second mechanism involves MVs containing caspase-1 or caspase-3, which can induce target cell apoptosis (30, 31). Several studies have shown that MVs also play an important role in lymphocytes, as both human atherosclerotic plaque and in vitro generated dendritic cell MVs can stimulate T cell proliferation (32, 33). Most likely this influence is mediated by the presence of major histocompatibility complex class II presence on the MVs secreted from macrophages and dendritic cells (32). Furthermore, endothelial cell-derived MVs can promote lymphocyte differentiation toward a more proatherogenic T helper-1 phenotype as shown by priming of naive T cells with dendritic cells which were matured with endothelial MVs (34). On their turn, activated T cells release MVs that can induce mast cell activation, degranulation, and cytokine release (35). Mast cells are also present in the arterial wall, where they can contribute to atherosclerosis development (36).

Furthermore, MVs have significant effects on plaque stability as they can influence SMC proliferation and migration, *via* protease-activated receptor interaction or various microRNAs (37, 38). In addition, plaque MVs can contribute to matrix degradation as they contain several active proteases (39), which will be discussed in more detail later. This influence on matrix degradation is also one of the mechanisms by which MVs could potentially contribute to intraplaque neovascularization. It has also been shown that human plaque MVs can increase endothelial proliferation, a crucial step in neovascularization, *in vitro* as well as *in vivo* in matrigel plugs (40). During human atherosclerosis development, intimal calcification occurs at different stages of lesion development (41). Moreover, endothelial, SMC, and macrophage-derived EVs are present at the sites of calcification (3), nicely reviewed in Ref. (42). EVs released from SMCs have the potential to stimulate calcification by these same SMCs, mediated by sortilin-dependent regulation of alkaline phosphatase trafficking (43). In addition, EVs enriched in bone morphogenetic protein 2 released from endothelial cells can promote calcification in vascular SMCs (44).

In the latest stages of atherosclerosis, i.e., plaque rupture and thrombosis, MVs can also play an important role. MVs/EVs carry various proteolytic factors that likely contribute to matrix degradation, as shown in cancer (45) and could thereby potentially also influence plaque destabilization. In addition, human plaque MVs have been shown to be particularly prothrombogenic (15). Plaque MVs can contribute to the coagulation pathway *via* two different pathways: the presence of tissue factor on the surface of MVs and the exposure of PS on the outer membrane layer (3, 46). In contrast to MVs, exosomes seem to have antithrombotic effects. Platelet aggregation was suppressed by platelet-derived exosomes by inhibiting platelet CD36 (47). The procoagulant role of MVs is more elaborately reviewed in Ref. (48).

Besides communication between different cells within an atherosclerotic plaque, it is generally assumed that EVs, as they are relatively stable, mediate cross talk with cells at relatively large distances. This is particularly relevant for CVDs, which is widely acknowledged to be a systemic disease, and the basis for the "vulnerable patient concept" (49, 50). Indeed, it has already been long recognized that clinical symptoms in CVD patients (e.g., myocardial infarction or stroke) are often followed by secondary CVD events. Moreover, CVDs are often associated with several comorbidities, e.g., diabetes, chronic kidney disease, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis, small cerebral vessel disease, and heart failure. It is likely, yet it remains to be determined, that EVs play a crucial role in this systemic intercellular communication.

PROTEOLYTIC ENZYMES/EFFECTOR MOLECULES IN EVs

Extracellular vesicles are known to carry a large amount of bioactive molecules, including proteins/enzymes. Still, relatively little is known on the influence of various (atherogenic) stimuli on EV composition and thus EV function. Proteomic analysis recently identified several proteolytical enzymes in EVs, such as the cell surface-bound sheddases a disintegrin and metalloproteinases (ADAMs), soluble ADAMs with thrombospondin motifs (ADAMTSs), as well as cell surface-bound and soluble matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) (51).

A disintegrin and metalloproteinases are involved in ectodomain shedding of various transmembrane proteins, thereby regulating cell adhesion, migration, and cell-cell communication (52).

ADAM10 and ADAM17 are the best studied members of this family. ADAM17 is considered the primary enzyme for shedding of tumor necrosis factor (TNF), and its receptors (TNFR1 and 2), and the epidermal growth factor receptor ligands (53). On the other hand, ADAM10 is physiologically critical for Notch signaling via receptor cleavage (54). ADAMs have been reported to mediate various exosome/MV functions, e.g., by cleavage of EV surface molecules, releasing them as soluble factors in the target cell microenvironment. Indeed, ADAM17 is present on MVs released from atherosclerotic lesions and shown to cleave pro-TNF from these vesicles, which could provide a means to locally release pro-inflammatory mediators at large distances from the cell/site from which the MVs are released (39). In addition, plaque MVs have been shown to increase the shedding of TNF and its receptor (TNFR) from the surface of endothelial cells in an ADAM17-dependent manner (39), further supporting a role for ADAM17⁺ MVs in the regulation of (systemic) vascular inflammation.

Little is known on the role of other EV-associated ADAMs in relation to atherosclerosis. In exosomes, secreted from ovarian carcinoma cells, especially ADAM10 has been shown to be crucially involved in the cleavage of CD171 (L1) and CD44 (55), two important cell adhesion molecules. Cleavage did not only occur in the released exosomes but also already in the earlier phases of vesicle formation in the endosomal compartment. ADAM17 is also able to cleave CD171, although this occurs only at the cell surface demonstrating that different ADAMs are involved in distinct cellular compartments (55), and thus potentially in different EV populations. Other ADAMs such as ADAM15 (56), have also been identified in exosomes. Tumor cell-derived exosomes, enriched in ADAM15, display a high binding affinity for integrin $\alpha v\beta 3$ and suppress cell adhesion, migration and growth (56). Exosomes derived from macrophages have also been shown to express ADAM15 and demonstrate described tumor inhibitory effects (56). The functional contribution of ADAM proteases in EVs to CVD disease progression, however, remains to be determined.

ADAMs with thrombospondin motifs are relatively comparable to ADAMs, but have thrombospondin-like motifs instead of transmembrane and cytoplasmic domains and are therefore generally secreted as soluble proteins (45). A large subgroup of ADAMTSs is known as aggrecanases, because they can proteolytically cleave proteoglycans and are involved in cartilage degradation (57). This degradation of cartilage by aggrecanases has been associated with the progression of arthritis (58). Recently, it has been shown that rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts secrete MVs containing aggrecanase activity, most likely mediated by ADAMTS1, ADAMTS4, or ADAMTS5 (59). Synovial fluids in rheumatoid arthritis also contain T cell- and monocyte-derived MVs, which can induce the synthesis of several MMPs in fibroblasts (60). Considering the role of various ADAMTS proteases in inflammation and vascular biology (61, 62), it is likely that EV-associated ADAMTSs are implicated in CVD. However, there are no clear indications for such a role of ADAMTSs in EVs in other pathologies, such as CVDs, yet.

Matrix metalloproteinases are a family of zinc-dependent endopeptidases, which are also crucial to extracellular matrix degradation and cleavage of surface proteins. It has already been shown that EVs released from mouse melanoma cells and human colorectal carcinoma cells have gelatinolytic and collagenolytic activity, indicating the presence of active MMPs (63, 64). Indeed, more recently several MMPs have been detected in EVs derived from tumor cells (45). Interestingly, there is also a positive correlation between the quantity of shed vesicles, the amount of vesicle bound lytic enzymes and the *in vitro* invasive capability of different human cancer cell lines (65). Since MMPs also play a role in CVD (66), a role of MMPs in EVs in CVD can be expected but has surprisingly not been evaluated so far.

CLINICAL POTENTIAL AND CHALLENGES

Targeting EVs seems like a promising novel therapeutic option, where EVs containing RNA, DNA, or proteins involved in disease pathogenesis can be blocked. Blockage of EVs and especially the delivery of their cargo to the target cell can be achieved in various ways, e.g., by inhibiting the vesicle release, uptake or formation [reviewed by El Andaloussi et al. (67)]. Vesicle formation can be suppressed by inhibiting crucial cellular compartments, for instance by ceramide or syndecan proteoglycans blockage. Furthermore, the release of vesicles can be blocked by inhibiting GTPases, which are needed for the fusion of MVBs with the plasma membrane. In addition, EVs could be used as therapeutic delivery tools. For this purpose, both endogenously produced EVs and EVs, which are deliberately packaged with specific components can be used (68). For example, a recent proof of concept study has shown that EVs could deliver specific siRNA to mouse brains (69). In the context of CVD, a recent study has shown that in vitro generated endothelial EVs could reduce atherosclerosis formation by the transfer of miRNAs (38). The first clinical trials using EVs have also already been started in the field of antitumor immunotherapy. Two separate phase I trials used Good Manufacturing Practice compatible protocols to isolate EVs from dendritic cells and could show a good feasibility and safety of EV administration in patients (70). The phase II trial that followed unfortunately did not give the expected positive outcomes, but combined these results clearly show the therapeutic potential of EVs.

In addition to their therapeutic use, EVs could also be used as biomarkers as they are also found in several body fluids, such as blood (71) and urine (72), making them easily accessible for prognostic or diagnostic purposes. Emphasizing the prognostic potential, it has already been shown that Cystatin C, Serpin F2, and CD14 MV levels correlate with an increased risk for cardiovascular event and mortality (73). In addition, miRNA content of EVs has already been clearly linked with disease outcome (74). More details about the clinical potential of EVs and their use as biomarkers are recently elaborately reviewed in Ref. (75).

The field of EV research is rapidly progressing, although the EV research complexity and challenges are still considerable (76). EVs represent a very heterogeneous population, both in size and composition. This has led to some confusing and variable nomenclature, although as described before some consensus has already been achieved. Another major difficulty is the presence of non-EV components in preparations of EVs, which have

TABLE 1 | Summarizing described studies supporting the role of EVs in vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis.

Cell origin	Species origin	Study type	Activation stimuli	Main findings	Reference
ECs	Mouse/ human	Ex vivo/in vitro	n.a.	MVs attenuate EC-mediated vasodilation ex vivo and reduced NO release in vitro	(24)
ECs	Human	In vitro/in vivo	Hydrogen peroxide	Elevated levels of CD144 ⁺ EVs reflect EC injury <i>in vitro</i> and correlate with CVD risk <i>in vivo</i>	(16)
ECs	Human	In vitro/in vivo	n.a.	MVs correlate with decreased arterial function <i>in vivo</i> and decreased NO release <i>in vitro</i>	(22)
ECs	Human	Ex vivo	n.a.	MVs impaired vasorelaxation and NO production by rat aortic rings	(23)
ECs	Human	In vivo/in vitro	High glucose	MVs derived from high-glucose ECs impaired endothelial function and increased macrophage infiltration after injection into mice and increased NADPH oxidase activity and ROS levels <i>in vitro</i> (compared with MVs from untreated ECs)	(25)
ECs	Human	In vitro	Various apoptosis inducer	MVs from apoptotic ECs contain caspase-3	(30)
ECs	Human	In vitro	TNF	DCs matured with MVs resulted in priming of naïve T cells toward more proatherogenic T helper-1 phenotype	(34)
ECs	Human	In vitro/in vivo	KLF2 or shear stress	EVs are enriched in miR-143/145 and control SMC gene expression and phenotype <i>in vitro</i> and reduce atherosclerotic lesion formation in mice	(38)
ECs	Human	In vitro	TNF	EVs enriched in bone morphogenetic protein 2 promote calcification in SMCs	(46)
SMCs	Human	In vitro	n.a.	EVs stimulate calcification of SMCs in a sortilin-dependent manner	(45)
PMNs	Human	In vitro	Formyl peptide and phorbol ester	MVs stimulate EC activation and cytokine release	(19)
Monocytes	Human	In vitro	Endotoxin	Monocyte-derived MVs contain caspase-1 and induce cell death of SMCs	(31)
Fibroblasts	Mouse	In vitro	n.a.	MVs stimulate macrophage foam cell formation, which is enhanced by TLR stimulation	(27)
DCs	Human	In vitro	LPS	Released MVs from activated DCs can fuse with resting DCs and activate T cells	(33)
T cells	Human	In vitro	Apoptosis inducers	MVs increase macrophage apoptosis and stimulated macrophage MV release	(28)
T cells	Human	In vitro	IL-2	MVs perturb lipid homeostasis of macrophages and thereby induce apoptosis	(29)
T cells	Human	In vitro	PMA	T cells release MVs that induce mast cell activation, degranulation and cytokine release	
Platelets	Human	In vitro	n.a.	MVs increased monocyte adhesion to ECs and chemotaxis	(18)
Platelets	Human	In vitro	n.a.	MVs enhance monocyte rolling/arrest by depositing RANTES on ECs	(21)
Platelets	Human	In vitro	Thrombin	Exosomes inhibit atherothrombotic processes by reducing CD36-dependent lipid loading of macrophages and by suppressing platelet thrombosis	(49)
Plaques	Human	Ex vivo	n.a.	MV are more abundant and thrombogenic in plaques compared with plasma	(15)
Plaques	Human	Ex vivo	n.a.	First ultrastructural evidence of plaque exosomes	(17)
Plaques	Human	Ex vivo	n.a.	MVs stimulate intercellular adhesion molecule 1-dependent monocyte adhesion	(20)
Plaques	Human	In vitro	n.a.	MVs express MHC-I and MHC-II and induce T cell proliferation	(32)
Plaques	Human	In vitro	n.a.	ADAM17, present on plaque MVs cleaves pro-TNF from these vesicles Plaque MVs increase TNF shedding and its receptor (TNFR) from ECs	(40)
Plaques	Human	In vitro/in vivo	n.a.	MVs increased EC proliferation <i>in vitro</i> and stimulated <i>in vivo</i> angiogenesis in matrigel assays in mice	(41)
Plaques	Human	Ex vivo	n.a.	Plaque MVs contribute to the coagulation pathway <i>via</i> two different pathways: the presence of tissue factor on the surface of MVs and the exposure of PS	(48)
Plasma	Human	Ex vivo	n.a.	Cystatin C, Serpin F2, and CD14 MV levels correlate with an increased risk for cardiovascular event and mortality	(75)
Plasma	Human	Ex vivo	n.a.	MVs containing miR-126 and miR-199a predict the occurrence of cardiovascular events	(76)

DC, dendritic cell; EC, endothelial cell; KLF2, Krüppel-like factor 2; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; MHC, major histocompatibility complex; MV, microvesicle; NO, nitric oxide; PMA, 4-beta-phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate; PMN, polymorphonuclear leukocytes; PS, phosphatidylserine; SMC, smooth muscle cell; TLR, toll-like receptor; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; EV, extracellular vesicle; IL, interleukin; n.a., not applicable.

comparable features (77). Currently, various isolation methods are used to isolate EV subtypes, such as differential (ultra)centrifugation, density gradient centrifugation, size exclusion chromatography, and immunocapture. All of these methods result in EV preparations of different composition and especially purity. For example, ultracentrifugation not only pellets EVs but also protein aggregates, while lipoproteins have similar size and density as EVs and are therefore often co-isolated (78). Recently, more confounding factors of ultrafiltration and protein analysis have been identified (79). Since, these different methods have not yet been tested side by side on a single EV sample, reliable quantitative comparisons regarding recovery and purity are difficult. Another interesting point that needs consideration is the influence of medication on EVs. For example, several antiplatelets agents, such as aspirin, can inhibit platelet activation and the related release of MVs (3). Antihypertensive agents have also been shown to reduce circulating platelet- and monocyte-derived MVs (3). In addition, statin therapy influences the composition of endothelial MVs (80). Besides the variety in contaminating factors in the different isolation methods, another major limitation is the unstandardized and often inadequate reporting on the specific methods used. Previously, the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles already introduced the minimal information for studies on EVs guidelines (81). More recently, to further improve the reliability of EV-related data/publications an international consortium developed the EV-TRACK (transparent reporting and centralizing knowledge in EV research) platform (82). This platform urges researchers to report more specific and detailed parameters which are necessary to fully interpret the obtained data and compare different studies. In addition, a recent review gives some methodological guidelines to study EVs (83). All these efforts clearly show the intention

REFERENCES

- Lee Y, El Andaloussi S, Wood MJ. Exosomes and microvesicles: extracellular vesicles for genetic information transfer and gene therapy. *Hum Mol Genet* (2012) 21:R125–34. doi:10.1093/hmg/dds317
- Mulcahy LA, Pink RC, Carter DR. Routes and mechanisms of extracellular vesicle uptake. J Extracel Vesicles (2014) 3(1):24641. doi:10.3402/jev.v3.24641
- Boulanger CM, Loyer X, Rautou PE, Amabile N. Extracellular vesicles in coronary artery disease. Nat Rev Cardiol (2017) 14:259–72. doi:10.1038/ nrcardio.2017.7
- 4. Raposo G, Stoorvogel W. Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. *J Cell Biol* (2013) 200:373–83. doi:10.1083/jcb.201211138
- Chistiakov DA, Orekhov AN, Bobryshev YV. Extracellular vesicles and atherosclerotic disease. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2015) 72:2697–708. doi:10.1007/ s00018-015-1906-2
- Morel O, Jesel L, Freyssinet JM, Toti F. Cellular mechanisms underlying the formation of circulating microparticles. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2011) 31:15–26. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.200956
- Muralidharan-Chari V, Clancy JW, Sedgwick A, D'Souza-Schorey C. Microvesicles: mediators of extracellular communication during cancer progression. *J Cell Sci* (2010) 123:1603–11. doi:10.1242/jcs.064386
- Camussi G, Deregibus MC, Bruno S, Grange C, Fonsato V, Tetta C. Exosome/ microvesicle-mediated epigenetic reprogramming of cells. *Am J Cancer Res* (2011) 1:98–110.
- 9. Castejon OJ, Arismendi GJ. Nerve cell death types in the edematous human cerebral cortex. *J Submicrosc Cytol Pathol* (2006) 38:21–36.
- Chistiakov DA, Chekhonin VP. Extracellular vesicles shed by glioma cells: pathogenic role and clinical value. *Tumour Biol* (2014) 35:8425–38. doi:10.1007/s13277-014-2262-9

to standardize EV procedures, which will also be necessary to advance this research field toward comparable/supportive studies, crucial to pave the way toward clinical trials.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

In the context of CVD and in particular atherosclerosis, a large variety of risk factors and contributing factors have already been identified and are currently targeted to treat this pathology, such as inflammatory molecules and lipids/lipoproteins. Although EVs have already been shown to be of crucial importance in the modulation of vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis (**Table 1**), at least *in vitro*, little is known on their therapeutic potential for CVD. Moreover, there are still several major limitations that should be overcome, such as detailed characterization and isolation procedures. Therefore, more preclinical studies are necessary before attempting to translate this research field to human medicine. In conclusion, EVs are promising targets for vascular inflammation and atherosclerosis and future research will further elucidate the full potential of such vesicles in disease prognosis, diagnosis and therapy.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EV and RJ: drafting the manuscript. MD: concept and design; drafting the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the DZHK (German Centre for Cardiovascular Research) and by the BMBF (German Ministry of Education and Research); Project 81X2600244.

- Libby P, Ridker PM, Maseri A. Inflammation and atherosclerosis. *Circulation* (2002) 105:1135–43. doi:10.1161/hc0902.104353
- Dignat-George F, Boulanger CM. The many faces of endothelial microparticles. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2011) 31:27–33. doi:10.1161/ ATVBAHA.110.218123
- 13. Libby P. Changing concepts of atherogenesis. *J Intern Med* (2000) 247:349–58. doi:10.1046/j.1365-2796.2000.00654.x
- Bobryshev YV, Killingsworth MC, Orekhov AN. Increased shedding of microvesicles from intimal smooth muscle cells in athero-prone areas of the human aorta: implications for understanding of the predisease stage. *Pathobiology* (2013) 80:24–31. doi:10.1159/000339430
- Leroyer AS, Isobe H, Lesèche G, Castier Y, Wassef M, Mallat Z, et al. Cellular origins and thrombogenic activity of microparticles isolated from human atherosclerotic plaques. *J Am Col Cardiol* (2007) 49:772–7. doi:10.1016/j. jacc.2006.10.053
- Koga H, Sugiyama S, Kugiyama K, Watanabe K, Fukushima H, Tanaka T, et al. Elevated levels of VE-cadherin-positive endothelial microparticles in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol (2005) 45:1622–30. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2005.02.047
- Perrotta I, Aquila S. Exosomes in human atherosclerosis: an ultrastructural analysis study. Ultrastruct Pathol (2016) 40:101–6. doi:10.3109/01913123.20 16.1154912
- Barry OP, Pratico D, Savani RC, FitzGerald GA. Modulation of monocyteendothelial cell interactions by platelet microparticles. *J Clin Invest* (1998) 102:136–44. doi:10.1172/JCI2592
- Mesri M, Altieri DC. Endothelial cell activation by leukocyte microparticles. *J Immunol* (1998) 161:4382–7.
- 20. Rautou PE, Leroyer AS, Ramkhelawon B, Devue C, Duflaut D, Vion AC, et al. Microparticles from human atherosclerotic plaques promote endothelial

ICAM-1-dependent monocyte adhesion and transendothelial migration. *Circ Res* (2011) 108:335–43. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.237420

- Mause SF, von Hundelshausen P, Zernecke A, Koenen RR, Weber C. Platelet microparticles: a transcellular delivery system for RANTES promoting monocyte recruitment on endothelium. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2005) 25:1512–8. doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000170133.43608.37
- Amabile N, Guérin AP, Leroyer A, Mallat Z, Nguyen C, Boddaert J, et al. Circulating endothelial microparticles are associated with vascular dysfunction in patients with end-stage renal failure. J Am Soc Nephrol (2005) 16:3381–8. doi:10.1681/ASN.2005050535
- Brodsky SV, Zhang F, Nasjletti A, Goligorsky MS. Endothelium-derived microparticles impair endothelial function in vitro. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* (2004) 286:H1910–5. doi:10.1152/ajpheart.01172.2003
- Densmore JC, Signorino PR, Ou J, Hatoum OA, Rowe JJ, Shi Y, et al. Endothelium-derived microparticles induce endothelial dysfunction and acute lung injury. *Shock* (2006) 26:464–71. doi:10.1097/01.shk.0000228791. 10550.36
- Jansen F, Yang X, Franklin BS, Hoelscher M, Schmitz T, Bedorf J, et al. High glucose condition increases NADPH oxidase activity in endothelial microparticles that promote vascular inflammation. *Cardiovasc Res* (2013) 98:94–106. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvt013
- Liu ML, Williams KJ. Microvesicles: potential markers and mediators of endothelial dysfunction. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes* (2012) 19:121–7. doi:10.1097/MED.0b013e32835057e9
- Keyel PA, Tkacheva OA, Larregina AT, Salter RD. Coordinate stimulation of macrophages by microparticles and TLR ligands induces foam cell formation. J Immunol (2012) 189:4621–9. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1200828
- Distler JH, Huber LC, Hueber AJ, Reich CF III, Gay S, Distler O, et al. The release of microparticles by apoptotic cells and their effects on macrophages. *Apoptosis* (2005) 10:731–41. doi:10.1007/s10495-005-2941-5
- Huber LC, Jüngel A, Distler JH, Moritz F, Gay RE, Michel BA, et al. The role of membrane lipids in the induction of macrophage apoptosis by microparticles. *Apoptosis* (2007) 12:363–74. doi:10.1007/s10495-006-0622-7
- Abid Hussein MN, Nieuwland R, Hau CM, Evers LM, Meesters EW, Sturk A. Cell-derived microparticles contain caspase 3 in vitro and in vivo. J Thromb Haemost (2005) 3:888–96. doi:10.1111/j.1538-7836.2005.01240.x
- Sarkar A, Mitra S, Mehta S, Raices R, Wewers MD. Monocyte derived microvesicles deliver a cell death message via encapsulated caspase-1. *PLoS* One (2009) 4:e7140. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0007140
- Mayr M, Grainger D, Mayr U, Leroyer AS, Leseche G, Sidibe A, et al. Proteomics, metabolomics, and immunomics on microparticles derived from human atherosclerotic plaques. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet* (2009) 2:379–88. doi:10.1161/CIRCGENETICS.108.842849
- Obregon C, Rothen-Rutishauser B, Gitahi SK, Gehr P, Nicod LP. Exovesicles from human activated dendritic cells fuse with resting dendritic cells, allowing them to present alloantigens. *Am J Pathol* (2006) 169:2127–36. doi:10.2353/ ajpath.2006.060453
- Angelot F, Seillès E, Biichlé S, Berda Y, Gaugler B, Plumas J, et al. Endothelial cell-derived microparticles induce plasmacytoid dendritic cell maturation: potential implications in inflammatory diseases. *Haematologica* (2009) 94:1502–12. doi:10.3324/haematol.2009.010934
- Shefler I, Salamon P, Reshef T, Mor A, Mekori YA. T cell-induced mast cell activation: a role for microparticles released from activated T cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 185:4206–12. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000409
- Tedgui A, Mallat Z. Cytokines in atherosclerosis: pathogenic and regulatory pathways. *Physiol Rev* (2006) 86:515–81. doi:10.1152/physrev.00024.2005
- Brousseau C, Morissette G, Fortin JP, Marceau F, Petitclerc E. Tumor cells expressing tissue factor influence the migration of smooth muscle cells in a catalytic activity-dependent way. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* (2009) 87:694–701. doi:10.1139/y09-063
- Hergenreider E, Heydt S, Tréguer K, Boettger T, Horrevoets AJ, Zeiher AM, et al. Atheroprotective communication between endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells through miRNAs. *Nat Cell Biol* (2012) 14:249–56. doi:10.1038/ ncb2441
- Canault M, Leroyer AS, Peiretti F, Lesèche G, Tedgui A, Bonardo B, et al. Microparticles of human atherosclerotic plaques enhance the shedding of the tumor necrosis factor-alpha converting enzyme/ADAM17 substrates, tumor necrosis factor and tumor necrosis factor receptor-1. *Am J Pathol* (2007) 171:1713–23. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2007.070021

- Leroyer AS, Rautou PE, Silvestre JS, Castier Y, Lesèche G, Devue C, et al. CD40 ligand+ microparticles from human atherosclerotic plaques stimulate endothelial proliferation and angiogenesis a potential mechanism for intraplaque neovascularization. *J Am Coll Cardiol* (2008) 52:1302–11. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2008.07.032
- Otsuka F, Sakakura K, Yahagi K, Joner M, Virmani R. Has our understanding of calcification in human coronary atherosclerosis progressed? *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2014) 34:724–36. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.113.302642
- Krohn JB, Hutcheson JD, Martinez-Martinez E, Aikawa E. Extracellular vesicles in cardiovascular calcification: expanding current paradigms. *J Physiol* (2016) 594:2895–903. doi:10.1113/JP271338
- Goettsch C, Hutcheson JD, Aikawa M, Iwata H, Pham T, Nykjaer A, et al. Sortilin mediates vascular calcification via its recruitment into extracellular vesicles. J Clin Invest (2016) 126:1323–36. doi:10.1172/JCI80851
- Buendía P, Montes de Oca A, Madueño JA, Merino A, Martín-Malo A, Aljama P, et al. Endothelial microparticles mediate inflammation-induced vascular calcification. *FASEB J* (2015) 29:173–81. doi:10.1096/fj.14-249706
- Shimoda M, Khokha R. Metalloproteinases in extracellular vesicles. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2017) 1864:1989–2000. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2017.05.027
- Mallat Z, Hugel B, Ohan J, Lesèche G, Freyssinet JM, Tedgui A. Shed membrane microparticles with procoagulant potential in human atherosclerotic plaques: a role for apoptosis in plaque thrombogenicity. *Circulation* (1999) 99:348–53. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.99.3.348
- Srikanthan S, Li W, Silverstein RL, McIntyre TM. Exosome poly-ubiquitin inhibits platelet activation, downregulates CD36 and inhibits pro-atherothombotic cellular functions. *J Thromb Haemost* (2014) 12:1906–17. doi:10.1111/ jth.12712
- Owens AP III, Mackman N. Microparticles in hemostasis and thrombosis. Circ Res (2011) 108:1284–97. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.233056
- Naghavi M, Falk E, Hecht HS, Jamieson MJ, Kaul S, Berman D, et al. From vulnerable plaque to vulnerable patient – part III: executive summary of the screening for heart attack prevention and education (SHAPE) task force report. *Am J Cardiol* (2006) 98:2H–15H. doi:10.1016/j.amjcard.2006.03.002
- Naghavi M, Libby P, Falk E, Casscells SW, Litovsky S, Rumberger J, et al. From vulnerable plaque to vulnerable patient: a call for new definitions and risk assessment strategies: part I. *Circulation* (2003) 108:1664–72. doi:10.1161/01. CIR.0000087480.94275.97
- Shimoda M, Khokha R. Proteolytic factors in exosomes. *Proteomics* (2013) 13:1624–36. doi:10.1002/pmic.201200458
- van der Vorst EP, Keijbeck AA, de Winther MP, Donners MM. A disintegrin and metalloproteases: molecular scissors in angiogenesis, inflammation and atherosclerosis. *Atherosclerosis* (2012) 224:302–8. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis. 2012.04.023
- Peschon JJ, Slack JL, Reddy P, Stocking KL, Sunnarborg SW, Lee DC, et al. An essential role for ectodomain shedding in mammalian development. *Science* (1998) 282:1281–4. doi:10.1126/science.282.5392.1281
- Hartmann D, de Strooper B, Serneels L, Craessaerts K, Herreman A, Annaert W, et al. The disintegrin/metalloprotease ADAM 10 is essential for Notch signalling but not for alpha-secretase activity in fibroblasts. *Hum Mol Genet* (2002) 11:2615–24. doi:10.1093/hmg/11.21.2615
- Stoeck A, Keller S, Riedle S, Sanderson MP, Runz S, Le Naour F, et al. A role for exosomes in the constitutive and stimulus-induced ectodomain cleavage of L1 and CD44. *Biochem J* (2006) 393:609–18. doi:10.1042/BJ20051013
- Lee HD, Koo BH, Kim YH, Jeon OH, Kim DS. Exosome release of ADAM15 and the functional implications of human macrophage-derived ADAM15 exosomes. *FASEB J* (2012) 26:3084–95. doi:10.1096/fj.11-201681
- Tortorella MD, Burn TC, Pratta MA, Abbaszade I, Hollis JM, Liu R, et al. Purification and cloning of aggrecanase-1: a member of the ADAMTS family of proteins. *Science* (1999) 284:1664–6. doi:10.1126/science.284.5420.1664
- Lohmander LS, Neame PJ, Sandy JD. The structure of aggrecan fragments in human synovial fluid. Evidence that aggrecanase mediates cartilage degradation in inflammatory joint disease, joint injury, and osteoarthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (1993) 36:1214–22. doi:10.1002/art.1780360906
- Lo Cicero A, Majkowska I, Nagase H, Di Liegro I, Troeberg L. Microvesicles shed by oligodendroglioma cells and rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts contain aggrecanase activity. *Matrix Biol* (2012) 31:229–33. doi:10.1016/j. matbio.2012.02.005
- 60. Distler JH, Jüngel A, Huber LC, Seemayer CA, Reich CF III, Gay RE, et al. The induction of matrix metalloproteinase and cytokine expression in synovial

fibroblasts stimulated with immune cell microparticles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2005) 102:2892–7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0409781102

- Kelwick R, Desanlis I, Wheeler GN, Edwards DR. The ADAMTS (A disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs) family. *Genome Biol* (2015) 16:113. doi:10.1186/s13059-015-0676-3
- Salter RC, Ashlin TG, Kwan AP, Ramji DP. ADAMTS proteases: key roles in atherosclerosis? *J Mol Med* (2010) 88:1203–11. doi:10.1007/s00109-010-0654-x
- Murayama T, Kataoka H, Koita H, Nabeshima K, Koono M. Glycocalyceal bodies in a human rectal carcinoma cell line and their interstitial collagenolytic activities. *Virchows Arch B Cell Pathol Incl Mol Pathol* (1991) 60:263–70. doi:10.1007/BF02899556
- 64. Zucker S, Wieman JM, Lysik RM, Wilkie DP, Ramamurthy N, Lane B. Metastatic mouse melanoma cells release collagen-gelatin degrading metalloproteinases as components of shed membrane vesicles. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (1987) 924:225–37. doi:10.1016/0304-4165(87)90091-2
- 65. Ginestra A, La Placa MD, Saladino F, Cassarà D, Nagase H, Vittorelli ML. The amount and proteolytic content of vesicles shed by human cancer cell lines correlates with their in vitro invasiveness. *Anticancer Res* (1998) 18:3433–7.
- Azevedo A, Prado AF, Antonio RC, Issa JP, Gerlach RF. Matrix metalloproteinases are involved in cardiovascular diseases. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol* (2014) 115:301–14. doi:10.1111/bcpt.12282
- El Andaloussi S, Mäger I, Breakefield XO, Wood MJ. Extracellular vesicles: biology and emerging therapeutic opportunities. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2013) 12:347–57. doi:10.1038/nrd3978
- Danielson KM, Das S. Extracellular vesicles in heart disease: excitement for the future? *Exosomes Microvesicles* (2014) 2. doi:10.5772/58390
- Alvarez-Erviti L, Seow Y, Yin H, Betts C, Lakhal S, Wood MJ. Delivery of siRNA to the mouse brain by systemic injection of targeted exosomes. *Nat Biotechnol* (2011) 29:341–5. doi:10.1038/nbt.1807
- Lener T, Gimona M, Aigner L, Börger V, Buzas E, Camussi G, et al. Applying extracellular vesicles based therapeutics in clinical trials – an ISEV position paper. J Extracell Vesicles (2015) 4:30087. doi:10.3402/jev.v4.30087
- Caby MP, Lankar D, Vincendeau-Scherrer C, Raposo G, Bonnerot C. Exosomal-like vesicles are present in human blood plasma. *Int Immunol* (2005) 17:879–87. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxh267
- Pisitkun T, Shen RF, Knepper MA. Identification and proteomic profiling of exosomes in human urine. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2004) 101:13368–73. doi:10.1073/pnas.0403453101
- 73. Kanhai DA, Visseren FL, van der Graaf Y, Schoneveld AH, Catanzariti LM, Timmers L, et al. Microvesicle protein levels are associated with increased risk for future vascular events and mortality in patients with clinically manifest vascular disease. *Int J Cardiol* (2013) 168:2358–63. doi:10.1016/j. ijcard.2013.01.231
- 74. Jansen F, Yang X, Proebsting S, Hoelscher M, Przybilla D, Baumann K, et al. MicroRNA expression in circulating microvesicles predicts cardiovascular events in patients with coronary artery disease. *J Am Heart Assoc* (2014) 3:e001249. doi:10.1161/JAHA.114.001249

- Jansen F, Nickenig G, Werner N. Extracellular vesicles in cardiovascular disease: potential applications in diagnosis, prognosis, and epidemiology. *Circ Res* (2017) 120:1649–57. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.310752
- Tkach M, Thery C. Communication by extracellular vesicles: where we are and where we need to go. *Cell* (2016) 164:1226–32. doi:10.1016/j.cell. 2016.01.043
- 77. György B, Módos K, Pállinger E, Pálóczi K, Pásztói M, Misják P, et al. Detection and isolation of cell-derived microparticles are compromised by protein complexes resulting from shared biophysical parameters. *Blood* (2011) 117:e39–48. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-09-307595
- Yuana Y, Levels J, Grootemaat A, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Co-isolation of extracellular vesicles and high-density lipoproteins using density gradient ultracentrifugation. J Extracell Vesicles (2014) 3:23262. doi:10.3402/jev.v3.23262
- Vergauwen G, Dhondt B, Van Deun J, De Smedt E, Berx G, Timmerman E, et al. Confounding factors of ultrafiltration and protein analysis in extracellular vesicle research. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:2704. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-02599-y
- Zu L, Ren C, Pan B, Zhou B, Zhou E, Niu C, et al. Endothelial microparticles after antihypertensive and lipid-lowering therapy inhibit the adhesion of monocytes to endothelial cells. *Int J Cardiol* (2016) 202:756–9. doi:10.1016/j. ijcard.2015.10.035
- Lötvall J, Hill AF, Hochberg F, Buzás EI, Di Vizio D, Gardiner C, et al. Minimal experimental requirements for definition of extracellular vesicles and their functions: a position statement from the International Society for Extracellular Vesicles. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2014) 3:26913. doi:10.3402/jev. v3.26913
- EV-TRACK Consortium, Van Deun J, Mestdagh P, Agostinis P, Akay Ö, Anand S, et al. EV-TRACK: transparent reporting and centralizing knowledge in extracellular vesicle research. *Nat Methods* (2017) 14:228–32. doi:10.1038/nmeth.4185
- Coumans FAW, Brisson AR, Buzas EI, Dignat-George F, Drees EEE, El-Andaloussi S, et al. Methodological guidelines to study extracellular vesicles. *Circ Res* (2017) 120:1632–48. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117. 309417

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a shared affiliation, although no other collaboration, with one of the authors MD.

Copyright © 2018 van der Vorst, de Jong and Donners. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Extracellular Vesicles as Protagonists of Diabetic Cardiovascular Pathology

Dakota Gustafson^{1†}, Shawn Veitch^{1†} and Jason E. Fish^{1,2,3*}

¹ Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathobiology, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada, ² Toronto General Hospital Research Institute, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada, ³ Heart & Stroke Richard Lewar Center of Excellence in Cardiovascular Research, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) represent an emerging mechanism of cell-cell communication in the cardiovascular system. Recent data suggest that EVs are produced and taken up by multiple cardiovascular cell types, influencing target cells through signaling or transfer of cargo (including proteins, lipids, messenger RNA, and non-coding RNA). The concentration and contents of circulating EVs are altered in several diseases and represent explicit signatures of cellular activation, making them of particular interest as circulating biomarkers. EVs also actively contribute to the progression of various cardiovascular diseases, including diabetes-related vascular disease. Understanding the relationships between circulating EVs, diabetes, and cardiovascular disease is of importance as diabetic patients are at elevated risk for developing several debilitating cardiovascular pathologies, including diabetic cardiomyopathy (DCM), a disease that remains an enigma at the molecular level. Enhancing and exploiting our understanding of EV biology could facilitate the development of effective non-invasive diagnostics, prognostics, and therapeutics. This review will focus on EV biology in diabetic cardiovascular diseases, including atherosclerosis and DCM. We will review EV biogenesis and functional properties, as well as provide insight into their emerging role in cell-cell communication. Finally, we will address the utility of EVs as clinical biomarkers and outline their impact as a biomedical tool in the development of therapeutics.

Keywords: extracellular vesicles, diabetes, cardiovascular, atherosclerosis, cardiomyopathy, miRNAs

INTRODUCTION

The prevalence of diabetes mellitus (DM), especially type 2 DM (T2DM), is steadily increasing and is predicted to rise substantially over the next decade (1, 2). Mortality rates of individuals with T2DM are consistently elevated, with an overall excess risk of death from any cause of ~27% (3). There is abundant epidemiological and mechanistic evidence underscoring the role of T2DM as an independent risk factor for accelerated cardiovascular disease (4, 5). Individuals with T2DM are at high risk for developing several cardiovascular disorders, including coronary heart disease, stroke, peripheral arterial disease, and diabetic cardiomyopathy (DCM) (6). Much of the vascular burden associated with T2DM is caused by the chronic, injurious effects of hyperglycemia on the micro- and

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rory R. Koenen, Maastricht University, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Adriana Georgescu, Institute of Cellular Biology and Pathology (ICBP), Romania Claudia Goettsch, RWTH Aachen University, Germany

*Correspondence:

Jason E. Fish jason.fish@utoronto.ca

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Atherosclerosis and Vascular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 30 August 2017 Accepted: 26 October 2017 Published: 09 November 2017

Citation:

Gustafson D, Veitch S and Fish JE (2017) Extracellular Vesicles as Protagonists of Diabetic Cardiovascular Pathology. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 4:71. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2017.00071

Abbreviations: CM, cardiomyocytes; DCM, diabetic cardiomyopathy; DM, diabetes mellitus; ECs, endothelial cells; EVs, extracellular vesicles; mRNA, messenger ribonucleic acid; MVs, microvesicles; MVBs, multivesicular bodies; T2DM, type 2 diabetes mellitus.

macro-vasculature [see Ref. (7) for a comprehensive review]. Indeed, many of the earliest pathological responses to hyperglycemia are manifested in the vascular endothelial cells (ECs) that interface with elevated blood glucose levels. Traditionally, the activation of pathological inflammatory processes through both paracrine and endocrine cellular communication has served as the centerpiece for the purported development of diabetic cardiovascular pathologies (8). However, a third mechanism of intercellular communication, involving the intercellular transfer of extracellular vesicles (EVs), is emerging as an important mediator. Much remains to be explored regarding the contribution of these EV pathways to cardiovascular complications in T2DM patients.

EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES

Nomenclature and Biogenesis

Extracellular vesicles are a heterogeneous population of small cell-secreted phospholipid bilayer-bound structures naturally released into the extracellular space. Secretion of EVs appears to be conserved across species, as they have been identified in fundamentally all eukaryotes and many prokaryotes (9). Using current conventions, EVs are classified into three major subtypes based on biogenic, morphological, and biochemical properties: exosomes, microvesicles (MVs), and apoptotic bodies (Table 1). Characterization and classification of this heterogeneous population of membrane vesicles has been challenging and the source of heated debate, but based on current evidence, a working basis for a consensus has recently been reached (10). Garnering focused attention have been exosomes, which are the smallest subgroup of EVs at approximately 30-100 nm in diameter. Exosomes are generated within the endosomal system, initially forming as intraluminal vesicles inside multivesicular bodies (MVBs) in the endosomal compartment during the maturation of early into late endosomes (Figure 1) (11). The formation of MVBs has been shown to be mediated by the endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT) machinery, which sequesters ubiquitinated transmembrane proteins and drives intraluminal membrane budding (12, 13). However, ESCRT-independent exosome biogenesis pathways have been suggested, primarily via tetraspanin-dependent mechanisms (14, 15). MVBs have a

bipartite fate; either degradation through fusion with lysosomes or exocytosis as exosomes after fusion with the plasma membrane. The release of exosomes into the extracellular milieu appears to be facilitated, in part, by SNARES and Rab proteins (16).

Microvesicles (also known as microparticles or ectosomes) tend to be larger in size, approximately 100–1,000 nm in diameter, and arise in a biogenically distinct fashion. They are formed by the outward budding and scission of extracellular membrane (**Figure 1**) (17). The release of vesicles is preceded by the budding of cytoplasmic protrusions, which detach through the fission of their stalk. It is thought that dynamic interactions between cholesterol-rich microdomains regulated by animophospholipid translocases initiates formation, followed closely by vesicle budding induced by translocation of phosphatidylserine to the outer-membrane leaflet and contraction of cytoskeletal structures by actin-myosin interactions (18, 19).

Apoptotic bodies are the largest subtype of EVs, encompassing a wide size range of approximately 1–5 μ m in diameter. Unlike exosomes and MVs, which are generated in both physiological and pathological conditions, apoptotic bodies are only generated by plasma membrane blebbing of apoptotic cells (20). While commonly regarded as purely cellular debris, in the emerging context of EV cellular communication, apoptotic bodies represent a potentially untapped source of biologically useful information; having various cargoes, including organelles, packed tightly within their structures (21).

Function

Extracellular vesicles are secreted from most cell types and are able to elicit diverse responses in recipient cell types. This is accomplished by engagement of EV surface proteins with receptors on recipient cells or through internalization of EVs into recipient cells, thereby transporting EV cargo into the cell. Uptake mechanisms include endocytosis, fusion with the recipient cell's membrane or uptake *via* binding of EV surface proteins such as tetraspanins to the target cell's membrane (22, 23). The notion that exosomes and MVs act as effectors of cellular communication is founded on ample data showing that they can transport bioactive molecules to target cells—either locally, or systemically by entering biological fluids—and transfer select cargo to affect molecular pathways and the behavior of

Characteristics	EVs					
	Exosomes	Microvesicles	Apoptotic bodies			
Biogenesis	Sorted as intraluminal vesicles in multivesicular endosomes and secreted after the fusion of multivesicular bodies with the plasma membrane	Fission and outward budding from the plasma membrane directly into the extracellular environment	Generated through apoptotic fragmentation and blebbing			
Size	30–100 nm	100–1,000 nm	1–5 µm			
Markers	etraspanins (CD9, CD63, CD81), heat shock proteins (HSPA8, HSP70, HSP90), Annexin A2, Enolase 1, Flotilin-1, and TSG101		TSP, 3Cb			
Cargo	DNA, RNA (messenger RNA, miRNA, IncRNA), Proteins (cytokines), Lipids					

Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine | www.frontiersin.org

TABLE 1 Common classifications of extracellular vesicles (EVs).



recipient cells (24-26). Cargo can include genetic material such as DNA, messenger RNA, non-coding RNA (e.g., miRNA), as well as proteins, carbohydrates, lipids, and in unique circumstances, organelles such as mitochondria. Regarding cell-cell communication, while many avenues of effector action have been described, EV-associated miRNAs have received the most thorough examination. They serve as potent biomolecules that direct multiple cellular processes via negative regulation of target genes at the posttranscriptional level (27). Distinctive surface markers including cellular receptors and transmembrane proteins on both exosomes and MPs appear to provide a means of increasing cellular interaction specificity. In vitro findings have also shown distinct cargo, including genetic material, proteins, and other molecules, in exosomes and MPs, and correspondingly discrete functions (28, 29). Finally, although less well studied than exosomes and MPs, apoptotic bodies have been suggested to harbor functional capabilities, in particular, carrying miRNAs known to direct vascular protection (30).

EV Enrichment

Although there is an intense focus on the biogenesis, cargo, and subsequent function of EVs and their heterogeneous

subpopulations, many efforts are stifled by limitations imposed by current isolation and characterization methodologies. There are many strategies available for the enrichment of EVs, the most popular being ultracentrifugation, size exclusion chromatography, and commercially available EV precipitation kits. Ultracentrifugation is the gold standard for EV isolation, being used in more than 50% of reports (31, 32). Differential ultracentrifugation employs a series of centrifugation cycles with varying centrifugal force and duration, escalating from 400 to 100,000 g, leading to the preferential isolation of EV subtypes that have unique densities; apoptotic bodies (2,000 g), MVs (10,000–20,000 g), and exosomes ($\geq 100,000$ g) (33–36). Although standard ultracentrifugation offers a relatively pure sample, it can also precipitate large proteins not associated with EVs. High centrifugal forces can also be potentially damaging to EVs. These protocols are also particularly time intensive, require expensive equipment, and are difficult to implement with small amounts of starting material (33). More recently, contamination by protein and particle aggregates has been partially addressed through the adoption of density gradient centrifugation, which utilizes density gradients to separate specific EV populations (32).

Other techniques have been developed to better meet time, sample quantity, and equipment sensitive situations. In particular, many commercial kits offer comparatively rapid precipitation of EVs through the incorporation of polymers such as polyethylene glycol (37). However, preparations from commercial kits have been shown to have low purity and potentially impaired functionally due to co-precipitation of non-vesicular contaminants such as lipoproteins and polymer material (38). As a result, commercial kits may be more suited for high-throughput EV cargo characterization, such as miRNA profiling. Size-based EV isolation techniques, such as filtration and size exclusion chromatography, are also available (39, 40). Such methodologies offer several advantages, including moderately rapid isolation, ease of use, reduced contaminant concentrations, and maintenance of functionality. Size-exclusion chromatography is particularly advantageous as it uses gravity, resulting in the preservation of EV structure, integrity, and biological activity. However, the extended isolation time represents a significant drawback for clinical studies, especially if high throughput sample processing is required (37).

Immunoaffinity (IA) purification is the least prevalent method of EV isolation, typically involving magnetic microbeads coated with an antibody that recognizes surface markers on the EV surface. While in principle IA represents a specific means for the identification and isolation of specific EVs, the lack of established and well-characterized EV markers limits its validity and utility. This method is additionally limited by the physical surface area of EVs available for binding. While potentially resulting in lower yields with higher purity, it may, however, result in concentration underestimations and false negative results (32, 37). While all the aforementioned techniques can be utilized to isolate EVs from culture media as well as biofluids, considerable care and caution should be exercised during optimization to ensure efficient enrichment. The lack of standardized isolation and characterization techniques has hindered advancement of the field. This is particularly evident when technique-to-technique comparisons are conducted, during which significantly different particle concentrations, characteristics, and functions can arise from biologically similar samples. Indeed, recent studies have suggested caution in the interpretation of EV investigations due to the likelihood of confounding factors, including co-purification of protein and lipid complexes (41, 42).

EVs IN DIABETIC AND ATHEROSCLEROTIC PATHOLOGIES

Obstructive atherosclerotic diseases—disorders leading to the narrowing of the arterial lumen through the formation of atherosclerotic plaques—are thought to be central to the development of diabetic macrovascular complications (43). Metabolic dysfunction in individuals with T2DM has been shown to exacerbate and accelerate the pathological mechanisms underlying the development of atherosclerotic disease (44) (**Figure 2**). This is rooted in non-resolving proinflammatory pathogenic activation of the vascular endothelium; leading to platelet activation and adhesion, as well as the recruitment and trans-endothelial migration of circulating monocytes and neutrophils, which drive plaque expansion (45).

Endothelial cell (EC)-derived EVs have been described as important markers and mediators of vascular dysfunction. While patients with various types of vascular diseases have increases in levels of circulating EC-derived EVs, this is particularly evident in patients with both atherosclerosis and T2DM, who display markedly increased levels of circulating EC-derived EVs (46, 47). EVs appear to actively participate in the pathological progression of atherogenesis; from atherosclerotic lesion initiation to progression (48). For example, increased circulating levels of EC-derived EVs in T2DM appear to be associated with increased vascular dysfunction and are an independent risk factor for decreased arterial elasticity; a known change during atherogenesis (49). The decrease in arterial elasticity and successive development of high shear-stresses within the vasculature may further modulate EV function. In particular, platelet-derived EVs under high shear-stress conditions were shown to induce IL-8, IL-1β, and IL-6 production in ECs, which could indicate participation in vascular damage and atherosclerosis (50). Traditionally, the inflammatory response is mediated by the activation of the vascular endothelium and subsequent attraction of inflammatory cells, stimulation of the coagulation and complement systems, and increases in vascular permeability (51). Monocyte recruitment from the bloodstream represents one of the earliest processes of atherosclerotic plaque formation. While EVs isolated from healthy mouse plasma or endothelium can suppress monocyte activation, several experiments have shown that EVs isolated from activated ECs, platelets, or from atherosclerotic plaque, can promote the adhesion of monocytes to the endothelium by increasing the expression of adhesion molecules on both ECs and monocytes (52-54). Of note, Rautou et al. demonstrated that EVs isolated from symptomatic atherosclerotic plaques were more potent at promoting endothelial intercellular adhesion molecule 1-dependent monocyte adhesion and transendothelial migration than EVs from asymptomatic plaques (53). In addition, long-term feeding of high-fat diet to rats resulted in increased numbers of circulating EVs that were associated with an increased potential to induce pro-inflammatory reactive oxygen species and vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 expression in rat ECs in vitro (55). Similar observations have been made in the setting of hyperglycemia, where high-glucose conditions increased NADPH oxidase activity in endothelium-derived EVs, subsequently amplifying endothelial activation (56).

It is well established that phenotypic switching of smooth muscle cells has an important role in the progression of vascular diseases such as atherosclerosis (57). In the early stages of atherogenesis, smooth muscle cells acquire a synthetic phenotype and migrate from the media to the intima, subsequently proliferating and contributing to plaque development. Interestingly, plateletderived EVs have been shown to actively induce vascular smooth muscle mitogenesis (58), while transfer of EVs from ECs to smooth muscle cells has been shown to either inhibit (59) or promote smooth muscle cell proliferation (60). In later stages of atherogenesis, microcalcification of vulnerable plaques can contribute to plaque destabilization and rupture (61). It is now evident that EVs play an active role in both the initiation and progression of calcification (62, 63). For example, New et al.



provide clear support for the role of macrophage-derived EVs in the nucleation of microcalcifications (62).

Taken together, these results strongly suggest that EVs produced during the pathogenesis of diabetes and atherosclerosis not only promote the development of pro-inflammatory vascular conditions but also encourage the development of early atherosclerotic lesion development by promoting monocyte adhesion and infiltration to the sub-endothelial space, as well as through their ability to stimulate smooth muscle cell migration and proliferation and their role in instigating calcification. These findings provide unique insights into the pathogenesis and perhaps accelerated presentation of diabetes-associated atherogenesis.

Although there appears to be a strong relationship between EVs and atherogenesis, the exact functional interplay has yet to be fully explored. EV-associated miRNAs have received particular attention as they can be efficiently isolated from liquid biopsies and have substantial functional implications (64). Collectively, miRNAs have been shown to modulate vascular inflammatory, calcification, and thrombus formation pathways related to diabetes and atherosclerosis (65, 66). Jansen et al. described the differential regulation and selective

packaging of miRNAs during T2DM pathology when compared to non-diabetic controls (67). Additionally, large-scale miRNA profiling of plasma EVs from patients with T2DM has revealed significant dysregulation of miRNAs, independent of body mass index, age, or sex (67). In-depth mechanistic studies have validated some functional roles of EV-associated miRNA dysregulation. Wu et al., in particular, found that the miRNA-126/VEGFR2 pathway was downregulated in untreated T2DM, potentially governing vascular integrity (68). Additionally, EC-EV transfer of miRNA-126 has been shown to be abrogated in high glucose settings, highlighting the importance of EV cargo maintenance in physiology (69). Karolina et al. has highlighted the promise of utilizing specific dysregulations in EV-associated miRNA cargo clinically by assessing the circulating EV-associated miRNA profiles of 219 participants with either metabolic syndrome, T2D, hypercholesterolemia, or hypertension, showing that each disorder had its own specific EV miRNA profile (70). While results of many studies, including the aforementioned one, have highlighted the unique dysregulation of EV-associated miRNA during the development of vascular disorders such as atherosclerosis, their utility as clinical biomarkers remain unfulfilled. This is in

part a result of the complex and often multifactorial function of EVs, limiting our ability to efficiently delineate miRNAs directly associated with early disease processes.

EVs IN DIABETIC CARDIAC PATHOLOGY

Prolonged asymptomatic, yet progressive, phases of DCM make diagnosis of this condition particularly challenging (71). DCM is a complex condition and is defined as the presence of left ventricular (LV) dysfunction in individuals with T2DM in the absence of arterial hypertension, coronary artery disease, or evidence of other structural cardiac disease (71). While T2DM is a well-known risk factor for atherosclerotic disease, its role in development of DCM is less established. Epidemiological evidence suggests a high prevalence (30-40%) of cardiomyopathy in individuals with T2DM (72-75). Perhaps unsurprisingly, several signaling pathways (including inflammation, oxidative stress, and endothelial dysfunction) that are dysregulated under diabetic conditions and contribute to atherosclerotic disease also appear to enhance myocardial dysfunction (i.e., DCM) and accelerate heart failure (76-78). Clinically, DCM begins by presenting itself as early stage DCM, characterized by an abnormal myocardial energy metabolism, systolic, or diastolic dysfunction (i.e., impairment of the contraction of relaxation of the heart, respectively) and reduced LV strain (defined as regional deformation, or lengthening, shortening and thickening of the LV) (79). Over time, the progression of DCM can lead to overt heart failure, associated with cardiomyocyte hypertrophy, myocardial fibrosis, and ultimately cardiomyocyte death (80). This vulnerability to DCM may in part be due to the convergence of multiple risk factors, such as chronic hyperglycemia, resulting in detrimental effects on various cell types within the heart (81).

Recent attention has been focused on understanding the mechanisms of communication between the diverse cell-types in the heart, particularly, as it relates to disease pathogenesis (**Table 2**). These cells include cardiomyocytes (CMs), accounting for 25–35% of all cells in the heart (82), ECs (comprising 60% of the non-myocyte cells cardiac tissue cells), smooth muscle cells, hematopoietic-derived cells, and fibroblast cells (83). Each of these cell types play an important role in healthy and diseased cardiac

TABLE 2 | Extracellular vesicle-derived miRNA regulation of the diabetic heart

 promotes the development of diabetic cardiomyopathies.

miRNA	Source/recipient	Target/process
miRNA-1/ miRNA-133A	Cardiomyocytes (CMs)	Independent predictors of myocardial steatosis (85)
miRNA-320	CMs/endothelial cells (ECs)	Impairs angiogenesis by targeting IGF1, Hsp20, and Ets2 (86)
miRNA-503	ECs/pericytes	Impairs migration and proliferation following its transfer to vascular pericytes (87)
miRNA-126	Endothelial progenitor cells	Alters EC repair processes; reduces VEGFR-2 expression (68)
miRNA-21*	Cardiac fibroblasts/CMs	Promotes cardiac hypertrophy by targeting Sorbin and SH3-domain- containing protein 2 and PDLIM5 (88)

function as they can contribute to the processes of ventricular hypertrophy, steatosis, fibrosis, and impaired angiogenesis, all of which can lead to diabetic cardiac complications, including cardiomyopathy (81). Extensive cross-talk occurs among these cells, and emerging evidence has implicated EVs in this communication (84). That being said, the link between EVs produced under T2DM conditions and increases in cardiac oxidative stress, cardiac inflammation, myocardial fibrosis, and other aspects of the pathogenesis of cardiomyopathy, has not been extensively studied to date, and remains an area ripe for future studies.

The main function of CMs is to generate contractile force in the heart, and although not considered to be a secretory cell, they can secrete cytokines, chemokines, and various factors such as ANP, and BNP as well as EVs (84). CM-derived EVs have been implicated in diabetic cardiomyocyte steatosis (85). Accumulation of lipids in the myocardium has been associated with non-ischemic cardiomyopathy (including DCM) and LV hypertrophy. Elevated levels of miR-1 and miR-133a were observed in EVs derived from lipid-loaded HL-1 CMs; levels were also increased in the serum of mice fed a high fat diet, and in the circulation of diabetic patients with myocardial steatosis (85). Unfortunately, no mechanism for miR-1/miR-133a function in steatosis was described, but being identified as independent predictors makes them important biomarkers. Recently, CM-derived EVs were shown to communicate with the endothelium, and it was demonstrated that this crosstalk is altered in the setting of diabetes; contributing to dysfunctional angiogenesis in DCM (86). While cardiomyocyte-derived EVs isolated from wild-type mice promoted angiogenesis, EVs isolated from diabetic rats exerted antiangiogenic effects; this was attributed to higher levels of antiangiogenic miR-320, and lower levels of angiogenic miR-126 (86).

Endothelial cells play a critical role in facilitating myocardial contraction and CM survival (89). Microvascular rarefaction is a major manifestation of diabetes-mediated ischemic cardiovascular disease, resulting from endothelial cell death and insufficient myocardial angiogenesis (90). Early in diabetes, high blood glucose leads to endothelial dysfunction, which can promote microvascular rarefaction over time (91). Several miRNA-based mechanisms have been proposed to explain vascular dysfunction in diabetes. For example, when exposed to elevated glucose concentrations, the levels of miR-503 in the endothelium increase, inhibiting EC proliferation and angiogenesis by targeting CCNE1 and Cdc25A (92). Moreover, transfer of miRNA-503 from EC-derived EVs impaired pericyte migration and proliferation, thereby decreasing angiogenesis and modulating vessel permeability by interfering with the production of VEGFA and EFNB2 (87). In healthy conditions, ECs release EVs that contain miR-10a, which can be transferred to monocytes, where it represses several components of the NF-kB signaling pathway to dampen their inflammatory activation (54). These EVs additionally contain high levels of miR-126, which can promote vascular endothelial repair through the targeting of SPRED-1 (69), a negative regulator of the VEGF signaling pathway (93, 94). However, in pathological hyperglycemic conditions, miR-126 expression is reduced in EC-EVs, impairing EC repair due to a lack of SPRED-1 targeting (69). Another group revealed reduced miR-126 expression in circulating EVs and endothelial progenitor cell-derived-EVs from

patients with uncontrolled diabetes (68). Furthermore, exposing endothelial progenitor cells to these EVs downregulated VEGFR2 decreased migration ability, and increased apoptosis and ROS production (68).

Cardiac fibroblasts are involved in the fibrotic response that accompanies DCM. The differentiation of fibroblasts to myofibroblasts, together with their proliferation and production of extracellular matrix, contributes to the increased stiffness of the myocardium that promotes diastolic dysfunction (95). In neonatal rat cell culture, paracrine factors from cardiac fibroblasts elicit detrimental changes in CM electrophysiology that resemble those seen in cardiac pathologies (96); however, the role of EVs was not assessed. Hyperglycemia contributes to diabetic cardiac fibrosis as it can promote proliferation, myofibroblast differentiation, and collagen synthesis by cardiac fibroblasts (97-99). A potential culprit for the observed effects is miR-21, which targets DUSP5, a negative regulator of p38 and JNK signaling (100). Cardiac fibroblasts also secrete EVs that target CMs and appear to be enriched in miRNA passenger strands, which are typically eliminated during miRNA biogenesis. Transfer of miR-21* from cardiac fibroblasts to CMs induced cardiac hypertrophy by downregulating Sorbin and SH3-domain-containing protein 2 and PDZ and LIM domain 5 (PDLIM5) (88). Inhibition of miRNA-21* in mice with angiotensin II-induced heart hypertrophy suppressed the observed cardiac pathology (88).

Secretion of cardiac EVs appears to be an intricately regulated process that can mediate both local and systemic effects. In vitro cellular stretch and in vivo pressure overload in a mouse model induced the release of EVs from CMs that were enriched with angiotensin type I receptor (AT1R) (101). This was associated with the transfer of active AT1R to various tissues including the mesenteric artery and skeletal muscle, which upon injection into AT1 knockout mice, affected peripheral vascular resistance and blood pressure (101). The full extent of EV-mediated cell-cell communication among the cells locally in the heart or distally in systemic circulation has not yet been explored, and whether circulating EVs can be taken up by CMs, pericytes, or fibroblasts in the heart is not known. Additionally, the impact of diabetes on this form of communication is just coming into view. From initial studies, it appears that EVs are major protagonists in eliciting cardiovascular dysfunction in diabetics. Further elucidation of these pathways and mechanisms may reveal novel biomarkers and potential therapeutic strategies.

DIABETIC CEREBROVASCULAR CROSS TALK

Cardiovascular dysfunction, especially overt heart failure, has been proposed as a major cause of cognitive dysfunction in the elderly; commonly referred to as "vascular dementia" (102). An increasing body of evidence suggests that even the relatively mild effects on cardiac output that are observed in DCM are independently associated with impairment in various cognitive domains (103). Diabetes is associated with a breakdown in the blood brain barrier, a unique structure that protects the brain from detrimental systemic circulating factors (104). It is currently unclear whether cardiac output directly impacts cognitive function or whether both of these phenomena are driven by an independent factor. Based on the current body of evidence highlighting deleterious effects of inflammatory EVs on vascular ECs, it would seem conceivable to hypothesize that these effects on the brain and heart vasculature may be mediated by circulating EVs. Indeed, while still emerging, there is a body of evidence suggesting that EVs in diabetic microvascular settings may increase blood-brain barrier permeability (105, 106). A recent study found that the anti-inflammatory miRNA, miR-146a is decreased in the brains of diabetic mice, and that this is associated with accumulation of cellular prion protein (107). Interestingly, delivery of EC-derived exosomes loaded with miR-146a could decrease levels of cellular prion protein and could restore short-term memory (107). Additional research in this emerging area is clearly warranted and may shed light on the pathobiology of vascular dementia and its link to cardiac disease.

EVs AS BIOMARKERS OF DIABETIC CARDIOVASCULAR PATHOLOGIES

The paucity of effective diagnostic modalities and pharmacological interventions for DCM has fueled the search for novel circulating biomarkers that may be more reflective of disease status (108). Given their abundance in multiple bodily fluids and the modulation of the abundance, source, and contents (e.g., miRNAs) of EVs in response to pathological stimuli, EVs are attractive candidates as biomarkers (109). While numerous studies are underway to examine the utility of EVs as biomarkers (110–112), there has been a particularly intensive focus in oncological and neurological diseases. Understanding changes in EV contents will generate insight into potential disease mechanisms mediated by cell–cell communication that can be targeted therapeutically.

The complexity and chronic nature of cardiovascular pathologies appear to have impeded the field's ability to correlate disease states with unique EV changes, slowing their adoption into biomarker studies. Nonetheless, there is considerable excitement in utilizing EVs as a novel diagnostic tool due to their inherent ability to transport miRNAs. miR-146a, in particular, may play an important role in the pathogenesis of both atherosclerosis (54, 113, 114) as well as the development of cardiomyopathies (115, 116) through the regulation of inflammatory pathways. Interestingly, it appears that transfer of miR-146a between cells may play an important role. For example, transfer between ECs and CMs plays a role in peripartum cardiomyopathy, and blocking this communication reverses pathology (115). In addition, the demonstration that miRNA-containing EVs are released into circulation from cardiac cells highlights the need for additional investigation (117). Identification of the cellular source of these EV-derived miRNA, understanding the mechanisms of packaging and secretion, and characterizing their functional roles remain a matter of active investigation. Nonetheless, a detailed characterization of EVs released into the circulation by CMs has lagged and appears prime for fruitful investigation.

THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF EVs

The involvement of EVs in the pathology of diabetic cardiovascular pathologies serves as a strong impetus to develop EV-based therapeutics. The combination of innate biocompatibility, low toxicity and immunogenicity, stability, and selective uptake make them an ideal delivery vehicle for therapeutics (118). Current therapeutic approaches aim to use EVs to deliver small RNAs in an attempt to reverse pathological miRNA-based communication with anti-miRNA oligonucleotides or to stimulate protective communication with synthetic miRNA mimics (119, 120). More specific delivery of anti-miRNAs or miRNA mimics to target cells is being achieved by engineering vesicles with cell-selective surface proteins (121), which should reduce off-target effects.

Many hurdles remain to be overcome before EV-based therapeutics might be used in the clinic to treat cardiovascular diseases. Nevertheless, the proven utility of using small RNAs in a cardioprotective manner in mouse and large animal models to prevent pathological changes such as fibrosis, cardiac hypertrophy and inflammation (122-124) highlights their potential as efficacious therapeutic targets. The ability to load EVs with particular cargo such as miRNAs, suggests the possibility of using EVs to deliver miRNA-based cardiovascular therapeutics. The field of miRNA-based therapeutics is advancing rapidly and over the last 10 years, research focused on circulating EVs, and the miRNA they contain, has revealed diverse and important roles (24). That being said, much still remains to be revealed regarding the role of EVs in cell-cell communication in health and diabetic cardiovascular disorders. Specifically, it may be advantageous to understand the effects of the chronic inflammatory environment in diabetes on the packaging and release of endothelial EVs and their subsequent interactions with CMs. Better understanding the role of endothelial-derived EVs may allow for in-depth probing of currently employed diabetes therapeutics such as sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors, which are believed to have cardioprotective benefits (125). Advancing our understanding of the role of EVs in cardiovascular disease will help identify the cellular source and destination of EVs, subsequently allowing for the exploration of specific cellular interactions. Furthermore, improving our understanding of EV organ-tropism will aid in the targeting of specific tissues, improving the efficiency of miRNA-based therapies.

CONCLUSION

Extracellular vesicles in liquid biopsies, such as blood, urine, or saliva, as well as localized tissue EV content remain a relatively untapped source of detailed information for both basic researchers and clinicians alike. The innate ability of EVs to shield biologically complex information from degradation and sensitivity to minute changes in physiology highlight their potential as sensitive and specific biomarkers. Early studies into their biology suggest that they may be critical mediators of cardiovascular diseases such as atherosclerosis and DCM. There are a number of unexplored avenues particularly regarding the interactions between elevated glucose levels, endothelial EVs, and dysfunction in cardiac tissues. Understanding the potential roles of EVs in diabetes associated cardiac dysfunction will be critical in understanding the mechanisms of currently employed therapeutics and for the development of more efficacious agents. The largest roadblock in illuminating the roles of EVs in the cardiovascular field remains a thorough understanding of the vesicle population, which in suit relies heavily upon our ability to apply accurate vesicle isolation techniques. The development of a harmonized nomenclature for EVs will be essential for both meaningful dialog between researchers and ensuring reproducibility of results across laboratories (109). To better understand the role of EVs in multifactorial conditions such as diabetic pathologies, a number of gaps in fundamental knowledge should be addressed. The most pressing is to better understand the mechanisms of EV biogenesis, delivery, and degradation upon which a more normalized nomenclature can be developed. Building upon this, the development of accurate in vivo vesicle tracking models will be essential in validating much of what is currently known for translation into the clinic. Finally, utilizing large clinical cohorts for the examination of vesicle concentrations, populations, and cargo should be performed to examine vesicle heterogeneity in multiple patient populations. Although the precise physiological and pathological functions of EVs remain at a nascent stage of understanding, their obvious potential as biomarkers and vehicles for therapeutic intervention could transform our approach to understanding and treating diabetic cardiovascular pathologies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DG and SV researched the data for the article, substantially contributed to discussion of the article and wrote the article. DG, SV, and JF contributed to conceptualizing the article as well as reviewing and editing of the manuscript before submission.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We apologize to researcher's whose relevant studies were not discussed due to space constraints. Research on the biology of circulating miRNAs in the laboratory of JF is supported by an Innovation grant from the Canadian Cancer Society (#702835), Seed and Team Funding from the Canadian Vascular Network, a Project Grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR; PJT148487), and an AstraZeneca Impact Challenge Grant from the Heart & Stroke Richard Lewar Centre of Excellence in Cardiovascular Research. JF is supported by a Canada Research Chair from CIHR and is the recipient of an Early Researcher Award from the Ontario Ministry of Research and Innovation, and received infrastructure support from the Canada Foundation for Innovation. DG is the recipient of a studentship from the Ted Rogers Centre for Heart Research.

REFERENCES

- Shaw JE, Sicree RA, Zimmet PZ. Global estimates of the prevalence of diabetes for 2010 and 2030. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2010) 87(1):4–14. doi:10.1016/j. diabres.2009.10.007
- Guariguata L, Whiting D, Hambleton I, Beagley J, Linnenkamp U, Shaw J. Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2013 and projections for 2035. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* (2014) 103(2):137–49. doi:10.1016/j. diabres.2013.11.002
- Tancredi M, Rosengren A, Svensson A-M, Kosiborod M, Pivodic A, Gudbjörnsdottir S, et al. Excess mortality among persons with type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med (2015) 373(18):1720–32. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1504347
- Mazzone T, Chait A, Plutzky J. Cardiovascular disease risk in type 2 diabetes mellitus: insights from mechanistic studies. *Lancet* (2008) 371(9626):1800–9. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60768-0
- Wang CCL, Hess CN, Hiatt WR, Goldfine AB. Clinical update: cardiovascular disease in diabetes mellitus. *Circulation* (2016) 133(24):2459–502. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.116.022194
- Shah AD, Langenberg C, Rapsomaniki E, Denaxas S, Pujades-Rodriguez M, Gale CP, et al. Type 2 diabetes and incidence of cardiovascular diseases: a cohort study in 1·9 million people. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2015) 3(2):105–13. doi:10.1016/S2213-8587(14)70219-0
- 7. Fowler MJ. Microvascular and macrovascular complications of diabetes. *Clin Diabetes* (2008) 26(2):77–82. doi:10.2337/diaclin.26.2.77
- Yahagi K, Kolodgie FD, Lutter C, Mori H, Romero ME, Finn AV, et al. Pathology of human coronary and carotid artery atherosclerosis and vascular calcification in diabetes mellitus. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2017) 37(2):191–204. doi:10.1161/atvbaha.116.306256
- Raposo G, Stoorvogel W. Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. J Cell Biol (2013) 200(4):373–83. doi:10.1083/jcb.201211138
- Pol E, Böing A, Gool E, Nieuwland R. Recent developments in the nomenclature, presence, isolation, detection and clinical impact of extracellular vesicles. J Thromb Haemost (2016) 14(1):48–56. doi:10.1111/jth.13190
- Kowal J, Tkach M, Théry C. Biogenesis and secretion of exosomes. Curr Opin Cell Biol (2014) 29:116–25. doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2014.05.004
- Henne WM, Stenmark H, Emr SD. Molecular mechanisms of the membrane sculpting ESCRT pathway. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2013) 5(9):a016766. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a016766
- Klumperman J, Raposo G. The complex ultrastructure of the endolysosomal system. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* (2014) 6(10):a016857. doi:10.1101/ cshperspect.a016857
- Trajkovic K, Hsu C, Chiantia S, Rajendran L, Wenzel D, Wieland F, et al. Ceramide triggers budding of exosome vesicles into multivesicular endosomes. *Science* (2008) 319(5867):1244–7. doi:10.1126/science.1153124
- van Niel G, Charrin S, Simoes S, Romao M, Rochin L, Saftig P, et al. The tetraspanin CD63 regulates ESCRT-independent and dependent endosomal sorting during melanogenesis. *Dev Cell* (2011) 21(4):708–21. doi:10.1016/j. devcel.2011.08.019
- Hsu C, Morohashi Y, Yoshimura S-I, Manrique-Hoyos N, Jung S, Lauterbach MA, et al. Regulation of exosome secretion by Rab35 and its GTPase-activating proteins TBC1D10A–C. *J Cell Biol* (2010) 189(2):223–32. doi:10.1083/ jcb.200911018
- Cocucci E, Racchetti G, Meldolesi J. Shedding microvesicles: artefacts no more. *Trends Cell Biol* (2009) 19(2):43–51. doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2008.11.003
- Del Conde I, Shrimpton CN, Thiagarajan P, Lopez JA. Tissue-factor-bearing microvesicles arise from lipid rafts and fuse with activated platelets to initiate coagulation. *Blood* (2005) 106(5):1604–11. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-03-1095
- Hugel B, Martinez MC, Kunzelmann C, Freyssinet JM. Membrane microparticles: two sides of the coin. *Physiology (Bethesda)* (2005) 20:22–7. doi:10.1152/physiol.00029.2004
- Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Currie AR. Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. Br J Cancer (1972) 26(4):239–57. doi:10.1038/bjc.1972.33
- 21. Elmore S. Apoptosis: a review of programmed cell death. *Toxicol Pathol* (2007) 35(4):495–516. doi:10.1080/01926230701320337
- Mulcahy LA, Pink RC, Carter DRF. Routes and mechanisms of extracellular vesicle uptake. J Extracell Vesicles (2014):3. doi:10.3402/jev.v3403.24641

- Maas SLN, Breakefield XO, Weaver AM. Extracellular vesicles: unique intercellular delivery vehicles. *Trends Cell Biol* (2017) 27(3):172–88. doi:10.1016/j. tcb.2016.11.003
- El Andaloussi S, Mager I, Breakefield XO, Wood MJA. Extracellular vesicles: biology and emerging therapeutic opportunities. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2013) 12(5):347–57. doi:10.1038/nrd3978
- Ramakrishnan DP, Hajj-Ali RA, Chen Y, Silverstein RL. Extracellular vesicles activate a CD36-dependent signaling pathway to inhibit microvascular endothelial cell migration and tube formation significance. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2016) 36(3):534–44. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.307085
- Cambier L, de Couto G, Ibrahim A, Echavez AK, Valle J, Liu W, et al. Y RNA fragment in extracellular vesicles confers cardioprotection via modulation of IL-10 expression and secretion. *EMBO Mol Med* (2017) 9(3):337–52. doi:10.15252/emmm.201606924
- Meister G, Tuschi T. Mechanisms of gene silencing by double-stranded RNA. Nature (2004) 431(7006):343. doi:10.1038/nature02873
- Lázaro-Ibáñez E, Sanz-Garcia A, Visakorpi T, Escobedo-Lucea C, Siljander P, Ayuso-Sacido Á, et al. Different gDNA content in the subpopulations of prostate cancer extracellular vesicles: apoptotic bodies, microvesicles, and exosomes. *Prostate* (2014) 74(14):1379–90. doi:10.1002/pros.22853
- Haraszti RA, Didiot MC, Sapp E, Leszyk J, Shaffer SA, Rockwell HE, et al. High-resolution proteomic and lipidomic analysis of exosomes and microvesicles from different cell sources. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2016) 5:32570. doi:10.3402/jev.v5.32570
- Zernecke A, Bidzhekov K, Noels H, Shagdarsuren E, Gan L, Denecke B, et al. Delivery of microRNA-126 by apoptotic bodies induces CXCL12dependent vascular protection. *Sci Signal* (2009) 2(100):ra81. doi:10.1126/ scisignal.2000610
- Zarovni N, Corrado A, Guazzi P, Zocco D, Lari E, Radano G, et al. Integrated isolation and quantitative analysis of exosome shuttled proteins and nucleic acids using immunocapture approaches. *Methods* (2015) 87:46–58. doi:10.1016/j.ymeth.2015.05.028
- Li P, Kaslan M, Lee SH, Yao J, Gao Z. Progress in exosome isolation techniques. *Theranostics* (2017) 7(3):789–804. doi:10.7150/thno.18133
- Thery C, Amigorena S, Raposo G, Clayton A. Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatants and biological fluids. *Curr Protoc Cell Biol* (2006) Chapter 3:Unit 3.22. doi:10.1002/0471143030.cb0322s30
- Baran J, Baj-Krzyworzeka M, Weglarczyk K, Szatanek R, Zembala M, Barbasz J, et al. Circulating tumour-derived microvesicles in plasma of gastric cancer patients. *Cancer Immunol Immunother* (2010) 59(6):841–50. doi:10.1007/ s00262-009-0808-2
- 35. Witwer KW, Buzas EI, Bemis LT, Bora A, Lasser C, Lotvall J, et al. Standardization of sample collection, isolation and analysis methods in extracellular vesicle research. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2013) 2. doi:10.3402/jev. v2i0.20360
- Jeppesen DK, Hvam ML, Primdahl-Bengtson B, Boysen AT, Whitehead B, Dyrskjot L, et al. Comparative analysis of discrete exosome fractions obtained by differential centrifugation. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2014) 3:25011. doi:10.3402/ jev.v3.25011
- Zeringer E, Barta T, Li M, Vlassov AV. Strategies for isolation of exosomes. Cold Spring Harb Protoc (2015) 2015(4):319–23. doi:10.1101/pdb.top074476
- Taylor DD, Zacharias W, Gercel-Taylor C. Exosome isolation for proteomic analyses and RNA profiling. *Methods Mol Biol* (2011) 728:235–46. doi:10.1007/978-1-61779-068-3_15
- Heinemann ML, Ilmer M, Silva LP, Hawke DH, Recio A, Vorontsova MA, et al. Benchtop isolation and characterization of functional exosomes by sequential filtration. *J Chromatogr A* (2014) 1371:125–35. doi:10.1016/j. chroma.2014.10.026
- Gamez-Valero A, Monguio-Tortajada M, Carreras-Planella L, Franquesa M, Beyer K, Borras FE. Size-exclusion chromatography-based isolation minimally alters extracellular vesicles' characteristics compared to precipitating agents. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:33641. doi:10.1038/srep33641
- Erdbrügger U, Lannigan J. Analytical challenges of extracellular vesicle detection: a comparison of different techniques. *Cytometry A* (2016) 89(2):123–34. doi:10.1002/cyto.a.22795
- 42. Tosar JP, Cayota A, Eitan E, Halushka MK, Witwer KW. Ribonucleic artefacts: are some extracellular RNA discoveries driven by cell culture medium

components? J Extracell Vesicles (2017) 6(1):1272832. doi:10.1080/2001307 8.2016.1272832

- Rahman S, Rahman T, Ismail AA-S, Rashid ARA. Diabetes-associated macrovasculopathy: pathophysiology and pathogenesis. *Diabetes Obes Metab* (2007) 9(6):767–80. doi:10.1111/j.1463-1326.2006.00655.x
- Bornfeldt KE, Tabas I. Insulin resistance, hyperglycemia, and atherosclerosis. Cell Metab (2011) 14(5):575–85. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2011.07.015
- Galkina E, Ley K. Immune and inflammatory mechanisms of atherosclerosis. Annu Rev Immunol (2009) 27:165–97. doi:10.1146/annurev. immunol.021908.132620
- 46. Koga H, Sugiyama S, Kugiyama K, Watanabe K, Fukushima H, Tanaka T, et al. Elevated levels of VE-cadherin-positive endothelial microparticles in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus and coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol (2005) 45(10):1622–30. doi:10.1016/j.jacc.2005.02.047
- Tramontano AF, Lyubarova R, Tsiakos J, Palaia T, Deleon JR, Ragolia L. Circulating endothelial microparticles in diabetes mellitus. *Mediators Inflamm* (2010) 2010:250476. doi:10.1155/2010/250476
- Aurelian SM, Cheta DM, Onicescu D. Microvesicles potential biomarkers for the interrelations atherosclerosis/type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Rom J Morphol Embryol* (2014) 55(3 Suppl):1035–9.
- Feng B, Chen Y, Luo Y, Chen M, Li X, Ni Y. Circulating level of microparticles and their correlation with arterial elasticity and endothelium-dependent dilation in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Atherosclerosis* (2010) 208(1):264–9. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2009.06.037
- Nomura S, Tandon NN, Nakamura T, Cone J, Fukuhara S, Kambayashi J. High-shear-stress-induced activation of platelets and microparticles enhances expression of cell adhesion molecules in THP-1 and endothelial cells. *Atherosclerosis* (2001) 158(2):277–87. doi:10.1016/S0021-9150(01)00433-6
- Libby P. History of discovery: inflammation in atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2012) 32(9):2045–51. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.108.179705
- Barry OP, Praticò D, Savani RC, FitzGerald GA. Modulation of monocyte-endothelial cell interactions by platelet microparticles. *J Clin Invest* (1998) 102(1):136. doi:10.1172/JCI2592
- Rautou PE, Leroyer AS, Ramkhelawon B, Devue C, Duflaut D, Vion AC, et al. Microparticles from human atherosclerotic plaques promote endothelial ICAM-1-dependent monocyte adhesion and transendothelial migration. *Circ Res* (2011) 108(3):335–43. doi:10.1161/circresaha.110.237420
- Njock M-S, Cheng HS, Dang LT, Nazari-Jahantigh M, Lau AC, Boudreau E, et al. Endothelial cells suppress monocyte activation through secretion of extracellular vesicles containing anti-inflammatory microRNAs. *Blood* (2015) 125(20):3202–12. doi:10.1182/blood-2014-11-611046
- 55. Heinrich LF, Andersen DK, Cleasby ME, Lawson C. Long-term high fat feeding of rats results in increased numbers of circulating microvesicles with pro-inflammatory effects on endothelial cells. *Br J Nutr* (2015) 113(11): 1704–11. doi:10.1017/s0007114515001117
- Jansen F, Yang X, Franklin BS, Hoelscher M, Schmitz T, Bedorf J, et al. High glucose condition increases NADPH oxidase activity in endothelial microparticles that promote vascular inflammation. *Cardiovasc Res* (2013) 98(1):94–106. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvt013
- Gomez D, Owens GK. Smooth muscle cell phenotypic switching in atherosclerosis. *Cardiovasc Res* (2012) 95(2):156–64. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvs115
- Weber A-A, Köppen HO, Schrör K. Platelet-derived microparticles stimulate coronary artery smooth muscle cell mitogenesis by a PDGF-independent mechanism. *Thromb Res* (2000) 98(5):461–6. doi:10.1016/S0049-3848(00)00192-4
- Jansen F, Stumpf T, Proebsting S, Franklin BS, Wenzel D, Pfeifer P, et al. Intercellular transfer of miR-126-3p by endothelial microparticles reduces vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation and limits neointima formation by inhibiting LRP6. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* (2017) 104:43–52. doi:10.1016/j. yjmcc.2016.12.005
- Zhou J, Li YS, Nguyen P, Wang KC, Weiss A, Kuo YC, et al. Regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell turnover by endothelial cell-secreted microRNA-126: role of shear stress. *Circ Res* (2013) 113(1):40–51. doi:10.1161/ circresaha.113.280883
- Bobryshev Y, Killingsworth M, Lord R, Grabs A. Matrix vesicles in the fibrous cap of atherosclerotic plaque: possible contribution to plaque rupture. *J Cell Mol Med* (2008) 12(5b):2073–82. doi:10.1111/j.1582-4934.2008.00230.x
- 62. New SE, Goettsch C, Aikawa M, Marchini JF, Shibasaki M, Yabusaki K, et al. Macrophage-derived matrix vesicles: an alternative novel mechanism for

microcalcification in atherosclerotic plaques. Circ Res (2013) 113(1):72–7. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.301036

- Goettsch C, Hutcheson JD, Aikawa M, Iwata H, Pham T, Nykjaer A, et al. Sortilin mediates vascular calcification via its recruitment into extracellular vesicles. J Clin Invest (2016) 126(4):1323–36. doi:10.1172/JCI80851
- Hunter MP, Ismail N, Zhang X, Aguda BD, Lee EJ, Yu L, et al. Detection of microRNA expression in human peripheral blood microvesicles. *PLoS One* (2008) 3(11):e3694. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0003694
- Cheng HS, Sivachandran N, Lau A, Boudreau E, Zhao JL, Baltimore D, et al. MicroRNA-146 represses endothelial activation by inhibiting proinflammatory pathways. *EMBO Mol Med* (2013) 5(7):949–66. doi:10.1002/ emmm.201202318
- Das S, Halushka MK. Extracellular vesicle microRNA transfer in cardiovascular disease. *Cardiovasc Pathol* (2015) 24(4):199–206. doi:10.1016/j. carpath.2015.04.007
- 67. Jansen F, Wang H, Przybilla D, Franklin BS, Dolf A, Pfeifer P, et al. Vascular endothelial microparticles-incorporated microRNAs are altered in patients with diabetes mellitus. *Cardiovasc Diabetol* (2016) 15:49. doi:10.1186/ s12933-016-0367-8
- 68. Wu K, Yang Y, Zhong Y, Ammar HM, Zhang P, Guo R, et al. The effects of microvesicles on endothelial progenitor cells are compromised in type 2 diabetic patients via downregulation of the miR-126/VEGFR2 pathway. *Am J Physiol* (2016) 310(10):E828–37. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00056.2016
- 69. Jansen F, Yang X, Hoelscher M, Cattelan A, Schmitz T, Proebsting S, et al. Endothelial microparticle-mediated transfer of microRNA-126 promotes vascular endothelial cell repair via SPRED1 and is abrogated in glucosedamaged endothelial microparticles. *Circulation* (2013) 128(18):2026–38. doi:10.1161/circulationaha.113.001720
- Karolina DS, Tavintharan S, Armugam A, Sepramaniam S, Pek SLT, Wong MT, et al. Circulating miRNA profiles in patients with metabolic syndrome. *J Clin Endocrinol Metabol* (2012) 97(12):E2271–6. doi:10.1210/jc.2012-1996
- Elliott P, Andersson B, Arbustini E, Bilinska Z, Cecchi F, Charron P, et al. Classification of the cardiomyopathies: a position statement from the European Society Of Cardiology Working Group on Myocardial and Pericardial Diseases. *Eur Heart J* (2008) 29(2):270–6. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ ehm342
- Cohn JN, Johnson G, Ziesche S, Cobb F, Francis G, Tristani F, et al. A comparison of enalapril with hydralazine-isosorbide dinitrate in the treatment of chronic congestive heart failure. *N Engl J Med* (1991) 325(5):303–10. doi:10.1056/nejm199108013250502
- 73. Shindler DM, Kostis JB, Yusuf S, Quinones MA, Pitt B, Stewart D, et al. Diabetes mellitus, a predictor of morbidity and mortality in the Studies of Left Ventricular Dysfunction (SOLVD) Trials and Registry. *Am J Cardiol* (1996) 77(11):1017–20. doi:10.1016/S0002-9149(97)89163-1
- 74. Ryden L, Armstrong PW, Cleland JG, Horowitz JD, Massie BM, Packer M, et al. Efficacy and safety of high-dose lisinopril in chronic heart failure patients at high cardiovascular risk, including those with diabetes mellitus. Results from the ATLAS trial. *Eur Heart J* (2000) 21(23):1967–78. doi:10.1053/euhj.2000.2311
- Pappachan JM, Varughese GI, Sriraman R, Arunagirinathan G. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: pathophysiology, diagnostic evaluation and management. *World J Diabetes* (2013) 4(5):177–89. doi:10.4239/wjd.v4.i5.177
- Farhangkhoee H, Khan ZA, Kaur H, Xin X, Chen S, Chakrabarti S. Vascular endothelial dysfunction in diabetic cardiomyopathy: pathogenesis and potential treatment targets. *Pharmacol Ther* (2006) 111(2):384–99. doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2005.10.008
- Palomer X, Salvado L, Barroso E, Vazquez-Carrera M. An overview of the crosstalk between inflammatory processes and metabolic dysregulation during diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Int J Cardiol* (2013) 168(4):3160–72. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2013.07.150
- Liu Q, Wang S, Cai L. Diabetic cardiomyopathy and its mechanisms: role of oxidative stress and damage. *J Diabetes Investig* (2014) 5(6):623–34. doi:10.1111/jdi.12250
- Gorcsan J III, Tanaka H. Echocardiographic assessment of myocardial strain. J Am Coll Cardiol (2011) 58(14):1401–13. doi:10.1016/j.jacc. 2011.06.038
- Westermeier F, Riquelme JA, Pavez M, Garrido V, Diaz A, Verdejo HE, et al. New molecular insights of insulin in diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Front Physiol* (2016) 7:125. doi:10.3389/fphys.2016.00125

- Voulgari C, Papadogiannis D, Tentolouris N. Diabetic cardiomyopathy: from the pathophysiology of the cardiac myocytes to current diagnosis and management strategies. *Vasc Health Risk Manag* (2010) 6:883–903. doi:10.2147/ vhrm.s11681
- Bergmann O, Zdunek S, Felker A, Salehpour M, Alkass K, Bernard S, et al. Dynamics of cell generation and turnover in the human heart. *Cell* (2015) 161(7):1566–75. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.05.026
- Pinto AR, Ilinykh A, Ivey MJ, Kuwabara JT, D'Antoni M, Debuque RJ, et al. Revisiting cardiac cellular composition. *Circ Res* (2015) 118(3):400–9. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.115.307778
- Sluijter JP, Verhage V, Deddens JC, van den Akker F, Doevendans PA. Microvesicles and exosomes for intracardiac communication. *Cardiovasc Res* (2014) 102(2):302–11. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvu022
- de Gonzalo-Calvo D, van der Meer RW, Rijzewijk LJ, Smit JW, Revuelta-Lopez E, Nasarre L, et al. Serum microRNA-1 and microRNA-133a levels reflect myocardial steatosis in uncomplicated type 2 diabetes. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):47. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-00070-6
- Wang X, Huang W, Liu G, Cai W, Millard RW, Wang Y, et al. Cardiomyocytes mediate anti-angiogenesis in type 2 diabetic rats through the exosomal transfer of miR-320 into endothelial cells. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* (2014) 74:139–50. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2014.05.001
- Caporali A, Meloni M, Nailor A, Mitic T, Shantikumar S, Riu F, et al. p75 (NTR)-dependent activation of NF-kappaB regulates microRNA-503 transcription and pericyte-endothelial crosstalk in diabetes after limb ischaemia. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:8024. doi:10.1038/ncomms9024
- Bang C, Batkai S, Dangwal S, Gupta SK, Foinquinos A, Holzmann A, et al. Cardiac fibroblast-derived microRNA passenger strand-enriched exosomes mediate cardiomyocyte hypertrophy. *J Clin Invest* (2014) 124(5):2136–46. doi:10.1172/jci70577
- Hsieh PC, Davis ME, Lisowski LK, Lee RT. Endothelial-cardiomyocyte interactions in cardiac development and repair. *Annu Rev Physiol* (2006) 68:51–66. doi:10.1146/annurev.physiol.68.040104.124629
- Varga ZV, Giricz Z, Liaudet L, Hasko G, Ferdinandy P, Pacher P. Interplay of oxidative, nitrosative/nitrative stress, inflammation, cell death and autophagy in diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2015) 1852(2):232–42. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.06.030
- Nakagami H, Kaneda Y, Ogihara T, Morishita R. Endothelial dysfunction in hyperglycemia as a trigger of atherosclerosis. *Curr Diabetes Rev* (2005) 1(1):59–63. doi:10.2174/1573399052952550
- 92. Caporali A, Meloni M, Vollenkle C, Bonci D, Sala-Newby GB, Addis R, et al. Deregulation of microRNA-503 contributes to diabetes mellitus-induced impairment of endothelial function and reparative angiogenesis after limb ischemia. *Circulation* (2011) 123(3):282–91. doi:10.1161/ circulationaha.110.952325
- Fish JE, Santoro MM, Morton SU, Yu S, Yeh RF, Wythe JD, et al. miR-126 regulates angiogenic signaling and vascular integrity. *Dev Cell* (2008) 15(2):272–84. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2008.07.008
- Wang S, Aurora AB, Johnson BA, Qi X, McAnally J, Hill JA, et al. The endothelial-specific microRNA miR-126 governs vascular integrity and angiogenesis. *Dev Cell* (2008) 15(2):261–71. doi:10.1016/j.devcel.2008.07.002
- Fan D, Takawale A, Lee J, Kassiri Z. Cardiac fibroblasts, fibrosis and extracellular matrix remodeling in heart disease. *Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair* (2012) 5(1):15. doi:10.1186/1755-1536-5-15
- Pedrotty DM, Klinger RY, Kirkton RD, Bursac N. Cardiac fibroblast paracrine factors alter impulse conduction and ion channel expression of neonatal rat cardiomyocytes. *Cardiovasc Res* (2009) 83(4):688–97. doi:10.1093/cvr/ cvp164
- Shamhart PE, Luther DJ, Adapala RK, Bryant JE, Petersen KA, Meszaros JG, et al. Hyperglycemia enhances function and differentiation of adult rat cardiac fibroblasts. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* (2014) 92(7):598–604. doi:10.1139/ cjpp-2013-0490
- Chen X, Liu G, Zhang W, Zhang J, Yan Y, Dong W, et al. Inhibition of MEF2A prevents hyperglycemia-induced extracellular matrix accumulation by blocking Akt and TGF-beta1/Smad activation in cardiac fibroblasts. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* (2015) 69:52–61. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2015.10.012
- Liu J, Zhuo X, Liu W, Wan Z, Liang X, Gao S, et al. Resveratrol inhibits high glucose induced collagen upregulation in cardiac fibroblasts through regulating TGF-beta1-Smad3 signaling pathway. *Chem Biol Interact* (2015) 227:45–52. doi:10.1016/j.cbi.2014.12.031

- 100. Liu S, Li W, Xu M, Huang H, Wang J, Chen X. Micro-RNA 21Targets dual specific phosphatase 8 to promote collagen synthesis in high glucose-treated primary cardiac fibroblasts. *Can J Cardiol* (2014) 30(12):1689–99. doi:10.1016/ j.cjca.2014.07.747
- 101. Pironti G, Strachan RT, Abraham D, Mon-Wei Yu S, Chen M, Chen W, et al. Circulating exosomes induced by cardiac pressure overload contain functional angiotensin II type 1 receptors. *Circulation* (2015) 131(24):2120–30. doi:10.1161/circulationaha.115.015687
- 102. Roman GC. Vascular dementia may be the most common form of dementia in the elderly. J Neurol Sci (2002) 203-204:7–10. doi:10.1016/ S0022-510X(02)00252-6
- Vogels RL, Scheltens P, Schroeder-Tanka JM, Weinstein HC. Cognitive impairment in heart failure: a systematic review of the literature. *Eur J Heart Fail* (2007) 9(5):440–9. doi:10.1016/j.ejheart.2006.11.001
- Bogush M, Heldt NA, Persidsky Y. Blood brain barrier injury in diabetes: unrecognized effects on brain and cognition. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol* (2017). doi:10.1007/s11481-017-9752-7
- 105. Beltramo E, Lopatina T, Berrone E, Mazzeo A, Iavello A, Camussi G, et al. Extracellular vesicles derived from mesenchymal stem cells induce features of diabetic retinopathy in vitro. *Acta Diabetol* (2014) 51(6):1055. doi:10.1007/ s00592-014-0672-1
- 106. Andras IE, Toborek M. Extracellular vesicles of the blood-brain barrier. *Tissue Barriers* (2016) 4(1):e1131804. doi:10.1080/21688370.2015.1131804
- 107. Kalani A, Chaturvedi P, Maldonado C, Bauer P, Joshua IG, Tyagi SC, et al. Dementia-like pathology in type-2 diabetes: a novel microRNA mechanism. *Mol Cell Neurosci* (2017) 80:58–65. doi:10.1016/j.mcn.2017.02.005
- 108. Sanders-van Wijk S, van Empel V, Davarzani N, Maeder MT, Handschin R, Pfisterer ME, et al. Circulating biomarkers of distinct pathophysiological pathways in heart failure with preserved vs. reduced left ventricular ejection fraction. *Eur J Heart Fail* (2015) 17(10):1006–14. doi:10.1002/ejhf.414
- Boulanger CM, Loyer X, Rautou PE, Amabile N. Extracellular vesicles in coronary artery disease. Nat Rev Cardiol (2017) 14(5):259–72. doi:10.1038/ nrcardio.2017.7
- 110. Santovito D, De Nardis V, Marcantonio P, Mandolini C, Paganelli C, Vitale E, et al. Plasma exosome microRNA profiling unravels a new potential modulator of adiponectin pathway in diabetes: effect of glycemic control. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 99(9):E1681–5. doi:10.1210/jc.2013-3843
- 111. Thompson AG, Gray E, Heman-Ackah SM, Mager I, Talbot K, Andaloussi SE, et al. Extracellular vesicles in neurodegenerative disease pathogenesis to biomarkers. *Nat Rev Neurol* (2016) 12(6):346–57. doi:10.1038/nrneurol. 2016.68
- 112. Wang J, Yan F, Zhao Q, Zhan F, Wang R, Wang L, et al. Circulating exosomal miR-125a-3p as a novel biomarker for early-stage colon cancer. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):4150. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-04386-1
- 113. Cheng HS, Njock MS, Khyzha N, Dang LT, Fish JE. Noncoding RNAs regulate NF-kappaB signaling to modulate blood vessel inflammation. *Front Genet* (2014) 5:422. doi:10.3389/fgene.2014.00422
- 114. Cheng HS, Besla R, Li A, Chen Z, Shikatani EA, Nazari-Jahantigh M, et al. Paradoxical suppression of atherosclerosis in the absence of microRNA-146a. *Circ Res* (2017) 121(4):354–67. doi:10.1161/circresaha.116.310529
- 115. Halkein J, Tabruyn SP, Ricke-Hoch M, Haghikia A, Nguyen NQ, Scherr M, et al. MicroRNA-146a is a therapeutic target and biomarker for peripartum cardiomyopathy. *J Clin Invest* (2013) 123(5):2143–54. doi:10.1172/ jci64365
- Feng B, Chen S, Gordon AD, Chakrabarti S. miR-146a mediates inflammatory changes and fibrosis in the heart in diabetes. *J Mol Cell Cardiol* (2017) 105:70–6. doi:10.1016/j.yjmcc.2017.03.002
- 117. De Rosa S, Fichtlscherer S, Lehmann R, Assmus B, Dimmeler S, Zeiher AM. Transcoronary concentration gradients of circulating microRNAs. *Circulation* (2011) 124(18):1936–44. doi:10.1161/circulationaha.111.037572
- Zhou Y, Zhou G, Tian C, Jiang W, Jin L, Zhang C, et al. Exosome-mediated small RNA delivery for gene therapy. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA (2016) 7(6):758–71. doi:10.1002/wrna.1363
- 119. Janssen HL, Reesink HW, Lawitz EJ, Zeuzem S, Rodriguez-Torres M, Patel K, et al. Treatment of HCV infection by targeting microRNA. N Engl J Med (2013) 368(18):1685–94. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1209026
- 120. Rupaimoole R, Slack FJ. MicroRNA therapeutics: towards a new era for the management of cancer and other diseases. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2017) 16(3):203–22. doi:10.1038/nrd.2016.246

- Alvarez-Erviti L, Seow Y, Yin H, Betts C, Lakhal S, Wood MJ. Delivery of siRNA to the mouse brain by systemic injection of targeted exosomes. *Nat Biotechnol* (2011) 29(4):341–5. doi:10.1038/nbt.1807
- 122. Bonauer A, Carmona G, Iwasaki M, Mione M, Koyanagi M, Fischer A, et al. MicroRNA-92a controls angiogenesis and functional recovery of ischemic tissues in mice. *Science* (2009) 324(5935):1710–3. doi:10.1126/ science.1174381
- 123. Hullinger TG, Montgomery RL, Seto AG, Dickinson BA, Semus HM, Lynch JM, et al. Inhibition of miR-15 protects against cardiac ischemic injury. *Circ Res* (2012) 110(1):71–81. doi:10.1161/circresaha.111.244442
- 124. Hinkel R, Penzkofer D, Zuhlke S, Fischer A, Husada W, Xu QF, et al. Inhibition of microRNA-92a protects against ischemia/reperfusion injury in a large-animal model. *Circulation* (2013) 128(10):1066–75. doi:10.1161/ circulationaha.113.001904
- 125. Abdul-Ghani M, Del Prato S, Chilton R, DeFronzo RA. SGLT2 inhibitors and cardiovascular risk: lessons learned from the EMPA-REG OUTCOME study. *Diabetes Care* (2016) 39(5):717–25. doi:10.2337/dc16-0041

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Gustafson, Veitch and Fish. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Extracellular Vesicles As Mediators of Cardiovascular Calcification

Amirala Bakhshian Nik1, Joshua D. Hutcheson1* and Elena Aikawa2.3*

¹ Department of Biomedical Engineering, Florida International University, Miami, FL, United States, ² Center for Interdisciplinary Cardiovascular Sciences, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States, ³ Cardiovascular Division, Department of Medicine, Center for Excellence in Vascular Biology, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

Involvement of cell-derived extracellular particles, coined as matrix vesicles (MVs), in biological bone formation was introduced by Bonucci and Anderson in mid-1960s. In 1983, Anderson et al. observed similar structures in atherosclerotic lesion calcification using electron microscopy. Recent studies employing new technologies and high- resolution microscopy have shown that although they exhibit characteristics similar to MVs, calcifying extracellular vesicles (EVs) in cardiovascular tissues are phenotypically distinct from their bone counterparts. EVs released from cells within cardiovascular tissues may contain either inhibitors of calcification in normal physiological conditions or promoters in pathological environments. Pathological conditions characterized by mineral imbalance (e.g., atherosclerosis, chronic kidney disease, diabetes) can cause smooth muscle cells, valvular interstitial cells, and macrophages to release calcifying EVs, which contain specific mineralization-promoting cargo. These EVs can arise from either direct budding of the cell plasma membrane or through the release of exosomes from multivesicular bodies. In contrast, MVs are germinated from specific sites on osteoblast, chondrocyte, or odontoblast membranes. Much like MVs, calcifying EVs in the fibrillar collagen extracellular matrix of cardiovascular tissues serve as calcification foci, but the mineral that forms appears different between the tissues. This review highlights recent studies on mechanisms of calcifying EV formation, release, and mineralization in cardiovascular calcification. Furthermore, we address the MV-EV relationship, and offer insight into therapeutic implications to consider for potential targets for each type of mineralization.

Keywords: calcification, atherosclerosis, aortic stenosis, hyperphosphatemia, extracellular vesicles, matrix vesicles

BACKGROUND

Bonucci reported the appearance of "roundish bodies" in initiation of the calcification process in guinea pig and rat tibial-femoral epiphyseal plates in 1967 (1). One year later, Anderson used electron microscopy on tissue sections to demonstrate vesicular structures in the mouse cartilage epiphysis (2). Subsequent studies have suggested that mineralization depends on secretion of *matrix vesicles (MVs)*, with diameter of 30–400 nm (3, 4), from chondrocytes, osteoblasts, odontoblasts, tenocytes, and cementoblasts (5). MVs released from specific sites on cell membranes [apical microvilli (3)] exhibit similar cytosolic and plasma membrane profiles apparent in their cell of origin (6). Compared to their parent cells, MVs carry augmented levels of acidic

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Magnus Bäck, Karolinska Institute (KI), Sweden

Reviewed by:

Leon J. Schurgers, Maastricht University, Netherlands Willi Jahnen-Dechent, RWTH Aachen University, Germany Alexander N. Kapustin, AstraZeneca, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Joshua D. Hutcheson jhutches@fiu.edu; Elena Aikawa eaikawa@bwh.harvard.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Atherosclerosis and Vascular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 29 August 2017 Accepted: 23 November 2017 Published: 11 December 2017

Citation:

Bakhshian Nik A, Hutcheson JD and Aikawa E (2017) Extracellular Vesicles As Mediators of Cardiovascular Calcification. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 4:78. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2017.00078

68

lipids such as phosphatidylserine (PS) and sphingomyelin, but diminished levels of neutral phospholipids of phosphatidylcholine and lysophospholipids (5). Chondrocytes residing in the epiphyseal plate experience hypoxic conditions due to presence of collagen fibrils and proteoglycans, which restrict oxygen and nutrients delivery (7). Development of blood microvessels into this zone creates oxidative stress caused by the sudden elevation in nutrients, oxygen, calcium ions (Ca²⁺), and phosphate ions (Pi) (8). This process leads to enrichment of mitochondria with Ca²⁺, which results in secretion of Ca²⁺-loaded vesicles into the cytosol. It has been proposed that the formation of complexes between PS and Ca²⁺ either with Pi or annexins in these vesicles, diminishes the Ca²⁺ level within the cytosol, expedites actin depolymerization, and consequently leads MVs to pinch-off from the cell and release into the extracellular environment (8, 9). Of note, apoptotic bodies originating from apoptotic cell membrane rearrangement during terminal stage of mineralization in epiphyseal plate differs from active formation and release of MVs (10). Released MVs interact with glycosaminoglycans and initiate extracellular mineral deposition (11).

Chondrocyte differentiating factors such as thyroxine (T3), bone morphogenetic protein 6, retinoic acid, and Indian hedgehog may give rise to MV generation by inducing changes in cell phenotype (12). Osteogenic cell types abundantly express annexin I, II, IV, V, VI, and VII. Annexins function as voltage-gated channels or Ca^{2+} -binding agents, mediate inflammation responses, and regulate structural properties of both cells and MVs membranes (4, 11, 13). The most abundant proteins in MVs are annexins II, V, and VI, which can accelerate the calcification process by either providing required Ca^{2+} for mineralization or partaking in PS– Ca^{2+} -annexin complexes (14). Additionally, other membrane proteins such as calbindin D9k can provide Ca^{2+} for MVs (15).

Pyrophosphate (PPi), which originates from nucleotide pyrophosphatase phosphodiesterase (NPP1) hydrolysis of nucleoside triphosphates, inhibits mineralization. Progressive ankylosis (ANK) carries PPi into extracellular milieu. Tissue non-specific alkaline phosphatase (TNAP, on the outer leaflet of MV membranes) hydrolyzes PPi into free phosphate (Pi) and provides free Pi for complexing with Ca²⁺ and mineral formation (5, 7, 16). Type III Na/Pi transporters (PiT-1) on the MV membrane facilitate Pi internalization. Bone morphogenetic protein 2 and parathyroid hormone upregulate expression of these transporters (7). Additionally, MVs contain phosphatases and membrane phosphohydrolases, such as TNAP, AMPase, ATPase, nucleoside triphosphate pyrophosphohydrolase (NTPPase, NPP1, and PC-1), and PHOSPHO-1 that elevate the intravesicular Pi concentration within the MVs (5, 17). This highly ions concentrated environment, adjacent to the MV membrane, where Ca²⁺ and Pi meet, provokes calcium phosphate precipitation followed by an increase in pH and mineral stabilization. Membrane-mineral associations are mediated by PS located on the luminal side of the MV lipid bilayer. PS is an anionic phospholipid with tendency to bind Ca²⁺. The complexes of PS-Ca²⁺-Pi may serve as initial nuclei for hydroxyapatite precipitation (7, 13, 18). Studies have also suggested that the mineralization process can begin intracellularly with contribution of pre-nucleation

clusters within endosomes, which initiate mineralization in order to maintain Ca^{2+} and Pi in homeostatic concentration and fulfill energy trade-off (5).

Matrix vesicles are equipped with matrix metalloproteases (MMPs) that degrade and remodel the ECM (3, 19). Particularly, MMP-2, MMP-3, MMP-9, and MMP-13 are located in MV membranes and play a key role in matrix remodeling and propagation of mineralization (5, 19, 20). In ECM, collagen fibrils and proteoglycans provide charged regions, which are favorable sites for accumulation of the calcium phosphate nanoparticle clusters that form in MVs. The amorphous apatite resulting from this accumulation transforms into structured and crystalline mineral following ECM associations (5). MVs interact with ECM proteins via their integrin receptors and surface motifs, such as CD9, CD63, and Hsp70 (5) (Figure 1). In addition to their remodeling potential and ECM binding, MVs in growth plate ECM can affect the proliferation and fate of resident cells, due to the activation of parathyroid hormones and gene-related peptide through their loaded proteins (5). This paracrine signaling property is similar to other subtypes of extracellular vesicles (EVs) ubiquitous to many cells and tissues.

It is worth mentioning that skepticism exists on the existence and role of MVs in bone growth and formation. Studies have suggested that calcification originates from cell death and debris, which nucleate mineral, and observations of MVs are attributed to sample preparation artifacts (21). In recent studies, however, isolation of MVs from chicken tibias using multiple centrifugations and application of microscopy techniques such as transmission electron microscopy on growth plate during bone formation have provided support for MVs as mediators of mineralization (22, 23). Furthermore, knockout of Stx4a, a regulatory factor for secretion of MVs, decreases number of MVs and leads to reduced bone mineral density (24). Recent interest in non-calcifying EVs (e.g., exosomes) and the related development of assay techniques may build on the observational studies of the past and help clarify the derivation and function of MVs in the mineralization of hard tissues.

EVs WITH NON-OSTEOGENIC ORIGINS

Matrix vesicles represent one specific subtype of EVs. Generally, EVs function to maintain both intracellular and extracellular homeostasis. Two major pathways mediate EV release into the ECM: (i) via multivesicular bodies (MVB), containing several EVs wrapped by plasma membrane and (ii) through direct budding of a single EV from cellular plasma membrane (4). Depending on the release mechanism, EVs are generally referred to as exosomes and microparticles, respectively. Both EV types carry a subset of cargos representing their parental cell (11, 25). MVB trafficking and fusion/fission from the plasma membrane requires activity of Rab GTPases, specifically Rab27a, Rab27b, Rab35, and Rab11 (26, 27). EV structure consists of a metabolically active membrane with transmembrane proteins and an inner core, which typically carries RNAs, soluble proteins, and lipids (11, 25, 28). EVs often contain sets of small RNAs, such as miRNA, tRNA, mRNA, piRNA, snRNA, Y-RNA, and vault RNA, which can be protected from RNase degradation and encoded at target cells



FIGURE 1 | Schematic of extracellular vesicles (EVs) contributing in calcific mineral formation. Osteogenic cells release EVs into ECM to nucleate bone or cardiovascular mineral. EV membranes contain a specific lipid profile that differs from the parent cell. Annexins on EVs facilitate Ca²⁺ entrance, and tissue non-specific alkaline phosphatase (TNAP) activity converts PPi to phosphate ions (Pi), thereby providing the necessary ionic components for mineralization. PiT-1 transporters transfer Pi into the EV lumen. Coincidence of these ions and formation Ca²⁺–PS–Pi within the EV lead to mineral initiation. Membrane enzymes and proteins interact with and attach to the ECM, directing the localization of calcification. Figure created using Servier Medical Art images (http://smart.servier.com).

(27, 29). The difference in RNA ingredients of parental cells and EV cargo demonstrates the selective mechanism of RNA loading. EV RNA cargo can serve as biomarker that indicate the phenotypic state of parental cells, as well as messengers that can interact with other cells (27). EVs play a key role in cell-cell interaction and data trafficking in both normal and pathological conditions. For instance, miRNA-enriched EVs from endothelial cells can regulate gene expression and resultant phenotypic transitions in smooth muscle cells (SMCs) (30). Divergence from normal physiological conditions toward pathological ones induces release of dysfunctional EVs with pathologic cargo and may affect tissue homeostasis and cellular phenotypes (4). This section serves as a short primer on the complex mechanisms associated with EV release and cargo loading. These processes are reviewed in greater detail elsewhere (31–34). The current review focuses on EVs that play a direct role in depositing mineral in cardiovascular tissues. Current evidence, discussed in the following sections, suggests

that these EVs share commonalities with both MVs and other EV populations, such as exosomes.

CALCIFYING EVs IN CARDIOVASCULAR CALCIFICATION

Calcification contributes to pathological remodeling in different locations throughout the cardiovascular system, such as the arterial intima and media and the aortic valve (35, 36). Electron microscopy demonstrated the presence of needle-like hydroxyapatite nanocrystals in EVs extracted from atherosclerotic lesions of apolipoprotein E-deficient mice (37). EVs released into the atherosclerotic lesion have a Ca/P ratio of 0.66, indicating incomplete calcification [compared to the ratio in normal adult murine bones of 1.71 (38)]. High resolution microcomputed tomography imaging revealed microcalcification in the fibrous cap of atherosclerotic plaques composed of calcified EV aggregates (39, 40). These observations indicate a role for EVs in the formation and progression of cardiovascular calcification, but mechanistic studies demonstrating causality are difficult. One major challenge in EV research is to distinguish between different EV populations, such as calcifying EVs, MVs, exosomes, apoptotic bodies, and microparticles, due to their shared size and shape characteristics (41). Application of multiple and consecutive centrifugations followed by size-based filtration and sucrose gradient-based ultracentrifugation to isolate EVs of known density have been used to separate different cellular-derived particles and EVs (25, 42). EVs with various sizes and densities pellet based on the centrifugation speed, i.e., large, medium, and small EVs precipitate at low, moderate, and high speeds, respectively (25). However, these techniques are often unable to separate the various EV populations. Calcifying EVs secreted by SMCs cultured under osteogenic conditions exhibit increased mass density compared to other EVs, likely due to mineral formation. Therefore, calcifying EVs precipitate more quickly under the application of ultracentrifugation (~100,000g) (41), permitting enrichment of these EVs and subsequent proteomic profiling (25, 41). Once proteomic fingerprints are established, membrane proteins (tetraspanins), ER-related proteins, mitochondrial proteins, exosomal markers, endosomal markers, and ECM factors (such as surface molecules and integrins) specific to various EV populations help map and separate EVs into subsets based on their origins (25).

In certain pathological conditions (such as chronic kidney disease), extracellular Ca²⁺/Pi concentrations increase, thereby cells release EVs with high levels of these ions (43). This may be in contrast to inflammation-driven osteogenic differentiation (e.g., in atherosclerosis). Release of EVs from cardiovascular cells with osteogenic phenotypes promotes mineralization via generation of free phosphate from sources such as ATP and pyrophosphate (44). Further, dystrophic mineral deposition resulting from cell death may also contribute to a significant portion of cardiovascular calcification (45). The diverse contributors have led to confusion surrounding the mechanisms of cardiovascular calcification (46); however, numerous studies have demonstrated similarities between cardiovascular calcification and bone metabolism (47-51). Annexins present on calcifying EVs play a dual role of Ca2+ uptake and counteracting the calcification inhibitory activity of fetuin-A during ectopic mineralization (4, 11). High phosphate imbalance present in chronic kidney disease may accelerate calcification nucleation in EVs (46). In this condition, TNAP activity may accelerate the calcification process in both non-osteogenic and osteogenic EVs through removing PPi, a competitive inhibitor to Ca²⁺ associations with Pi (39). EVs with calcifying potential may also contain imbalanced and dysfunctional miRNAs, which induce the gene expression and protein synthesis of osteogenic markers, such as RUNX2, Smad1, osterix, TNAP, chaperones, and proinflammatory factors (4, 11). Unlike the physiological process of MV-mediated mineral deposition, however, calcification of EVs may inhibit their ability to reach their intended target cells, further promoting a loss in tissue homeostasis and pathological remodeling (52) (Figure 1).

Future works are needed to improve upon EV isolation techniques in order to reduce noise from non-calcifying EVs.

Advancements in EV characterization tools may allow careful comparative studies to understand the similarities and differences between MVs and calcifying EVs liberated from the three reported cellular contributors to calcification in cardiovascular tissues: vascular SMCs, macrophages, and valvular interstitial cells (VICs). While these cell populations do not represent all cells involved in cardiovascular calcification, direct EV-related contributions to mineral nucleation from other cells remain unreported. Improvement of EV isolation and assay techniques may also allow for determination of the relative roles of the various cell populations in the mineralization process.

Smooth Muscle Cell-Derived Vesicles

Smooth muscle cells and osteoblasts share similar mesenchymal origins and under pathological stresses SMCs can exhibit an osteoblast-like phenotype (48). In a hyperphosphatemic environment (e.g., chronic kidney disease) or inflammation-driven atherosclerosis, vascular SMCs upregulate expression of osteogenic differentiation genes (53) and release EVs enriched with pro-calcific biomarkers (44). Hyperphosphatemic and osteogenic conditions decrease circulating factors, such as fetuin-A (51) and matrix Gla protein (50), which inhibit extracellular mineralization, but increase TNAP and annexins II and VI in SMC-derived EVs, which promote extracellular mineralization. Similar to its function in bone, TNAP activity leads to increased available Pi and reduction of mineralization inhibitors such as PPi (49). The formation of calcifying EVs begins with a series of intracellular trafficking processes that produce the EVs with calcificationpromoting factors. A specific trafficking protein, sortilin, is a key player in the formation of calcifying EVs secreted by vascular SMCs. Sortilin transports TNAP into SMC-derived EVs, thereby increasing EVs calcifying potential (49).

Materials science imaging techniques revealed that, once released into the ECM, SMC-derived calcifying EVs tend to aggregate and form microcalcifications in areas with sparse collagen, whereas, large calcifications (larger than 200 µm) are bordered by dense collagen fibers (36). Large calcifications (macrocalcifications), shaped by accumulation of small calcifications (microcalcifications), gradually form mature mineral. Microcalcifications formed within the fibrous cap of vulnerable atherosclerotic plaques further potentiate plaque rupture, whereas larger macrocalcifications beneath stable fibrous caps may promote plaque stability. EVs collected from SMCs cultured in pro-calcific conditions and incubated within an in vitro collagen hydrogel system, mimicking aspects of atherosclerotic lesions, showed the progression of calcification from single calcifying EVs to EVs aggregation and fusion to the formation of microcalcifications to growth into large calcifications (36). Collagen acts as a scaffold to direct the shape and size of the calcifications generated from this growth process (36). Collagen fibrils, specifically type I and III in arteries, bind to EV membranes and mediate calcification propagation in the ECM (48). Figure 2 illustrates the mechanism by which EVs associate to form mineral within the tissue, beginning with EV accumulation and aggregation to fusion and mineralization. In addition to binding and directing the calcification of EVs, collagen may also play a role in phenotypic changes and EV formation within SMCs (54). Discoidin domain receptor-1


FIGURE 2 | Schematic of extracellular vesicle (EV)-collagen interaction to form microcalcifications in the atherosclerotic fibrous cap. Collagen degradation in vulnerable fibrous caps allows calcifying EVs to accumulate. The initial mineral nuclei forms within individual EVs and EV aggregation and fusion drives mineral maturation and growth (36).

(DDR-1), a collagen receptor, regulates SMC phenotype by sensing extracellular collagen. DDR-1-depleted SMCs exhibit elevated collagen production, EV release, and mineral deposition. DDR-1 functions as a regulator of TGF- β signaling pathways, acting as a switch between pro-fibrocalcific and anti-fibrocalcific TGF- β signaling (54). Therapeutic strategies to control these pathways and prevent or reverse SMC-driven calcification will require a better understanding of the mechanisms that lead to their formation within the cell, nucleation of mineral outside the cell, and the role of the ECM in calcification propagation. SMC-derived EVs are the most studied type of calcifying EVs in cardiovascular tissues and the mechanisms identified in these cells may help inform research into other cellular drivers of cardiovascular calcification.

VIC-Derived Vesicles

Valvular interstitial cell phenotypic changes play a vital role in ECM remodeling and mineral deposition that lead to calcific aortic valve disease (55). VICs have a high phenotypic plasticity and can transform from a fibroblastic phenotype to myofibroblast- or osteoblast-like cells in response to pathological conditions, such as hyperphosphatemia and pro-inflammatory cytokines. VICs exhibit high sensitivity to their mechanical environment and undergo phenotypic changes in vitro in response to changes in substrate stiffness and mechanical stretch (55). VICs may also influence valvular endothelial cells (VECs) through EV secretion. Valve homeostasis depends on appropriate interactions between VECs and VICs (55, 56). This intercellular interaction occurs when VECs take up VICs-derived EVs containing perinuclear proteins (35). In calcifying milieu, VICs express osteogenic mRNAs of PiT-1, RUNX2, Msx2, and TNAP (57), and procalcific VIC-derived EVs resemble MVs from chondrocytes and SMCs, demonstrating elevated annexins II, V, and VI (35). Similarly, immortalized rat VICs cultured in high calcium and phosphate media release EVs with elevated calcium and annexin VI, and electron microscopy revealed co-localization of annexin VI with EVs in calcified human aortic valves (57). Though aortic valve calcification constitutes a major unmet clinical problem, investigations into the extracellular mechanisms through which mineral nucleation and growth occurs remain scant. More studies are needed to understand the role of VIC EVs in this process and the similarities and differences between these EVs and the more well-studied SMC-derived EVs.

Macrophage-Derived Vesicles

Atherosclerosis creates moderate hypoxia (2% oxygen) for local cells and leads to activation of pro-inflammatory responses such as Akt and β-catenin pathways in macrophages (58). Additionally, oxidized lipids, IL-6, and TNF- α (proinflammatory cytokines), and mechanical stimuli contribute to both increased inflammation and subsequent ectopic calcification (59). Pro-inflammatory macrophages secrete elastolytic cathepsins and collagen-degrading MMPs (e.g., MMP-2 and -9), and the resultant proteolytic ECM degradation and remodeling causes atherosclerotic plaque instability and rupture, the leading cause of cardiovascular morbidity (60, 61). Inflammation precedes and may serve as a requisite step for the onset of both atherosclerotic and aortic valve calcification (61). Monocytes internalize forming minerals and secrete more inflammatory cytokines and intensify pathologic condition (62). Cytokines secreted by pro-inflammatory macrophages exacerbate calcification by activating apoptosis or osteogenic pathways activation in SMCs and VICs (46). In addition to an indirect role in pro-calcific remodeling, macrophages can directly contribute to cardiovascular calcification through release of calcifying EVs in hyperphosphatemic milieu (46). Macrophage-derived calcifying EVs contain the tetraspanin exosomal markers of CD9, CD63, CD81, and TSG101 (28, 63). These EVs also exhibit immunopositivity for CD68 (63) (Figure 3A). In EVs released by macrophages, calcium mineral nucleates on complexes containing S100A9 [a pro-inflammatory and pro-thrombotic factor (11)], PS, and annexin V on the EV membrane (4). Accumulation and aggregation of these EVs results in mineral growth within atherosclerotic plaques (Figure 3B). Of note, macrophages contribute to both vascular and valvular calcification; therefore, macrophage-derived EV calcification could provide a link between mineral depositions within these tissues.

CONCLUSION

Calcifying EVs play an important role in the initiation and development of cardiovascular calcification. Though calcifying EVs in cardiovascular tissues appear to share commonalities with MVs, they seem to be derived from different origins within cells. The overlapping characteristics between EVs and MVs underscore the fact that research in cardiovascular calcification



FIGURE 3 | Macrophage-derived extracellular vesicles (EVs) within atherosclerotic cap. **(A)** Macrophage-derived EVs contain the CD68 glycoprotein (immunogold staining); **(B)** released EVs have various size and morphology and aggregate to build calcific mineral within the atherosclerotic fibrous cap (63).

has been informed by pioneering research in bone physiology. However, the noted differences between cardiovascular calcifying EVs and bone MVs warrant further investigation. The type and quality of mineral that forms appear different in the two tissues. Further, the appearance of calcific mineral in cardiovascular tissues associates strongly with a decrease in

REFERENCES

- Bonucci E. Fine structure of early cartilage calcification. J Ultrastruct Res (1967) 20:33–50. doi:10.1016/S0022-5320(67)80034-0
- Anderson HC. Vesicles associated with calcification in the matrix of epiphyseal cartilage. J Cell Biol (1969) 41:59–72. doi:10.1083/jcb.41.1.59
- Schmidt JR, Kliemt S, Preissler C, Moeller S, von Bergen M, Hempel U, et al. Osteoblast-released matrix vesicles, regulation of activity and composition by sulfated and non-sulfated glycosaminoglycans. *Mol Cell Proteomics* (2016) 15:558–72. doi:10.1074/mcp.M115.049718
- Aikawa E. Extracellular vesicles in cardiovascular disease: focus on vascular calcification. J Physiol (2016) 594:2877–80. doi:10.1113/JP272112
- Shapiro IM, Landis WJ, Risbud MV. Matrix vesicles: are they anchored exosomes? *Bone* (2015) 79:29–36. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2015.05.013
- Golub EE. Role of matrix vesicles in biomineralization. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2009) 1790:1592–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2009.09.006
- Cui L, Houston D, Farquharson C, MacRae V. Characterisation of matrix vesicles in skeletal and soft tissue mineralisation. *Bone* (2016) 87:147–58. doi:10.1016/j.bone.2016.04.007
- Shapiro IM, Golub EE, Chance B, Piddington C, Oshima O, Tuncay OC, et al. Linkage between energy status of perivascular cells and mineralization of the chick growth cartilage. *Dev Biol* (1988) 129:372–9. doi:10.1016/ 0012-1606(88)90384-3
- Wu LN, Ishikawa Y, Sauer GR, Genge BR, Mwale F, Mishima H, et al. Morphological and biochemical characterization of mineralizing primary cultures of avian growth plate chondrocytes: evidence for cellular processing of Ca2+ and Pi prior to matrix mineralization. *J Cell Biochem* (1995) 57:218–37. doi:10.1002/jcb.240570206
- Kirsch T, Wang W, Pfander D. Functional differences between growth plate apoptotic bodies and matrix vesicles. *J Bone Miner Res* (2003) 18:1872–81. doi:10.1359/jbmr.2003.18.10.1872
- New SE, Aikawa E. Role of extracellular vesicles in de novo mineralization. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol (2013) 33:1753–8. doi:10.1161/ ATVBAHA.112.300128
- Anderson HC. Matrix vesicles and calcification. *Curr Rheumatol Rep* (2003) 5:222–6. doi:10.1007/s11926-003-0071-z
- Genetos DC, Wong A, Weber TJ, Karin NJ, Yellowley CE. Impaired osteoblast differentiation in annexin A2-and-A5-deficient cells. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e107482. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0107482

bone mineral density—a phenomenon known as the calcification paradox (59). Studies into the differences between the fundamental building blocks of calcification—calcifying EVs in cardiovascular tissues and MVs in bone—may provide new insight into the observed divergence in mineral within these tissues and present therapeutic options that avoid unwanted off-target effects.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AN researched the topic and drafted the manuscript. JH helped draft the original manuscript and edited and revised the manuscript text. EA provided intellectual contributions to the original manuscript draft and substantially edited and revised the manuscript text.

FUNDING

JH is supported by a Scientist Development Grant from the American Heart Association (17SDG633670259). EA is supported by National Institutes of Health (NIH) grants R01HL 114805 and R01HL 136431.

- Wuthier RE, Lipscomb GF. Matrix vesicles: structure, composition, formation and function in calcification. *Front Biosci* (2011) 16:2812–902. doi:10.2741/3887
- Anderson HC. Molecular biology of matrix vesicles. Clin Orthop Relat Res (1995) 314:266–80.
- Lieben L, Carmeliet G. The delicate balance between vitamin D, calcium and bone homeostasis: lessons learned from intestinal-and osteocyte-specific VDR null mice. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol (2013) 136:102–6. doi:10.1016/j. jsbmb.2012.09.019
- Anderson HC, Sipe JB, Hessle L, Dhamyamraju R, Atti E, Camacho NP, et al. Impaired calcification around matrix vesicles of growth plate and bone in alkaline phosphatase-deficient mice. *Am J Pathol* (2004) 164:841–7. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63172-0
- Genge BR, Wu LN, Wuthier RE. In vitro modeling of matrix vesicle nucleation synergistic stimulation of mineral formation by annexin A5 and phosphatidylserine. *J Biol Chem* (2007) 282:26035–45. doi:10.1074/jbc. M701057200
- Taraboletti G, D'Ascenzo S, Borsotti P, Giavazzi R, Pavan A, Dolo V. Shedding of the matrix metalloproteinases MMP-2, MMP-9, and MT1-MMP as membrane vesicle-associated components by endothelial cells. *Am J Pathol* (2002) 160:673–80. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64887-0
- D'Angelo M, Billings PC, Pacifici M, Leboy PS, Kirsch T. Authentic matrix vesicles contain active metalloproteases (MMP) a role for matrix vesicleassociated MMP-13 in activation of transforming growth factor-β. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276:11347–53. doi:10.1074/jbc.M009725200
- Ghadially FN. As you like it, part 3: a critique and historical review of calcification as seen with the electron microscope. *Ultrastruct Pathol* (2001) 25:243–67. doi:10.1080/019131201300343874
- Stewart AJ, Roberts SJ, Seawright E, Davey MG, Fleming RH, Farquharson C. The presence of PHOSPHO1 in matrix vesicles and its developmental expression prior to skeletal mineralization. *Bone* (2006) 39:1000–7. doi:10.1016/j. bone.2006.05.014
- Golub EE. Biomineralization and matrix vesicles in biology and pathology. Semin Immunopathol (2011) 33(5):409–17. doi:10.1007/s00281-010-0230-z
- Kawai S, Michikami I, Kitagaki J, Hata K, Kiyonari H, Abe T, et al. Syntaxin 4a regulates matrix vesiclcle-mediated bone matrix production by osteoblasts. *J Bone Miner Res* (2017) 32:440–8. doi:10.1002/jbmr.3056
- 25. Kowal J, Arras G, Colombo M, Jouve M, Morath JP, Primdal-Bengtson B, et al. Proteomic comparison defines novel markers to characterize heterogeneous

populations of extracellular vesicle subtypes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113:E968–77. doi:10.1073/pnas.1521230113

- Cicero AL, Stahl PD, Raposo G. Extracellular vesicles shuffling intercellular messages: for good or for bad. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* (2015) 35:69–77. doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2015.04.013
- Janas T, Janas MM, Sapoń K, Janas T. Mechanisms of RNA loading into exosomes. FEBS Lett (2015) 589:1391–8. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2015.04.036
- Boulanger CM, Loyer X, Rautou P-E, Amabile N. Extracellular vesicles in coronary artery disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol* (2017) 14:259–72. doi:10.1038/ nrcardio.2017.7
- Nolte EN, Buermans HP, Waasdorp M, Stoorvogel W, Wauben MH, AC't Hoen P. Deep sequencing of RNA from immune cell-derived vesicles uncovers the selective incorporation of small non-coding RNA biotypes with potential regulatory functions. *Nucleic Acids Res* (2012) 40(18):9272–85. doi:10.1093/ nar/gks658
- Hergenreider E, Heydt S, Tréguer K, Boettger T, Horrevoets AJ, Zeiher AM, et al. Atheroprotective communication between endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells through miRNAs. *Nat Cell Biol* (2012) 14:249–56. doi:10.1038/ncb2441
- Hessvik NP, Llorente A. Current knowledge on exosome biogenesis and release. Cell Mol Life Sci (2017) 1–16. doi:10.1007/s00018-017-2595-9
- Maas SL, Breakefield XO, Weaver AM. Extracellular vesicles: unique intercellular delivery vehicles. *Trends Cell Biol* (2017) 27:172–88. doi:10.1016/j. tcb.2016.11.003
- Rilla K, Mustonen A-M, Arasu UT, Härkönen K, Matilainen J, Nieminen P. Extracellular vesicles are integral and functional components of the extracellular matrix. *Matrix Biol* (2017). doi:10.1016/j.matbio.2017.10.003
- Vozel D, Ursic B, Krek JL, Stukelj R, Kralj-Iglic V. Applicability of extracellular vesicles in clinical studies. *Eur J Clin Invest* (2017) 47:305–13. doi:10.1111/ eci.12733
- Krohn JB, Hutcheson JD, Martínez-Martínez E, Aikawa E. Extracellular vesicles in cardiovascular calcification: expanding current paradigms. *J Physiol* (2016) 594(11):2895–903. doi:10.1113/JP271338
- Hutcheson JD, Goettsch C, Bertazzo S, Maldonado N, Ruiz JL, Goh W, et al. Genesis and growth of extracellular-vesicle-derived microcalcification in atherosclerotic plaques. *Nat Mater* (2016) 15:335–43. doi:10.1038/nmat4519
- Aikawa E, Nahrendorf M, Figueiredo J-L, Swirski FK, Shtatland T, Kohler RH, et al. Osteogenesis associates with inflammation in early-stage atherosclerosis evaluated by molecular imaging in vivo. *Circulation* (2007) 116:2841–50. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.107.732867
- Tzaphlidou M. Bone architecture: collagen structure and calcium/ phosphorus maps. *J Biol Phys* (2008) 34:39–49. doi:10.1007/s10867-008-9115-y
- Hutcheson JD, Maldonado N, Aikawa E. Small entities with large impact: microcalcifications and atherosclerotic plaque vulnerability. *Curr Opin Lipidol* (2014) 25:327–32. doi:10.1097/MOL.000000000000105
- Kelly-Arnold A, Maldonado N, Laudier D, Aikawa E, Cardoso L, Weinbaum S. Revised microcalcification hypothesis for fibrous cap rupture in human coronary arteries. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110:10741–6. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1308814110
- Hutcheson JD, Goettsch C, Pham T, Iwashita M, Aikawa M, Singh SA, et al. Enrichment of calcifying extracellular vesicles using density-based ultracentrifugation protocol. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2014) 3:25129. doi:10.3402/jev. v3.25129
- Osteikoetxea X, Németh A, Sódar BW, Vukman KV, Buzás EI. Extracellular vesicles in cardiovascular disease: are they Jedi or Sith? *J Physiol* (2016) 594:2881–94. doi:10.1113/JP271336
- Shroff R, Long DA, Shanahan C. Mechanistic insights into vascular calcification in CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol (2013) 24:179–89. doi:10.1681/ASN.2011121191
- Hutcheson JD, Goettsch C, Rogers MA, Aikawa E. Revisiting cardiovascular calcification: a multifaceted disease requiring a multidisciplinary approach. *Semin Cell Dev Biol* (2015) 46:68–77. doi:10.1016/j.semcdb.2015.09.004
- Bowler MA, Merryman WD. In vitro models of aortic valve calcification: solidifying a system. *Cardiovasc Pathol* (2015) 24:1–10. doi:10.1016/j. carpath.2014.08.003
- Hutcheson JD, Blaser MC, Aikawa E. Giving calcification its due: recognition of a diverse disease. *Circ Res* (2017) 120:270–3. doi:10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.116.310060
- 47. Reynolds JL, Joannides AJ, Skepper JN, McNair R, Schurgers LJ, Proudfoot D, et al. Human vascular smooth muscle cells undergo vesicle-mediated

calcification in response to changes in extracellular calcium and phosphate concentrations: a potential mechanism for accelerated vascular calcification in ESRD. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2004) 15:2857–67. doi:10.1097/01. ASN.0000141960.01035.28

- Chen NX, O'Neill KD, Chen X, Moe SM. Annexin-mediated matrix vesicle calcification in vascular smooth muscle cells. *J Bone Miner Res* (2008) 23:1798–805. doi:10.1359/jbmr.080604
- Goettsch C, Hutcheson JD, Aikawa M, Iwata H, Pham T, Nykjaer A, et al. Sortilin mediates vascular calcification via its recruitment into extracellular vesicles. J Clin Invest (2016) 126:1323. doi:10.1172/JCI80851
- Kapustin A, Davies JD, Reynolds JL, McNair R, Jones GT, Sidibe A, et al. Calcium regulates key components of vascular smooth muscle cell-derived matrix vesicles to enhance mineralization. *Circ Res* (2011) 109(1):e1–12. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.238808
- Kapustin AN, Chatrou ML, Drozdov I, Zheng Y, Davidson SM, Soong DY, et al. Vascular smooth muscle cell calcification is mediated by regulated exosome secretion. *Circ Res* (2015) 116(8):1312–23. doi:10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.116.305012
- Goettsch C, Hutcheson JD, Aikawa E. MicroRNA in cardiovascular calcification. Circ Res (2013) 112:1073–84. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.300937
- Goettsch C, Rauner M, Pacyna N, Hempel U, Bornstein SR, Hofbauer LC. miR-125b regulates calcification of vascular smooth muscle cells. *Am J Pathol* (2011) 179:1594–600. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.06.016
- 54. Krohn JB, Hutcheson JD, Martínez-Martínez E, Irvin WS, Bouten CV, BertazzoS, et al. Discoidin domain receptor-1 regulates calcific extracellular vesicle release in vascular smooth muscle cell fibrocalcific response via transforming growth factor-β signaling. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2016) 36(3):525–33. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.115.307009
- Ruiz JL, Hutcheson JD, Aikawa E. Cardiovascular calcification: current controversies and novel concepts. *Cardiovasc Pathol* (2015) 24:207–12. doi:10.1016/j.carpath.2015.03.002
- Hjortnaes J, Shapero K, Goettsch C, Hutcheson JD, Keegan J, Kluin J, et al. Valvular interstitial cells suppress calcification of valvular endothelial cells. *Atherosclerosis* (2015) 242:251–60. doi:10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2015.07.008
- 57. Cui L, Rashdan NA, Zhu D, Milne E, Ajuh P, Milne G, et al. End stage renal disease-induced hypercalcemia may promote aortic valve calcification via annexin VI enrichment of valve interstitial cell derived-matrix vesicles. *J Cell Physiol* (2017) 232(11):2985–95. doi:10.1002/jcp.25935
- Deguchi J-O, Yamazaki H, Aikawa E, Aikawa M. Chronic hypoxia activates the Akt and β-catenin pathways in human macrophages. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2009) 29:1664–70. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.194043
- Hjortnaes J, Butcher J, Figueiredo J-L, Riccio M, Kohler RH, Kozloff KM, et al. Arterial and aortic valve calcification inversely correlates with osteoporotic bone remodelling: a role for inflammation. *Eur Heart J* (2010) 31:1975–84. doi:10.1093/eurheartj/ehq237
- 60. Aikawa M, Rabkin E, Sugiyama S, Voglic SJ, Fukumoto Y, Furukawa Y, et al. An HMG-CoA reductase inhibitor, cerivastatin, suppresses growth of macrophages expressing matrix metalloproteinases and tissue factor in vivo and in vitro. *Circulation* (2001) 103:276–83. doi:10.1161/01.CIR.103.2.276
- Deguchi JO, Aikawa M, Tung CH, Aikawa E, Kim DE, Ntziachristos V, et al. Inflammation in atherosclerosis: visualizing matrix metalloproteinase action in macrophages in vivo. *Circulation* (2006) 114:55–62. doi:10.1161/ CIRCULATIONAHA.106.619056
- Kapustin A, Shanahan CM. Targeting vascular calcification: softening-up a hard target. Curr Opin Pharmacol (2009) 9:84–9. doi:10.1016/j.coph.2008.12.004
- New SE, Goettsch C, Aikawa M, Marchini JF, Shibasaki M, Yabusaki K, et al. Macrophage-derived matrix vesicles: an alternative novel mechanism for microcalcification in atherosclerotic plaques. *Circ Res* (2013) 113(1):72–7. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.301036

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Bakhshian Nik, Hutcheson and Aikawa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Initiation and Propagation of Vascular Calcification Is Regulated by a Concert of Platelet- and Smooth Muscle Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles

Leon J. Schurgers^{1*}, Asim C. Akbulut¹, Dawid M. Kaczor¹, Maurice Halder², Rory R. Koenen¹ and Rafael Kramann²

¹ Department of Biochemistry, Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht, Maastricht, Netherlands, ² Division of Nephrology, RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Ichiro Manabe, Chiba University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Alexander N. Kapustin, AstraZeneca, United Kingdom Benoît Ho-Tin-Noé, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France

*Correspondence: Leon J. Schurgers I.schurgers@maastrichtuniversity.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Atherosclerosis and Vascular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 03 January 2018 Accepted: 26 March 2018 Published: 06 April 2018

Citation:

Schurgers LJ., Akbulut AC., Kaczor DM., Halder M, Koenen RR. and Kramann R (2018) Initiation and Propagation of Vascular Calcification Is Regulated by a Concert of Platelet- and Smooth Muscle Cell-Derived Extracellular Vesicles. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:36. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00036 The ageing population continues to suffer from its primary killer, cardiovascular disease (CVD). Despite recent advances in interventional medicinal and surgical therapies towards the end of the 20th century, the epidemic of cardiovascular disease has not been halted. Yet, rather than receding globally, the burden of CVD has risen to become a top cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide. Most CVD arises from thrombotic rupture of an atherosclerotic plaque, the pathologic thickening of coronary and carotid artery segments and subsequent distal ischemia in heart or brain. In fact, one-fifth of deaths are directly attributable to thrombotic rupture of a vulnerable plaque. Atherosclerotic lesion formation is caused by a concert of interactions between circulating leukocytes and platelets, interacting with the endothelial barrier, signalling into the arterial wall by the release of cytokines and extracellular vesicles (EVs). Both platelet- and cell-derived EVs represent a novel mechanism of cellular communication, particularly by the transport and transfer of cargo and by reprogramming of the recipient cell. These interactions result in phenotypic switching of vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) causing migration and proliferation, and subsequent secretion of EVs. Loss of VSMCs attracts perivascular Mesenchymal Stem Cells (MSCs) from the adventitia, which are a source of VSMCs and contribute to repair after vascular injury. However, continuous stress stimuli eventually switch phenotype of cells into osteochondrogenic VSMCs facilitating vascular calcification. Although Virchow's triad is over 100 years old, it is a reality that is accurate today. It can be briefly summarised as changes in the composition of blood (platelet EVs), alterations in the vessel wall (VSMC phenotypic switching, MSC infiltration and EV release) and disruption of blood flow (atherothrombosis). In this paper, we review the latest relevant advances in the identification of extracellular vesicle pathways as well as VSMCs and pericyte/MSC phenotypic switching, underlying vascular calcification.

Keywords: extracellular vesicles, vascular smooth muscle cells, perivascular mesenchymal stem cells, vascular calcification, platelets, phenotypic switching

EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are currently considered as important physiological players. Their secretion represents a universally active cellular function in all living organisms from bacteria to humans (1). EVs are highly heterogeneous structures that differ in size, biochemical content and mode of secretion. Current nomenclature distinguishes three populations of EVs: (1) exosomes (30–100 nm), which originate when multivesicular bodies fuse with the plasma membrane, (2) microvesicles/ectosomes (100-1,000 nm), which are generated by budding of the plasma membrane and (3) apoptotic bodies (>1,000 nm), which are formed in the process of programmed cell death (2–5). Each family is composed of small phospholipid membrane-enclosed entities released spontaneously, or, in response to cell activation or apoptosis (6). EV release is stimulated via multiple physiological and pathological conditions, making them potential diagnostic biomarkers for monitoring various diseases (7). Their presence has been detected in a number of bodily fluids from healthy individuals, such as peripheral blood, urine, saliva and synovial fluid to name a few (1, 8, 9). In terms of pathological states, first breakthroughs in the field of EV research were made in oncology and immunology, yet today cardiovascular disease represents one of the most intensively studied and rapidly developing areas of the extracellular vesicle field (4). The number of circulating EV levels has been shown to be associated with various cardiovascular and metabolic disorders, including atherosclerosis and diabetes mellitus (8). In the vasculature, EVs are released from platelets, endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, erythrocytes and leukocytes (6, 7).

Platelet-Derived Extracellular Vesicles

EVs from platelets were first described in 1967 by Peter Wolf from human blood samples, where they were originally referred to as "platelet dust" (10). Further studies demonstrated that EVs are released when platelets attach to the vessel wall (11). Later it was reported that platelet-EVs are composed of two different types: exosomes and microvesicles (12). Since then platelet EVs have been shown to be involved in several processes in the human body, such as coagulation and atherosclerosis (13). Given that EVs express phospholipids on their surface, they are capable of binding (activated) coagulation factors. Interestingly, their coagulation activity is 50–100 times higher compared to activated platelets (14). In fact, a genetic disorder that is associated with deficient EV formation by platelets leads to bleeding (15). This suggests that promotion of coagulation by EVs is an important physiological mechanism (6).

On the other hand, platelet EVs are known to accumulate in platelet concentrates (16). Transfusion of platelet concentrates is associated with adverse reactions in the recipient, more often than any other blood-derived product (17). This might be explained by the fact that platelet EVs are rich in inflammatory molecules (e.g., CD40L), so they can adhere to leukocytes by CD62P – PSGL-1 interactions and transport pro-inflammatory signals. Several studies have demonstrated that platelet EVs isolated from platelet concentrates can modulate the phenotype and activities of leukocytes and vascular cells (see below). Platelet EVs retain many

properties of their parent cells, such as the presence of surface specific antigens (Table 1), the ability to deposit chemokines to the vessel wall and to confer inflammatory signals to distal sites (28). In human blood, platelet-derived EVs are the most abundant population of EVs, despite the fact that erythrocytes are about 30 times more numerous than platelets (29). It has been estimated that in circulation 70-90% of all EVs are derived from platelets, 10% originate from granulocytes and only 5% come from endothelial cells, red blood cells and monocytes (1). The number of circulating platelet EVs is also influenced by cardiovascular medication. Antiplatelet agents, antihypertensive agents and cholesterollowering drugs inhibit EV release from platelets (30, 31). However, in studies on patients treated with statins, consensus on the number of circulating platelet EVs has not been established (30, 32). Of note, it has been proposed that the majority of the circulating CD41-positive EVs actually originate from megakaryocytes, rather than from platelets (33). In addition, platelet-derived EVs might be distinguished from their megakaryocyte-derived counterparts through the detection of surface molecules such as CD62P, LAMP-1, CLEC-2 and GPVI.

Vascular Inflammatory Functions of Platelet-Derived EVs

Besides the involvement of platelet-derived EVs in the coagulation process, evidence also points towards a role in immune- and inflammation-related processes. For example, platelet-derived EVs have been shown to influence vascular cells (endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells) and leukocytes, thereby changing their phenotype and function. EVs are considered to play an important role in cell-cell communication, their membrane-enclosed content, small size and repertoire of surface receptors facilitate long distance transport within bodily fluids (5, 8, 34). EVs can influence target cells by providing ligands which augment the secretion of growth factors or cytokines, transfer of cell adhesion molecules or reprogram target cells through their genetic make up (1, 28, 29). When isolated platelet EVs are incubated with

TABLE 1 | Surface markers found on platelet EV.

Cluster of differentiation (CD) or abbreviation	Trivial or full name	Reference
CD9	Tetraspanin-29	(18)
CD29	Integrin β1	(19)
CD31	PECAM-1	(19)
CD36	Platelet GPIV	(20)
CD42a	Platelet GPIX	(21)
CD42b	Platelet GPlba	(19, 22)
CD63	Tetraspanin-30	(19)
CD59	Membrane attack complex inhibition factor	(20)
CD61	Integrin beta 3	(22)
CD154	CD40 Ligand	(23, 24)
CD184	CXCR4	(23)
PAR-1	Protease-activated receptor-1	(23)
CD321	Junctional adhesionmolecule-A	(25)
TSP-1	Thrombospondin-1	(21)
VN	Vitronectin	(26)
VWF	Von Willebrand Factor	(27)

TABLE 2	Cardiovascular/metabolic diseases associated with increased
platelet-EV	evels.

Disorder	Reference
Hypercholesterolemia and subclinical atherosclerosis	(37)
Coronary calcification	(38)
Carotid atherosclerosis	(39)
Coronary heart disease	(40)
Acute coronary syndrome	(41–44)
Peripheral arterial disease	(45–48)
Hypertension	(49, 50)
Venous Thrombo-embolism	(51, 52)
Stroke	(53–55)
Diabetes mellitus	(56–59)
Metabolic syndrome and obesity	(60–63)

Table dapted from Aatonen et al. (64) and Ridger et al. (65)

monocytes, platelet EVs readily bind to monocytes and phagocytic uptake of platelet EVs can be observed over time (35). In chemotaxis assays, monocytic cells are actively attracted by platelet EVs, an effect that can be blocked by antibodies against CCL5. Prolonged incubation of monocytes with platelet EVs results in a notable change of surface marker expression, indicating a polarisation of the monocytes to M2-type macrophages (35). Finally, platelet EVs were found to induce the secretion of TNFa from monocytic cells more strongly than platelets, whereas incubation with platelets led to a robust release of GM-CSF (35). Similar studies have demonstrated that platelet EVs induce the differentiation of macrophages into dendritic cells (20) and that platelet EVs are even able to "reprogram" the gene expression profile and function of macrophages (36). Although platelet EVs are present both in diseased patients and healthy subjects, increased levels have been associated with various pathological disorders, such as atherosclerosis and diabetes mellitus (Table 2).

Pathological remodelling of the vasculature involves an intricate and dynamic interaction between blood cells (platelets, leukocytes), vascular cells (endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells and adventitial cells) and their direct microenvironment (66). EV-mediated signalling between hematological cells and vascular cells is also of importance in this process. Elevation of platelet EVs in cardiovascular disease appears to be a common process, their interaction with the vascular endothelium has been an area of high interest. However, current knowledge in this field is still very limited and our understanding relies mainly on in vitro experiments. The importance of leukocyte-endothelium signalling in pathophysiological conditions of the vasculature is already well known. More recently the role of platelet EVs in these processes has been demonstrated. In vitro experimentation has shown that shear stress-activated platelet EVs facilitate the interaction between monocytes and endothelial cells. This is facilitated by increases in inflammatory cytokine levels and cell adhesion molecules on both cell types (67). Another study indicated that platelet EVs contain bioactive lipids (e.g., arachidonic acid), that stimulate ICAM-1 expression in HUVECs, leading to enhanced monocyte-endothelial interactions (68). Platelet EVs may also activate endothelial cells and leukocytes, more specifically, neutrophils by surface molecules CD41 and CD62P, further demonstrating their importance in modulating inflammation (69). It has been also shown that platelet EVs can deposit inflammatory molecules such as CCL5 (RANTES) during rolling interactions over endothelial cell monolayers, facilitating the subsequent recruitment of monocytes (25). In this study, rolling interactions depended on P-selectin and GPIb, while transfer of CCL5 was dependent on integrin α IIb β 3 and junctional adhesion molecule A (25).

Interestingly, more than 700 miRNAs have been found to be stored in platelets (70). Platelets also can contain the functional miRNA processing machinery required for the processing of miRNA precursors (71). Moreover, evidence is accumulating that platelets and platelet-EVs can horizontally transfer nucleic acids to endothelial cells (72, 73). Platelet EVs isolated from activated platelets contain significant amounts of miRNA, further to this, functional transfer of miRNA from platelets to endothelial cells was found to occur through vesicle formation (74, 75). Uptake of platelet EV-associated miRNA results in modulation of endothelial target gene expression demonstrated by a downregulation of ICAM-1 (72).

Besides the endothelial lining of the vessel wall, VSMCs can also be influenced by platelet EVs. Platelets can adhere directly to VSMCs, facilitated by the interaction of CX₃CR1 on platelets with CX₃CL1 on VSMCs (76). Although platelets do not make contact with VSMCs under healthy conditions, such encounters might occur after vascular damage, increased endothelial permeability or through intraplaque haemorrhage. Upon endothelial denudation, platelets in a thrombus might release EVs that then come in contact with VSMCs. Increased permeability of the endothelial lining might permit the passage of circulating EVs and during intraplaque haemorrhage, EVs might be formed due to platelet contact with the highly thrombogenic plaque interior. On the other hand, a study investigating EVs isolated from atherosclerotic plaques did not observe a significant fraction of platelet-EVs within plaque (77). It is possible that platelet-EVs lose their surface markers by enzymatic shedding after activation (78), that platelet-EVs are rapidly phagocytosed by macrophages (35, 36), or that platelet-EVs indeed constitute only a minor fraction of the total EV content within a plaque. Nevertheless, a potential influence of platelet EVs on the behaviour and phenotype of VSMCs was investigated in our recent work. Binding studies using CFSE-labelled platelet EVs and VSMCs revealed that the platelet EV-VSMC interaction is metal ion-dependent and that aIIb₃ on platelet EV is the primary receptor that mediates interactions with VSMCs (79). Platelet EVs induce migration and proliferation of VSMCs in a CXCL4dependent manner. Prolonged incubation of VSMCs with platelet EVs results in an increased adhesiveness for THP1 monocytic cells under flow conditions and an increase in interleukin 6 production, indicating that platelet EVs have pro-inflammatory effects on VSMCs. Interestingly, the incubation of cultured VSMCs with platelet EVs led to a phenotypic switch towards a synthetic phenotype, as evidenced by morphological changes and a reduced expression of the contractile marker calponin (79). Although direct contact of VSMCs with platelet EVs leads to changes in proliferation, migration, marker expression and phenotype of VSMCs, the possibility exists that platelet EVs might alter the behavior of surrounding cells e.g., the endothelium, thereby indirectly affecting VSMCs by released factors or the transfer of endothelial EVs, analogous to what has been observed during abnormal shear stress (80).

Taken together, platelet EVs influence both phenotype and behaviour of leukocytes and vascular cells, thus are important initiators and propagators in vascular remodelling and downstream processes, such as calcification.

Initiation and Propagation of Vascular Calcification Is Regulated by Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Function

Vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) are the most abundant cell source of the vasculature. Unlike most cells, VSMCs arise from several lineages (81). They are critical to maintaining structure and function of the vascular system (82). Their role is central to vessel dilation and constriction as well as vessel remodelling. VSMCs produce components of the vascular extracellular matrix (ECM), therefore altering the composition of connective tissue and can increase the number of VSMCs present in the vasculature by proliferating. VSMCs are commonly considered to be heterogeneous, having either contractile or non-contractile (synthetic) properties (83). This heterogeneity is present in both developing and adult vasculature and is the most defining feature of VSMCs. It has been hypothesised that the different characteristics and functions of VSMCs originate from early developmental cues, as well as spatiotemporal gene regulation of differentiation markers (84).

While in a contractile state, VSMCs contract and relax to enable blood flow around the body. In this contractile state, they express highly VSMC-specific markers for contractility such as SM-aA, calponin and SM22a. These cells have low motility, hence decreased cellular migration is observed, as well as decreased levels of proliferation and a reduced production of extracellular matrices. This enables the blood vessels to maintain elasticity allowing proper function and delivery of blood supply to the anatomy. When synthetic, VSMCs exhibit a marked decrease in expression for VSMC-specific contractility markers, but express more highly markers for matrix metalloproteinase, collagenase, osteopontin and an increase in production of EVs. Phenotype switching enables VSMCs to maintain blood flow as well as support the vascular niche. During vessel repair, migration and proliferation of VSMCs is necessary. Additionally, increases in expression of growth factors such as PDGF, TGF and VEGF, as well as an increased production of ECM is required to reconstruct vasculature following injury.

Vascular Smooth Muscle Cell Phenotypic Switching

Terminal differentiation of VSMCs is not a definitive end and it is possible to switch between phenotypes depending on the demand of the vascular niche. Contractile VSMCs are generally referred to as quiescent differentiated cells, whereas the synthetic state is associated with plasticity and appropriately referred to by some as dedifferentiated VSMCs. Several pathologies of the vasculature are associated with VSMC phenotype switching such as atherosclerosis, restenosis, aneurysm and calcification (85–87). Vascular calcification, the deposition of hydroxyapatite crystals along the vessel, decreases vessel flexibility, impairs proper blood flow and is associated with cardiovascular disease mortality (88). While culture conditions for *in vitro* maintenance of human VSMCs in either synthetic or contractile phenotypes have been identified, the precise mechanisms that enable VSMC phenotype switching remains unknown (89). Literature has sparse number of papers implicating miRNAs and proteins in either maintenance or inducing VSMC phenotype switch (90). Furthermore, several identified miRNA and proteins have been eluded to modulation of vascular pathologies associated with VSMC phenotype switching or a dysregulation in phenotype switching (90). During pathological phenotypic switching, VSMCs can adapt an osteogenic, chondrogenic or inflammatory phenotype (91–93).

Adding further interference to the quandary of VSMC phenotype switching, wall resident adventitial progenitor cells have been recently implicated as vessel wall regulators (94, 95). Adventitial progenitors have been found to differentiate into osteoblasts, chondrocytes, adipocytes, macrophage as well as VSMCs. This has led to the hypothesis that adventitial progenitor cells are master regulators of the vascular niche. When progenitor dysfunction occurs, differentiation of VSMCs to an osteoblastic, chondrogenic or macrophage-like capacity are formed. This is yet to be fully appreciated.

VSMC-Derived Extracellular Vesicles

In 1967, Anderson first used the name "matrix vesicles" in cartilage development and calcification (96). Tanimura and co-workers were the first to report an association between small membrane encapsulated particles, matrix vesicles, and vascular calcification (97). Vesicular structures have been found in both intimal and medial layers and are likely derived from VSMCs. The release of EVs from VSMCs was first described as a rescue mechanism against calcium overloading, in an attempt to prevent apoptosis (98).

Today, it is appreciated by many that the role of EVs released by VSMCs is significant in VSMC phenotype switching and calcification. VSMCs have been found to release a variety of EVs when in either synthetic or osteogenic phenotype. A group of VSMC EVs have been identified and somewhat characterised by tetraspanin markers CD9, CD63 and CD81 (99). Furthermore, EVs share similarity to osteoblast EVs, having calcium binding capacity and osteoblast-like ECM production. Interestingly, calcific conditions *in vitro* increase expression of SMPD3 and subsequent EV genesis. Inhibition of SMPD3 completely ablates generation of EVs and calcification. Additionally, *in vivo* identification of CD63 with calcification of vessels of chronic kidney disease (CKD) patients implicates that SMPD3 is a potential novel therapeutic target to inhibit EV genesis and thus vascular calcification.

Chen and associates recently identified a novel role between VSMCs and EVs in calcification (100). Initially they characterised EVs from four sources, two from cellular-derived EVs the others from matrix vesicles. Curiously, they identified that both populations of cellular-derived EVs possessed the capacity to enhance calcification, however matrix vesicles did not possess this ability, even though all four EV types were uniformly endocytosed by VSMCs. They eluded to novel increases in expression for MEK1, Erk1/2, Nox1 and SOD2 alongside increases in intracellular calcium ion content, EV biogenesis and calcification. All EVs were found to express tetraspanins CD9, CD63 and CD81, however, the proportion of expression differed significantly between the media and cellular EVs. Cellular-derived EVs expressed more significantly for CD63 that strikingly coincides with Kapustin et al. *in vivo* observation of CD63 co-localisation with calcification in calcified CKD vessels (99).

Differences between mineralising and non-mineralising EVs were first revealed by Kirsch et al. within chondrocytes, where they identified high expression of annexin A5 within calcifying EVs (101). The precise function of annexins in calcification has not been fully unravelled (102). Regarding in vitro VSMC calcification, annexin A2 has been highlighted in calcium regulation resulting in VSMC EV generation (103). Annexin A2 may bind to fetuin-A on the cell membrane of VSMCs, this is in turn internalised by endocytosis preventing fetuin-A from blocking mineral formation. Increases of annexin A2, annexin A5 and alkaline phosphatase co-localisation are proportional to decreases in fetuin-A expression within in vitro VSMC calcification models. Macrophage-derived EV calcification is induced via binding of annexins A2 and A5 to phosphatidylserine (PS) (104). Annexin A5 with S100A9 binding to PS is critical for osteoblast-derived ECM production, interestingly this mechanism also occurs during macrophage production of calcifying EVs. Further interrogation of annexins A2, A5 and A6 in VSMC calcification, phenotype modulation and EV genesis will add to our understanding of the roles of annexins in the cellular context of VSMCs.

Propagation of calcification via vitamin K-antagonist (VKA) treatment led to the identification of matrix Gla-protein (MGP) as a potent calcification inhibitor (105). Twenty years have now passed since MGP inhibitory action was identified, ten years since the mechanism of MGP activation was eluded to by means of serine phosphorylation and gamma-glutamyl carboxylation (91, 106, 107). More recently it has been demonstrated that VSMC-derived EVs contain copious amounts of Gla-proteins from circulation (108). Prothrombin (PT), like MGP, contains a Gla domain. It has been recently demonstrated that production of calcifying VSMCderived EVs can be inhibited by PT interaction. The Gla domain of PT interacts with the surface of EVs, preventing nucleation sites for calcification (108). This finding has been substantiated by the localisation of PT in calcified regions of the iliac/femoral arteries from a cohort of patients with CKD. Furthermore, circulating levels of PT are reduced in patients with vascular calcification. Accordingly, in absence of MGP, VSMC-derived EVs act to induce calcification, suggesting a potential novel role for inhibition of calcification via PT-EV interactions.

Recent findings have implicated a key role for Sortilin in VSMC calcifying EV biogenesis and release. Originally, Sortilin 1 was identified as driving factor in EV-facilitated calcification through



Rab11 interaction (109). More recently, it was shown that Sortilin 1 localises in human calcifying vessels (110). In addition, Sortilin 1 plays a role in VSMC calcification *in vitro*. Sortilin 1 contributes to vascular calcification via tissue nonspecific alkaline phosphatase (TNAP) although regulation of TNAP expression within VSMC calcification remains poorly understood. Notably, Sortilin 1 has been identified as a driver in generation of osteoblasts, while TNAP expression was unaffected. This eludes to a potential novel mechanism in the production of VSMC-derived calcifying EVs, which might be a unique mechanism in vascular calcification (**Figure 1**).

Characterisation of EV cargo has been standardised to falling into either protein, RNA or lipid (111). The composition of lipid content in circulating EVs might provide novel insights into mechanisms for VSMC calcification. RNA content of VSMC-derived EVs may be mRNA, miRNA, lncRNA or circRNA, with miRNA being the most characterised in VSMC phenotype modulation and calcification (112). RNA lie within the unique position of being both genotype and phenotype which gives them a role in cellular regulation and pathology (113). Potently a wide array of miRNAs have been implicated by a variety of mechanisms contributing to, or inhibiting the development of vascular calcification (Figure 2 and Table 3). MiRNAs which either induce VSMC to an osteoblast-like pro-calcific phenotype or inhibit associated phenotype and calcification. The specific mechanism of which has been reviewed elsewhere (133, 134). Although the role of miRNAs within vascular calcification is being unravelled, many miRNAs have been identified via RNA screening between normal and calcified VSMCs. The origin of miRNA source in a pathological context remains elusive and requires further investigation.

Whether there is cross talk of EVs from different facets of the vascular niche or if there is a dysregulation in VSMC maintenance remains an important question. Understanding the cross talk of EVs between vascular cells might be significant to appreciating the precise mechanisms for vascular calcification. MiR-206, ARF6 and NCX1 have been identified as endothelial cell-released EV content capable of regulating VSMC contractile phenotype (135). Furthermore, given the observed increase of endothelial EV release following injury, it has been noted that endothelial cell EVs from human pulmonary artery not only interacted with pulmonary VSMCs, but interaction induced proliferation and had a seemingly anti-apoptotic effect on VSMCs (136). This suggests a direct pathological consequence of endothelial EV to VSMC crosstalk during and following intimal vessel injury.

MESENCHYMAL STEM CELLS AS PERIVASCULAR PROGENITORS

As described above, VSMCs are known to exhibit elaborate phenotypical plasticity and diversity during normal development, disease, and repair of vascular injury. The current theory of vascular calcification is that upon injury VSMCs dedifferentiate. VSMCs become synthetically active and under stress factors, like elevated



TABLE 3 | MiRNA associated with phenotypic switching of VSMC.

Reference	Calcifying miRNA	MiRNA Inhibiting Calcification	Paper
(114)	29b	133b, 211	MicroRNAs 29b, 133b and 211 regulate vascular smooth muscle calcification mediated by high phosphorous
(115)	32		MicroRNA-32 promotes calcification in vascular smooth muscle cells: implications as a novel marker for coronary artery calcification
(116)	3960, 2861		Runx2/miR-3960/miR-2861 positive feedback loop is responsible for osteogenic transdifferentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells
(117)		29	MiR-29-mediated elastin down-regulation contributes to inorganic phosphorous-induced osteoblastic differentiation in vascular smooth muscle cells
(118)		125b	MiR-125b regulates calcification of vascular smooth muscle cells
(119)		135a	MiR-135a suppresses calcification in sensence VSMCs by regulating KLF4/STAT3 pathway
(120)		204	MicroRNA-204 regulates vascular smooth muscle cell calcification in vitro and in vivo
(121)	221 + 222		MiRNA-221 and miRNA-222 synergistically function to promote vascular calcification
(122)		125b, 145, 155	Decreased microRNA is involved in the vascular remodelling abnormalities in chronic kidney disease (CKD)
(123)	762, 714, 712		Micro RNAs that target Ca(2 + transporters are involved in vascular smooth muscle cell calcification
(124)		30b, 30c	Bone morphogenetic protein-2 decreases microRNA-30b and microRNA-30c to promote vascular smooth muscle cell calcification
(125)		96	Down-regulation of miR-96 by bone morphogenetic protein signalling is critical for vascular smooth muscle cell phenotype modulation
(126)		205	MicroRNA-205 regulates the calcification and osteoblastic differentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells
(127)		133a	MiR-133a modulates osteogenic differentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells
(128)		4530, 133b	Differential expression of microRNAs in severely calcified carotid plaques
(129)		26a	MiR-26a regulates vascular smooth muscle cell calcification in vitro through targeting CTGF
(130)		297a	MicroRNA-297a regulates vascular calcification by targeting fibroblast growth factor 23
(131)	223		Inorganic phosphate accelerates the migration of vascular smooth muscle cells: Evidence for the involvement of miR-223
(132)		34b + 34c	MicroRNA-34b/c inhibits aldosterone-induced vascular smooth muscle cell calcification via a SATB2/Runx2 pathway

calcium and phosphate levels or uremic toxins (e.g., during CKD), switch to a dedifferentiated synthetic phenotype and later become osteoblast like cells (99, 137). Genetic fate tracing strongly indicated mature VSMCs to be a major contributor to the development of atherosclerotic plaque remodeling (138). However, not all elements of plaque development and progression may be indicative as a result of VSMC phenotype switching. The fact, that atherosclerotic human vessels can contain complete trabecular bone with fully formed bone marrow sinusoids even containing hematopoietic cells is difficult to explain without new concepts, such as vascular stem cells. Indeed, the presence of a specialised progenitor population of VSMCs localised in the adventitia of muscular arteries has been suggested by several groups.

The perivascular niche houses pericytes, which are present at intervals along microcapilaries and pericyte-like cells are also located in the adventitia of large arteries. Peault and coworkers were the first to show that many pericytes are MSCs (139, 140). However, it remains elusive whether all pericytes are MSCs. A pericyte is defined as a cell that is completely or partially embedded in the endothelial basement membrane (141). The fact that MSCs are also located in the adventitia of large arteries distant from vasa vasorum and in the endosteal niche of the bone marrow indicates that not all MSCs are pericytes (94, 142). The recent evidence that the perivasculature represents the MSC niche explains why MSCs can be isolated from virtually all organs and tissues.

It was first described over 25 years ago that pericytes have an osteogenic potential (143) and subsequently pericyte-like cells with osteogenic capacity were isolated from VSMCs nodules of human aorta (144). A decade ago it has been reported that $Sca1^+/CD34^+/PDGFR\beta^+$

cells that reside in the adventitia of arteries possess a differentiation capacity towards smooth muscle cells and osteoblasts *in vitro* (145). Interestingly, these progenitors express the Hedgehog receptor Ptc1 as well as most other hedgehog pathway members including Gli1-3 (145). Other groups have reported that perivascular MSCs were also found to be progenitors of white adipocytes (146) follicular dendritic cells (147) and skeletal muscle (148), while also playing a major role in fibrotic response (149–151). Thus, various studies suggest the presence of adventitial MSC-like cells with osteogenic and myogenic potential. However, until recently the involvement of these MSC-like pericytes in cardiovascular disease development remained unclear.

Role of Perivascular MSC-Like Cells in Vascular Calcification

Using genetic labeling and *in vivo* fate tracing experiments it was recently revealed that the Hedgehog transcriptional activator Gli1 specifically labels perivascular MSC-like cells (94, 142, 151, 152). Gli1⁺ cells reside in the pericyte niche with direct contact to endothelial cells of the microvasculature and in the adventitia of large arteries (94, 151). Gli1⁺ cells possess all criteria that have been used to define a MSCs including surface marker expression, tri-lineage differentiation and plastic adherence (94, 151). Inducible genetic fate tracing, the gold standard technique to dissect cellular hierarchies, indicated that Gli1⁺ cells are a major cellular source of myofibroblast in fibrosis of all major organs such as lung, kidney, liver, heart and bone marrow (142, 151).

The question is however, whether adventitial Gli1⁺ MSC-like cells are involved in acute injury repair and chronic vascular disease progression. Using *in vivo* genetic fate tracing, it was demonstrated

that after wire injury of the femoral artery about 50% of newly formed VSMCs were derived from adventitial Gli1⁺ cells (94). Furthermore, FACS isolated adventitial Gli1⁺ MSC could be differentiated into calponin⁺, α SMA⁺, smoothelin⁺ VSMCs in vitro (94). This data indicates that adventitial Gli1⁺ MSC are indeed progenitors of VSMCs.

The role of adventitial Gli1⁺ MSC in vascular calcification was studied in triple transgenic Gli1CreER; tdTomato, ApoEKO mice. Mice were pulsed with tamoxifen in order to genetically tag Gli1⁺ cells by expression of the bright red fluorochrome tdTomato. Mice were subjected to either subtotal nephrectomy and western diet or sham surgery with standard chow. Interestingly, a continuous low frequency migration of Gli1⁺ cells into the media during aging in the sham group was observed. Gli1⁺ cells acquired markers of VSMCs such as α -SMA and calponin suggesting that progenitor cells continuously replace lost VSMCs during aging (94). Importantly, these data indicate a great migration of Gli1⁺ cells into the media and neointima during chronic injury and atherosclerosis. Multiple co-staining experiments indicated that adventitial Gli1⁺ cells first differentiated into contractile VSMCs (a-SMA⁺, calponin⁺) and then underwent a phenotypic switching with loss of contractile VSMC markers and acquisition of synthetic VSMC markers such as Tropomyosin alpha 4 (TPM4) and non-muscle myosin heave chain 2b (nmMHC2b) (94). Importantly, during vascular calcification a high percentage of Gli1⁺-derived cells acquired nuclear expression of the transcription factor Runx2 indicating differentiation into osteoblastlike cells. Imaging experiments after injection of a fluorochrome conjugated bisphosphonate (Osteosense) indicated that calcified areas showed intense accumulation of tdTomato⁺ cells. Importantly, genetic ablation of Gli1⁺ cells in triple transgenic Gli1CreER; iDTR; ApoEKO mice before onset of CKD completely abolished vascular calcification in both the intima and media. Thus, clearly demonstrating that adventitial Gli1⁺ cells are important progenitors of synthetic VSMCs and osteoblast-like cells in the vascular wall. Adventitial Gli1⁺ cells can be considered an important therapeutic target in vascular calcification. Interestingly, we observed a Shh domain in the adventitia of human arteries where endothelial cells of vasa vasorum stained positive for Shh, whereas surrounding cells showed Gli1 expression. Further staining experiments in calcified human arteries showed intense Gli1 expression around calcified intima and media areas.

While these data clearly demonstrate an important role of adventitial MSC-like cells in vascular calcification there are still various open questions that need to be answered (Figure 3). It is unclear whether the Gli1⁺ population is a homogenous progenitor population or whether several subpopulations exist. Single-cell qPCR analysis of sorted Gli1⁺ cells for reported markers of adventitial progenitors indicates heterogeneity with three distinct subpopulations (unpublished data). Thus, it will be important to differentiate between these subpopulations. Next, it remains elusive as to whether Gli1expressing cells of human arteries may also secrete EVs and thereby contribute to vascular calcification. Finally, while our data clearly indicates migration and differentiation of Gli1⁺ cells during acute injury repair and chronic disease progression, the underlying molecular pathways that activate migration and differentiation of the progenitor population remain obscure. It is currently not known whether EVs are involved in migration and differentiation of MSCs. Further, we must await as to whether adventitial Gli1⁺ cells produce EVs or interact with EVs from other cells such as platelets, immune



cells and VSMCs. Experiments in myelofibrosis demonstrated that a malignant hematopoietic clone in particular megakaryocytes can activate Gli1⁺ cells to leave their niche partly by CXCL4 release (142). Thus, involvement of platelet and cellular EVs might be an explanation for activation and migration of Gli1⁺ cells. Further studies are needed to answer whether EVs are involved in Gli1⁺ cell recruitment and differentiation.

CONCLUSION

The biology of vascular disease and calcification is complex and still poorly understood with respect to cause and consequence of players and pathways, and thus complexity increases continuously by ongoing elucidation of novel players and pathways. A subset of EVs act as mediators of cell-induced extracellular matrix calcification in the pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease. On the other hand, it has become evident that platelet and cellular vesicles play an important role in cellular communication. Whether such communication from platelet EVs can transpire through endothelial cells to the media and adventitia remains unknown, and so a role for EV crosstalk in calcification remains open with promise.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

LS wrote the manuscript, supervised writing process and was responsible for the final version; AA wrote the manuscript; DK wrote the manuscript; MH wrote the manuscript; RRK wrote the manuscript; RK wrote the manuscript and was responsible for the final version.

FUNDING

This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the

REFERENCES

- Żmigrodzka M, Guzera M, Miśkiewicz A, Jagielski D, Winnicka A, Helmke A. The biology of extracellular vesicles with focus on platelet microparticles and their role in cancer development and progression. *Tumour Biol* (2016) 37(11):14391–401. doi: 10.1007/s13277-016-5358-6
- Helmke A, von Vietinghoff S. Extracellular vesicles as mediators of vascular inflammation in kidney disease. World J Nephrol (2016) 5(2):125–38. doi: 10.5527/wjn.v5.i2.125
- Kowal J, Arras G, Colombo M, Jouve M, Morath JP, Primdal-Bengtson B, et al. Proteomic comparison defines novel markers to characterize heterogeneous populations of extracellular vesicle subtypes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2016) 113(8):E968–77. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1521230113
- Osteikoetxea X, Németh A, Sódar BW, Vukman KV, Buzás EI. Extracellular vesicles in cardiovascular disease: are they Jedi or Sith? J Physiol (2016) 594(11):2881–94. doi: 10.1113/JP271336
- Tao SC, Guo SC, Zhang CQ. Platelet-derived extracellular vesicles: an emerging therapeutic approach. *Int J Biol Sci* (2017) 13(7):828–34. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.19776
- 6. Nomura S. Extracellular vesicles and blood diseases. *Int J Hematol* (2017) 105(4):392–405. doi: 10.1007/s12185-017-2180-x
- New SE, Aikawa E. Role of extracellular vesicles in de novo mineralization: an additional novel mechanism of cardiovascular calcification. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2013) 33(8):1753–8. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.112.300128
- Boulanger CM, Loyer X, Rautou PE, Amabile N. Extracellular vesicles in coronary artery disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol* (2017) 14(5):259–72. doi: 10.1038/ nrcardio.2017.7
- 9. Raposo G, Stoorvogel W. Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. J Cell Biol (2013) 200(4):373–83. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201211138
- Wolf P. The nature and significance of platelet products in human plasma. Br J Haematol (1967) 13(3):269–88. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.1967.tb08741.x
- 11. Warren BA, Vales O. The release of vesicles from platelets following adhesion to vessel walls in vitro. *Br J Exp Pathol* (1972) 53(2):206–15.
- Heijnen HF, Debili N, Vainchencker W, Breton-Gorius J, Geuze HJ, Sixma JJ. Multivesicular bodies are an intermediate stage in the formation of platelet alpha-granules. *Blood* (1998) 91(7):2313–25.
- 13. Tripisciano C, Weiss R, Eichhorn T, Spittler A, Heuser T, Fischer MB, et al. Different potential of extracellular vesicles to support thrombin generation: contributions of phosphatidylserine, tissue factor, and cellular origin. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7(1):6522. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-03262-2
- 14. Sinauridze EI, Kireev DA, Popenko NY, Pichugin AV, Panteleev MA, Krymskaya OV, et al. Platelet microparticle membranes have 50- to 100-fold higher specific procoagulant activity than activated platelets. *Thromb Haemost* (2007) 97(3):425–34.

Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No 722609. LS received funding from NWO ZonMw (MKMD 40-42600-98-13007). RK received funding from German Research Foundation (KR-4073/3-1, SCHN1188/5-1, SFB/TRR57) a Grant of the European Research Council (ERC-StG 677448), a START Grant of the RWTH Aachen University (101/15) and a Grant of the State of Northrhinewestfalia (Return to NRW). RRK received funding from the Netherlands Foundation for Scientific Research (ZonMW VIDI 016.126.358), the Landsteiner Foundation for Blood Transfusion Research (LSBR Nr. 1638) and Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (SFB1123/A2).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank NattoPharma ASA (Hovik, Norway) for helping with designing and styling the Figures.

- 15. Castaman G, Yu-Feng L, Battistin E, Rodeghiero F. Characterization of a novel bleeding disorder with isolated prolonged bleeding time and deficiency of platelet microvesicle generation. *Br J Haematol* (1997) 96(3):458–63. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2141.1997.d01-2072.x
- Curvers J, van Pampus EC, Feijge MA, Rombout-Sestrienkova E, Giesen PL, Heemskerk JW. Decreased responsiveness and development of activation markers of PLTs stored in plasma. *Transfusion* (2004) 44(1):49–58. doi: 10.1111/j.0041-1132.2004.00628.x
- Garraud O, Tariket S, Sut C, Haddad A, Aloui C, Chakroun T, et al. Transfusion as an inflammation hit: knowns and unknowns. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:534. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00534
- Gambim MH, do Carmo AO, Marti L, Veríssimo-Filho S, Lopes LR, Janiszewski M. Platelet-derived exosomes induce endothelial cell apoptosis through peroxynitrite generation: experimental evidence for a novel mechanism of septic vascular dysfunction. *Crit Care* (2007) 11(5):R107. doi: 10.1186/cc6133
- Heijnen HF, Schiel AE, Fijnheer R, Geuze HJ, Sixma JJ. Activated platelets release two types of membrane vesicles: microvesicles by surface shedding and exosomes derived from exocytosis of multivesicular bodies and alphagranules. *Blood* (1999) 94(11):3791–9.
- Sadallah S, Eken C, Martin PJ, Schifferli JA. Microparticles (ectosomes) shed by stored human platelets downregulate macrophages and modify the development of dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2011) 186(11):6543–52. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1002788
- 21. Fox JE, Austin CD, Boyles JK, Steffen PK. Role of the membrane skeleton in preventing the shedding of procoagulant-rich microvesicles from the platelet plasma membrane. J Cell Biol (1990) 111(2):483–93. doi: 10.1083/ jcb.111.2.483
- 22. Perez-Pujol S, Marker PH, Key NS. Platelet microparticles are heterogeneous and highly dependent on the activation mechanism: studies using a new digital flow cytometer. *Cytometry A* (2007) 71(1):38–45. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.20354
- 23. Baj-Krzyworzeka M, Majka M, Pratico D, Ratajczak J, Vilaire G, Kijowski J, et al. Platelet-derived microparticles stimulate proliferation, survival, adhesion, and chemotaxis of hematopoietic cells. *Exp Hematol* (2002) 30(5):450–9. doi: 10.1016/S0301-472X(02)00791-9
- 24. Sprague DL, Elzey BD, Crist SA, Waldschmidt TJ, Jensen RJ, Ratliff TL. Plateletmediated modulation of adaptive immunity: unique delivery of CD154 signal by platelet-derived membrane vesicles. *Blood* (2008) 111(10):5028–36. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-06-097410
- 25. Mause SF, von Hundelshausen P, Zernecke A, Koenen RR, Weber C. Platelet microparticles: a transcellular delivery system for RANTES promoting monocyte recruitment on endothelium. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2005) 25(7):1512–8. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000170133.43608.37
- 26. Podor TJ, Singh D, Chindemi P, Foulon DM, Mckelvie R, Weitz JI, et al. Vimentin exposed on activated platelets and platelet microparticles localizes

vitronectin and plasminogen activator inhibitor complexes on their surface. J Biol Chem (2002) 277(9):7529–39. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109675200

- Prokopi M, Pula G, Mayr U, Devue C, Gallagher J, Xiao Q, et al. Proteomic analysis reveals presence of platelet microparticles in endothelial progenitor cell cultures. *Blood* (2009) 114(3):723–32. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-02-205930
- Vajen T, Mause SF, Koenen RR. Microvesicles from platelets: novel drivers of vascular inflammation. *Thromb Haemost* (2015) 114(2):228–36. doi: 10.1160/ TH14-11-0962
- 29. Melki I, Tessandier N, Zufferey A, Boilard E. Platelet microvesicles in health and disease. *Platelets* (2017) 28(3):214–21. doi: 10.1080/09537104.2016.1265924
- 30. Mobarrez F, He S, Bröijersen A, Wiklund B, Antovic A, Antovic J, et al. Atorvastatin reduces thrombin generation and expression of tissue factor, P-selectin and GPIIIa on platelet-derived microparticles in patients with peripheral arterial occlusive disease. *Thromb Haemost* (2011) 106(2):344–52. doi: 10.1160/TH10-12-0810
- 31. Suades R, Padró T, Alonso R, Mata P, Badimon L. Lipid-lowering therapy with statins reduces microparticle shedding from endothelium, platelets and inflammatory cells. *Thromb Haemost* (2013) 110(2):366–77. doi: 10.1160/ TH13-03-0238
- 32. Nomura S, Inami N, Shouzu A, Omoto S, Kimura Y, Takahashi N, et al. The effects of pitavastatin, eicosapentaenoic acid and combined therapy on platelet-derived microparticles and adiponectin in hyperlipidemic, diabetic patients. *Platelets* (2009) 20(1):16–22. doi: 10.1080/09537100802409921
- 33. Flaumenhaft R, Dilks JR, Richardson J, Alden E, Patel-Hett SR, Battinelli E, et al. Megakaryocyte-derived microparticles: direct visualization and distinction from platelet-derived microparticles. *Blood* (2009) 113(5):1112–21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-06-163832
- Mause SF, Weber C. Microparticles: protagonists of a novel communication network for intercellular information exchange. *Circ Res* (2010) 107(9):1047– 57. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.226456
- 35. Vasina EM, Cauwenberghs S, Feijge MA, Heemskerk JW, Weber C, Koenen RR. Microparticles from apoptotic platelets promote resident macrophage differentiation. *Cell Death Dis* (2011) 2:e211. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2011.94
- 36. Laffont B, Corduan A, Rousseau M, Duchez AC, Lee CH, Boilard E, et al. Platelet microparticles reprogram macrophage gene expression and function. *Thromb Haemost* (2016) 115(2):311–23. doi: 10.1160/TH15-05-0389
- 37. Suades R, Padró T, Alonso R, Mata P, Badimon L. High levels of TSP1+/ CD142+ platelet-derived microparticles characterise young patients with high cardiovascular risk and subclinical atherosclerosis. *Thromb Haemost* (2015) 114(6):1310–21. doi: 10.1160/TH15-04-0325
- 38. Jayachandran M, Litwiller RD, Owen WG, Heit JA, Behrenbeck T, Mulvagh SL, et al. Characterization of blood borne microparticles as markers of premature coronary calcification in newly menopausal women. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* (2008) 295(3):H931–H938. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00193.2008
- 39. Michelsen AE, Notø AT, Brodin E, Mathiesen EB, Brosstad F, Hansen JB. Elevated levels of platelet microparticles in carotid atherosclerosis and during the postprandial state. *Thromb Res* (2009) 123(6):881–6. doi: 10.1016/j. thromres.2008.10.016
- 40. Ueba T, Nomura S, Inami N, Nishikawa T, Kajiwara M, Iwata R, et al. Plasma level of platelet-derived microparticles is associated with coronary heart disease risk score in healthy men. *J Atheroscler Thromb* (2010) 17(4):342–9. doi: 10.5551/jat.2964
- 41. Nomura S, Uehata S, Saito S, Osumi K, Ozeki Y, Kimura Y. Enzyme immunoassay detection of platelet-derived microparticles and RANTES in acute coronary syndrome. *Thromb Haemost* (2003) 89(3):506–12.
- 42. Suades R, Padró T, Crespo J, Ramaiola I, Martin-Yuste V, Sabaté M, et al. Circulating microparticle signature in coronary and peripheral blood of ST elevation myocardial infarction patients in relation to pain-to-PCI elapsed time. *Int J Cardiol* (2016) 202:378–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.09.011
- 43. Morel O, Hugel B, Jesel L, Mallat Z, Lanza F, Douchet MP, et al. Circulating procoagulant microparticles and soluble GPV in myocardial infarction treated by primary percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty. A possible role for GPIIb-IIIa antagonists. *J Thromb Haemost* (2004) 2(7):1118–26. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2004.00805.x
- 44. Katopodis JN, Kolodny L, Jy W, Horstman LL, de Marchena EJ, Tao JG, et al. Platelet microparticles and calcium homeostasis in acute coronary ischemias. Am J Hematol (1997) 54(2):95–101. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1096-8652(199702)54:2<95::AID-AJH1>3.0.CO;2-Z

- 45. Zeiger F, Stephan S, Hoheisel G, Pfeiffer D, Ruehlmann C, Koksch M. P-Selectin expression, platelet aggregates, and platelet-derived microparticle formation are increased in peripheral arterial disease. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis* (2000) 11(8):723–8. doi: 10.1097/00001721-200012000-00005
- 46. Tan KT, Tayebjee MH, Lynd C, Blann AD, Lip GY. Platelet microparticles and soluble P selectin in peripheral artery disease: relationship to extent of disease and platelet activation markers. *Ann Med* (2005b) 37(1):61–6. doi: 10.1080/07853890410018943
- 47. Nomura S, Imamura A, Okuno M, Kamiyama Y, Fujimura Y, Ikeda Y, et al. Platelet-derived microparticles in patients with arteriosclerosis obliterans: enhancement of high shear-induced microparticle generation by cytokines. *Thromb Res* (2000) 98(4):257–68.
- 48. van der Zee PM, Biró E, Ko Y, de Winter RJ, Hack CE, Sturk A, et al. P-selectinand CD63-exposing platelet microparticles reflect platelet activation in peripheral arterial disease and myocardial infarction. *Clin Chem* (2006) 52(4):657–64. doi: 10.1373/clinchem.2005.057414
- Preston RA, Jy W, Jimenez JJ, Mauro LM, Horstman LL, Valle M, et al. Effects of severe hypertension on endothelial and platelet microparticles. *Hypertension* (2003) 41(2):211–7. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000049760.15764.2D
- 50. Diehl P, Aleker M, Helbing T, Sossong V, Germann M, Sorichter S, et al. Increased platelet, leukocyte and endothelial microparticles predict enhanced coagulation and vascular inflammation in pulmonary hypertension. *J Thromb Thrombolysis* (2011) 31(2):173–9. doi: 10.1007/s11239-010-0507-z
- 51. Rectenwald JE, Myers DD, Hawley AE, Longo C, Henke PK, Guire KE, et al. D-dimer, P-selectin, and microparticles: novel markers to predict deep venous thrombosis. A pilot study. *Thromb Haemost* (2005) 94(6):1312–7. doi: 10.1160/ TH05-06-0426
- 52. Bal L, Ederhy S, di Angelantonio E, Toti F, Zobairi F, Dufaitre G, et al. Factors influencing the level of circulating procoagulant microparticles in acute pulmonary embolism. *Arch Cardiovasc Dis* (2010) 103(6-7):394–403. doi: 10.1016/j.acvd.2010.06.005
- 53. Lukasik M, Rozalski M, Luzak B, Michalak S, Kozubski W, Watala C. Platelet activation and reactivity in the convalescent phase of ischaemic stroke. *Thromb Haemost* (2010) 103(3):644–50. doi: 10.1160/TH09-08-0599
- 54. Lee YJ, Jy W, Horstman LL, Janania J, Reyes Y, Kelley RE, et al. Elevated platelet microparticles in transient ischemic attacks, lacunar infarcts, and multiinfarct dementias. *Thromb Res* (1993) 72(4):295–304. doi: 10.1016/0049-3848(93)90138-E
- 55. Kuriyama N, Nagakane Y, Hosomi A, Ohara T, Kasai T, Harada S, et al. Evaluation of factors associated with elevated levels of platelet-derived microparticles in the acute phase of cerebral infarction. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost* (2010) 16(1):26–32. doi: 10.1177/1076029609338047
- 56. Sabatier F, Darmon P, Hugel B, Combes V, Sanmarco M, Velut JG, et al. Type 1 and type 2 diabetic patients display different patterns of cellular microparticles. *Diabetes* (2002) 51(9):2840–5. doi: 10.2337/diabetes.51.9.2840
- 57. Diamant M, Nieuwland R, Pablo RF, Sturk A, Smit JW, Radder JK. Elevated numbers of tissue-factor exposing microparticles correlate with components of the metabolic syndrome in uncomplicated type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Circulation* (2002) 106(19):2442–7. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000036596.59665. C6
- 58. Tan KT, Tayebjee MH, Lim HS, Lip GY. Clinically apparent atherosclerotic disease in diabetes is associated with an increase in platelet microparticle levels. *Diabet Med* (2005a) 22(12):1657–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2005.01707.x
- 59. Koga H, Sugiyama S, Kugiyama K, Fukushima H, Watanabe K, Sakamoto T, et al. Elevated levels of remnant lipoproteins are associated with plasma platelet microparticles in patients with type-2 diabetes mellitus without obstructive coronary artery disease. *Eur Heart J* (2006) 27(7):817–23. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehi746
- 60. Murakami T, Horigome H, Tanaka K, Nakata Y, Ohkawara K, Katayama Y, et al. Impact of weight reduction on production of platelet-derived microparticles and fibrinolytic parameters in obesity. *Thromb Res* (2007) 119(1):45–53. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2005.12.013
- 61. Agouni A, Lagrue-Lak-Hal AH, Ducluzeau PH, Mostefai HA, Draunet-Busson C, Leftheriotis G, et al. Endothelial dysfunction caused by circulating microparticles from patients with metabolic syndrome. *Am J Pathol* (2008) 173(4):1210–9. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2008.080228
- 62. Stepanian A, Bourguignat L, Hennou S, Coupaye M, Hajage D, Salomon L, et al. Microparticle increase in severe obesity: not related to metabolic syndrome

and unchanged after massive weight loss. *Obesity* (2013) 21(11):2236–43. doi: 10.1002/oby.20365

- 63. Csongrádi É, Nagy B, Fulop T, Varga Z, Karányi Z, Magyar MT, et al. Increased levels of platelet activation markers are positively associated with carotid wall thickness and other atherosclerotic risk factors in obese patients. *Thromb Haemost* (2011) 106(4):683–92. doi: 10.1160/TH11-01-0030
- 64. Aatonen M, Grönholm M, Siljander PR. Platelet-derived microvesicles: multitalented participants in intercellular communication. *Semin Thromb Hemost* (2012) 38(1):102–13. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1300956
- 65. Ridger VC, Boulanger CM, Angelillo-Scherrer A, Badimon L, Blanc-Brude O, Bochaton-Piallat ML, et al. Microvesicles in vascular homeostasis and diseases. Position paper of the European society of Cardiology (ESC) Working Group on atherosclerosis and vascular biology. *Thromb Haemost* (2017) 117(7):1296–316. doi: 10.1160/TH16-12-0943
- 66. Perrotta I, Aquila S. Exosomes in human atherosclerosis: an ultrastructural analysis study. Ultrastruct Pathol (2016) 40(2):101–6. doi: 10.3109/01913123.2016.1154912
- 67. Nomura S, Tandon NN, Nakamura T, Cone J, Fukuhara S, Kambayashi J. High-shear-stress-induced activation of platelets and microparticles enhances expression of cell adhesion molecules in THP-1 and endothelial cells. *Atherosclerosis* (2001) 158(2):277–87. doi: 10.1016/S0021-9150(01)00433-6
- Barry OP, Praticò D, Savani RC, Fitzgerald GA. Modulation of monocyteendothelial cell interactions by platelet microparticles. J Clin Invest (1998) 102(1):136–44. doi: 10.1172/JCI2592
- Forlow SB, Mcever RP, Nollert MU. Leukocyte-leukocyte interactions mediated by platelet microparticles under flow. *Blood* (2000) 95(4):1317–23.
- Koenen RR. The prowess of platelets in immunity and inflammation. *Thromb Haemost* (2016) 116(4):605–12. doi: 10.1160/TH16-04-0300
- 71. Landry P, Plante I, Ouellet DL, Perron MP, Rousseau G, Provost P. Existence of a microRNA pathway in anucleate platelets. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* (2009) 16(9):961–6. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.1651
- 72. Gidlöf O, van der Brug M, Ohman J, Gilje P, Olde B, Wahlestedt C, et al. Platelets activated during myocardial infarction release functional miRNA, which can be taken up by endothelial cells and regulate ICAM1 expression. *Blood* (2013) 121(19):3908–17. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-10-461798
- 73. Risitano A, Beaulieu LM, Vitseva O, Freedman JE. Platelets and platelet-like particles mediate intercellular RNA transfer. *Blood* (2012) 119(26):6288–95. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-12-396440
- Diehl P, Fricke A, Sander L, Stamm J, Bassler N, Htun N, et al. Microparticles: major transport vehicles for distinct microRNAs in circulation. *Cardiovasc Res* (2012) 93(4):633–44. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvs007
- 75. Laffont B, Corduan A, Plé H, Duchez AC, Cloutier N, Boilard E, et al. Activated platelets can deliver mRNA regulatory Ago2•microRNA complexes to endothelial cells via microparticles. *Blood* (2013) 122(2):253–61. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-03-492801
- 76. Postea O, Vasina EM, Cauwenberghs S, Projahn D, Liehn EA, Lievens D, et al. Contribution of platelet CX(3)CR1 to platelet-monocyte complex formation and vascular recruitment during hyperlipidemia. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2012) 32(5):1186–93. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.111.243485
- 77. Leroyer AS, Isobe H, Lesèche G, Castier Y, Wassef M, Mallat Z, et al. Cellular origins and thrombogenic activity of microparticles isolated from human atherosclerotic plaques. J Am Coll Cardiol (2007) 49(7):772–7. doi: 10.1016/j. jacc.2006.10.053
- 78. Fong KP, Barry C, Tran AN, Traxler EA, Wannemacher KM, Tang HY, et al. Deciphering the human platelet sheddome. *Blood* (2011) 117(1):e15–e26. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-05-283838
- 79. Vajen T, Benedikter BJ, Heinzmann ACA, Vasina EM, Henskens Y, Parsons M, et al. Platelet extracellular vesicles induce a pro-inflammatory smooth muscle cell phenotype. J Extracell Vesicles (2017) 6(1):1322454. doi: 10.1080/20013078.2017.1322454
- Hergenreider E, Heydt S, Tréguer K, Boettger T, Horrevoets AJ, Zeiher AM, et al. Atheroprotective communication between endothelial cells and smooth muscle cells through miRNAs. *Nat Cell Biol* (2012) 14(3):249–56. doi: 10.1038/ ncb2441
- Sinha S, Iyer D, Granata A. Embryonic origins of human vascular smooth muscle cells: implications for in vitro modeling and clinical application. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2014) 71(12):2271–88. doi: 10.1007/s00018-013-1554-3

- Lacolley P, Regnault V, Segers P, Laurent S. Vascular smooth muscle cells and arterial stiffening: relevance in development, aging, and disease. *Physiol Rev* (2017) 97(4):1555–617. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00003.2017
- 83. Shanahan CM, Weissberg PL. Smooth muscle cell heterogeneity: patterns of gene expression in vascular smooth muscle cells in vitro and in vivo. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (1998) 18(3):333–8. doi: 10.1161/01. ATV.18.3.333
- 84. Pfaltzgraff ER, Bader DM. Heterogeneity in vascular smooth muscle cell embryonic origin in relation to adult structure, physiology, and disease. *Dev Dyn* (2015) 244(3):410–6. doi: 10.1002/dvdy:24247
- 85. Alexander MR, Owens GK. Epigenetic control of smooth muscle cell differentiation and phenotypic switching in vascular development and disease. Annu Rev Physiol (2012) 74:13–40. doi: 10.1146/annurevphysiol-012110-142315
- 86. Lacolley P, Regnault V, Nicoletti A, Li Z, Michel JB. The vascular smooth muscle cell in arterial pathology: a cell that can take on multiple roles. *Cardiovasc Res* (2012) 95(2):194–204. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvs135
- Owens GK, Kumar MS, Wamhoff BR. Molecular regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell differentiation in development and disease. *Physiol Rev* (2004) 84(3):767–801. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00041.2003
- 88. Shroff RC, Shanahan CM. The vascular biology of calcification. Semin Dial (2007) 20(2):103–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1525-139X.2007.00255.x
- Campbell GR, Campbell JH. Smooth muscle phenotypic changes in arterial wall homeostasis: implications for the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Exp Mol Pathol* (1985) 42(2):139–62. doi: 10.1016/0014-4800(85)90023-1
- 90. Zhang MJ, Zhou Y, Chen L, Wang YQ, Wang X, Pi Y, et al. An overview of potential molecular mechanisms involved in VSMC phenotypic modulation. *Histochem Cell Biol* (2016) 145(2):119–30. doi: 10.1007/s00418-015-1386-3
- 91. Luo G, Ducy P, Mckee MD, Pinero GJ, Loyer E, Behringer RR, et al. Spontaneous calcification of arteries and cartilage in mice lacking matrix GLA protein. *Nature* (1997) 385386(6620):78–81. doi: 10.1038/386078a0
- Rong JX, Shapiro M, Trogan E, Fisher EA. Transdifferentiation of mouse aortic smooth muscle cells to a macrophage-like state after cholesterol loading. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2003) 100(23):13531–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1735526100
- Vattikuti R, Towler DA. Osteogenic regulation of vascular calcification: an early perspective. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab (2004) 286(5):E686–696. doi: 10.1152/ajpendo.00552.2003
- 94. Kramann R, Goettsch C, Wongboonsin J, Iwata H, Schneider RK, Kuppe C, et al. Adventitial MSC-like cells are progenitors of vascular smooth muscle cells and drive vascular calcification in chronic kidney disease. *Cell Stem Cell* (2016) 19(5):628–42. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2016.08.001
- 95. Tang Z, Wang A, Yuan F, Yan Z, Liu B, Chu JS, et al. Differentiation of multipotent vascular stem cells contributes to vascular diseases. *Nat Commun* (2012) 3:875. doi: 10.1038/ncomms1867
- Anderson HC. Electron microscopic studies of induced cartilage development and calcification. J Cell Biol (1967) 35(1):81–101. doi: 10.1083/jcb.35.1.81
- 97. Tanimura A, Mcgregor DH, Anderson HC. Matrix vesicles in atherosclerotic calcification. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med (1983) 172(2):173–7. doi: 10.3181/00379727-172-41542
- Fleckenstein-Grün G, Frey M, Thimm F, Hofgärtner W, Fleckenstein A. Calcium overload-an important cellular mechanism in hypertension and arteriosclerosis. *Drugs* (1992) 44(Suppl 1):23–30. doi: 10.2165/00003495-199200441-00005
- 99. Kapustin AN, Chatrou ML, Drozdov I, Zheng Y, Davidson SM, Soong D, et al. Vascular smooth muscle cell calcification is mediated by regulated exosome secretion. *Circ Res* (2015) 116(8):1312–23. doi: 10.1161/ CIRCRESAHA.116.305012
- 100. Chen NX, O'Neill KD, Moe SM. Matrix vesicles induce calcification of recipient vascular smooth muscle cells through multiple signaling pathways. *Kidney Int* (2018) 93(2):343–54. doi: 10.1016/j.kint.2017.07.019
- 101. Kirsch T, Nah HD, Shapiro IM, Pacifici M. Regulated production of mineralization-competent matrix vesicles in hypertrophic chondrocytes. J Cell Biol (1997) 137(5):1149–60. doi: 10.1083/jcb.137.5.1149
- 102. Gerke V, Moss SE. Annexins: from structure to function. *Physiol Rev* (2002) 82(2):331–71. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00030.2001
- 103. Chen NX, O'Neill KD, Chen X, Moe SM. Annexin-mediated matrix vesicle calcification in vascular smooth muscle cells. J Bone Miner Res (2008) 23(11):1798–805. doi: 10.1359/jbmr.080604

- 104. New SE, Goettsch C, Aikawa M, Marchini JF, Shibasaki M, Yabusaki K, et al. Macrophage-derived matrix vesicles: an alternative novel mechanism for microcalcification in atherosclerotic plaques. *Circ Res* (2013) 113(1):72–7. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.301036
- 105. Chatrou ML, Winckers K, Hackeng TM, Reutelingsperger CP, Schurgers LJ. Vascular calcification: the price to pay for anticoagulation therapy with vitamin K-antagonists. *Blood Rev* (2012) 26(4):155–66. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2012.03.002
- 106. Schurgers LJ, Spronk HM, Skepper JN, Hackeng TM, Shanahan CM, Vermeer C, et al. Post-translational modifications regulate matrix Gla protein function: importance for inhibition of vascular smooth muscle cell calcification. J Thromb Haemost (2007) 5(12):2503–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2007.02758.x
- 107. Schurgers LJ, Uitto J, Reutelingsperger CP. Vitamin K-dependent carboxylation of matrix Gla-protein: a crucial switch to control ectopic mineralization. *Trends Mol Med* (2013) 19(4):217–26. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2012.12.008
- 108. Kapustin AN, Schoppet M, Schurgers LJ, Reynolds JL, Mcnair R, Heiss A, et al. Prothrombin loading of vascular smooth muscle cell-derived exosomes regulates coagulation and calcification. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2017) 37(3):e22–32. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.116.308886
- 109. Goettsch C, Iwata H, Aikawa E. Parathyroid hormone: critical bridge between bone metabolism and cardiovascular disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* (2014) 34(7):1333–5. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.303637
- 110. Goettsch C, Hutcheson JD, Aikawa M, Iwata H, Pham T, Nykjaer A, et al. Sortilin mediates vascular calcification via its recruitment into extracellular vesicles. J Clin Invest (2016) 126(4):1323–36. doi: 10.1172/JCI80851
- 111. Abels ER, Breakefield XO. Introduction to extracellular vesicles: biogenesis, RNA cargo selection, content, release, and uptake. *Cell Mol Neurobiol* (2016) 36(3):301–12. doi: 10.1007/s10571-016-0366-z
- 112. Valadi H, Ekström K, Bossios A, Sjöstrand M, Lee JJ, Lötvall JO. Exosomemediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. *Nat Cell Biol* (2007) 9(6):654–9. doi: 10.1038/ncb1596
- 113. Manning KS, Cooper TA. The roles of RNA processing in translating genotype to phenotype. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol (2017) 18(2):102–14. doi: 10.1038/ nrm.2016.139
- 114. Panizo S, Naves-Díaz M, Carrillo-López N, Martínez-Arias L, Fernández-Martín JL, Ruiz-Torres MP, et al. MicroRNAs 29b, 133b, and 211 regulate vascular smooth muscle calcification mediated by high phosphorus. *J Am Soc Nephrol* (2016) 27(3):824–34. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2014050520
- 115. Liu J, Xiao X, Shen Y, Chen L, Xu C, Zhao H, et al. MicroRNA-32 promotes calcification in vascular smooth muscle cells: Implications as a novel marker for coronary artery calcification. *PLoS ONE* (2017) 12(3):e0174138. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0174138
- 116. Xia ZY, Hu Y, Xie PL, Tang SY, Luo XH, Liao EY, et al. Runx2/miR-3960/miR-2861 positive feedback loop is responsible for osteogenic transdifferentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells. *Biomed Res Int* (2015) 2015:1–7. doi: 10.1155/2015/624037
- 117. Sudo R, Sato F, Azechi T, Wachi H. MiR-29-mediated elastin down-regulation contributes to inorganic phosphorus-induced osteoblastic differentiation in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Genes Cells* (2015) 20(12):1077–87. doi: 10.1111/gtc.12311
- 118. Goettsch C, Rauner M, Pacyna N, Hempel U, Bornstein SR, Hofbauer LC. miR-125b regulates calcification of vascular smooth muscle cells. *Am J Pathol* (2011) 179(4):1594–600. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.06.016
- 119. Lin L, He Y, Xi BL, Zheng HC, Chen Q, Li J, et al. MiR-135a Suppresses Calcification in Senescent VSMCs by Regulating KLF4/STAT3 Pathway. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol* (2016) 14(2):211–8. doi: 10.2174/15701611136661507221518 17
- 120. Cui RR, Li SJ, Liu LJ, Yi L, Liang QH, Zhu X, et al. MicroRNA-204 regulates vascular smooth muscle cell calcification in vitro and in vivo. *Cardiovasc Res* (2012) 96(2):320–9. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvs258
- 121. Mackenzie NC, Staines KA, Zhu D, Genever P, Macrae VE. miRNA-221 and miRNA-222 synergistically function to promote vascular calcification. *Cell Biochem Funct* (2014) 32(2):209–16. doi: 10.1002/cbf.3005
- 122. Chen NX, Kiattisunthorn K, O'Neill KD, Chen X, Moorthi RN, Gattone VH, et al. Decreased microRNA is involved in the vascular remodeling abnormalities in chronic kidney disease (CKD). *PLoS ONE* (2013) 8(5):e64558. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0064558

- 123. Gui T, Zhou G, Sun Y, Shimokado A, Itoh S, Oikawa K, et al. MicroRNAs that target Ca(2+) transporters are involved in vascular smooth muscle cell calcification. *Lab Invest* (2012) 92(9):1250–9. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2012.85
- 124. Balderman JA, Lee HY, Mahoney CE, Handy DE, White K, Annis S, et al. Bone morphogenetic protein-2 decreases microRNA-30b and microRNA-30c to promote vascular smooth muscle cell calcification. *J Am Heart Assoc* (2012) 1(6):e003905. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.112.003905
- 125. Kim S, Hata A, Kang H. Down-regulation of miR-96 by bone morphogenetic protein signaling is critical for vascular smooth muscle cell phenotype modulation. J Cell Biochem (2014) 115(5):889–95. doi: 10.1002/jcb.24730
- 126. Qiao W, Chen L, Zhang M. MicroRNA-205 regulates the calcification and osteoblastic differentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2014) 33(6):1945–53. doi: 10.1159/000362971
- 127. Liao XB, Zhang ZY, Yuan K, Liu Y, Feng X, Cui RR, et al. MiR-133a modulates osteogenic differentiation of vascular smooth muscle cells. *Endocrinology* (2013) 154(9):3344–52. doi: 10.1210/en.2012-2236
- 128. Katano H, Nishikawa Y, Yamada H, Yamada K, Mase M. Differential expression of microRNAs in severely calcified carotid plaques. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis (2018) 27(1):108–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2017.08.009
- 129. Wu W, Shang YQ, Dai SL, Yi F, Wang XC. MiR-26a regulates vascular smooth muscle cell calcification in vitro through targeting CTGF. *Bratisl Lek Listy* (2017) 118(8):499–503. doi: 10.4149/BLL_2017_096
- 130. Zheng S, Zhang S, Song Y, Guo W, Zhai W, Qiu X, et al. MicroRNA-297a regulates vascular calcification by targeting fibroblast growth factor 23. *Iran J Basic Med Sci* (2016) 19(12):1331–6. doi: 10.22038/ijbms.2016.7920
- 131. Rangrez AY, M'Baya-Moutoula E, Metzinger-Le Meuth V, Hénaut L, Djelouat MS, Benchitrit J, et al. Inorganic phosphate accelerates the migration of vascular smooth muscle cells: evidence for the involvement of miR-223. PLoS ONE (2012) 7(10):e47807. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047807
- 132. Hao J, Zhang L, Cong G, Ren L, Hao L. MicroRNA-34b/c inhibits aldosteroneinduced vascular smooth muscle cell calcification via a SATB2/Runx2 pathway. *Cell Tissue Res* (2016) 366(3):733–46. doi: 10.1007/s00441-016-2469-8
- 133. Goettsch C, Hutcheson JD, Aikawa E. MicroRNA in cardiovascular calcification: focus on targets and extracellular vesicle delivery mechanisms. *Circ Res* (2013) 112(7):1073–84. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.300937
- 134. Lin X, Zhan JK, Wang YJ, Tan P, Chen YY, Deng HQ, et al. Function, role, and clinical application of microRNAs in vascular aging. *Biomed Res Int* (2016) 2016:1–15. doi: 10.1155/2016/6021394
- 135. Lin X, He Y, Hou X, Zhang Z, Wang R, Wu Q. Endothelial cells can regulate smooth muscle cells in contractile phenotype through the miR-206/ ARF6&NCX1/exosome axis. *PLoS ONE* (2016) 11(3):e0152959. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0152959
- 136. Zhao L, Luo H, Li X, Li T, He J, Qi Q, et al. Exosomes derived from human pulmonary artery endothelial cells shift the balance between proliferation and apoptosis of smooth muscle cells. *Cardiology* (2017) 137(1):43–53. doi: 10.1159/000453544
- 137. Schurgers LJ. Vitamin K: key vitamin in controlling vascular calcification in chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int* (2013) 83(5):782–4. doi: 10.1038/ki.2013.26
- 138. Shankman LS, Gomez D, Cherepanova OA, Salmon M, Alencar GF, Haskins RM, et al. KLF4-dependent phenotypic modulation of smooth muscle cells has a key role in atherosclerotic plaque pathogenesis. *Nat Med* (2015) 21(6):628–37. doi: 10.1038/nm.3866
- 139. Corselli M, Chen CW, Sun B, Yap S, Rubin JP, Péault B. The tunica adventitia of human arteries and veins as a source of mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem Cells Dev* (2012) 21(8):1299–308. doi: 10.1089/scd.2011.0200
- 140. Crisan M, Yap S, Casteilla L, Chen CW, Corselli M, Park TS, et al. A perivascular origin for mesenchymal stem cells in multiple human organs. *Cell Stem Cell* (2008) 3(3):301–13. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2008.07.003
- 141. Kramann R, Humphreys BD. Kidney pericytes: roles in regeneration and fibrosis. Semin Nephrol (2014) 34(4):374–83. doi: 10.1016/j. semnephrol.2014.06.004
- 142. Schneider RK, Mullally A, Dugourd A, Peisker F, Hoogenboezem R, van Strien PMH, et al. Gli1⁺Mesenchymal Stromal Cells Are a Key Driver of Bone Marrow Fibrosis and an Important Cellular Therapeutic Target. *Cell Stem Cell* (2017) 20(6):785–800. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2017.03.008
- 143. Brighton CT, Lorich DG, Kupcha R, Reilly TM, Jones AR, Woodbury RA. The pericyte as a possible osteoblast progenitor cell. *Clin Orthop Relat Res* (1992) (275):287–99. doi: 10.1097/00003086-199202000-00043

- 144. Boström K, Watson KE, Horn S, Wortham C, Herman IM, Demer LL. Bone morphogenetic protein expression in human atherosclerotic lesions. J Clin Invest (1993) 91(4):1800–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI116391
- 145. Passman JN, Dong XR, Wu SP, Maguire CT, Hogan KA, Bautch VL, et al. A sonic hedgehog signaling domain in the arterial adventitia supports resident Sca1+ smooth muscle progenitor cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2008) 105(27):9349–54. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0711382105
- 146. Tang W, Zeve D, Suh JM, Bosnakovski D, Kyba M, Hammer RE, et al. White fat progenitor cells reside in the adipose vasculature. *Science* (2008) 322(5901):583–6. doi: 10.1126/science.1156232
- 147. Krautler NJ, Kana V, Kranich J, Tian Y, Perera D, Lemm D, et al. Follicular dendritic cells emerge from ubiquitous perivascular precursors. *Cell* (2012) 150(1):194–206. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.05.032
- 148. Dellavalle A, Maroli G, Covarello D, Azzoni E, Innocenzi A, Perani L, et al. Pericytes resident in postnatal skeletal muscle differentiate into muscle fibres and generate satellite cells. *Nat Commun* (2011) 2:499. doi: 10.1038/ ncomms1508
- 149. Göritz C, Dias DO, Tomilin N, Barbacid M, Shupliakov O, Frisén J. A pericyte origin of spinal cord scar tissue. *Science* (2011) 333(6039):238–42. doi: 10.1126/science.1203165

- 150. Greenhalgh SN, Iredale JP, Henderson NC. Origins of fibrosis: pericytes take centre stage. *F1000Prime Rep* (2013) 5:37. doi: 10.12703/P5-37
- 151. Kramann R, Schneider RK, Dirocco DP, Machado F, Fleig S, Bondzie PA, et al. Perivascular Gli1+ progenitors are key contributors to injury-induced organ fibrosis. *Cell Stem Cell* (2015) 16(1):51–66. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2014.11.004
- 152. Kramann R, Fleig SV, Schneider RK, Fabian SL, Dirocco DP, Maarouf O, et al. Pharmacological GLI2 inhibition prevents myofibroblast cell-cycle progression and reduces kidney fibrosis. *J Clin Invest* (2015) 125(8):2935–51. doi: 10.1172/JCI74929

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Schurgers, Akbulut, Kaczor, Halder, Koenen and Kramann. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Toward Exosome-Based Therapeutics: Isolation, Heterogeneity, and Fit-for-Purpose Potency

Gareth R. Willis^{1,2}, Stella Kourembanas^{1,2} and S. Alex Mitsialis^{1,2*}

¹ Division of Newborn Medicine, Department of Medicine, Boston Children's Hospital, Boston, MA, United States, ² Department of Pediatrics, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Elena Aikawa, Brigham and Women's Hospital, United States

Reviewed by:

Rajeev Malhotra, Massachusetts General Hospital, United States Shiyou Chen, University of Georaja, United States

*Correspondence: S. Alex Mitsialis alex.mitsialis@childrens.harvard.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Atherosclerosis and Vascular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 10 July 2017 Accepted: 25 September 2017 Published: 09 October 2017

Citation:

Willis GR, Kourembanas S and Mitsialis SA (2017) Toward Exosome-Based Therapeutics: Isolation, Heterogeneity, and Fit-for-Purpose Potency. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 4:63. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2017.00063 Exosomes are defined as submicron (30-150 nm), lipid bilayer-enclosed extracellular vesicles (EVs), specifically generated by the late endosomal compartment through fusion of multivesicular bodies with the plasma membrane. Produced by almost all cells, exosomes were originally considered to represent just a mechanism for jettisoning unwanted cellular moieties. Although this may be a major function in most cells, evolution has recruited the endosomal membrane-sorting pathway to duties beyond mere garbage disposal, one of the most notable examples being its cooption by retroviruses for the generation of Trojan virions. It is, therefore, tempting to speculate that certain cell types have evolved an exosome subclass active in intracellular communication. We term this EV subclass "signalosomes" and define them as exosomes that are produced by the "signaling" cells upon specific physiological or environmental cues and harbor cargo capable of modulating the programming of recipient cells. Our recent studies have established that signalosomes released by mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) represent the main vector of MSC immunomodulation and therapeutic action in animal models of lung disease. The efficacy of MSC-exosome treatments in a number of preclinical models of cardiovascular and pulmonary disease supports the promise of application of exosome-based therapeutics across a wide range of pathologies within the near future. However, the full realization of exosome therapeutic potential has been hampered by the absence of standardization in EV isolation, and procedures for purification of signalosomes from the main exosome population. This is mainly due to immature methodologies for exosome isolation and characterization and our incomplete understanding of the specific characteristics and molecular composition of signalosomes. In addition, difficulties in defining metrics for potency of exosome preparations and the challenges of industrial scale-up and good manufacturing practice compliance have complicated smooth and timely transition to clinical development. In this manuscript, we focus on cell culture conditions, exosome harvesting, dosage, and exosome potency, providing some empirical guidance and perspectives on the challenges in bringing exosome-based therapies to clinic.

Keywords: exosomes, extracellular vesicles, exosome-based therapeutics, mesenchymal stem cells, preclinical

INTRODUCTION

The intracellular transfer of diverse moieties via extracellular vesicles (EVs) has been proposed to be a widespread process. Cells release diverse EVs that include exosomes, microvesicles (MVs) and apoptotic bodies (1, 2). The classification of such EV subtypes is mainly based on their biogenesis and resultant biophysical properties, such as size, density, and predominant protein markers. Originally, the class of EVs generated through the endosomal pathway (exosomes) was assumed to represent a mere mechanism for the cell to jettison unwanted moieties (3, 4). We now understand that exosome biogenesis is a process governed by the endosomal-sorting complex machinery and involves the formation of intraluminal vesicles within multivesicular bodies (MVBs). Mature MVBs fuse with the plasma membrane and subsequently secrete the enclosed exosomes into the extracellular environment. During their biogenesis, exosomes associate with an array of bioactive cargo from their parental cell. Such cargo has been reported to include genetic information in the form of small noncoding RNAs, free fatty acids, surface receptors, and proteins (Figure 1) (5, 6). It is considered that the biophysical properties of EVs, including their cargo, reflect the stimulus triggering their formation (7), implying specific packaging of "message" prior to export from the parent cell. In turn, the secretion of these biologically loaded signaling vectors to the extracellular environment represents an important method of cell-to-cell communication, dubbed the "new endocrinology".

Exosomes have been shown to play important roles in a broad range of pathological conditions, such as cancer (9), liver and kidney disease (10), neurodegenerative disorders (11), and numerous cardiopulmonary disorders (12, 13). More recently, in addition to their prognostic and diagnostic value, exosomes have also been reported to represent novel therapeutic reagents across multiple disciplines.

EXOSOME-BASED THERAPEUTICS

The therapeutic capacity of exosomes generated by mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs) that have been derived from different organs, such as bone marrow, umbilical cord, adipose tissue, or placenta has been tested in various disease models. In the cases where cells and their respective exosomes were studied in parallel, exosome treatment has demonstrated a similar or even superior therapeutic capacity to MSC treatment (14). MSC-exosomes have provided beneficial effects in numerous disease models promoting functional recovery and neurovascular plasticity following traumatic brain injury (15), reducing myocardial infarction size (16, 17), ameliorating hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension (18), aiding repair of kidney injury (19, 20), and orchestrating neurological protection by the transfer of microRNA (21, 22). MSC-exosome-based approaches for the treatment of different disease models are highlighted in **Table 1**.

While the functional roles of exosomes have been extensively reported [reviewed in Ref. (43–46)], few reviews have addressed the challenges underlying the transition of exosome-based therapies



histocompatibility complex; TSG101, tumor susceptibility gene 101.

TABLE 1 | Summary of MSC-exosome-based approaches for the treatment of different disease models.

Disease model	MSC-product "nomenclature"	Isolation method	Dose assessment	Dose	Reference
Respiratory					
Bronchopulmonary dysplasia	Exosomes	Density Cushion	Cell equivalent	0.5×10^{6}	Willis et al. (8)
Pulmonary hypertension	Exosomes	SEC	Protein	0.1–10 µg	Lee et al. (18)
Pulmonary hypertension	Exosomes	UC (100K × g)	Protein	25 µg	Aliotta et al. (23)
Acute lung injury	Microvesicles (MVs)	UC (100K × g)	Cell equivalent	1.5×10^{6}	Zhu et al. (24)
Silicosis	Exosomes	Sucrose gradient	Protein	40 µg	Phinney et al. (25)
Pneumonia	MVs	UC (100K × g)	Cell equivalent	9×10^{6}	Monsel et al. (26)
Cardiovascular					
Myocardial infarction	Exosomes	ExoQuick	Cell equivalent	4×10^{6}	Yu et al. (27)
Myocardial infarction	Extracellular vesicles (EVs)	UC (100K × g)	Protein	80 µg	Bian et al. (28)
Myocardial infarction	Exosomes	ExoQuick	Protein	80 µg	Teng et al. (29)
Ischemia/reperfusion	Exosomes	HPLC	Protein	0.4 µg	Lai et al. (16)
Ischemia/reperfusion	Exosomes	HPLC	Protein	0.4–0.8 µg	Arslan et al. (17)
Neurological					
Traumatic brain injury	EVs	Anion exchange	Protein	30 µg	Kim et al. (30)
		chromatograph			
Laser-induced retinal injury	Exosomes	UC (110K × g)	Protein	10 µg	Yu et al. (31)
Optical nerve crush	Exosomes	UC (100K × g)	ExoELISA	3×10^{9}	Mead and Tomarev (32)
Stroke	EVs	UC (110K × g)	Cell equivalent	2×10^{6}	Doeppner et al. (33)
Stroke	Exosomes	UC (100K × g)	Protein	100 µg	Xin et al. (34)
Musculoskeletal					
Cardiotoxin injury	EVs	UC (100K × g)	Protein	5 µg	Lo Sicco et al. (35)
Hepatic					
Drug-induced liver injury	Exosomes	UC (100K × g)	Protein	0.4 µg	Tan et al. (36)
Liver fibrosis	Exosomes	UC (100K × g)	Protein	250 µg	Li et al. (37)
Gastrointestinal					
Colitis	EVs	UC (100K × g)	Protein	50–200 µg	Yang et al. (38); Fang et al. (39
Dermatological					
Wound healing	Exosomes	UC (100K × g)	Protein	160 µg	Zhang et al. (40)
Wound healing	Exosomes	UC (120K $\times g$)	Protein	100 µg	Fang et al. (39)
Renal					
Ischemia/reperfusion	MVs	UC (100K × g)	Protein	100 µg	Zou et al. (41)
Acute kidney injury	MVs	UC (100K $\times g$)	Protein	100 µg	Bruno et al. (42)

Ultracentrifugation (UC): 100,000–120,000 × g (100K–120K × g). Size-exclusion chromatography (SEC). ExoQuick and ExoELISA refer to a commercially available exosome isolation kit and CD63 capture (exosome) ELISA, respectively (Systems Biosciences, CA, USA).

from animal models to clinical development. Furthermore, the full realization of their therapeutic potential has been hampered by a lack of standardization in exosome isolation and characterization. Herein, we will focus on the therapeutic application of MSC-exosomes and outline topics relevant to the facilitation of their development as a pharmaceutical preparation, focusing on exosome harvesting, dosing and potency, and providing guidance on the current challenges in bringing exosome-based therapies to clinic.

MESENCHYMAL STEM/STROMAL CELL ORIGIN: WHERE ARE THE EXOSOMES COMING FROM?

A comprehensive characterization of the tissue/cellular source of exosomes is imperative for exosome-based therapeutics. Detailed methods for obtaining human MSCs from several tissues, including bone marrow (BMSCs), Wharton's jelly (WJMSCs), umbilical cord blood, and adipose tissue are well reported (47, 48). By

TABLE 2 | Minimal criteria for defining MSCs, as put forth by The International

 Society for Cellular Therapy.

Characterization of mesenchymal stem/stromal cells (MSCs)

- 1. Adherence to plastic in standard culture conditions
- 2. Phenotype:
 - Positive (≥95%) CD105 CD45 CD73
- Negative (\leq 2%) CD34 CD90 CD14 or CD11b CD79a or CD19 HLA-DR 3. *In vitro* differentiation: osteocytes, adipocytes, and chondrocytes.

Human leukocyte antigen–antigen D related (HLA-DR). Adapted from Dominici et al. (49).

definition, MSCs must adhere to plastic, demonstrate a baseline differentiation potential to osteocytes, chondrocytes, and adipocytes *in vitro*, and express the presence of widely accepted surface markers (**Table 2**) (49). However, donor-to-donor variability remains a prominent challenge. Studies have found that BMSCs obtained from older donors have slower proliferation and reduced differentiation potential *in vitro*. Furthermore, discrepancies in the

differentiation capacity and transcriptome profiles are reported to be tissue and species dependent (50-52). To what extent do these uncertainties affect the therapeutic capacity of MSCs and their resultant exosomes remains unclear. Thus, in addition to validated MSC isolation procedures, investigators should adhere to carefully selected donor eligibility criteria in accordance with the appropriate ethical and regulatory approval, employing strict control measures to prevent risk of relevant communicable disease agents or diseases (RCDADs), such as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis C virus, and cytomegalovirus. Moreover, donor screening should include a comprehensive medical record review, physical assessment, and medical history interview, with records documented in compliance with appropriate regulatory frame. The International Society of Extracellular Vesicles (ISEV), the Food and drug Administration (FDA), the International Council for Harmonization (ICH) of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use, and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) provide extensive guidance for the development and generation of novel biological medicines with regard to donor/patient care, product safety, and quality (53-56). The demonstration that exosomes generated by MSCs isolated from WJMSCs are as effective as BMSC-exosomes in treating rodent disease models (8) may facilitate standardization and consistency of MSC lines for exosome harvesting. Moreover, the umbilical cord may possess several advantages over bone marrow. First, the umbilical cord represents a more readily available source than bone marrow. Second, it is often viewed as discarded medical waste that does not require any invasive procedures or cadaver procurement.

"PHYSIOXIA" CONSIDERATIONS IN ESTABLISHING MSC CULTURE CONDITIONS FOR EXOSOME PRODUCTION

Previous studies have reported that the protein and RNA profile of exosomes reflect the cell culture conditions and microenvironmental stimuli that triggered their release. With this in mind, it begs to question can "stimulating" and/or preconditioning cells be used as a means to generate a more homogenous or efficacious exosome population? Interestingly, in an experimental model of hyperoxia-induced bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD), Waszak and coworkers found that the conditioned media (CM) derived from hyperoxia-preconditioned rat BMSCs (95% O₂, for 24 h) provided greater protection in vivo compared to CM collected from cells grown under control conditions (57). Clearly, in the absence of further characterization, one can only speculate where the observed augmentation of activity resides. Other studies have found that MSCs cultured in hypoxia conditions (<5% O₂) exhibited an altered protein expression pattern compared to MSCs cultured in the so-called "normoxia" (58). Furthermore, in a murine hind limb ischemia model, they showed that intra-arterial injection of MSCs cultured in both "normoxic" or hypoxic conditions enhanced revascularization compared with saline controls; however, the functional recovery of mice that received hypoxia preconditioned MSCs was faster (59). These reports suggest that

preconditioning MSCs in different oxygen environments may improve their tissue regenerative potential.

Indeed, "hypoxia" (1% O₂) has been shown to increase exosome production in numerous cell types in vitro. Previous studies have shown that the hypoxia-induced elevation in exosome secretion is chiefly governed by hypoxia-inducible factor-1 alpha (HIF-1 α) and is independent of apoptosis (60). Often, laboratory cell culture conditions are at atmospheric oxygen levels (21% O_{2} , corresponding to a PO2 of ~159 mmHg); following adjustment to 5% CO₂, this equates to ~19.95% O₂ (~150 mmHg). Although, it is challenging to accurately measure tissue oxygen concentrations in vivo, it is well recognized that most of the human body tissue is normally exposed to much lower O2 levels. This can range from 160 to 100 mmHg in the alveoli, >35 mmHg in the brain, and ~25 mmHg in skeletal muscle (61-63). Notably, in the bone marrow, arguably the most common origin of MSCs, the PO₂ is reported to be ~40 mmHg, while the umbilical cord vasculature PO2 is reported to be between 10 and 30 mmHg (63). Organ oxygen levels have been extensively reviewed (63). However, it is important to remember that the different techniques used to measure oxygen concentration in vivo are subject to their own advantages and limitations.

In vivo, the oxygen concentration of an organ is an indication of its physiological state and reflects the balance between oxygen delivery and its metabolic consumption. Consequently, in a physiological condition, organs are subject their own unique "physioxia" status. On balance, the routine laboratory cell culture conditions expose MSCs to oxygen levels higher than those in their physiologic niches, and this departure from "physioxia" may precipitate a "perceived hyperoxia" response. Thus, it is important to recognize this factor when interpreting results of experiments performed in atmospheric "normoxia," and also to realize that the impact of this factor may vary, depending on the particular study and the metrics assessed.

In turn, several questions remain unanswered. The optimal oxygen concentration for *in vitro* MSC culture and the effect that it may have on subsequent exosome production remains undefined at this point. Existing reports indicate that optimization is likely to be both MSC origin and disease model specific. Thus, additional studies assessing the effect of oxygen levels on MSCs and their resultant exosomes are much needed.

EXOSOME HETEROGENEITY

Cells generate three major EV classes: apoptotic bodies, MVs, and exosomes. Arguably, it is often assumed each subtype represents a homogenous vesicle population that can be distinguished based on biophysical properties such as size or density. However, it has become obvious that even within such subtypes, there is heterogeneity (2, 64). Although, the field lacks tools to distinguish vesicles from different routes of biogenesis, recent evidence has demonstrated that MSCs release distinct EV subpopulations that differ in biophysical, proteomic, and RNA repertoires. Specifically, Kowal and coworkers found that large-, medium-, and small-sized EVs can be isolated by sequential low-, intermediate-, and high-speed centrifugation, respectively. Among the small-EVs (exosomes), four subcategories were defined by their degree of enrichment in CD63, CD9, and/or CD81 tetraspanins (64). In accordance, Lai et al. found that MSCs secrete many distinct subtypes of vesicles, which differ in RNA and protein composition (65). It is relevant to note that the study involved an immortalized, iPS-derived MSC cell line that will likely secrete a more restricted range of exosome subtypes than those generated by primary cells.

In our hands, ongoing studies aim to address the relationships between MSC-exosome subtypes and therapeutic efficacy and to explore the hypothesis that a discrete subtype is responsible for the therapeutic activity in our established experimental models of BPD, a chronic lung disorder of infants (8). Here, we isolated exosomes from either human BMSCs or WJMSCs by differential centrifugation, followed by tangential flow filtration and iodixanol density floatation before separating exosome subtypes by size-exclusion chromatography (SEC) (described in **Figure 2**). This approach separates MSC-exosome subtypes based on their size, and in accordance with previous





reports, we demonstrate a shift in protein markers associated with different exosome subtypes. Specifically, we found that CD63 and flotillin-1 (FLOT1) is associated with "large"-exosomes (>80 nm), while Alix and TSG101 is enriched in "small"-exosomes (<80 nm). Few studies assess the ratio of such markers; however, further investigation is warranted as it may provide a tool for distinguishing exosome subtypes. Ongoing *in vivo* studies are testing whether the different MSC-exosome subtypes exhibit differential therapeutic efficacy in a number of animal models currently utilized by our group and collaborators.

Regulatory frameworks often require a mechanism-of-action that details the identity, quantification, and characterization of such bioactive substances responsible for the therapeutic effect(s). Moreover, disclosure of non-active components ("excipients") in drug preparations should be acknowledged (56, 66). Knowing exosome subtypes harbor different protein and genetic cargo, it is fair to speculate that they likely mediate different effects on targets cells. Thus, improved separation techniques that distinguish between "non-active" and therapeutic exosome subtypes may help focus the search for the bioactive substance(s) responsible for such beneficial effects. The "one size fits all" hypothesis may not work for exosome-based therapeutics. Although a specific exosome subset may induce beneficial therapeutic effects in a specific disease model, it is important to recognize that a different exosome subpopulation may afford the beneficial effects in a different disease model.

EMERGING THEMES IN EXOSOME ISOLATION

Isolation methods impact exosome integrity, in vivo biodistribution and metabolic fate (56). Exosome isolation techniques from various biological fluids and cell culture medium have been extensively reviewed (67-69). It is well established that widely applied exosome isolation techniques, such as differential ultracentrifugation (UC), promote vesicle aggregation and often co-isolate soluble factors and protein (70). Thus, a consensus in the field has shifted toward more "gentle" isolation techniques to ultimately reduce contaminants (non-EV material), maintain integrity, and isolate "bioactive" vesicles from heterogeneous EV populations. To date, popular avenues of investigation include gradient density isolation and SEC, with the latter being more suited to enclosed tissues culture systems. Variations of such approaches have been shown to effectively separate exosomes from proteins and soluble factors in different biological fluids (71, 72). However, layered density-based procedures may achieve enrichment rather than true exosome isolation, where the influence of UC parameters coupled with high-sucrose concentrations may change the osmotic environment (69). Furthermore, UC methods are impracticable for large-scale bioprocessing.

Several emerging technology platforms have shown promise in isolating exosomes from various sample matrices, with each method exploiting a particular biophysical trait of exosomes such as their size, density, shape, or surface receptors (**Figure 3**) (72).





The final goal is an isolation method that is label free, distinguishes between exosome subtypes and interfering components, and can facilitate a large-scale production of exosomes.

Recently, Lee and colleagues employed a label-free acoustic nano-filter system to isolate exosomes based on their size (73). Specifically, using ultrasound standing waves exert differential acoustic force, they isolated exosomes from both cell culture media and stored red blood cell products. They effectively separated exosomes (149 nm) and MVs (410 nm). Although, its application for high-throughput exosome preparations is yet to be established, previous studies have used label-free acoustic wave systems to isolate circulating tumor cells (74).

Exosomes can also be separated by size with 10 nm accuracy using variations of flow field-flow fractionation (F4) (75). Asymmetrical F4 (AF4) is a one-phase chromatography method that uses parabolic-flow to drive exosomes across a flow channel. A crossflow intercepts the parabolic-flow perpendicular to the channel and distributes particulate components against the flow chamber wall. Subsequently, exosomes are separated based on differences in diffusivity. Smaller particles diffuse further from the accumulation wall and are eluted earlier than larger ones. Successful attempts have been made using AF4 to isolate exosomes from human neural stem cell culture (76) and melanoma cell lines (77). AF4 approaches provide promise for "label-free" isolation of large-scale exosome production.

To effectively utilize the size difference between exosomes, other EV subtypes and cellular debris, Wang and colleagues fabricated a porous silicon nanowire-on-micropillar "nano-trap" made from ciliated micropillars (78). This fabricated microfluidic device preferentially traps exosomes with a diameter of 40–100 nm, while filtering out proteins, larger EVs, and cellular debris. Moreover, trapped exosomes can be recovered by dissolving the porous silicon nanowires in PBS buffer. However, in this proof-of-concept study, the authors noted poor vesicle retention (~60%) and only assessed small sample volume (30 μ l), thus scalability is yet to be demonstrated.

Overall, to support the development of exosome-based therapeutics, research efforts should focus on the development of "label-free" exosome isolation techniques that can support high-throughput systems/scale-up requirements and are capable of distinguishing exosome subtypes. Although a number of highly sophisticated technologies for EV isolation have emerged recently, their application is mainly in the biomarker field, as tools for exosome-based diagnostics. Although such emerging technologies hold great promise, the large-scale preparation of isolated exosome subtypes to be used as the basis of exosomebased pharmaceutical products will probably depend, at least in the near future, on modifications of classic industrial processes such as SEC.

DOSE EVALUATION

Currently, investigators use several different methods to quantify exosome dosage, making inter-study comparison troublesome. Common quantitative practices include reporting cell equivalents, protein concentration, and/or specialized quantitative analytical measurements by instruments, such as tunable resistive pulse sensing (TRPS) and nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA), with each method harboring its own advantages and limitations [for recent reviews (79-82)]. The need to standardize exosome dosing is imperative. Of interest, methods such as TRPS are currently used to verify particle size and characterization for liposome-encapsulated forms of doxorubicin and are accepted within the definition of bioequivalence as set forth by the FDA and EMA. Although enumeration of analytical criteria is beyond the scope of this review, we acknowledge that the field is limited by current technology and lacks the ability to accurately assess exosomes at a single vesicle level. Thus, to aid inter-study comparison, we recommend that in addition to providing extensive detail of standardized cell culture conditions and pre-analytical protocols, investigators should measure exosome concentration using multiple quantification tools, where possible. A summary of the advantages and limitations of common methods used to determine exosome dose are highlighted in Table 3. Establishing an exosome potency assay is a novel approach which holds great promise in standardizing exosome dosing.

DEVELOPING AN EXOSOME POTENCY ASSAY

The definition of the bioactive substance(s) will remain a crucial question in the preclinical development of exosome-based therapeutics. With an orchestra of bioactive cargo and diverse physiological effects (Figure 1B), identification of "one" bioactive substance or a singular mechanism-of-action appears improbable. By FDA standards, potency is defined as the products specific ability or capacity to affect a given result (66). With no "gold-standard" technique for their quantification, assessment of exosome potency would be a valuable tool in overcoming the inconsistencies in preparations and batch-to-batch variation. For example, exosomes obtained from two separate donors may be normalized via a given quantitative method; however, the "bioactive" load may differ, subsequently the potency and degree of efficacy will not be the same. Thus, investigators should consider employing a unique exosome potency unit (EPU) to standardize practices and minimize variation between different samples. Presently, attempts to define an exosome potency metric utilized the immunomodulatory properties of MSC-exosomes. For example, Jiao et al. described an *in vitro* potency assay for MSC-exosomes based on the release of IL-10 from mononuclear cells following incubation with exosome preparations, and other studies have shown that T-cell proliferation assays may be modified to provide the basis for assays on exosome immunomodulatory potency (29, 83). Growing evidence also suggests that MSC-exosomes can modulate macrophage phenotypes (8, 35). Macrophages play a pivotal part in regulating immune responses. They assume both phagocytic "defensive" roles and exhibit regulatory "anti-inflammatory" actions, facilitating both the initiation and the resolution of inflammation (84). With this consideration in mind, our ongoing studies are exploring an in vitro macrophage polarization assay as a means of assessing MSC-exosome potency. Briefly, the potency assay involves adding MSC-exosomes to murine bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) that are polarized to the classically activated

Exosome dosing method	Information acquired	Advantages	Limitations		
Protein	Total protein amount	Fast Low cost	May not reflect bioactive ingredient. May measure non- exosomal-associated protein. Does not reflect particle concentration/size/distribution		
Nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA)	Particle concentration, size, and distribution (range 10 nm–2 $\mu\text{m})$	Fluorescent-NTA available Provides absolute EV concentration, size and distribution	Difficulties in determining vesicle aggregates and size heterogeneity in biological samples		
Tunable resistive pulse sensing (TRPS)	Particle concentration, size and distribution (size range <40 nm–10 µm)	Provides absolute EV concentration, size and distribution. Can also measure particle surface charge	Different pore sizes are needed to assess biological samples that contain both exosomes (for example, <150 nm) and larger EVs (>150 nm) Can detect non-exosome material within size range		
ELISA	Specific concentration of EV marker (for example, CD9 or CD63)	Specific to "exosome" protein	May not reflect bioactive exosome population. Time consuming. Provides non-specific information about exosome size/distribution		
Dynamic light scattering (DLS)	Particle concentration and size (range <1 nm–10 $\mu m)$	Fast Small volume required	Difficulties in measuring heterogeneous samples		
Flow cytometry	Particles concentration and size (size range ~>150 nm)	Non-specialized (typical) laboratory equipment Fluorescently labeled EVs	Detection limit (~<150 nm) (cytometer dependent)		
Cell equivalents	Cell number	Low cost Fast	Requires standardized tissue culture procedures. Does not reflect particle concentration/size/distribution		
Emerging tools for estimating exosome dose	Description				
"Fingerprinting assays"	Quantifies surrogate markers (for example levels/ratios of exosome markers such as CD63, CD9, and CD81) as an indication of potency and/ or dose				
Exosome potency assays	Quantifies the ability of an exosome preparation to elicit the desired biologic/therapeutic action or surrogate activity in vitro and/or in vivo				

NTA and DLS size ranges were obtained from http://malvern.com. TRPS detection range was obtained from http://izon.com.

(proinflammatory) M1-phenotype. The functional endpoint is the capacity of MSC-exosomes to suppress the mRNA induction of TNF α . The half maximal effective concentration (EC₅₀ value, 50% inhibition in TNF α mRNA levels, relative to M1 control) is transformed to an arbitrary EPU (described in **Figure 4**) (8). In turn, an EPU could potentially be applied to standardize dosing between different exosome preparations. In all cases, potency assays need to be disease specific, fit-for-purpose, and employ relevant functional end-points.

MANUFACTURING AND SCALE-UP

In 2002, Lamparski et al. described a method for the production and characterization of clinical grade exosomes derived from dendritic cells for their application in cancer vaccine clinical trials (85). Using ultrafiltration coupled with a sucrose/deuterium oxide UC cushion, they isolated vesicles (50–90 nm in diameter) containing major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class-I, -II, and CD1, and tetraspanin molecules (CD9, CD63, and CD81) In addition, in 2005, Navabi and coworkers detailed the development of a method for the preparation and characterization of good manufacturing practice (GMP)-grade exosomes from the ascites fluid of ovarian cancer patients (86). Since then our understanding of exosome biology has improved and the development of specialized isolation and characterization methods has allowed investigators to more accurately isolate and characterize exosome populations.

Considering the development of exosome-based therapeutics, lessons could be learned from cell therapy. The *in vitro* expansion of cells (such as MSCs) is required to deliver an effective therapeutic dose, with the absence of having a detrimental impact on the quality of the cell. Upon scaling-up, process analytical technology (PAT), a system proposed by the FDA, may be implemented to monitor the manufacturing process through continuous measurement of cell parameters (87, 88). Monitoring bioprocess parameters, such as population doubling time, temperature, metabolite concentrations, pH, pO_2 and pCO_2 , may help ensure optimal exosome quality and quantity, as previous reports have shown that subtle acidic pH shifts may impair exosome aggregation inhibiting forces and, in turn, promote aggregation and reduce functionality (56).

Recently, the inevitable shift to using tissue culture bioreactors has been used to generate large-scale EV preparations. Indeed, Watson and colleagues demonstrated that hollow-fiber bioreactors promotes enhanced exosome production (~40-fold greater EVs/ml of CM) when compared to conventional 2D tissue culture preparations (89). However, it remains unclear if such methods enhance generalized EV production or simply reflect a reduction



exosome dosing. Step 1: primary murine bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) were obtained by flushing the femur and tibia of 6- to 8-week-old FVB mice. M1 polarization was initiated by lipopolysaccharide (LPS) 100 ng/ml and interferon-y (IFNy) 20 ng/ml stimulation. Macrophage polarization $(1 \times 10^6 \text{ BMDMs})$ was initiated with/without the presence of MSC-exosome preparations (0.05-1 × 10⁶ cell equivalents), providing several ratios of MSC-exosome cell equivalents-to-BMDMs. After 24 h, total RNA was isolated and TNF α mRNA levels were assessed by RT-qPCR. The functional endpoint is the capacity of MSC-exosomes to suppress the mRNA induction of TNFa. Step 2: an EC50 value (50% reduction in TNFa mRNA, relative to M1 control) is transformed to an arbitrary exosome potency unit (EPU). Data were adapted from our recent work (8), where we demonstrated purified human umbilical cord MSC-exosomes, dose dependently suppressed mRNA levels of TNFα in alveolar macrophages in vitro. Step 3: an EPU can be applied to standardize dosing between different exosome preparations or as a means of correlating potency to exosome quantity.

in exosome re-uptake. Under the considerations discussed above, relating to EV diversity and the possibility that only specific exosome subtypes may represent the therapeutic agent, it is premature to assume that production of higher EV numbers will necessarily yield a higher efficacy final product. Optimization of MSC culture conditions will, therefore, require the parallel development of a dependable and easily adoptable potency assay.

"OFF-THE-SHELF" EXOSOMES

With evidence to suggest that exosomes can be stored at -20° C for up to 6 months with no loss to their biochemical activity, "off-the-shelf" exosome-based products represent an attractive pharmaceutical formulation (56, 66, 90). Although standardized storage procedures remain to be defined, current storage protocols use isotonic buffers to prevent pH shifts during storage, avoid freeze-thaw cycles and are absent of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and glycerol as previous reports have shown these agents may impact exosome integrity (91). With a lack of data addressing the impact of storage time and excipients on exosome structural stability and functional efficacy, more studies are warranted to help define a provisional "shelf-life" for exosome-based products and facilitate the manufacturing and distribution process.

EV-BASED THERAPY IN CLINICAL TRIALS

Promising preclinical data that demonstrated dendritic cellderived EVs containing MHC-peptide complexes could alter tumor growth in immune competent mice led to a phase I antimelanoma clinical trial conducted in France (92) and a phase I anti-non-small cell lung cancer clinical trial in the United States (93) (clinical trial applications highlighted in Table 4). Both clinical trials administered autologous dendritic cell-derived EVs that met their respective current GMP standards. Such clinical trials to date are important for their demonstration of both the feasibility and the short-term safety of autologous EV administration, but safety considerations for therapies based on exogenous exosome-based products will arguably be more stringent. Nevertheless, it is very encouraging to note that preclinical studies have established immunomodulation as the main therapeutic mechanism of MSC-exosomes action. Immunomodulation is clearly involved in the autologous exosome clinical trials mentioned above, and this may provide guidelines and precedent for clinical trials using exogenous exosomes. In this context, a recent clinical case involving treatment of a steroid-refractory graft-vshost disease patient with MSC-EVs derived from unrelated bone marrow donors produced encouraging results (94).

Ultimately, issues raised in this review aim to provide a basic guidance for investigators on key issues to consider for the smooth transition of exosome-based therapies from the preclinical model into clinical development (**Figure 5**). Among them, determining the optimal dose, the appropriate time window for exosome administration, the number of doses, and route of administration that achieves maximal efficacy without adverse effects are the most important issues to resolve. Such issues will be disease/ model specific and clearly beyond the scope of this work.

SUMMARY

Exosome-based therapeutics represent a most promising next generation approach for treating a diverse number of diseases, particularly diseases the pathogenesis of which involves a primary (or major) inflammatory component. The efficacy of MSCexosome treatments has been robustly established in numerous preclinical models, but development of large-scale GMP-grade

TABLE 4 | Exosome-based therapy: clinical trials.

Disease	Phase	Vesicle cellular source	Route of administration	Isolation method	Modified (Y/N)	Status	Reference
Melanoma	I-open label	Autologous monocyte-derived dendritic cells	SC	UF/UC sucrose cushion	Y	Complete	Escudier et al. (92)
Non-small cell lung cancer	I-open label	Autologous monocyte-derived dendritic cells	SC and intradermal	UF/UC sucrose cushion	Y	Complete	Morse et al. (93)
Colon cancer	I-open label	Autologous ascites	SC	UC sucrose cushion	Ν	Complete	Dai et al. (95)
Colon cancer	I-open label	Plant based	-	Not declared	Y	Ongoing	NCT01294072
Type I diabetes	I-open label	Umbilical cord blood (allogeneic) MSC	-	Not declared	Ν	Ongoing	NCT02138331
Non-small cell lung cancer	II-open label	Tumor cell	Pleural or peritoneal cavity	Not declared	Y	Complete	Besse et al. (96)
Wound healing (Ulcer)	I-open label	Plasma (autologous)	-	Not declared	Ν	Enrolling	NCT02565264

MSC, mesenchymal stem/stromal cells; SC, subcutaneous; UF, ultrafiltration; UC, ultracentrifugation. Adapted from Lener et al. (56).



exosome-based pharmaceuticals and subsequent clinical trials demand the resolution of several technological and mechanistic issues, reflecting the cautious navigation in unknown seas for this relatively novel field. Among the major issues to be resolved are the definition of an EPU, the standardization of MSC culture conditions and protocols for exosome harvest and storage. Although safety considerations need also to be addressed, it is expected that safety concerns for cell-free, exosome-based clinical trials will be arguably milder than those relevant to live cell MSC trials currently in progress, as mutagenicity and oncogenicity concerns will be null.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

GW participated in data collection, analysis, and manuscript writing. SK and SAM contributed to final article editing and approval.

FUNDING

This work was supported in part by NIH grants RO1 HL085446 and RO1 HL055454 (SK) and a United Therapeutics Corp. Sponsored Research Grant (SK and SAM).

REFERENCES

- Gould SJ, Raposo G. As we wait: coping with an imperfect nomenclature for extracellular vesicles. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2013) 2:20389. doi:10.3402/ jev.v2i0.20389
- Willms E, Johansson HJ, Mäger I, Lee Y, Blomberg KEM, Sadik M, et al. Cells release subpopulations of exosomes with distinct molecular and biological properties. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:22519. doi:10.1038/srep22519
- Johnstone RM, Adam M, Hammond JR, Orr L, Turbide C. Vesicle formation during reticulocyte maturation. Association of plasma membrane activities with released vesicles (exosomes). *J Biol Chem* (1987) 262:9412–20.
- Théry C. Exosomes: secreted vesicles and intercellular communications. F1000 Biol Rep (2011) 3:15. doi:10.3410/B3-15
- van der Pol E, Böing AN, Harrison P, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Classification, functions, and clinical relevance of extracellular vesicles. *Pharmacol Rev* (2012) 64:676–705. doi:10.1124/pr.112.005983
- Kowal J, Tkach M, Théry C. Biogenesis and secretion of exosomes. Curr Opin Cell Biol (2014) 29:116–25. doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2014.05.004
- de Jong OG, Verhaar MC, Chen Y, Vader P, Gremmels H, Posthuma G, et al. Cellular stress conditions are reflected in the protein and RNA content of endothelial cell-derived exosomes. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2012) 1:18396. doi:10.3402/jev.v1i0.18396
- Willis GR, Fernandez-Gonzalez A, Anastas J, Vitali SH, Liu X, Ericsson M, et al. Mesenchymal stromal cell exosomes ameliorate experimental bronchopulmonary dysplasia and restore lung function through macrophage immunomodulation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2017). doi:10.1164/ rccm.201705-0925OC
- Azmi AS, Bao B, Sarkar FH. Exosomes in cancer development, metastasis and drug resistance: a comprehensive review. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* (2013) 32:623–42. doi:10.1007/s10555-10013-19441-10559
- Krause M, Samoylenko A, Vainio SJ. Exosomes as renal inductive signals in health and disease, and their application as diagnostic markers and therapeutic agents. *Front Cell Dev Biol* (2015) 3:65. doi:10.3389/fcell.2015.00065
- Howitt J, Hill AF. Exosomes in the pathology of neurodegenerative diseases. J Biol Chem (2016) 23:26589–97. doi:10.1074/jbc.R116.757955
- Hugel B, Martínez MC, Kunzelmann C, Freyssinet J-M. Membrane microparticles: two sides of the coin. *Physiology* (2005) 20:22. doi:10.1152/ physiol.00029.2004
- Ailawadi S, Wang X, Gu H, Fan G-C. Pathologic function and therapeutic potential of exosomes in cardiovascular disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2015) 1852:1–11. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.10.008
- Aslam M, Baveja R, Liang OD, Fernandez-Gonzalez A, Lee C, Mitsialis SA, et al. Bone marrow stromal cells attenuate lung injury in a murine model of neonatal chronic lung disease. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2009) 180:1122–30. doi:10.1164/rccm.200902-0242OC
- Zhang Y, Chopp M, Meng Y, Katakowski M, Xin H, Mahmood A, et al. Effect of exosomes derived from multipluripotent mesenchymal stromal cells on functional recovery and neurovascular plasticity in rats after traumatic brain injury. J Neurosurg (2015) 122:856–67. doi:10.3171/2014.11.JNS14770
- Lai RC, Arslan F, Lee MM, Sze NSK, Choo A, Chen TS, et al. Exosome secreted by MSC reduces myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Stem Cell Res* (2010) 4:214–22. doi:10.1016/j.scr.2009.12.003
- Arslan F, Lai RC, Smeets MB, Akeroyd L, Choo A, Aguor ENE, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes increase ATP levels, decrease oxidative stress and activate PI3K/Akt pathway to enhance myocardial viability and prevent adverse remodeling after myocardial ischemia/reperfusion injury. *Stem Cell Res* (2013) 10:301–12. doi:10.1016/j.scr.2013.01.002
- Lee C, Mitsialis SA, Aslam M, Vitali SH, Vergadi E, Konstantinou G, et al. Exosomes mediate the cytoprotective action of mesenchymal stromal cells on hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension. *Circulation* (2012) 126:2601–11. doi:10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.114173
- Dorronsoro A, Robbins PD. Regenerating the injured kidney with human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes. *Stem Cell Res Ther* (2013) 4:39–39. doi:10.1186/scrt187
- Zhang G, Wang D, Miao S, Zou X, Liu G, Zhu Y. Extracellular vesicles derived from mesenchymal stromal cells may possess increased therapeutic potential for acute kidney injury compared with conditioned medium in rodent models: a meta-analysis. *Exp Ther Med* (2016) 11:1519–25. doi:10.3892/ etm.2016.3076

- Xin H, Li Y, Buller B, Katakowski M, Zhang Y, Wang X, et al. Exosomemediated transfer of mir-133b from multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells to neural cells contributes to neurite outgrowth. *Stem Cells* (2012) 30:1556–64. doi:10.1002/stem.1129
- Kalani A, Tyagi N. Exosomes in neurological disease, neuroprotection, repair and therapeutics: problems and perspectives. *Neural Regen Res* (2015) 10:1565–7. doi:10.4103/1673-5374.165305
- 23. Aliotta JM, Pereira M, Wen S, Dooner MS, Del Tatto M, Papa E, et al. Exosomes induce and reverse monocrotaline-induced pulmonary hypertension in mice. *Cardiovasc Res* (2016) 110:319–30. doi:10.1093/cvr/cvw054
- Zhu Y-G, Feng X-M, Abbott J, Fang X-H, Hao Q, Monsel A, et al. Human mesenchymal stem cell microvesicles for treatment of *E. coli* endotoxin-induced acute lung injury in mice. *Stem Cells* (2014) 32:116–25. doi:10.1002/stem.1504
- Phinney DG, Di Giuseppe M, Njah J, Sala E, Shiva S, St Croix CM, et al. Mesenchymal stem cells use extracellular vesicles to outsource mitophagy and shuttle microRNAs. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:8472. doi:10.1038/ncomms9472
- Monsel A, Zhu Y-G, Gennai S, Hao Q, Hu S, Rouby J-J, et al. Therapeutic effects of human mesenchymal stem cell-derived microvesicles in severe pneumonia in mice. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* (2015) 192:324–36. doi:10.1164/ rccm.201410-1765OC
- 27. Yu B, Kim HW, Gong M, Wang J, Millard RW, Wang Y, et al. Exosomes secreted from GATA-4 overexpressing mesenchymal stem cells serve as a reservoir of anti-apoptotic microRNAs for cardioprotection. *Int J Cardiol* (2015) 182:349–60. doi:10.1016/j.ijcard.2014.12.043
- Bian S, Zhang L, Duan L, Wang X, Min Y, Yu H. Extracellular vesicles derived from human bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells promote angiogenesis in a rat myocardial infarction model. *J Mol Med* (2014) 92:387–97. doi:10.1007/ s00109-013-1110-5
- Teng X, Chen L, Chen W, Yang J, Yang Z, Shen Z. Mesenchymal stem cellderived exosomes improve the microenvironment of infarcted myocardium contributing to angiogenesis and anti-inflammation. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2015) 37:2415–24. doi:10.1159/000438594
- 30. Kim D-K, Nishida H, An SY, Shetty AK, Bartosh TJ, Prockop DJ. Chromatographically isolated CD63+CD81+ extracellular vesicles from mesenchymal stromal cells rescue cognitive impairments after TBI. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113:170–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1522297113
- Yu B, Shao H, Su C, Jiang Y, Chen X, Bai L, et al. Exosomes derived from MSCs ameliorate retinal laser injury partially by inhibition of MCP-1. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:34562. doi:10.1038/srep34562
- Mead B, Tomarev S. BMSC-derived exosomes promote survival of retinal ganglion cells through miRNA-dependent mechanisms. *Stem Cells Transl Med* (2017) 6:1273–85. doi:10.1002/sctm.16-0428
- Doeppner TR, Herz J, Görgens A, Schlechter J, Ludwig A-K, Radtke S, et al. Extracellular vesicles improve post-stroke neuroregeneration and prevent postischemic immunosuppression. *Stem Cells Transl Med* (2015) 4:1131–43. doi:10.5966/sctm.2015-0078
- 34. Xin H, Li Y, Cui Y, Yang JJ, Zhang ZG, Chopp M. Systemic administration of exosomes released from mesenchymal stromal cells promote functional recovery and neurovascular plasticity after stroke in rats. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab (2013) 33:1711–5. doi:10.1038/jcbfm.2013.152
- 35. Lo Sicco C, Reverberi D, Balbi C, Ulivi V, Principi E, Pascucci L, et al. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived extracellular vesicles as mediators of anti-inflammatory effects: endorsement of macrophage polarization. *Stem Cells Transl Med* (2017) 6:1018–28. doi:10.1002/sctm.16-0363
- Tan CY, Lai RC, Wong W, Dan YY, Lim S-K, Ho HK. Mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomes promote hepatic regeneration in drug-induced liver injury models. *Stem Cell Res Ther* (2014) 5:76. doi:10.1186/scrt465
- Li T, Yan Y, Wang B, Qian H, Zhang X, Shen L, et al. Exosomes derived from human umbilical cord mesenchymal stem cells alleviate liver fibrosis. *Stem Cells Dev* (2013) 22:845–54. doi:10.1089/scd.2012.0395
- Yang J, Liu X-X, Fan H, Tang Q, Shou Z-X, Zuo D-M, et al. Extracellular vesicles derived from bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells protect against experimental colitis via attenuating colon inflammation, oxidative stress and apoptosis. *PLoS One* (2015) 10:e0140551. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0140551
- 39. Fang S, Xu C, Zhang Y, Xue C, Yang C, Bi H, et al. Umbilical cord-derived mesenchymal stem cell-derived exosomal micrornas suppress myofibroblast differentiation by inhibiting the transforming growth factor-β/SMAD2 pathway during wound healing. *Stem Cells Transl Med* (2016) 5:1425–39. doi:10.5966/sctm.2015-0367

- Zhang J, Guan J, Niu X, Hu G, Guo S, Li Q, et al. Exosomes released from human induced pluripotent stem cells-derived MSCs facilitate cutaneous wound healing by promoting collagen synthesis and angiogenesis. J Transl Med (2015) 13:49. doi:10.1186/s12967-015-0417-0
- 41. Zou X, Zhang G, Cheng Z, Yin D, Du T, Ju G, et al. Microvesicles derived from human Wharton's Jelly mesenchymal stromal cells ameliorate renal ischemia-reperfusion injury in rats by suppressing CX3CL1. *Stem Cell Res Ther* (2014) 5:40. doi:10.1186/scrt428
- Bruno S, Grange C, Collino F, Deregibus MC, Cantaluppi V, Biancone L, et al. Microvesicles derived from mesenchymal stem cells enhance survival in a lethal model of acute kidney injury. *PLoS One* (2012) 7:e33115. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0033115
- Lai RC, Chen TS, Lim SK. Mesenchymal stem cell exosome: a novel stem cell-based therapy for cardiovascular disease. *Regen Med* (2011) 6:481–92. doi:10.2217/rme.11.35
- 44. Kourembanas S. Stem cell-based therapy for newborn lung and brain injury: feasible, safe, and the next therapeutic breakthrough? *J Pediatr* (2014) 164:954–6. doi:10.1016/j.jpeds.2014.01.064
- Mitsialis SA, Kourembanas S. Stem cell-based therapies for the newborn lung and brain: possibilities and challenges. *Semin Perinatol* (2016) 40:138–51. doi:10.1053/j.semperi.2015.12.002
- Phinney DG, Pittenger MF. Concise review: MSC-derived exosomes for cellfree therapy. *Stem Cells* (2017) 35:851–8. doi:10.1002/stem.2575
- Romanov YA, Darevskaya AN, Merzlikina NV, Buravkova LB. Mesenchymal stem cells from human bone marrow and adipose tissue: isolation, characterization, and differentiation potentialities. *Bull Exp Biol Med* (2005) 140:138–43. doi:10.1007/s10517-005-0430-z
- Hendijani F. Explant culture: an advantageous method for isolation of mesenchymal stem cells from human tissues. *Cell Prolif* (2017) 50:e12334. doi:10.1111/cpr.12334
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini FC, Krause DS, et al. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy* (2006) 8:315–7. doi:10.1080/14653240600855905
- Choudhery MS, Khan M, Mahmood R, Mehmood A, Khan SN, Riazuddin S. Bone marrow derived mesenchymal stem cells from aged mice have reduced wound healing, angiogenesis, proliferation and anti-apoptosis capabilities. *Cell Biol Int* (2012) 36:747–53. doi:10.1042/CBI20110183
- Choudhery MS, Badowski M, Muise A, Harris DT. Comparison of human adipose and cord tissue derived mesenchymal stem cells. *Cytotherapy* (2013) 15:330–43. doi:10.1016/j.jcyt.2012.11.010
- Choudhery MS, Badowski M, Muise A, Pierce J, Harris DT. Donor age negatively impacts adipose tissue-derived mesenchymal stem cell expansion and differentiation. J Transl Med (2014) 12:8. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-12-8
- Halme DG, Kessler DA. FDA regulation of stem-cell-based therapies. N Engl J Med (2006) 355:1730–5. doi:10.1056/NEJMhpr063086
- Harron DWG. Technical requirements for registration of pharmaceuticals for human use: the ICH process. In: Griffin JP, editor. *The Textbook of Pharmaceutical Medicine*. Oxford: Blackwell Publishing Ltd (2007). p. 552–64.
- Ancans J. Cell therapy medicinal product regulatory framework in Europe and its application for MSC-based therapy development. *Front Immunol* (2012) 3:253. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00253
- Lener T, Gimona M, Aigner L, Börger V, Buzas E, Camussi G, et al. Applying extracellular vesicles based therapeutics in clinical trials – an ISEV position paper. J Extracell Vesicles (2015) 4:30087. doi:10.3402/jev.v4.30087
- Waszak P, Alphonse R, Vadivel A, Ionescu L, Eaton F, Thebaud B. Preconditioning enhances the paracrine effect of mesenchymal stem cells in preventing oxygen-induced neonatal lung injury in rats. *Stem Cells Dev* (2012) 21:2789–97. doi:10.1089/scd.2010.0566
- Riis S, Stensballe A, Emmersen J, Pennisi CP, Birkelund S, Zachar V, et al. Mass spectrometry analysis of adipose-derived stem cells reveals a significant effect of hypoxia on pathways regulating extracellular matrix. *Stem Cell Res Ther* (2016) 7:52. doi:10.1186/s13287-016-0310-7
- Rosová I, Dao M, Capoccia B, Link D, Nolta JA. Hypoxic preconditioning results in increased motility and improved therapeutic potential of human mesenchymal stem cells. *Stem Cells* (2008) 26:2173–82. doi:10.1634/ stemcells.2007-1104
- Burnley-Hall N, Willis G, Davis J, Rees DA, James PE. Nitrite-derived nitric oxide reduces hypoxia-inducible factor 1α-mediated extracellular vesicle

production by endothelial cells. Nitric Oxide (2017) 63:1-12. doi:10.1016/j.niox.2016.12.005

- Boekstegers P, Riessen R, Seyde W. Oxygen partial pressure distribution within skeletal muscle: indicator of whole body oxygen delivery in patients? *Adv Exp Med Biol* (1990) 277:507–14. doi:10.1007/978-1-4684-8181-5_57
- Le Q-T, Chen E, Salim A, Cao H, Kong CS, Whyte R, et al. An Evaluation of tumor oxygenation and gene expression in patients with early stage non-small cell lung cancers. *Clin Cancer Res* (2006) 12:1507–14. doi:10.1158/1078-0432. CCR-05-2049
- Carreau A, Hafny-Rahbi BE, Matejuk A, Grillon C, Kieda C. Why is the partial oxygen pressure of human tissues a crucial parameter? Small molecules and hypoxia. *J Cell Mol Med* (2011) 15:1239–53. doi:10.1111/ j.1582-4934.2011.01258.x
- Kowal J, Arras G, Colombo M, Jouve M, Morath JP, Primdal-Bengtson B, et al. Proteomic comparison defines novel markers to characterize heterogeneous populations of extracellular vesicle subtypes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2016) 113:E968–77. doi:10.1073/pnas.1521230113
- Lai RC, Tan SS, Yeo RWY, Choo ABH, Reiner AT, Su Y, et al. MSC secretes at least 3 EV types each with a unique permutation of membrane lipid, protein and RNA. J Extracell Vesicles (2016) 5:29828. doi:10.3402/jev.v5.29828
- Batrakova EV, Kim MS. Development and regulation of exosome-based therapy products. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol (2016) 8:744–57. doi:10.1002/wnan.1395
- Théry C, Amigorena S, Raposo G, Clayton A. Chapter 3: Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatants and biological fluids. *Current Protocols in Cell Biology*. John Wiley & Sons, Inc (2006). Unit 3.22 p. doi:10.1002/0471143030.cb0322s30
- Momen-Heravi F, Balaj L, Alian S, Mantel P-Y, Halleck Allison E, Trachtenberg Alexander J, et al. Current methods for the isolation of extracellular vesicles. *Biol Chem* (2013) 394:1253–6. doi:10.1515/hsz-2013-0141
- Witwer KW, Buzás EI, Bemis LT, Bora A, Lässer C, Lötvall J, et al. Standardization of sample collection, isolation and analysis methods in extracellular vesicle research. J Extracell Vesicles (2013) 2:20360. doi:10.3402/ jev.v2i0.20360
- Linares R, Tan S, Gounou C, Arraud N, Brisson AR. High-speed centrifugation induces aggregation of extracellular vesicles. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2015) 4:29509. doi:10.3402/jev.v4.29509
- Böing AN, Van Der Pol E, Grootemaat AE, Coumans FAW, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Single-step isolation of extracellular vesicles by size-exclusion chromatography. J Extracell Vesicles (2014) 3:23430. doi:10.3402/jev.v3.23430
- Li P, Kaslan M, Lee SH, Yao J, Gao Z. Progress in exosome isolation techniques. *Theranostics* (2017) 7:789–804. doi:10.7150/thno.18133
- Lee K, Shao H, Weissleder R, Lee H. Acoustic purification of extracellular microvesicles. ACS Nano (2015) 9:2321–7. doi:10.1021/nn506538f
- 74. Li P, Mao Z, Peng Z, Zhou L, Chen Y, Huang P-H, et al. Acoustic separation of circulating tumor cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112:4970–5. doi:10.1073/pnas.1504484112
- Sitar S, Kejžar A, Pahovnik D, Kogej K, Tušek-Žnidarič M, Lenassi M, et al. Size characterization and quantification of exosomes by asymmetrical-flow field-flow fractionation. *Anal Chem* (2015) 87:9225–33. doi:10.1021/acs. analchem.5b01636
- Kang D, Oh S, Ahn S-M, Lee B-H, Moon MH. Proteomic analysis of exosomes from human neural stem cells by flow field-flow fractionation and nanoflow liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *J Proteome Res* (2008) 7:3475–80. doi:10.1021/pr800225z
- Petersen KE, Manangon E, Hood JL, Wickline SA, Fernandez DP, Johnson WP, et al. A review of exosome separation techniques and characterization of B16-F10 mouse melanoma exosomes with AF4-UV-MALS-DLS-TEM. *Anal Bioanal Chem* (2014) 406:7855–66. doi:10.1007/s00216-014-8040-0
- Wang Z, Wu H-J, Fine D, Schmulen J, Hu Y, Godin B, et al. Ciliated micropillars for the microfluidic-based isolation of nanoscale lipid vesicles. *Lab Chip* (2013) 13:2879–82. doi:10.1039/c3lc41343h
- Akers JC, Ramakrishnan V, Nolan JP, Duggan E, Fu C-C, Hochberg FH, et al. Comparative analysis of technologies for quantifying extracellular vesicles (evs) in clinical cerebrospinal fluids (CSF). *PLoS One* (2016) 11:e0149866. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0149866
- Chia BS, Low YP, Wang Q, Li P, Gao Z. Advances in exosome quantification techniques. *Trends Anal Chem* (2017) 86:93–106. doi:10.1016/j.trac.2016. 10.012

- Koritzinsky EH, Street JM, Star RA, Yuen PST. Quantification of exosomes. J Cell Physiol (2017) 232:1587–90. doi:10.1002/jcp.25387
- Rupert DLM, Claudio V, Lässer C, Bally M. Methods for the physical characterization and quantification of extracellular vesicles in biological samples. *Biochim Biophys Acta* (2017) 1861:3164–79. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2016.07.028
- Jiao J, Milwid JM, Yarmush ML, Parekkadan B. A mesenchymal stem cell potency assay. *Methods Mol Biol* (2011) 677:221–31. doi:10.1007/978-1-60761-869-0_16
- Wynn TA, Vannella KM. Macrophages in tissue repair, regeneration, and fibrosis. *Immunity* (2016) 44:450–62. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.015
- Lamparski HG, Metha-Damani A, Yao J-Y, Patel S, Hsu D-H, Ruegg C, et al. Production and characterization of clinical grade exosomes derived from dendritic cells. *J Immunol Methods* (2002) 270:211–26. doi:10.1016/ S0022-1759(02)00330-7
- Navabi H, Croston D, Hobot J, Clayton A, Zitvogel L, Jasani B, et al. Preparation of human ovarian cancer ascites-derived exosomes for a clinical trial. *Blood Cells Mol Dis* (2005) 35:149–52. doi:10.1016/j.bcmd.2005.06.008
- Placzek MR, Chung I-M, Macedo HM, Ismail S, Mortera Blanco T, Lim M, et al. Stem cell bioprocessing: fundamentals and principles. J R Soc Interface (2009) 6:209–32. doi:10.1098/rsif.2008.0442
- Heathman TRJ, Nienow AW, Mccall MJ, Coopman K, Kara B, Hewitt CJ. The translation of cell-based therapies: clinical landscape and manufacturing challenges. *Regen Med* (2015) 10:49–64. doi:10.2217/rme.14.73
- Watson DC, Bayik D, Srivatsan A, Bergamaschi C, Valentin A, Niu G, et al. Efficient production and enhanced tumor delivery of engineered extracellular vesicles. *Biomaterials* (2016) 105:195–205. doi:10.1016/j.biomaterials.2016.07.003
- Vishnubhatla I, Corteling R, Stevanato L, Hicks C, Sinden J. The development of stem cell-derived exosomes as a cell-free regenerative medicine. *J Circ Biomark* (2016) 3:2. doi:10.5772/58597
- Lőrincz ÁM, Timár CI, Marosvári KA, Veres DS, Otrokocsi L, Kittel Á, et al. Effect of storage on physical and functional properties of extracellular vesicles derived from neutrophilic granulocytes. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2014) 3:25465. doi:10.3402/jev.v3.25465

- Escudier B, Dorval T, Chaput N, André F, Caby M-P, Novault S, et al. Vaccination of metastatic melanoma patients with autologous dendritic cell (DC) derived-exosomes: results of the first phase I clinical trial. *J Transl Med* (2005) 3:10–10. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-3-10
- Morse MA, Garst J, Osada T, Khan S, Hobeika A, Clay TM, et al. A phase I study of exosome immunotherapy in patients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *J Transl Med* (2005) 3:9. doi:10.1186/1479-5876-3-9
- Kordelas L, Rebmann V, Ludwig AK, Radtke S, Ruesing J, Doeppner TR, et al. MSC-derived exosomes: a novel tool to treat therapy-refractory graft-versushost disease. *Leukemia* (2014) 28:970–3. doi:10.1038/leu.2014.41
- Dai S, Wei D, Wu Z, Zhou X, Wei X, Huang H, et al. Phase I clinical trial of autologous ascites-derived exosomes combined with GM-CSF for colorectal cancer. *Mol Ther* (2008) 16:782–90. doi:10.1038/mt.2008.1
- Besse B, Charrier M, Lapierre V, Dansin E, Lantz O, Planchard D, et al. Dendritic cell-derived exosomes as maintenance immunotherapy after first line chemotherapy in NSCLC. Oncoimmunology (2016) 5:e1071008. doi:10.1 080/2162402X.2015.1071008
- Willis GR, Kourembanas S, Mitsialis SA. Therapeutic applications of extracellular vesicles: perspectives from newborn medicine. *Methods Mol Biol* (2017) 1660:409–32. doi:10.1007/978-1-4939-7253-1_34

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Willis, Kourembanas and Mitsialis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Protocol for Improved Precision and Increased Confidence in Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis Concentration Measurements between 50 and 120 nm in Biological Fluids

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Rory R. Koenen, Maastricht University, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Shangfeng Du, University of Birmingham, United Kingdom Matthew Dean Linden, University of Western Australia, Australia

*Correspondence:

Patricia B. Maguire patricia.maguire@ucd.ie

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Atherosclerosis and Vascular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

Received: 18 September 2017 Accepted: 19 October 2017 Published: 03 November 2017

Citation:

Parsons MEM, McParland D, Szklanna PB, Guang MHZ, O'Connell K, O'Connor HD, McGuigan C, Ní Áinle F, McCann A and Maguire PB (2017) A Protocol for Improved Precision and Increased Confidence in Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis Concentration Measurements between 50 and 120 nm in Biological Fluids. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 4:68. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2017.00068 Martin E. M. Parsons^{1,2}, Damien McParland³, Paulina B. Szklanna^{1,2}, Matthew Ho Zhi Guang^{4,5}, Karen O'Connell^{4,5,6}, Hugh D. O'Connor⁷, Christopher McGuigan^{4,5,6}, Fionnuala Ní Áinle^{1,4,5,8}, Amanda McCann^{4,5} and Patricia B. Maguire^{1,2,9*}

¹ SPHERE Research Group, UCD Conway Institute, University College Dublin (UCD), Dublin, Ireland, ² School of Biomolecular and Biomedical Science, University College Dublin (UCD), Dublin, Ireland, ³ School of Mathematics and Statistics, University College Dublin (UCD), Dublin, Ireland, ⁴ School of Medicine, College of Health and Agricultural Science (CHAS), University College Dublin (UCD), Dublin, Ireland, ⁵ UCD Conway Institute of Biomolecular and Biomedical Science, University College Dublin (UCD), Dublin, Ireland, ⁶ Department of Neurology, St. Vincent's University Hospital, Dublin, Ireland, ⁷ Department of Obstetrics, Rotunda Hospital, Dublin, Ireland, ⁸ Department of Haematology, Mater Misericordiae University Hospital, Dublin, Ireland, ⁹ UCD Institute for Discovery, O'Brien Centre for Science, University College Dublin (UCD), Dublin, Ireland

Nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA) can be used to quantitate extracellular vesicles (EVs) in biological samples and is widely considered a useful diagnostic tool to detect disease. However, accurately profiling EVs can be challenging due to their small size and heterogeneity. Here, we aimed to provide a protocol to facilitate high-precision particle quantitation by NTA in plasma, the supernatant of activated purified platelets [the platelet releasate (PR)] and in serum, to increase confidence in NTA particle enumeration. The overall variance and the precision of NTA measurements were quantified by root mean square error and relative standard error. Using a bootstrapping approach, we found that increasing video replicates from 5 s \times 60 s to 25 s \times 60 s captures led to a reduction in overall variance and a reproducible increase in the precision of NTA particleconcentration quantitation for all three biofluids. We then validated our approach in an extended cohort of 32 healthy donors. Our results indicate that for vesicles sized between 50 and 120 nm, the precision of routine NTA measurements in serum, plasma, and PR can be significantly improved by increasing the number of video replicates captured. Our protocol provides a common platform to statistical compare particle size distribution profiles in the exosomal-vesicle size range across a variety of biofluids and in both healthy donor and patient groups.

Keywords: nanoparticle tracking analysis, extracellular vesicles, plasma, serum, platelets, platelet releasate, particle enumeration

Abbreviations: EVs, extracellular vesicles; FTLA, finite track length adjustment; NTA, nanoparticle tracking analysis; PR, platelet releasate; RMSE, root mean square error; RSE, relative standard error.

INTRODUCTION

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are released by nearly all eukaryotic cells and are found in a diverse range of human biofluids. They regulate a diverse range of biologic and inflammatory pathologic processes and have been implicated in myriad of diseases (1-3). As such, they have emerged as a promising source of future biomarkers in biofluids with both diagnostic and prognostic value (4, 5). However, accurately profiling EVs can be challenging due to their small size and heterogeneity (6). While important advances have been made (5), optimization of procedures for EV quantification across laboratories is of great significance to the EV field with implications for both basic and clinical research.

Nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA) is widely used to determine the particle size distribution of a sample (6–9). Particle size distribution describes the concentration of particles as a function of size (10). In brief, particle size is determined by focusing a laser beam through a suspension of particles. The light scattered by individual particles in solution allows visualization of particles and each individual particles' displacement is recorded over disjointed time intervals (8, 11, 12). The mean square displacement for each particle is then used, alongside liquid temperature and viscosity, to calculate individual particle sizes using the Stokes-Einstein equation. The concentration of particles is determined by counting total particles and representing the concentration as a binned histogram (13).

The validity of particle size distributions for a sample depends on accurate sizing of particles as well as precise concentration measurements. Accuracy is generally within 5% of the expected particle size once correct hardware and software setting have been applied (7, 14, 15). However, NTA concentration measurements have been shown to have low precision, due to variation in the number of particles detected between video replicate measurements of the same sample (12). For low particle counts, it has been suggested that increasing video replicates could lead to improved concentration measurements (7).

Here, we sought to determine the effect of increasing video replicates on the precision of particle concentration quantitation using NTA in the biofluids of plasma, serum, and the supernatant of activated purified platelets [the platelet releasate (PR)]. Although plasma and serum are widely used in clinical diagnoses (2, 16, 17), the PR is an important biofluid to also include as contains a variety of EVs (18–20) and its contents play a fundamental role in hemostasis, wound healing, and the inflammatory response (21–25). In our analysis, we initially used a bootstrapping approach to investigate the precision of particle concentration measurements in all three biofluids. We found that increasing video replicates led to a reproducible increase in the precision of NTA particle concentration quantitation in these biofluids and we validated our findings in an extended clinical cohort.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Plasma, PR, and Serum Isolation

Human plasma, serum, and platelets were obtained from healthy adult volunteers in accordance with approved guidelines from

the UCD research, and with ethical approval from St. Vincent's University Hospital and the Rotunda Hospital Research Ethics committees. All subjects gave their informed written consent according to the declaration of Helsinki.

Isolation of platelet-free plasma and PR was as described (19). Briefly, 44 ml of blood was drawn into acid citrate dextrose blood collection tubes (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) and the first 4 ml was discarded. Blood was centrifuged at $150 \times g$ for 10 min at room temperature and platelet-rich plasma was aspirated. Platelets were pelleted from platelet rich plasma by centrifugation at 720 \times g for 10 min at room temperature and platelet poor plasma was aspirated. Platelets were suspended in a modified Tyrode's buffer (130 mM NaCl, 10 mM trisodium citrate, 9 mM NaHCO₃, 6 mM dextrose, 0.9 mM MgCl₂, 0.81 mM KH₂PO₄, 10 mM Tris pH 7.4). Platelet count was adjusted to 1×10^{9} /ml and platelets were stimulated with 1 U thrombin/ml at 37°C in a PAP-4 aggregometer under constant stirring. The supernatant from the thrombin activated platelets was centrifuged three times at 10,000 \times *g* for 10 min at 4°C to remove the aggregated platelets and cell debris, leaving the activated platelet supernatant, or PR.

Serum was prepared by drawing 4 ml whole blood into serum blood collection tubes (BD, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA) and processed according to manufacturer's instructions. In brief, samples were rested upright for 60 min to allow RBCs to clot. The RBC clot was subsequently pelleted by centrifugation at 1,300 × *g* for 10 min and serum was aspirated. All plasma, serum, and PR samples were stored at -80° C prior to NTA analysis.

NTA of Biological Samples

Particle size distribution in PR, plasma, and serum samples was determined by NTA using a NanoSight NS300 system (Malvern Technologies, Malvern, UK) configured with a 488 nm laser and a high sensitivity scientific CMOS camera. Samples were diluted (PR 1:20–1:50, plasma 1:100–1:2,000, serum 1:500) in particle-free PBS (Gibco, Waltham, MA, USA) to an acceptable concentration, according to the manufacturers recommendations. Samples were analyzed under constant flow conditions (flow rate = 50) at 25°C according to Ref. (7, 26). For bootstrapped samples, 30 s \times 60 s successive videos were captured with a camera level of 16. Data were analyzed using NTA 3.1.54 software with a

TABLE 1 | Overall variance of nanoparticle tracking analysis measurements

 shows an exponential decay in variance as *n* number bootstrapped video

 replicates increase.

		quare error (RMSE) repres $n = 5$ video replicates (\pm SE	
<i>n</i> number	Plasma	Platelet releasate	Serum
5	100	100	100
10	70.4 ± 4.27	70.4 ± 1.88	70.2 ± 5.33
15	57.6 ± 3.81	58.0 ± 3.58	58.0 ± 4.93
20	50.5 ± 4.24	49.9 ± 3.26	51.4 ± 3.98
25	44.5 ± 3.32	45.2 ± 2.28	45.4 ± 2.82

Average RMSE (\pm SD) for each plasma, PR and serum is represented as a percentage of RMSE at 5 min. A consistent % reduction in RMSE observed for each sample with increased n bootstrapped samples.



detection threshold of 5. For the validation cohort, $15 \text{ s} \times 60 \text{ s}$ videos were captured with a camera level of 16 and a detection threshold of 10.



Statistical Analysis of Nanoparticle Analysis Tracking Data

Particle size distributions were binned into 10 nm bin widths using NTA 3.1.54 software for all video replicates to determine concentration measurements. To understand the variability in the estimates across the complete range of bin widths, we quantified the root mean square error (RMSE) of 100 bootstrap samples of n = 5, 10, 15, 20, and 25 NTA recordings, which were sampled from the available 30 concentration measurements. The RMSE is the error sum of squares scaled to the data from which it was derived and was calculated as follows:

$$\text{RSME}_{m} = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{N_{\text{bins}}} \sum_{j=1}^{N_{\text{boot}}} (x_{ij} - \overline{x}_{i})^{2}}{N_{\text{bin}} (N_{\text{boot}} - 1)}}$$

where N_{bins} is the number of bins considered, N_{boot} is the number of bootstrap samples taken for each bin, x_{ij} is the j^{th} bootstrap mean for bin i and \overline{x}_i is the mean of the bootstrap means for bin i.

Next, to determine the precision of the concentration estimates, we quantified the relative standard error (RSE) as follows:

$$RSE_n = \frac{\frac{s}{\sqrt{n}}}{\frac{c}{c_n}} \times 100 = \frac{s}{\frac{c}{c_n}\sqrt{n}} \times 100$$

where *s* is the SD of measurements, $\overline{c_n}$ is the sample mean concentration estimate, and *n* is the number of samples. Precision of our clinical cohort was quantified by RSE where n = 5 or 15 video replicates. Initially, 100 bootstrap samples were sampled from the available 30 concentration measurements and the RSE was calculated for each bin width for n = 5, 10, 15, 20, and 25 video replicates. In our validation cohort, RSE was calculated from n = 5 and n = 15 video replicates for each bin width.

Statistical Analysis

All bootstrapping, RMSE, and RSE calculations were performed using the open source programming language for statistical computing R 3.3.1 (27) and the integrated development environment RStudio 1.0.136 (28).

TABLE 2 | The precision of nanoparticle tracking analysis concentration measurement at 100–110 nm is increased by increasing the number of video replicates.

	Plasma	Platelet releasate	Serum
<i>n</i> number	Maximum relative standard error (RSE) (%)	Maximum RSE (%)	Maximum RSE (%)
5	95.3	49.2	63.1
10	52.8	25.8	26.6
15	41.0	21.2	20.2
20	31.7	15.5	17.4
25	27.6	14.7	14.2

Focusing on particles from 100 to 110 nm, the maximum RSE is significantly decreased by increasing video replicates.

RESULTS

Reduction in the Overall Variance of NTA Measurement by Increasing Video Replicates

Using a bootstrapping approach, we examined the effect of increasing video replicates on the total variance of NTA measurement of particles in plasma, PR, and serum. RMSE, a measure of total variance, was calculated to show the variability of

measurement at each time point. Plasma, PR, and serum were isolated from three healthy donors and subjected to analysis by NTA. 30 s × 60s consecutive videos were captured for each sample. All experiments were performed in triplicate. RMSE was calculated for 100 bootstrap samples of n = 5, 10, 15, 20, and 25 video replicates. RMSE was normalized to n = 5 video replicates with n = 5 representing 100% variance. For plasma, PR, and serum increasing video replicates led to a decrease in total variance across all samples (**Table 1**). On average, doubling the number of video replicates from n = 5 to n = 10 led to a \sim 30% reduction in the



initial variance, with further reductions in total variance reproducibly replicated in all samples with increasing video captures.

Precision of NTA Concentration Measurements in Individual Bin Widths Is Improved with Increasing the Number of Video Captures

Individual RSE was calculated per 10 nm bin width for 100 bootstrap samples from plasma, PR, and serum, for n = 5, 10, 15, 20, and 25 video replicates. A reduction in RSE was reproducibly observed across all bin widths for plasma, PR, and serum with increasing video replicates (**Figure 1**; Table S1 in Supplementary Material).

However, also of interest is the maximum RSE across all bootstrapped samples. Focusing on particles from 100 to 110 nm, the maximum RSE was found to be excessively high for n = 5 replicates only, with a maximum RSE for plasma of 95.3, 49.2% for PR, and 63.1% for serum (Table 2). However, increasing n video replicates had a reproducible significant reduction in maximum RSE. For example, for n = 10 video replicates, maximum RSE for plasma was 52.8, 25.8% for PR, and 26.6% for serum. Further reductions in maximum RSE were evident with increased *n* video replicates (Table 2). This pattern was reproduced for all bin widths. The maximal RSE for all bin widths and samples can be found in Table S1 in Supplementary Material. As RSE is a measure of the precision of concentration measurements by NTA, an overall reduction in maximal RSE indicates that increasing video replicates leads to a reproducible increase in the precision of particle concentration measurements by NTA.

Validation of Increased Precision of NTA Concentration Measurements in a Larger Cohort of 32 Donors

Next, we wished to determine if the increase in precision of concentration quantitation observed in our bootstrapped samples could be replicated in a larger cohort (n = 32). 15 s × 60s NTA video replicates were captured for PR and plasma from 32 healthy donors. The first five videos were analyzed to determine the RSE of n = 5 video replicates for every 10 nm bin width for each donor. These five, plus an additional 10 videos were then analyzed to determine the RSE of n = 15 video replicates. By increasing the video replicates from 5 to 15, the precision of NTA concentration quantitation was improved (Figure 2; Table 3). The maximum RSE in plasma was reduced from 64.37 to 44.34%, while the maximum RSE in PR was reduced from 76.23 to 38.01%. In accordance with the findings from our bootstrapped samples, the precision was most improved in the bin centers corresponding to vesicles of 50-120 nm in size. For example, taking the bin center from 100 to 110 nm for illustrative purposes, the maximum RSE was found to be high with n = 5 replicates with maximum RSE for plasma of 41.0%, and 22.3% for PR (Table 4). Increasing n video replicates had a reproducible significant effect on maximum RSE. When video replicates were to n = 15, maximum RSE was 18.0 and 12.6% for plasma and PR, respectively, indicating a greatly improved precision of NTA concentration measurements (Table 4). In

TABLE 3 | Increased precision of nanoparticle tracking analysis concentrationmeasurements in a larger cohort of 32 healthy donors of particles from50 to 120 nm.

	Plasma	Platelet releasate	
<i>n</i> number	Maximum relative standard error (RSE) (%)	Maximum RSE (%)	
5	64.37	76.23	
15	44.34	38.01	

TABLE 4 | Precision of nanoparticle tracking analysis concentration measurements is increased in particles from 100 to 110 nm by increasing the number of video replicates in a cohort of 32 healthy donors.

		Plasma	а	Platelet releasate		
<i>n</i> number	Size (nm)	Average relative standard error (RSE) (%)	Maximum RSE (%)	Average RSE (%)	Maximum RSE (%)	
5 15	100–110 100–110	15.6 ± 15.6 9.3 ± 9.3	41.0 18.0	11.5 ± 11.5 6.8 ± 6.8	22.3 12.6	

For particles from 100 to 110 nm, average RSE (\pm SD) is decreased by increasing the number of video replicates. Maximum RSE is also significantly decreased by increasing the number video replicates.

a similar manner, the maximum error was also calculated for each bin width across all samples (Table S2 in Supplementary Material).

DISCUSSION

Here, we sought to determine the effect of increasing video replicates on the precision of EV concentration quantitation using NTA. Initially, we used a bootstrapping approach to investigate the precision of particle concentration measurements in plasma, the PR, and in serum. Our results indicated that the precision of routine NTA measurements can be significantly improved in the particle size range of 50–120 nm for all biofluids analyzed and this held true even as we extended our analysis to plasma and PR in a larger cohort of 32 donors.

As the NTA method is the current gold standard to measure the size and concentration of small particles in biological samples and has the potential to be a useful diagnostic tool to detect disease (8, 29), our protocol has much relevance to the field. In fact, with NTA-acquisition settings constant between analyses, our approach will enable the mean, mode, and median particle size together with EV concentration to be more precisely compared between differential samples. In this way, we conclude that we now provide a common platform to statistically compare particle size distribution profiles from the plasma and PR of patients with a variety of pathologies.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Human plasma, serum and platelets were obtained from healthy adult volunteers in accordance with approved guidelines from the UCD research ethics committee, and with ethical approval from St Vincent's University Hospital and the Rotunda Hospital Research Ethics committees. All subjects gave their informed written consent according to the declaration of Helsinki.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MP, DM, PS, MG, AM, and PM designed research; MP, DM, PS, MG, KO, HO, CM, FÁ, AM, and PM performed experiments; MP, DM, PS, MG, AM, and PM analyzed data; MP, DM, PS, MG, KO, HO, CM, FÁ, AM, and PM wrote the paper.

FUNDING

PM is supported by PI award 10/IN.1/B3012 from Science Foundation Ireland. PS is supported by Irish Research Council award GOIPG/2014/575. This research was also funded by a Health Research Board (Ireland) grant (HRA_POR/2013/377). We would like to acknowledge the UCD School of Medicine, University College Dublin, for funding support for the NTA nanoparticle technology equipment (NanoSight NS300, Malvern).

REFERENCES

- Yáñez-Mó M, Siljander PR-M, Andreu Z, Bedina Zavec A, Borràs FE, Buzas EI, et al. Biological properties of extracellular vesicles and their physiological functions. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2015) 4(1):27066. doi:10.3402/jev.v4. 27066
- 2. Harrison P, Gardiner C, Sargent IL. *Extracellular Vesicles in Health and Disease*. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press (2014).
- van der Pol E, Böing AN, Harrison P, Sturk A, Nieuwland R. Classification, functions, and clinical relevance of extracellular vesicles. *Pharmacol Rev* (2012) 64(3):676–705. doi:10.1124/pr.112.005983
- Raposo G, Stoorvogel W. Extracellular vesicles: exosomes, microvesicles, and friends. J Cell Biol (2013) 200(4):373–83. doi:10.1083/jcb.201211138
- Almutairi MMA, Gong C, Xu YG, Chang Y, Shi H. Factors controlling permeability of the blood–brain barrier. *Cell Mol Life Sci* (2016) 73(1):57–77. doi:10.1007/s00018-015-2050-8
- Maas SLN, de Vrij J, van der Vlist EJ, Geragousian B, van Bloois L, Mastrobattista E, et al. Possibilities and limitations of current technologies for quantification of biological extracellular vesicles and synthetic mimics. *J Control Release* (2015) 200:87–96. doi:10.1016/j.jconrel.2014.12.041
- Gardiner C, Ferreira YJ, Dragovic RA, Redman CWG, Sargent IL. Extracellular vesicle sizing and enumeration by nanoparticle tracking analysis. J Extracell Vesicles (2013) 2(1).
- Dragovic RA, Gardiner C, Brooks AS, Tannetta DS, Ferguson DJP, Hole P, et al. Sizing and phenotyping of cellular vesicles using nanoparticle tracking analysis. *Nanomedicine* (2011) 7(6):780–8. doi:10.1016/j.nano.2011. 04.003
- 9. Du S, Kendall K, Toloueinia P, Mehrabadi Y, Gupta G, Newton J. Aggregation and adhesion of gold nanoparticles in phosphate buffered saline. *J Nanopart Res* (2012) 14(3):758. doi:10.1007/s11051-012-0758-z
- van der Pol E, Coumans FAW, Grootemaat AE, Gardiner C, Sargent IL, Harrison P, et al. Particle size distribution of exosomes and microvesicles determined by transmission electron microscopy, flow cytometry, nanoparticle tracking analysis, and resistive pulse sensing. *J Thromb Haemost* (2014) 12(7):1182–92. doi:10.1111/jth.12602
- 11. Saveyn H, De Baets B, Thas O, Hole P, Smith J, Van der Meeren P. Accurate particle size distribution determination by nanoparticle tracking analysis based on 2-D Brownian dynamics simulation. J Colloid Interface Sci (2010) 352(2):593–600. doi:10.1016/j.jcis.2010.09.006
- 12. Filipe V, Hawe A, Jiskoot W. Critical evaluation of nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA) by NanoSight for the measurement of nanoparticles and

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/article/10.3389/fcvm.2017.00068/ full#supplementary-material.

TABLE S1 | Relative standard error per bin width from bootstrap

samples. 30 x 60 second consecutive videos were captured for each sample, plasma, platelet releasate (PR), and serum from 3 donors in triplicate. RSE was calculated for 100 bootstrap samples of n = 5, 10, 15, 20, and 25 video replicates. Average RSE per n video replicates for each bin size was calculated for all 900 bootstrapped samples. A reduction in RSE was reproducibly observed across all bin widths for plasma, platelet releasate (PR) and serum with increasing video replicates.

TABLE S2 \mid Relative standard error per bin with from 32 donor validation.

15 x 60 second consecutive videos were captured for each sample, plasma and platelet releasate (PR) for 32 healthy donors. The first five videos were analysed to determine the RSE of n = 5 video replicates for every 10 nm bin width for each donor. These five, plus an additional 10 videos were then analysed to determine the RSE of n = 15 video replicates. The average RSE for each bin size for 5 and 15 minutes shows a reduction for each bin size. The maximum RSE for was reduced for each bin size for both biological samples.

protein aggregates. *Pharm Res* (2010) 27(5):796–810. doi:10.1007/s11095-010-0073-2

- Gross J, Sayle S, Karow AR, Bakowsky U, Garidel P. Nanoparticle tracking analysis of particle size and concentration detection in suspensions of polymer and protein samples: influence of experimental and data evaluation parameters. *Eur J Pharm Biopharm* (2016) 104:30–41. doi:10.1016/j. ejpb.2016.04.013
- Du S, Kendall K, Morris S, Sweet C. Measuring number-concentrations of nanoparticles and viruses in liquids on-line. *J Chem Technol Biotechnol* (2010) 85(9):1223–8. doi:10.1002/jctb.2421
- Röding M, Zagato E, Remaut K, Braeckmans K. Approximate Bayesian computation for estimating number concentrations of monodisperse nanoparticles in suspension by optical microscopy. *Phys Rev E* (2016) 93(6):063311. doi:10.1103/PhysRevE.93.063311
- Arraud N, Linares R, Tan S, Gounou C, Pasquet JM, Mornet S, et al. Extracellular vesicles from blood plasma: determination of their morphology, size, phenotype and concentration. *J Thromb Haemost* (2014) 12(5):614–27. doi:10.1111/jth.12554
- Anderson NL. The clinical plasma proteome: a survey of clinical assays for proteins in plasma and serum. *Clin Chem* (2010) 56(2):177–85. doi:10.1373/ clinchem.2009.126706
- Heijnen HF, Schiel AE, Fijnheer R, Geuze HJ, Sixma JJ. Activated platelets release two types of membrane vesicles: microvesicles by surface shedding and exosomes derived from exocytosis of multivesicular bodies and alpha-granules. *Blood* (1999) 94(11):3791–9.
- Coppinger JA, Cagney G, Toomey S, Kislinger T, Belton O, McRedmond JP, et al. Characterization of the proteins released from activated platelets leads to localization of novel platelet proteins in human atherosclerotic lesions. *Blood* (2004) 103(6):2096–104. doi:10.1182/blood-2003-08-2804
- Siljander PRM. Platelet-derived microparticles an updated perspective. *Thromb Res* (2011) 127(Suppl 2):S30–3. doi:10.1016/S0049-3848(10)70152-3
- Nurden AT. Platelets, inflammation and tissue regeneration. *Thromb Haemost* (2011) 105(Suppl 1):S13–33. doi:10.1160/THS10-11-0720
- Thomas MR, Storey RF. The role of platelets in inflammation. Thromb Haemost (2015) 114(3):449–58. doi:10.1160/TH14-12-1067
- Martinez CE, Smith PC, Palma Alvarado VA. The influence of platelet-derived products on angiogenesis and tissue repair: a concise update. *Front Physiol* (2015) 6:290. doi:10.3389/fphys.2015.00290
- Manne BK, Xiang SC, Rondina MT. Platelet secretion in inflammatory and infectious diseases. *Platelets* (2017) 28(2):155–64. doi:10.1080/09537104.2016. 1240766

- Flaumenhaft R. Platelet secretion. 3rd ed. In: Michelson A, editor. *Platelets*. London: Academic Press (2012). p. 343–66.
- Vajen T, Benedikter BJ, Heinzmann ACA, Vasina EM, Henskens Y, Parsons M, et al. Platelet extracellular vesicles induce a pro-inflammatory smooth muscle cell phenotype. J Extracell Vesicles (2017) 6(1):1322454.
- Team RC. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2016). Available from: https:// www.R-project.org/
- Team R. RStudio: Integrated Development for R. Boston, MA (2016). Available from: http://www.rstudio.com/
- Soung YH, Ford S, Zhang V, Chung J. Exosomes in cancer diagnostics. Cancers (2017) 9(1):8. doi:10.3390/cancers9010008

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2017 Parsons, McParland, Szklanna, Guang, O'Connell, O'Connor, McGuigan, Ní Áinle, McCann and Maguire. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) or licensor are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Extracellular Vesicles as Biomarkers in Cardiovascular Disease; Chances and Risks

Annemiek Dickhout¹ and Rory R. Koenen^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Biochemistry, Cardiovascular Research Institute Maastricht, Maastricht, Netherlands, ² Institute for Cardiovascular Prevention, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, Munich, Germany

The field of extracellular vesicles (EV) is rapidly expanding, also within cardiovascular diseases. Besides their exciting roles in cell-to-cell communication, EV have the potential to serve as excellent biomarkers, since their counts, content, and origin might provide useful information about the pathophysiology of cardiovascular disorders. Various studies have already indicated associations of EV counts and content with cardiovascular diseases. However, EV research is complicated by several factors, most notably the small size of EV. In this review, the advantages and drawbacks of EV-related methods and applications as biomarkers are highlighted.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Cihan Ay, Medizinische Universität Wien, Austria

Reviewed by:

Johannes Thaler, Medizinische Universität Wien, Austria Adriana Georgescu, Institute of Cellular Biology and Pathology (ICBP), Romania

> *Correspondence: Rory R. Koenen r.koenen@maastrichtuniversity.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Atherosclerosis and Vascular Medicine, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine

> Received: 23 April 2018 Accepted: 06 August 2018 Published: 22 August 2018

Citation:

Dickhout A and Koenen RR (2018) Extracellular Vesicles as Biomarkers in Cardiovascular Disease; Chances and Risks. Front. Cardiovasc. Med. 5:113. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2018.00113 Keywords: microparticle, atherosclerosis, vascular remodeling, diagnostic, platelet, endothelial cell, monocyte

INTRODUCTION

After having been disregarded for decades, extracellular vesicles (EV) are now in sharp focus as mediators of cell-to-cell communication and their importance is currently being investigated for many diseases. Progress is quick, particularly in the field of tumor biology, but also in other areas e.g., cardiovascular diseases, EV-related findings are gathering strong interest (1-3). Being identified as mere cellular "dust" in the 1960s, it has become clear that EV are much more than that. Extracellular vesicles are derived from parent cells and tissues and can be classified into roughly 3 classes: (I) microvesicles that originate from budding of the cell membrane, (II) exosomes, that have endosomal/intracellular organelle origin and (III) apoptotic bodies, that are generated during programmed cell death. However, there appears to be quite some overlap between those classifications, in a sense that microvesicles can be in the size range of exosomes or vice versa and/or carry supposed endosomal markers (4). All body fluids have been found to contain EV, hinting toward their abundance and their possible physiologic roles. In addition, given the specific cellular origin of the EV, they may contain interesting information, reflecting cellular functions or health status and thus ultimately revealing physiologic or pathophysiologic disease states. This would make EV excellent biomarkers. Whereas most biomolecular biomarkers (e.g., circulating proteins) do not contain information about the original cellular and tissue context, such information is often contained in EV, in the form of a palette of cell-specific surface markers and corresponding membrane-enclosed EV content. A sole determination of the cellular origin of EV e.g., in plasma could provide information about the nature, severity and prognosis of a particular disorder. A further perspective is offered by the analysis of the content of EV from patient specimen, since proteins or nucleic acids within EV can yield clues about the pathophysiologic mechanisms underlying the disease. The range of cardiovascular pathologies in which EV are suspected to play a role is very wide and still expanding. However, as the field of EV is still developing, the methods for optimal analysis of EV determination, purification, and analysis are heavily debated. As established

(e.g., ELISA) and clearly defined pre-analytical variables (e.g., concerning sample preparation), these are much less clearly defined in the field of EV. In this overview, the current chances and risks of the use of EV as biomarkers will be discussed.

ISOLATION AND MEASUREMENT OF EV—ARE WE GETTING CLOSER TO A GOLD STANDARD?

Isolation of EV

At first sight, the isolation of EV from biologic fluids appears rather straightforward. In theory, EV can be isolated to purity solely based on their physicochemical properties, because they are larger in size than the protein fraction yet smaller than whole cells, more dense than the lipid fraction, with a rather defined density range and quite robust due to their membrane encapsulation. In addition to these physical properties, EV possess a palette of surface markers specific for the parent cell type. Thus, there are many possible approaches for EV isolation (summarized in Table 1). The most widely used method remains centrifugation in its variants density gradient, differential and ultracentrifugation. The small size of EV is exploited in a number of sequential centrifugation steps, starting at low speed (300 g) to remove any intact cells and continuing at higher speeds to obtain fractions enriched in microvesicles (20,000 g) and exosomes (100,000 g). The sedimentation behavior of EV can be modified by using density gradients, allowing separation from proteins and other components. Although processing times can be quite long, a clear advantage of centrifugation is the possibility to process larger volumes, such as collected cell culture supernatants. The use of centrifugation is somewhat losing its popularity since the report of (lipo)protein and/or RNA-protein complex contaminations and loss of EV integrity after pelleting (5, 6).

Gaining ground is size-exclusion chromatography (SEC), which is a quick and straightforward method for removing proteins and other contaminations from EV-containing fluids. Columns for SEC can be ordered commercially or easily cast in the lab, using common 10-50 mL syringes, SEC-medium and fine gauze to retain the gel in the column. Depending on the column length (and diameter), they can handle volumes in the mL range, although the use of a large column inherently leads to dilution of the EV-containing eluate. There is still some debate whether SECpurified EV are free of (lipo)protein contaminations (7, 8) and it is recommended to perform appropriate controls. Conventional and ultrafiltration has also been used successfully to isolate EV (9). The principle is similar to SEC, as EV are separated based on their size properties. In a recent study, the use of a set of sequential filters with different pore sizes resulted in preparations of pure and size-defined EV (10). Although the filter system described in this study is custom made and thus not commercially available (as many published experimental setups), the approach appears to have potential to become a standard method for EV isolation.

TABLE 1 | Overview of current isolation methods of EV from plasma.

Isolation method	Principle	Advantages (A)/Drawbacks (D)
Differential centrifugation	Sedimentation and/or density	A: Large volumes can be processed A: Widely used and facile method D: Risk of contaminations with plasma proteins D: Risk of EV aggregation/loss of integrity D: Quality depends on rotor type
Size exclusion chromatography	Size (largest elute first)	A: Well-accepted and facile method A: Good separation/recovery of EV A: Preserves integrity of EV D: Sample volumes small to medium D: Does not discriminate between EV origins D. results in sample dilution
Filters	Size	A: Processing of large volumes possible A: Allows size fractionation of EV D: Does not discriminate between EV origins D. risk of EV fragmentation
Microfluidics	Physical behavior of EV (size)	A: High sample recovery A: Suitable for small sample volumes A: Maintains EV integrity and properties D: Low sample throughput D: Not appropriate for large volumes D: Need of equipment for flow cell construction
ExoQuick TM	Precipitation using polyethylene glycol	A: Quick and straightforward sample handling A: Can be scaled up for larger samples A: Amenable to larger sample numbers D: Risk for contaminations with plasma proteins
Magnetic beads/affinity chromatography	Immuno-affinity by surface markers	 A: Discriminates between EV origins A: Less contamination with plasma proteins A: Amenable to larger sample numbers D: Does not discriminate between E sizes D: Often needs highly specific antibodies
Fluorescence- activated cell sorting (FACS)	Light scattering, fluorescence	A: Size- and surface marker-based sorting D: Long processing times D: Costly equipment

Considering the increasing interest in microfluidics, it is not surprising that this principle is implemented in the design of novel EV isolation techniques [reviewed in Gholizadeh et al. (11)]. An elegant study made use of microfluidic mixing cells in combination with visco-elastic sheath fluids, in which the smaller exosomes were driven to the walls of the flow cells, while larger particles (microvesicles) and the sample fluid remained in the center of the flow path. The 3 fluid streams (from the 2 walls and the center) were collected separately and the 2 sample streams originating from the walls contained the isolated exosomes (12). The recovery of EV was found to be very high using this method, yet the actual setup is still designed for small sample volumes and low throughputs. Another widespread method for EV, and particularly exosome isolation is precipitation. Here, polymers (e.g., polyethylene glycol) and proprietary chemicals are used to cause specific precipitation of EV by disturbing the solvation layer around the membranes. Although this method is quickly and easily performed on low as well as higher sample volumes, there is a considerable risk of co-precipitation of contaminants.

All techniques mentioned above are based on the physicochemical characteristics of EV (e.g., size, surface potential, density) and inherently do not distinguish between different cellular origins. Yet since EV also share many cellular (surface) markers with their parent cells, the opportunity is created to specifically isolate EV using these markers (see below). Thus, the use of affinity chromatography or labeled magnetic beads is an attractive alternative or a complement to physical techniques such as centrifugation and SEC. One study took advantage of the binding affinity of EV for heparin and could enrich EV from biologic samples using heparin coupled to agarose, which is a commonly used reagent in protein purifications (13). Although this method is straightforward and resulted in highly enriched EV preparations, there are many abundant plasma and serum proteins with high affinity for sulfated glycosaminoglycans, e.g., antithrombin, CXCL4, and apolipoproteins. A higher level of specificity can be achieved by using antibodies against specific surface markers to isolate EV. Needless to say, this requires markers unique for a particular EV subset and corresponding antibodies with high specificity. The potential to separate exosomes from extracellular vesicles depends on the cellular origin of the EV preparations (e.g., the exosome marker CD9 is present both on exosomes and microvesicles from platelets). However, physicochemical separation principles can be used to enrich or deplete the EV preparations in/from exosomes prior to implementing an affinity-based isolation method. Alternatively, EV have been sorted using sorting by FACS, combining scattering and marker-based detection methods (14). However, apart from the limitations described below, a modern FACS sorter might not be accessible due to high costs and the processing times per sample might be quite long.

Taken together, there is as yet no golden standard for EV isolation. The optimal method of EV purification depends, as often, on the characteristics of the starting material and the demands of the downstream applications. The good news in this respect is that many, often multidisciplinary research groups are in the course of developing innovative methods to achieve high quality EV preparations.

Measurement and Characterization of EV

A similar story can be told for the measurement and isolation of EV. The distinct properties of EV can likewise be used to measure and characterize EV. A summary of the current methods is summarized in **Table 2**. In general, their small dimensions and rather heterogeneous size distribution rather hampers accurate measurement of EV (15). This particularly applies for flow TABLE 2 | Overview of current measurement principles of EV.

Detection method	Principle	Advantages (A)/Drawbacks (D)
Flow cytometry	Light scattering, fluorescence	A: Fast recording and high throughpu A: Combined size and surface market analysis D: Limited possibilities using older machines D: Artifacts possible due to swarm detection
Tunable resistive pulse sensing	Coulter effect (electrical resistance changes)	A: Feasible and accurate size determinationD: Membranes may clogD: Accurate measurements are slow
Nanoparticle tracking analysis	Light scattering, (fluorescence)	A: Feasible and accurate size determination D: Requires careful calibration D: Accurate measurements are slow
Dynamic light scattering and Raman spectroscopy	(In-)elastic light scattering	 A: Feasible and accurate size determination A: Raman yields information about composition D: Low throughput D: Requires high technical proficiency
Transmission electron microscopy	Transmission of accelerated electrons	A: Size and structure determination A: Yields impressive images D: Low throughput D: Requires high technical proficiency
Atomic force microscopy	Power exerted to cantilever	A: Size and structure determination A: Gives information about surface markers D: Low throughput D: Requires high technical proficiency
Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay	Antigen binding to antibodies, fluori-/colorimetric	A: Highly specific and facile methodA: High throughputD: Limited information about counts and size
Western blotting	Antigen binding to antibodies, chemiluminescence	A: Facile method for composition analysisA: Medium throughputD: Limited information about counts and size
Surface plasmon resonance	Proteins binding to ligands,	A: Highly specific and facile methodA: High throughputD: Limited information about counts and sizeD: Rather expensive and specialized equipment

cytometry, as older generation machines (that are still commonly used) generally lack the capability to (accurately) measure particles sized below 300 nm. Another complication is the low refractive index of EV and thus the rather low capability to scatter light in aqueous solutions. In addition, common cytometer optics poorly distinguish single EV from EV swarms, which complicates the exact determination of EV counts in samples (16). On the other hand, modern flow cytometers have optics that allow the measurement of single particles as small as 100 nm and combined with careful apparatus setup and parameter adjustment (the authors refer to www.exometry.com), reliable characterization of EV using flow cytometry is possible. This, combined with the use of fluorescently-labeled antibodies and the high throughput of the method, makes flow cytometry still a method of choice for EV determinations.

Two other commonly used techniques are tunable resistive pulse sensing (TRPS) and nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA). The former is based on the current of ions over a permeable membrane with pores that have tunable size. Particles that block the pores result in increased membrane resistance, from which a distribution of size and numbers can be derived. The method is quite reliable over a range of EV sizes and concentrations, yet care should be taken not to clog the pores of the membrane or to apply excessive pressure (15). The detection of EV by NTA is based on light scattering combined with recording of their Brownian motion paths using a microscope-camera setup. Knowing the viscosity and temperature of the sample medium, the EV size can be derived from their diffusion coefficients calculated using the Stokes-Einstein equation. A prerequisite is that viscosity and temperature are exactly defined and that the machine is calibrated using particles that have similar size and scatter characteristics as the EV analyzed (15, 17). Nevertheless, the inaccuracies in EV counts obtained by NTA can be quite high, but protocols have been developed to minimize sample-to-sample variations (18, 19). A similar technique is dynamic light scattering, which like NTA is based on elastic Rayleigh scattering and makes use of the Stokes-Einstein equation for calculating the diffusion coefficients. A further with potential method is Raman spectroscopy, which is based on inelastic light scattering making this method attractive also for analyzing EV, since inelastic light scattering contains information about the molecular composition of the EV (17, 20). Drawbacks are the high technical and mathematical complexity of the method and the long processing times of the analyses.

The same may apply for electron microscopy. Although electron micrographs of EV preparations are recommended to be included in EV-focused publications, the proper sample preparation and recording of (transmission) electron micrographs of EV requires a high level of technical proficiency. The images do reveal useful information about EV ultrastructures and if combined with immunologic detection methods (immunogold labeling), even information about molecular composition may be obtained. An interesting evolution of electron microscopy is cryo-electron tomography, in which a series of electron micrographs is recorded at various angles and then composed to a 3D image (21). A recent study has proven cryo-electron tomography to be feasible for EV, at least those derived from platelets, revealing a surface covered with platelet receptors linked to the actin cytoskeleton (22). A final non-optical microscopy method worth discussing is atomic force microscopy [reviewed in Sharma et al. (23)]. The technique works by a microscopic tip at the end of a cantilever that scans (surface immobilized) biologic specimen, somewhat like a microscopic turntable. The force exerted on the tip and cantilever is used to reconstruct an image of the specimen. The microscope can be set in various modes, each with their specific properties for obtaining information. Major advantages of this technique are that it is optimally suited for nanoscale specimen and that both structural features and information about surface

molecules can be recorded, as the tips can be functionalized with specific antibodies.

Besides physical (optical) techniques, EV can also be determined using biochemical (immunologic and enzymatic) techniques. By making use of the presentation of negatively charged phospholipids (notably phosphatidyl serine) on their surface, EV can be captured e.g., using immobilized annexin A5 and subsequent detection using the prothrombinase reaction, which is highly dependent on negatively charged phospholipids (24). However, since not all EV express phosphatidyl serine, a significant fraction might be missed using this method. In addition to enzymatic assays, immunologic methods or "bulk immunologic assays" (BIA) might also be applied (25). The many surface molecules presented on EV and their small size can be exploited to design specific ELISAs for EV subgroups. In addition, EV content can be resolved on SDS PAGE gels followed by western blotting. A more sophisticated method is surface plasmon resonance spectroscopy, which measures refractory index changes as a result of mass bound to a golden surface under flow conditions. When the surfaces are functionalized with specific antibodies against EV surface markers, EV can be measured specifically within biologic samples, as was recently demonstrated for endothelial EV (26). Although the above assays have the advantage that they allow the qualitative and specific analysis of EV, the results of BIA may be difficult, if not impossible, to translate to absolute counts and to particle sizes.

Similar to their isolation, the measurement of EV is accompanied by restrictions that lie in their small size and their physicochemical properties. Also here, a gold standard of EV determination is not clearly defined. Chances are offered by the exploitation of the palette of surface markers carried by EV combined with a technique that specifically scans particles in the correct size range. As technology stands now, flow cytometry still has the highest potential to become a standard method.

DIFFERENTIATION OF THE CELLULAR ORIGIN OF EV

As mentioned in the introduction, EV can originate from virtually every cell or tissue. In the vasculature, the primary cell types that would release EV eligible as biomarkers are red blood cells, platelets, leukocytes, and vascular cells. Among those cell types, red cells and platelets greatly outnumber the others. Thus, EV derived from red cells and platelets are common in plasma. Some studies provide an estimation of the relative numbers of EV from different cell types in blood, yet due to the uncertainties and variations (as outlined above), the authors refrain from listing numbers in this overview. For example, it is still debated whether the platelet-derived EV found in plasma actually originate from platelets or from megakaryocytes (27).

Crucial for a meaningful exploitation of circulating EV as biomarkers is the differentiation of cellular origin. Many studies use surface molecules that function as indicators of the parental cells of the EV investigated. Although many cells are successfully being typed using surface markers, the use of such markers might be accompanied by difficulties. First, EV and in particular

exosomes, are much smaller, making their measurement by e.g., flow cytometry technically more challenging (see below). Second, while aggregates of whole cells can readily be excluded from a flow cytometric analysis, the exclusion of EV aggregates is hampered by the large variation of EV size, meaning that a pair of 2 smaller EV can have a size similar to another larger EV. This might give rise to seemingly double-positive EV, which are in fact aggregates composed of EV from different cellular origins. Third, cellular activation is often required for EV formation, yet is also accompanied by activation of proteases (e.g., of the ADAM family), as is reported for platelets and endothelial cells (EC) (28, 29). Residual protease activity on EV might lead to loss of surface markers in time, which is relevant as a physiologic factor, but also as a pre-analytical variable to be taken into account. The latter even impacts characterization of EV from isolated cells, as surface molecules may be lost during storage, giving rise to day-to-day variations. A fourth difficulty is the availability of cell-specific markers (and corresponding specific antibodies). Platelets and EC for example, share quite a number of surface markers (e.g., P-selectin, CD31, β₃ integrins, thrombospondin, von Willebrand factor, and many more), which complicates a clear differentiation, particularly in samples where platelet-derived and EC-derived EV outnumber those from other sources. Platelet- and ECderived EV are often distinguished by the use of a common (e.g., CD31) and a platelet-specific marker (CD41 or CD42), bearing the risk that platelet-derived EV with poor antibody binding (e.g., by loss of a marker) can falsely be counted as ECderived EV. This also applies in cases that cell-specific EV need to be isolated from biologic fluids. Since the common techniques of differential centrifugation or size exclusion chromatography do not distinguish between EV from different cell types, the correct use of markers for the enrichment of cell-specific EV from platelet- or erythrocyte-derived contaminants or protein aggregates is crucial.

POTENTIAL OF EV AS BIOMARKERS-RECENT EXAMPLES

Despite the above reservations, surface markers are widely used in studies exploring levels of particular EV in health and disease. An accurately adjusted flow cytometer with size calibration and optics suitable for small particle analysis considerably facilitates EV determination. The number of flow cytometers that are capable of measuring EV available on the market is increasing. By combining small particle measurement with specific surface markers, information about EV content in biologic fluids can be obtained with a satisfactory level of accuracy. Several reported markers used for the determination of EV from particular cell types are summarized in Table 3. Although a large variety of techniques for EV analysis is available (Table 2), almost every patient sample-based study has been performed using flow cytometry. A recent multicenter collaborative workshop was organized by the International Society on Thrombosis and Haemostasis (ISTH) Vascular Biology Standardization Subcommittee to evaluate a new, universal standardization protocol to measure platelet EV counts using flow cytometry

TABLE 3 | Examples of markers used for the determination of the cellular origin of EV.

Cell type	Markers	References
Monocyte	AnxA5, CD11b, CD14, CD31, CD64, CD142	(30–32)
Lymphocyte	CD3, CD45	(31)
Neutrophil	AnxA5, CD35, CD66b, MPO	(32–34)
Platelet	AnxA5, CD31, CD41, CD42, CD61	(31)
Megakaryocyte	CD62P-, LAMP-1, full-length filamin A	(27)
Endothelial cell	VCAM-1, CD62E, CD144, CD31, CD41-, CD42-	(32, 35)
Red blood cell	AnxA5, CD235a	(36, 37)

AnxA5, annexin A5; MPO, myeloperoxidase; LAMP, lysosome-associated membrane protein; VCAM, vascular cell adhesion molecule.

(38). This new standardization protocol was based on side scatter (SSC) and forward scatter (FSC) of pre-defined beads rather than only FSC before, dependent on which parameter is used as the best resolving size parameter in specific flow cytometers present in the laboratories. The study showed that this beadbased assay has potential for standardization of measurement of platelet EV numbers, however this procedure is not suitable to measure particle size.

Altered levels of EV were found in cohorts of patients with variety of cardiovascular diseases. Several recent reviews provide an excellent and comprehensive overview of the relevant studies (3, 7, 39–41) and highlights of original work are listed in Table 4. In general, the origin of the EV investigated in most studies is derived from 3 main cell types: endothelial cells, leukocytes, and platelets. This is not surprising, since all 3 cell types are in direct contact with the blood. In addition, the endothelial lining of the vessel wall constitutes a huge surface (approx. 7,000 m²) and in the case of (systemic) inflammation, cytokines may increase the activation state of the endothelium, giving rise to the release of numerous EV. The same counts for platelets, since their sheer numbers combined with their capability to release EV upon activation can result in steep increases in EV numbers during pathologic conditions such as arterial and venous thrombosis. When surface markers become more defined and the analysis techniques more refined, also EV from rare cell types that are underrepresented in biologic samples may be detected.

Most of the studies show a positive correlation between EV counts and the cardiovascular disorder investigated, regardless of the cell type of origin. This may reflect the common observation that cells show an increase release of EV after activation. EVs have shown to be upregulated in patients with endothelial dysfunction or atherosclerosis (42, 59), in patients with deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism (60-62), in patients with cerebrovascular diseases(63-66) or in patients that show cardiovascular risk factors like type-2 diabetes mellitus (67), severe hypertension (68) or obesity (69). Determining the EV's parent cells harbors the possibility to obtain additional information about the pathophysiology of a particular disorder. For example, in a small case-control study of one of the study arms of the PREDIMED trial with participants following a Mediterranean Diet, the EV levels of different cell types were measured. Participants suffering a cardiovascular event (CVE)

TABLE 4 Cardiovascular disorders (CVD) with involvement of EV.

Pathologic setting	EV from cell types involved	References
EV as risk factor for CVD	Endothelial cells	(14, 36, 42–48)
	Platelets	(14, 36, 42, 46–48)
	Leukocytes (unspecified)	(42, 46, 47)
	Monocytes	(46, 48)
	Lymphocytes	(43)
	Hematopoietic cells	(43)
	Smooth muscle cells	(43)
	Erythrocytes	(36)
Vascular calcification	Smooth muscle cells	(49–52)
	Macrophages	(53)
	Endothelial cells	(54)
	Platelets	(54)
	Leukocytes (unspecified)	(54)
Coronary artery disease and acute coronary syndrome	Endothelial cells	(37, 44, 55–58)
	Platelets	(44, 55, 57, 58)
	Erythrocytes	(37)
	Leukocytes (unspecified)	(55, 58)
	Monocytes	(31)

within 1 year of intervention, showed increased EV release from lymphocytes and smooth muscle cells. Participants that did not have a future CVE within the follow-up time showed reduced EV release from these cells (43). In a case-control study at the NIH Stroke program, even different subtypes of EVs from endothelial parent cells could be distinguished. This study compared endothelial cell-derived EV levels in 20 patients with a mild stroke (NIHSS score < 5) to the EV levels of 21 patients with moderate to severe stroke (NIHSS score \geq 5), and to the levels of 23 age-matched healthy volunteers. Using flow cytometry, they observed significantly higher phosphatidyl serine⁺ EV counts in patients compared to the controls, and all endothelial derived EV counts were elevated in the moderate to severe stroke group compared to controls. In patients with acute ischemic stroke, three endothelial cell microparticle (EMP) phenotypes (Endoglin⁺ EMP, phosphatidyl serine⁺ EMP, and ICAM-1⁺ EMP) correlated significantly with brain lesion volume, with ICAM-1⁺ EMP (P = 0.002) showing the strongest correlation. These data combined suggest a possible role of endothelialderived EV numbers as a biomarker for severity and brain lesion size in patients with ischemic stroke (64).

Endothelial dysfunction is an independent predictor of vascular disease. Therefore, quantitative measurements of $CD31^+/Annexin A5^+$ EVs were assessed by Sinning and colleagues in patients with stable coronary artery disease (CAD). EV levels were higher in patients that later developed a major adverse cardiovascular and cerebral event (44). This study also finds that the presence of diabetes and male gender are significantly positively correlated to the number of EVs, a factor that has to be taken into account during risk stratification.

In addition, since EVs can be purified, their numbers and contents can be enriched manifold, which opens the possibility for the identification and determination of biomarkers that were previously too dilute to be measured in biologic fluids. Some studies have exploited this to identify miRNAs with prognostic value for cardiovascular diseases (14, 36). EVs of thrombin-stimulated platelets have elevated levels of miR-223 in complex with Argonaute 2, are taken up by HUVEC cells *in vitro*, and regulate gene expression levels through regulatory elements in the 3'UTR region of two specific mRNAs (70). This is only one of the examples in which platelets can alter specific gene regulation in HUVEC cells.

Moreover, the proteins cystatin C, serpin G1 and F2, and CD14 found in EVs have been identified as potential biomarkers by Kanhai et al. in 2013, using the Athero-Express discovery cohort (71). This was the first large, single-center cohort of 1,060 patients, to describe the protein content of EVs is related to increased risk of secondary cardiovascular events. Increased levels of cystatin C, serpin F2, and CD14 were correlated to an increased risk of myocardial infarction, vascular events and all-cause mortality, whereas increased levels of CD14 was also correlated to an increased risk of the occurrence of an ischemic stroke. This study only takes total EV protein levels in account, and not the number of EV.

Another prospective single-center cohort study showed that the EV protein levels polygenic immunoglobulin receptor, cystatin C and complement C5a were independently associated with acute coronary syndrome (72). This study also indicates an important discrepancy between male and female patients, where male patients show a strong correlation between the aforementioned proteins and ACS, whereas female patients did not.

Patients at risk for CVD with high LDL levels are often treated with statins. Statins prevent cardiovascular events, possibly not only by reducing plasma LDL levels. The METEOR trial aims to determine the effect of rosuvastatin on subclinical atherosclerosis. Patient serum samples and LDL-EVs were analyzed for their protein content of von Willebrand factor (vWF), Serpin C1, and plasminogen. Rosuvastatin-treated patients have higher levels of plasminogen and vWF in LDLassociated EVs, serum plasminogen levels were also increased but to a lesser extent, and serum vWF levels were not increased (73). This study concludes that this could be a possible new intermediate between statin therapy and coagulation.

Possibly the most studied potential biomarker is the coagulation potential of EVs exposing tissue factor (TF⁺ EV) in cancer patients, to evaluate the relative risk on developing venous thromboembolism (VTE) which is a complication in many cancer patients. In a multinational, prospective cohort study, the procoagulant activity of TF⁺ EV was evaluated using an in-house TF⁺ EV activity assay based on fibrin generation. The TF⁺ EV activity was measured in patients with various types of advanced cancer, and correlated with the development of venous thromboembolism (VTE). A high fibrin generation test outcome was associated with a two-fold increased risk for VTE, with the strongest association in patients with other tumor types

(1.5 fold increase). The activity of TF^+ EV measured using the fibrin generation test correlated poorly with the more commonly used TF-dependent Xa assay (74). However, there are also studies that do not find correlation of EVs with risk for VTE (75), or only a correlation with mortality but not with thrombosis (76). Therefore the role of TF^+ EV as biomarker for VTE in cancer patients remains a matter of debate. Not only EVs derived from cancer cells but also EVs from monocytes expose TF. Although platelets were found to express TF (77), EVs from platelets and erythrocytes lack TF but did induce thrombin generation in a FXII-dependent matter (78).

Despite these examples of protein content in or on EVs, most of the current studies are limited to absolute counts of EV from particular cell types. The number of studies showing correlations or associations of EV numbers with disease prognosis, severity or occurrence is steadily increasing. It must be noted that the majority of studies have a relatively low number of subjects included in the investigation. The largest study to date on EV numbers in CVD is the study of Amabile et al. (2014) where 844 individuals in the Framingham Offspring cohort were studied (45). In this cohort, endothelial-derived EVs were associated with the presence of several cardiometabolic risk factors, including higher triglyceride levels, hypertension, and metabolic syndrome. The highest correlation was found with elevated triglycerides. However, this study only focused on large vesicles > 500 nm, thereby risking that a substantial amount of the sample consists of apoptotic bodies.

Another complication is the lack of standardization of sample processing and measurement, making it difficult to compare studies from different laboratories. The same counts for the selection of surface markers analyzed and the corresponding allocation to the EV's parent cell types. A final issue is the heterogeneity of the sample populations investigated, meaning that there are quite some indications that EV are associated with a particular cardiovascular disease, yet hard evidence for such association in large cohorts of defined subjects is still largely lacking. It has to be noted that the above complications largely apply for biomarker research in general.

REFERENCES

- Vajen T, Mause SF, Koenen RR. Microvesicles from platelets: novel drivers of vascular inflammation. *Thromb Haemost.* (2015) 114:228–36. doi: 10.1160/TH14-11-0962
- Nomura S. Extracellular vesicles and blood diseases. Int J Hematol. (2017) 105:392–405. doi: 10.1007/s12185-017-2180-x
- Boulanger CM, Loyer X, Rautou P-E, Amabile N. Extracellular vesicles in coronary artery disease. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* (2017) 14:259–72. doi: 10.1038/nrcardio.2017.7
- van der Pol E, Böing AN, Gool EL, Nieuwland R. Recent developments in the nomenclature, presence, isolation, detection and clinical impact of extracellular vesicles. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2015) 14:48–56. doi: 10.1111/jth.13190
- Linares R, Tan S, Gounou C, Arraud N, Brisson AR. High-speed centrifugation induces aggregation of extracellular vesicles. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2015) 4:29509. doi: 10.3402/jev.v4.29509
- Coumans FAW, Brisson AR, Buzás EI, Dignat-George F, Drees EEE, EL-Andaloussi S, et al. Methodological guidelines to study extracellular vesicles. *Circ Res.* (2017) 120:1632–48. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.309417

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Without doubt, the potential of EV as biomarkers is considerable. They may contain information about the original tissues, the pathophysiologic context and the severity of disease. On the other hand, the field is still relatively young and the progress in technologic development for accurate analysis is somewhat lagging behind the desires and ambitions of the investigators working in the area. Still, there is increasing consensus about the standardization of sample preparation and analysis of EV, meaning that studies are becoming more and more reliable and comparison between study locations becomes increasingly feasible. Taken together, interesting and exciting times are awaiting us, as EV do seem to be a big step toward the highly anticipated liquid biopsies.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement No. 722609. RK received funding from the Netherlands Foundation for Scientific Research (ZonMW VIDI 016.126.358), the Landsteiner Foundation for Blood Transfusion Research (LSBR Nr. 1638), and Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (SFB1123/A2).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank their lab members and collaborators for their invaluable efforts, discussions and assistance. The authors apologize to the many researchers whose valuable work could not be cited due to space limitations and for the sake of focus.

- Sluijter JPG, Davidson SM, Boulanger CM, Buzás EI, de Kleijn DPV, Engel FB, et al. Extracellular vesicles in diagnostics and therapy of the ischaemic heart: position paper from the working group on cellular biology of the heart of the European Society of Cardiology. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2017) 114:19–34. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvx211
- Ridger VC, Boulanger CM, Angelillo-Scherrer A, Badimon L, Blanc-Brude O, Bochaton-Piallat M-L, et al. Microvesicles in vascular homeostasis and diseases. Position paper of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) working group on atherosclerosis and vascular Biology. *Thromb Haemost.* (2017) 117:1296–316. doi: 10.1160/TH16-12-0943
- Heinemann ML, Ilmer M, Silva LP, Hawke DH, Recio A, Vorontsova MA, et al. Benchtop isolation and characterization of functional exosomes by sequential filtration. J Chromatogr A (2014) 1371:125–35. doi: 10.1016/j.chroma.2014.10.026
- Liu F, Vermesh O, Mani V, Ge TJ, Madsen SJ, Sabour A, et al. The exosome total isolation chip. ACS Nano (2017) 11:10712–23. doi: 10.1021/acsnano.7b04878
- 11. Gholizadeh S, Shehata Draz M, Zarghooni M, Sanati-Nezhad A, Ghavami S, Shafiee H, et al. Microfluidic approaches for isolation, detection, and characterization of extracellular vesicles: current status and future

directions. Biosens Bioelectron. (2017) 91:588-605. doi: 10.1016/j.bios.2016. 12.062

- Liu C, Guo J, Tian F, Yang N, Yan F, Ding Y, et al. Field-free isolation of exosomes from extracellular vesicles by microfluidic viscoelastic flows. ACS Nano (2017) 11:6968–76. doi: 10.1021/acsnano.7b02277
- Balaj L, Atai NA, Chen W, Mu D, Tannous BA, Breakefield XO, et al. Heparin affinity purification of extracellular vesicles. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:10266. doi: 10.1038/srep10266
- Jansen F, Yang X, Proebsting S, Hoelscher M, Przybilla D, Baumann K, et al. MicroRNA expression in circulating microvesicles predicts cardiovascular events in patients with coronary artery disease. J Am Heart Assoc. (2014) 3:e001249. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.114.001249
- 15. van der Pol E, Coumans FAW, Grootemaat AE, Gardiner C, Sargent IL, Harrison P, et al. Particle size distribution of exosomes and microvesicles determined by transmission electron microscopy, flow cytometry, nanoparticle tracking analysis, and resistive pulse sensing. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2014) 12:1182–92. doi: 10.1111/jth.12602
- van der Pol E, Van Gemert MJC, Sturk A, Nieuwland R, Van Leeuwen TG. Single vs. swarm detection of microparticles and exosomes by flow cytometry. (2012) 10:919–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2012.04683.x
- Buzás EI, Gardiner C, Lee C, Smith ZJ. Single particle analysis: methods for detection of platelet extracellular vesicles in suspension (excluding flow cytometry). *Platelets* (2017) 28:249–55. doi: 10.1080/09537104.2016.1260704
- Parsons MEM, McParland D, Szklanna PB, Guang MHZ, O'Connell K, O'Connor HD, et al. A analysis concentration measurements between 50 and 120 nm in protocol for improved precision and increased confidence in nanoparticle tracking biological fluids. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* (2017) 4:68. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2017.00068
- Vestad B, Llorente A, Neurauter A, Phuyal S, Kierulf B, Kierulf P, et al. Size and concentration analyses of extracellular vesicles by nanoparticle tracking analysis: a variation study. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2017) 6:1344087. doi: 10.1080/20013078.2017.1344087
- 20. Smith ZJ, Lee C, Rojalin T, Carney RP, Hazari S, Knudson A, et al. Single exosome study reveals subpopulations distributed among cell lines with variability related to membrane content. *J Extracell Vesicles* (2015) 4:28533. doi: 10.3402/jev.v4.28533
- Harapin J, Eibauer M, Medalia O. Structural analysis of supramolecular assemblies by cryo-electron tomography. *Structure* (2013) 21:1522–30. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2013.08.003
- Tamir A, Sorrentino S, Motahedeh S, Shai E, Dubrovsky A, Dahan I, et al. The macromolecular architecture of platelet-derived microparticles. *J Struct Biol.* (2016) 193:181–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jsb.2015.12.013
- Sharma S, LeClaire M, Gimzewski JK. Ascent of atomic force microscopy as a nanoanalytical tool for exosomes and other extracellular vesicles. *Nanotechnology* (2018) 29:132001–15. doi: 10.1088/1361-6528/aaab06
- Amiral J, Seghatchian J. The diagnostic usefulness of capture assays for measuring global/specific extracellular micro-particles in plasma. *Transfus Apher Sci.* (2015) 53:127–36. doi: 10.1016/j.transci.2015.10.009
- Coumans FAW, Gool EL, Nieuwland R. Bulk immunoassays for analysis of extracellular vesicles. *Platelets* (2017) 28:242–8. doi: 10.1080/09537104.2016.1265926
- Hosseinkhani B, van den Akker NM, D'Haen J, Gagliardi M, Struys T, Lambrichts I, et al. Direct detection of nano-scale extracellular vesicles derived from inflammation-triggered endothelial cells using surface plasmon resonance. *Nanomedicine* (2017) 13:1663–71. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2017.03.010
- Flaumenhaft R, Dilks JR, Richardson J, Alden E, Patel-Hett SR, Battinelli E, et al. Megakaryocyte-derived microparticles: direct visualization and distinction from platelet-derived microparticles. *Blood* (2009) 113:1112–21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-06-163832
- Fong KP, Barry C, Tran AN, Traxler EA, Wannemacher KM, Tang H-Y, et al. Deciphering the human platelet sheddome. *Blood* (2011) 117:e15–26. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-05-283838
- Flemming S, Burkard N, Renschler M, Vielmuth F, Meir M, Schick MA, et al. Soluble VE-cadherin is involved in endothelial barrier breakdown in systemic inflammation and sepsis. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2015) 107:32–44. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvv144
- 30. Takeshita J, Mohler ER, Krishnamoorthy P, Moore J, Rogers WT, Zhang L, et al. Endothelial cell-, platelet-, and monocyte/macrophage-derived

microparticles are elevated in psoriasis beyond cardiometabolic risk factors. J Am Heart Assoc. (2014) 3:e000507. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.113.000507

- 31. Chiva-Blanch G, Bratseth V, Ritschel V, Andersen GØ, Halvorsen S, Eritsland J, et al. Monocyte-derived circulating microparticles (CD14+, CD14+/CD11b+and CD14+/CD142+) are related to long-term prognosis for cardiovascular mortality in STEMI patients. *Int J Cardiol*. (2017) 227:876– 81. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.11.302
- 32. Martínez GJ, Barraclough JY, Nakhla S, Kienzle V, Robertson S, Mallat Z, et al. Neutrophil-derived microparticles are released into the coronary circulation following percutaneous coronary intervention in acute coronary syndrome patients. *Biosci Rep.* (2017) 37:BSR20160430. doi: 10.1042/BSR20160430
- Slater TW, Finkielsztein A, Mascarenhas LA, Mehl LC, Butin-Israeli V, Sumagin R. Neutrophil microparticles deliver active myeloperoxidase to injured mucosa to inhibit epithelial wound healing. J Immunol. (2017) 198:2886–97. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601810
- Alvarez-Jiménez VD, Leyva-Paredes K, García-Martínez M, Vázquez-Flores L, García-Paredes VG, Campillo-Navarro M, et al. Extracellular vesicles released from mycobacterium tuberculosis-infected neutrophils promote macrophage autophagy and decrease intracellular mycobacterial survival. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:272. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00272
- Akbar N, Digby JE, Cahill TJ, Tavare AN, Corbin AL, Saluja S, et al. Endothelium-derived extracellular vesicles promote splenic monocyte mobilization in myocardial infarction. JCI Insight (2017) 2:93344. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.93344
- Zampetaki A, Willeit P, Tilling L, Drozdov I, Prokopi M, Renard JM, et al. Prospective study on circulating MicroRNAs and risk of myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2012) 60:290–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2012.03.056
- 37. Suades R, Padro T, Vilahur G, Martin-Yuste V, Sabaté M, Sans-Roselló J, et al. Growing thrombi release increased levels of CD235a(+) microparticles and decreased levels of activated platelet-derived microparticles. Validation in ST-elevation myocardial infarction patients. J Thromb Haemost. (2015) 13:1776–86. doi: 10.1111/jth.13065
- Cointe S, Judicone C, Robert S, Mooberry MJ, Poncelet P, Wauben M, et al. Standardization of microparticle enumeration across different flow cytometry platforms: results of a multicenter collaborative workshop. *J Thromb Haemost*. (2017) 15:187–93. doi: 10.1111/jth.13514
- Thulin Å, Christersson C, Alfredsson J, Siegbahn A. Circulating cell-derived microparticles as biomarkers in cardiovascular disease. *Biomark Med.* (2016) 10:1009–22. doi: 10.2217/bmm-2016-0035
- Jansen F, Nickenig G, Werner N. Extracellular vesicles in cardiovascular disease: potential applications in diagnosis, prognosis, and epidemiology. *Circ Res.* (2017) 120:1649–57. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.117.310752
- Badimon L, Suades R, Arderiu G, Peña E, Chiva-Blanch G, Padró T. Microvesicles in atherosclerosis and angiogenesis: from bench to bedside and reverse. Front Cardiovasc Med. (2017) 4:77. doi: 10.3389/fcvm.2017.00077
- Chironi G, Simon A, Hugel B, Del Pino M, Gariepy J, Freyssinet J-M, et al. Circulating leukocyte-derived microparticles predict subclinical atherosclerosis burden in asymptomatic subjects. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2006) 26:2775–80. doi: 10.1161/01.ATV.0000249639.36915.04
- 43. Chiva-Blanch G, Suades R, Crespo J, Vilahur G, Arderiu G, Padró T, et al. CD3(+)/CD45(+) and SMA-α(+) circulating microparticles are increased in individuals at high cardiovascular risk who will develop a major cardiovascular event. *Int J Cardiol.* (2016) 208:147–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2016.01.211
- Sinning J-M, Losch J, Walenta K, Böhm M, Nickenig G, Werner N. Circulating CD31+/Annexin V+ microparticles correlate with cardiovascular outcomes. *Eur Heart J.* (2011) 32:2034–41. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehq478
- 45. Amabile N, Cheng S, Renard JM, Larson MG, Ghorbani A, McCabe E, et al. Association of circulating endothelial microparticles with cardiometabolic risk factors in the Framingham Heart Study. *Eur Heart J.* (2014) 35:2972–9. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehu153
- 46. Jayachandran M, Litwiller RD, Lahr BD, Bailey KR, Owen WG, Mulvagh SL, et al. Alterations in platelet function and cell-derived microvesicles in recently menopausal women: relationship to metabolic syndrome and atherogenic risk. *J Cardiovasc Transl Res.* (2011) 4:811–22. doi: 10.1007/s12265-011-9296-9
- Chiva-Blanch G, Crespo J, Suades R, Arderiu G, Padró T, Vilahur G, et al. CD142+/CD61+, CD146+ and CD45+ microparticles predict

cardiovascular events in high risk patients following a Mediterranean diet supplemented with nuts. *Thromb Haemost.* (2016) 116:103–14. doi: 10.1160/TH16-02-0130

- Suades R, Padró T, Alonso R, Mata P, Badimon L. High levels of TSP1+/CD142+ platelet-derived microparticles characterise young patients with high cardiovascular risk and subclinical atherosclerosis. *Thromb Haemost*. (2015) 114:1310–21. doi: 10.1160/TH15-04-0325
- Kapustin AN, Davies JD, Reynolds JL, McNair R, Jones GT, Sidibe A, et al. Calcium regulates key components of vascular smooth muscle cellderived matrix vesicles to enhance mineralization. *Circ Res.* (2011) 109:e1–12. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.110.238808
- Kapustin AN, Chatrou ML, Drozdov I, Zheng Y, Davidson SM, Soong DY, et al. Vascular smooth muscle cell calcification is mediated by regulated exosome secretion. *Circ Res.* (2015) 116:1312–23. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.305012
- Hutcheson JD, Goettsch C, Bertazzo S, Maldonado N, Ruiz JL, Goh W, et al. Genesis and growth of extracellular-vesicle-derived microcalcification in atherosclerotic plaques. *Nat Mater.* (2016) 15:335–43. doi: 10.1038/nmat4519
- Goettsch C, Hutcheson JD, Aikawa M, Iwata H, Pham T, Nykjaer A, et al. Sortilin mediates vascular calcification via its recruitment into extracellular vesicles. J Clin Invest. (2016) 126:1323–36. doi: 10.1172/JCI80851
- New SEP, Goettsch C, Aikawa M, Marchini JF, Shibasaki M, Yabusaki K, et al. Macrophage-derived matrix vesicles: an alternative novel mechanism for microcalcification in atherosclerotic plaques. *Circ Res.* (2013) 113:72–7. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.113.301036
- 54. Jayachandran M, Litwiller RD, Owen WG, Heit JA, Behrenbeck T, Mulvagh SL, et al. Characterization of blood borne microparticles as markers of premature coronary calcification in newly menopausal women. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2008) 295:H931–8. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00193.2008
- 55. Mallat Z, Benamer H, Hugel B, Benessiano J, Steg PG, Freyssinet JM, et al. Elevated levels of shed membrane microparticles with procoagulant potential in the peripheral circulating blood of patients with acute coronary syndromes. *Circulation* (2000) 101:841–3. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.101.8.841
- Bernal-Mizrachi L, Jy W, Jimenez JJ, Pastor J, Mauro LM, Horstman LL, et al. High levels of circulating endothelial microparticles in patients with acute coronary syndromes. *Am Heart J.* (2003) 145:962–70. doi: 10.1016/S0002-8703(03)00103-0
- 57. Nomura S, Uehata S, Saito S, Osumi K, Ozeki Y, Kimura Y. Enzyme immunoassay detection of platelet-derived microparticles and RANTES in acute coronary syndrome. *Thromb Haemost.* (2003) 89:506–12. doi: 10.1055/s-0037-1613381
- Suades R, Padro T, Crespo J, Ramaiola I, Martin-Yuste V, Sabaté M, et al. Circulating microparticle signature in coronary and peripheral blood of ST elevation myocardial infarction patients in relation to pain-to-PCI elapsed time. *Int J Cardiol.* (2016) 202:378–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2015.09.011
- 59. Heiss C, Amabile N, Lee AC, Real WM, Schick SF, Lao D, et al. Brief secondhand smoke exposure depresses endothelial progenitor cells activity and endothelial function: sustained vascular injury and blunted nitric oxide production. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2008) 51:1760–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2008.01.040
- Rectenwald JE, Myers DD Jr, Hawley AE, Longo C, Henke PK, Guire KE, et al. D-dimer, P-selectin, and microparticles: novel markers to predict deep venous thrombosis. A pilot study. *Thromb Haemost*. (2005) 94:1312–7. doi: 10.1160/TH05-06-0426
- Chirinos JA, Heresi GA, Velasquez H, Jy W, Jimenez JJ, Ahn E, et al. Elevation of endothelial microparticles, platelets, and leukocyte activation in patients with venous thromboembolism. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2005) 45:1467– 71. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2004.12.075
- 62. Diehl KH, Hull R, Morton D, Pfister R, Rabemampianina Y, Smith D, et al. A good practice guide to the administration of substances and removal of blood, including routes and volumes. *J Appl Toxicol.* (2001) 21:15–23. doi: 10.1002/jat.727
- Lee YJ, Jy W, Horstman LL, Janania J, Reyes Y, Kelley RE, et al. Elevated platelet microparticles in transient ischemic attacks, lacunar infarcts, and multiinfarct dementias. *Thromb Res.* (1993) 72:295–304. doi: 10.1016/0049-3848(93)90138-E
- 64. Simak J, Gelderman MP, Yu H, Wright V, Baird AE. Circulating endothelial microparticles in acute ischemic stroke: a link to severity, lesion volume and outcome. J Thromb Haemost. (2006) 4:1296–302. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2006.01911.x

- Lackner P, Dietmann A, Beer R, Fischer M, Broessner G, Helbok R, et al. Cellular microparticles as a marker for cerebral vasospasm in spontaneous subarachnoid hemorrhage. *Stroke* (2010) 41:2353–7. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.110.584995
- Jung K-H, Chu K, Lee S-T, Park H-K, Bahn J-J, Kim D-H, et al. Circulating endothelial microparticles as a marker of cerebrovascular disease. *Ann Neurol.* (2009) 66:191–9. doi: 10.1002/ana.21681
- 67. Koga H, Sugiyama S, Kugiyama K, Fukushima H, Watanabe K, Sakamoto T, et al. Elevated levels of remnant lipoproteins are associated with plasma platelet microparticles in patients with type-2 diabetes mellitus without obstructive coronary artery disease. *Eur Heart J.* (2006) 27:817–23. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehi746
- Preston RA, Jy W, Jimenez JJ, Mauro LM, Horstman LL, Valle M, et al. Effects of severe hypertension on endothelial and platelet microparticles. *Hypertension* (2003) 41:211–7. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000049760.15764.2D
- Goichot B, Grunebaum L, Desprez D, Vinzio S, Meyer L, Schlienger JL, et al. Circulating procoagulant microparticles in obesity. *Diabetes Metab.* (2006) 32:82–5. doi: 10.1016/S1262-3636(07)70251-3
- Laffont B, Corduan A, Plé H, Duchez A-C, Cloutier N, Boilard E, et al. Activated platelets can deliver mRNA regulatory Ago2•microRNA complexes to endothelial cells via microparticles. *Blood* (2013) 122:253–61. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-03-492801
- 71. Kanhai DA, Visseren FLJ, van der Graaf Y, Schoneveld AH, Catanzariti LM, Timmers L, et al. Microvesicle protein levels are associated with increased risk for future vascular events and mortality in patients with clinically manifest vascular disease. *Int J Cardiol.* (2013) 168:2358–63. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2013.01.231
- 72. De Hoog VC, Timmers L, Schoneveld AH, Wang J-W, van de Weg SM, Sze SK, et al. Serum extracellular vesicle protein levels are associated with acute coronary syndrome. *Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care* (2013) 2:53–60. doi: 10.1177/2048872612471212
- Verbree-Willemsen L, Zhang Y-N, Gijsberts CM, Schoneveld AH, Wang J-W, Lam CSP, et al. LDL extracellular vesicle coagulation protein levels change after initiation of statin therapy. Findings from the METEOR trial. *Int J Cardiol.* (2018) doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2018.05.098. [Epub ahead of print].
- 74. van Es N, Hisada Y, Di Nisio M, Cesarman G, Kleinjan A, Mahé I, et al. Extracellular vesicles exposing tissue factor for the prediction of venous thromboembolism in patients with cancer: a prospective cohort study. *Thromb Res.* (2018) 166:54–9. doi: 10.1016/j.thromres.2018. 04.009
- 75. Thaler J, Ay C, Mackman N, Bertina RM, Kaider A, Marosi C, et al. Microparticle-associated tissue factor activity, venous thromboembolism and mortality in pancreatic, gastric, colorectal and brain cancer patients. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2012) 10:1363–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2012. 04754.x
- Hernández C, Orbe J, Roncal C, Alvarez-Hernandez M, Martinez de Lizarrondo S, Alves MT, et al. Tissue factor expressed by microparticles is associated with mortality but not with thrombosis in cancer patients. *Thromb Haemost.* (2013) 110:598–608. doi: 10.1160/TH13-02-0122
- Camera M, Brambilla M, Toschi V, Tremoli E. Tissue factor expression on platelets is a dynamic event. *Blood* (2010) 116:5076–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2010-09-307306
- Van Der Meijden PEJ, Van Schilfgaarde M, van Oerle R, Renné T, Cate ten H, Spronk HMH. Platelet- and erythrocyte-derived microparticles trigger thrombin generation via factor XIIa. J Thromb Haemost. (2012) 10:1355–62. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2012.04758.x

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer JT and handling editor declared their shared affiliation at the time of the review.

Copyright © 2018 Dickhout and Koenen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

